
 

BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS 
 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 

    Meeting: Wednesday, 9th March, 2022 
       at 2.00 pm (Banqueting Hall) 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART ONE 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members.   
 

 

2.   Urgent Items 
 
To deal with any items which the Chair considers to be of an urgent 
nature.  
 

 

3.   Delegations 
 
To receive notice from Members who may wish to move any 
delegated matter non-delegated and which will be decided by a 
majority of Members present and voting at the meeting. 
 

 

4.   Admission of Public and Press 
 
To consider whether the public and press should be excluded from 
the meeting during consideration of any of the items on the agenda. 
 

 

5.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive declarations by Members and/or co-optees of interests in 
respect of items on this Agenda.  
 
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of 
Conduct, they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests or other registrable interests which have not already been 
declared in the Council’s Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal 
offence not to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest either in the 
Register or at the meeting). 
 
Members may however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such 
disclosable pecuniary interests which they have already declared in 
the Register,  as well as any other registrable or other interests.   
 

 

6.   Confirmation of Minutes 
 
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 9th February, 2022. 
 

5 - 20 



 

 
7.   Public Participation 

 
Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make 
representations or present a deputation or petition at this meeting 
should apply to do so by no later than 5pm two working days before 
the meeting. Information on how to make the application can be 
obtained by viewing the Council’s website www.barrowbc.gov.uk or 
by contacting the Democratic Services Team at 
(jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk) or by telephone on (07825206525). 
  
(1) Questions and Representations 

To receive any questions or representations which have been 
received from members of the public 

  
(2) Deputations and Petitions 

To receive any deputations or petitions which have been 
received from members of the public. 

 
 

 

FOR DECISION  
 

 

(D/R) 8.   Equality & Diversity Strategy   
 
To consider the Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 2022-2024. 
 

21 - 34 

(D) 9.   Food Safety Service Plan 2022-23 (incorporating the Food Standards 
Agencies Recovery Plan)   
 
To consider the Food Safety Service Plan for 2022-23. 
 

35 - 64 

(D) 10.   Update on Town Centre Regeneration & Levelling Up Fund   
 
To consider an update on the delivery programme of regeneration for 
Barrow Town Centre. 
 

65 - 70 

(R) 11.   Review of Corporate Health and Safety Policy, Framework and Risk 
Assessment Procedure   
 
To consider the review of Corporate Health and Safety Policy, 
Framework and Risk Assessment Procedure. 
 

71 - 114 

(D) 12.   Council Finances Quarter 3 2021-2022   
 
The report presents a summary of the General Fund financial 
monitoring as at 31 December 2021. 
 

115 - 128 

(R) 13.   Financial Policy and Strategy Updates   
 
The report presents the financial plans and strategies for 2022-2023. 
 
 

129 - 202 

http://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/


 

(D/R) 14.   Annual Review of Constitution   
 
To consider suggested changes to the Constitution as part of the 
annual review process. 
 

203 - 300 

(D/R) 15.   Extension of Public Spaces Protection Order   
 
To consider the extension of an existing Public Spaces Protection 
Order. 
 

301 - 320 

NOTE  (D) – Delegated 
  (R) – For Referral to Council 
 
 
Membership of Committee 
 
Councillors Brook (Chairman) 

L. Roberts (Vice-Chair) 
Barlow 
Biggins 
H. Edwards 
Hamilton 
W. McClure 
Maddox 
Morgan 
Pemberton 
Ronson 
 

 
For queries regarding this agenda, please contact: 
 
 Jon Huck 

Democratic Services Manager 
01229 876312 
jwhuck@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 
Published: Tuesday, 1 March 2022 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 
 
Meeting: Wednesday 9th February, 2022 
at 2.00 pm. (Banqueting Hall) 
 

PRESENT:- Councillors Brook (Chairman), Barlow, Biggins, H. Edwards, Hamilton, 
McClure, Maddox, Morgan, Pemberton, Roberts and Ronson. 
 
Officers Present:- Sam Plum (Chief Executive), Susan Roberts (Director of 
Resources), Debbie Storr (Head of Legal and Governance & Monitoring Officer), Les 
Davies (Head of Asset Management) (Minutes Nos. 113 to 115 and 119), Rebecca 
Halton (Head of Business Support) (Minutes Nos. 113 to 115 and 119) and Jon Huck 
(Democratic Services Manager). 
 
113 – Minutes 
 

The Minutes of the meeting held on 12th January, 2022 were agreed as a correct 
record. 
 
114 – Public Participation 
 

RESOLVED:- To note that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions had 
been received in respect of the meeting. 
 
115 – Housing Management Forum: Recommendations 
 
The recommendations of the Housing Management Forum held on 27th January, 2022 
were submitted for consideration. 
 
N.B. The Minutes are reproduced as Appendix 1 to the Minutes of this meeting. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Morgan, and 
 
RESOLVED:- That the recommendations of the Housing Management Forum be 
agreed, as follows:- 
 
 Housing Maintenance Investment Programme 2022/2023 
 
1. To approve the Investment Budget included as an appendix to the report; and 
 
2. To approve the delivery of planned investments through the Procure Plus 

framework. 
 
116 – Additional Restrictions Grants 
 
The Director of Resources reported that the Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) was 
discretionary and a top-up of £78,517 had been received along with an allocation of 
Omicron Hospitality and Leisure Grant in January 2022. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



The previous ARG had been £2.3m which had been distributed to around 450 
businesses. 
 
The ARG top-up restricted the amount of grant that could be awarded, and it was 
proposed that the businesses included in the scope of the scheme were: 
 

 Businesses with fixed property costs that are specifically excluded from the 
business rates system, or are not the direct ratepayer and are therefore not 
eligible for other mandatory support, including B&Bs registered to pay council tax 
or small businesses in shared spaces with fixed costs who provide in- person 
services, including hair and beauty (plus salons paying business rates); 

 

 Freelance and mobile businesses, including caterers, event organisers, personal 
care and beauty businesses delivered in a persons’ home and wedding related 
businesses; and 

 

 Transport and travel businesses, including coach and group travel operators 
couriers and travel agents. 

 
It was proposed that where a salon owner applied for ARG as a business rate payer 
they could not also claim as self- employed as well – that principle applied to the ARG 
scheme in entirety. 
 
Government had increased the evidence threshold which increased the application 
handling time whilst verification was performed, and mandated assurance checks 
were completed. 
 
A window for applications would be opened and once closed eligibility would be 
determined and the grant pot would be divided equally between the eligible 
businesses. 
 
The grant award would depend on the number of eligible applications.  To illustrate 
the potential grant amounts; 150 grants would mean £520 each, 200 grants £390 
each. 
 
It was proposed that the maximum grant be set at £2,667 which was the lowest 
Omicron mandatory grant tier – that was unlikely to be reached as that would only 
meet 29 applications. 
 
The grant must be distributed before 31st March 2022. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Maddox, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To agree the eligible businesses for the Additional Restrictions Grant Scheme 

as detailed in the report; and 
 
2. To delegate the setting and distribution of the Additional Restrictions Grant to 

the Director of Resources. 

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



 
117 – Regulation of Investigation Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) Annual Report 
 
The Head of Legal and Governance and Monitoring Officer’s report provided a review 
of RIPA operations between 1st January 2021 and 31st January 2022.  During that 
period there had been no applications for any authorisation for Directed Surveillance 
or use of Covert Human Intelligence Source (CHIS). 
 
The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) regulated covert 
investigations by a number of bodies, including local authorities.  The legislation was 
introduced to ensure that individuals’ rights were protected while also ensuring that 
public authorities had the powers they needed to function effectively.  The Council was 
included within the RIPA framework with regard to the authorisation of both Directed 
Surveillance and of the use of Covert Human Intelligence Sources.  The Council’s 
Covert Surveillance Policy had been last reviewed in July 2021 and took account of 
revisions to authorised officers.  The updated Policy had been attached to the report 
for Members to confirm. 
 
The Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 restricted the use of RIPA to conduct that would 
constitute a criminal offence which was punishable by a maximum custodial sentence 
of six months or more.  That effectively restricted the use of RIPA to circumstances 
when the conduct was considered to be serious criminal conduct, by reference to 
sentencing powers. 
 
There were some limited exceptions out in statutory instrument. These were: 
 

 The sale of alcohol to children (s.146 of the Licensing Act 2003) 

 Allowing the sale of alcohol to children (s.147 of the Licensing Act 2003) 

 Persistently selling alcohol to children (s.147A of the Licensing Act 2003) 

 The sale of tobacco to persons under 18 years of age (s.7 Children and Young 
Persons’ Act 1933) 

 
The use of covert human intelligence source (CHIS) must be for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder; the conduct authorised must 
be proportionate to what is sought to be achieved and judicial approval from a justice 
of the peace must be obtained. 
 
The Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) advised that authorities should 
provide levels of training appropriate to the needs of users.  Relevant Officers had 
attended training in February 2018, and a further online training session had been 
provided in November 2021, with 20 officers having successfully completed it to date. 
 
Local Authorities were subject to inspection from the Investigatory Powers 
Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) (formerly the Office of Surveillance Commissioners). 
The Council’s arrangements for managing Directed Surveillance and CHIS had been 
the subject of a remote inspection in 2018 and recommendations arising implemented. 
Since then, there had been changes in Senior Officers and during 2021 the 
Constitution and Policy had been updated to reflect these and training provided.  The 
Council was due for its next programmed inspection and was awaiting confirmation 
from the IPCO Inspector as to how that would be undertaken. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Maddox, and 
 
RESOLVED:-  
 
1. To note the review of the Council’s RIPA Policy between 1st January 2021 and 

31st January 2022; and 
 
2. To confirm the revised Covert Surveillance Policy as attached to the report. 
 
118 – Relocation Policy 
 

The Head of Legal and Governance and Monitoring Officer reported that following 
recent Internal Audit reports, the Audit and Governance Committee had requested a 
policy to ensure that the Relocation Policy was fit for purpose. 
 
The Monitoring Officer had looked at best practice elsewhere.  A copy of the existing 
policy had been attached to the report for information.  The revised draft had been 
attached for consideration and adoption if agreed. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and 
 
RESOLVED:- To approve the revised Relocation Policy as attached to the report. 

REFERRED ITEM 
 

THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION 

 
119 – Housing Management Forum: Recommendations 
 
The recommendations of the Housing Management Forum held on 27th January, 2022 
were submitted for consideration. 
 
N.B. The Minutes are reproduced as Appendix 1 to the Minutes of this meeting. 
 
It was moved by Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Barlow, and 
 
RESOLVED:- That the recommendations of the Housing Management Forum be 
agreed, as follows:- 

 
Housing Revenue Account 2022/2023 

 
To recommend the Council:- 
 
1. To note the information provided within the report; 
 
2. To note the Expected Outturn Budget for 2021/2022 would be a surplus of 

£191,890 including the original budgeted contribution to Earmarked Reserves of 
£83,760; 

 

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



3. To note the balances on the Expected Outturn Budget for 2021/2022; 
4. To agree the basis on which the 2022/2023 draft Budget had been proposed in 

points 3.6.1 to 3.6.3 of the report; 
 
5. To agree dwelling rent increase of 3.1% as outlined in point 3.7 of the report; 
 
6. To agree garage dwelling rent increase of 3.1% as outlined in point 3.8 of the 

report; 
 
7. To agree as outlined in points 3.9.1 to 3.9.4 of the report, the other additional 

considerations; and 
 
8. To agree the approach to priorities for the year 2021/2022 raised in points 3.10.1 

to 3.10.05 of the report. 
 
120 – Budget Proposals 2022-2023 
 
The Committee considered a detailed report from the Director of Resources regarding 
the budget proposals for 2022-2023 and the decisions associated with budget setting. 
 
The 2022-2023 General Fund revenue budget was proposed as £8.841,970 which 

had included £148,760 for the parish precepts. 

 

The £8,841,970 budget had included one-off items that related to the prior year results 

of the Collection Fund for Council Tax and Business Rates, the core funding for the 

budget was £11,181,940. 

 

The Council Tax was proposed to increase by £5 per year at Band D (2.04%); 59% of 

properties were in Band A and the increase was £3.33 for the year, 6 pence per week. 

 
It was moved by Councillor Hamilton and seconded by Councillor Morgan and, 
 
RESOLVED:- To recommend the Council:- 
 
1. To set the 2022-2023 General Fund revenue budget as £8,841,970 including 

£148,760 for parish precepts; 

2. To agree a Council Tax increase of £5 on Band D which is equivalent to 2.04% 
on all Council Tax bands; 

3. To approve £16,000 of funding for Cumbria Council for Voluntary Service (CVS) 
for 2022-2023; 

4 To agree the total net use of £320,140 of reserves; 

5. To note the movement in reserves between financial years related to the 
precepting arrangements for Business Rates of £2,257,900; 

6. To note the Council Tax Base at 19,899.25; 

7. To note that there were no fee and charges increases proposed; and 

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



8. To approve the inclusion of £817,000 in the Capital Programme as a Leisure 
Centre project line. 

The meeting closed at 2.34 pm. 

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



 
HOUSING MANAGEMENT FORUM 

 
 Meeting: Thursday 27th January, 2022 
 at 2.00 pm. (Banqueting Hall) 
 
PRESENT:- Councillors Hamilton (Chairman), Barlow, Gawne, McClure, McEwan 
and Morgan. 
 
Tenant Representative:- Mrs M. Anderson. 
 
Officers Present:- Janice Sharp (Deputy Director of People and Place) and Paula 
Westwood (Scrutiny and Democratic Services Team Leader). 
 
1 – Apologies for Absence/Attendance of Substitute Members 
 
Apologies for absence had been received from Councillor Robson and Tenant 
Representatives Mrs I. Asbury, Mr J. Christie and Mrs J. Scott. 
 
2 – Declarations of Interest 
 
Councillor Barlow declared an interest in Agenda Item No. 8 – Housing Maintenance 
Investment Budget (Minute No. 5), as his brother lived in a Council property. 
 
3 – Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the meeting held on 28th January, 2021 were taken as read and 
confirmed. 
 
4 – Public Participation 
 
RESOLVED:- To note that no questions, representations, deputations or petitions 
had been received in respect of the meeting. 
 
5 – Housing Maintenance Investment Budget 2022/2023 
 
The Deputy Director of People and Place had submitted a report with the purpose of 
agreeing the Housing Maintenance Investment Budget for 2022/2023 and approving 
the delivery of planned investments through the Procure Plus framework. 
 
The 2020-2025 Asset Management Strategy had established a number of investment 
priorities to ensure the Council maintained the Decent Homes Standard, including: 
 

• Ensuring properties were safe, energy efficient and weatherproof; 
• Investments being prioritised on a just in time and worst-first basis; 
• Ensuring Tenants and Leaseholders were consulted and their views 

considered; and 
• Working collaboratively with other housing providers and Contractors.   

Page 11

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
It had been noted that in accordance with section 5.4 of the 2020-2025 Asset 
Management Strategy, the delivery of planned investments and major works had 
been transferred from Cumbria Housing Partners to Procure Plus Holdings (PPH) 
during 2017/18 and that those arrangements continued to be an effective delivery 
method providing value for money, compared with historical costs.  The 
arrangements with PPH offered additional savings on fees and continued to deliver 
efficiencies through streamlined management, administration and monitoring of 
planned investment works.  The delivery of investments via PPH offered additional 
social value benefits throughout the Borough as savings were reinvested into 
community-based housing initiatives. 
 
Section 8.10 of the 2020-2025 Asset Management Strategy identified the results of 
the 2019 Stock Condition Survey and formed the basis of the Housing Services’s 
Business Planning Model and provided the underlying data for short and medium-
term investments to ensure that:- 
 

• Properties were “safe, energy efficient and weatherproof”; and 
• Improvements were carried out on a “just in time”; “worst first” basis. 

 
The strategy further confirmed that the stock was generally in good condition but 
“there remained a number of properties which had components approaching the end 
of their useable life which would need replacing over the coming years”. In view of 
that, a number of ongoing priorities had been initiated to ensure components were 
replaced in accordance with the overarching investment priorities including:- 
 

• Completing repairs to any newly occurring non-Decent Homes by 31 
March 2025; 

• Replacing 150 central heating systems annually; 
• Replacing main roof coverings that were approaching the end of their 

component life; 
• Replacing flat roof coverings that were approaching the end of their 

component life; 
• Replacing external wall finishes that were approaching the end of their 

component life; 
• Replacing windows to 150 properties annually; 
• Upgrading 100 electrical installations annually; 
• Testing and certifying all gas appliances annually; 
• Testing and certifying all electrical installations on a five-year cycle; 
• Painting and repairing timber components on a six-year cycle; 
• Upgrading communal lighting with energy efficient bulbs or fittings;  
• Upgrading security doors to communal areas; and 
• Undertaking roofing and damp improvements to 10 blocks of garages 

annually. 

Page 12

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
The proposed investment profile for 2022/2023 had been appended to the report and 
followed the priorities set out in sections 5.4 and 8.10 of the 2020-2025 Asset 
Management Strategy.  The proposed budget included an additional £250,000 of 
unplanned roofing works identified during 2021.  These works had not been identified 
during the 2019 Stock Condition Survey and related to degradation of the underfelt to 
80 flats in the Central area of the Borough. 
 
The housing maintenance investments would be undertaken within the budget of 
£5,705,407 and any programme volatility, unplanned or newly arising works would be 
managed through earmarked reserves. 
 
RECOMMENDED:-  
 
1. To approve the Investment Budget which had been included as an appendix to 

the Report and is reproduced at Appendix 1 to these minutes; and 
 
2. To approve the delivery of planned investments through the Procure Plus 

framework. 

REFERRED ITEMS 
 

THE FOLLOWING MATTERS ARE REFERRED TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION 
 
6 – Housing Revenue Account Budget 2022/2023 
 
The Deputy Director of People and Place had submitted a report with the purpose of 
agreeing the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Budget for the 2022/2023 financial 
year.  Her report also provided the Expected Outturn Budget and balance for the 
current year. 
 
It had been noted that the MHCLG’s policy on rents for social housing permitted 
Local Authorities to increase social rents by up to CPI (based on September of the 
previous year) plus 1% each year.  In 2021/2022 this had permitted the Council to 
increase social rents by 1.5%.  The CPI in 2021/2022 was unusually high at 3.1% 
which would permit the Council to increase rents by up to 4.1% (CPI+1%).  However, 
it had been considered that such an increase would not be reasonable and it had 
instead been proposed that rents be increased by CPI only, at 3.1%. 
 
The continued sale of Council properties through Right to Buy and general increased 
costs/inflation would remain a challenge for the Housing Revenue Account.  
Increased costs associated with the economy recovering from the Covid-19 
Pandemic would also bring challenges to the Housing Revenue Account’s income 
over the coming financial year.  Local Government Reform and the creation of the 
new Unitary Authority would likely have implications on the HRA moving forward, 
which also needed to be considered.  It was for those reasons that it had been 
considered an increase in rents should occur, however not the maximum permitted 
level. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
It had been noted that the Council would remain focused on controlling expenditure 
and looking at ways to generate income wherever possible.  Mitigating the impact of 
the Pandemic on the Housing Service’s income stream would be of paramount 
importance as we move into 2022/23.  That would be achieved by the continuing 
hard work of Officers to engage with Tenants to resolve issues and to come to 
affordable arrangements to repay arrears alongside effective signposting to other 
support services, who could help those affected by Covid-19 to rebuild their lives and 
apply for the necessary benefits to support them in paying their rent/reducing their 
water charges. 
 
3.4 Expected Outturn Budget 2021/22 
 
The outturn for the year forecasted a net surplus of £191,890 a revision to the 
budgeted contribution to Earmarked Reserves of £83,760. 
 
3.5 Balance on the Expected Outturn for 2020/21 
 
The above was likely to result in the following movement in balances: 
 
3.5.1  Major Repair Reserve balance as at 31 March 2021:  £3,770,905 
 

Forecast underspend on Major Works to year end: £   100,000 
 
Major Repairs Reserve forecast balance as at  
31st March, 2022: £3,870,905 

   
3.5.2  Housing Revenue Earmarked Reserve at 31 March 2021:  £4,388,072 

 
• Budgeted Contribution to Reserve in year:                     £     83,760 
• Forecast surplus:                                                            £   108,130 
• Estimated Balance at year end:                                      £4,579,962 

 
   Housing Fund balance at 31 March 2021:                       £1,000,000 
 
           There was no change expected in the fund balance in year. 
 
3.5.3 Voluntary Repayment Provision as at 31 March 2021: £8,952,090 
 

• Forecast Provision 2020/21  £   816,520  
• Provision at year end £9,768,610 

 
3.6 HRA Budget 2022/23 Proposal 
 
The proposed budget for 2022/2023 had been tabled at the meeting and the 
following factors had been taken into account:-: 
 
3.6.1 An increase by CPI on rental increase for residential dwellings; 
 
3.6.2 A contingency of £50,000 had been retained in the draft budget; 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
3.6.3 Bad debt provision had increased by £157,030 to reflect the arrears of current 

and former Tenants. 
 
3.7    Dwelling Rents 
 
3.7.1  Based on the proposal to increase social rents by 3.1% (CPI) for the 

2022/2023 financial year, the proposed dwelling rents for 2022/2023 (based on 
an average) had been presented as follows:- 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3.7.2 The expenditure within the HRA was agreed through the democratic process.   

However, occasions arise which result in under and overspends with the 
account. 

 
3.7.3 As agreed previously, the use of the earmarked HRA reserve managed budget 

volatility as and when required within the parameter of the overall agreed 
budget.    

 
3.7.4 The HRA fund balance would be assessed by the Director of Resources.  
 
3.8 Garage Rents   
 
3.8.1  It had been agreed at Executive Committee in January 2020 that the Council 

could adopt the approach to increase garage rents in line with dwelling rents 
from 2020/21 for the five-year period the new rent policy was in place.  

 
3.8.2  Based on that, garage rents would be increased by 3.1% for the 2022/2023 

financial year. The proposed garage rents for 2022/2023 (based on an 
average) had been presented as follows:- 

 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 

 52 Weeks 53 Weeks 48 Weeks 
 
Average rent 
increase 
over 48 weeks 
= £2.58 per week 

2019/20  £73.67 £81.34 

2020/21 £75.64  £81.94 

2021/22 £76.76  £83.16 

2022/23 £79.14  £85.74 

 No 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 
Increased 
Revenue 
2022/23 

Garage rate 1 27 £     7.58     £7.69     £7.93 

£7,429 Garage rate 2 451 £   10.45   £10.61   £10.94 

TOTAL 478 £236,150 £239,652 £247,081 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
3.9  Additional considerations 
 
3.9.1 Service Charges e.g. Communal Area Cleaning 
 

Agree Officers increase charges as necessary to reflect any increases in 
contractual arrangements for the delivery of the service.  Charges to be 
adjusted as and when necessary to reflect recovery of the cost of provision, 
with no additional administrative costs. 

 
3.9.2 Service & Facility Charges for Dispersed & Furnished Properties 
 

The future funding of service charges had now been agreed and it would be 
exempt from Universal Credit and the charges could continue to be claimed by 
housing benefit. 

 
The Deputy Director of People and Place had been proposed that the charges 
be increased as above 3.9.1 to reflect recovery of the cost of provision with no 
additional admin costs.  

 
3.9.3 Adelphi Court  
 

The block of 12 flats was currently leased to Richmond Fellowship as a 
supported housing scheme.  The lease had been renewed for a further three 
years with effect from June, 2021 until 31st May, 2024.  An increase of 1.5% 
had been applied to the rent, reflective of the increase to social rents in 
general for the 2021/22 financial year as agreed.  A new rent review clause 
had been inserted enabling the Council to increase the annual rent in line with 
social rents on the anniversary of the lease each year. 

 
3.9.4 ASB Action Ltd - Service Level Agreement 2022/2023 
 

The Council’s aim was to provide homes in good repair and on Council estates 
where people would like to live.  To enable the Housing Service to achieve 
that, effective management of anti-social behaviour was imperative. 

 
ASB Action Ltd. provided a specialist service assisting social housing 
providers to effectively deal with such issues, including specialist legal advice 
at short notice for a fixed fee ensuring value for money. 
 
The Deputy Director of People and Place had recommended that Members 
agree to renew the annual Service Level Agreement with ASB Action Ltd. and 
suspend the requirement to obtain alternative quotes with regard to use of 
specialist services in accordance with Barrow Borough Council’s Purchasing 
Procedure (September 2017).  

 
The cost of a ten-day Service Level Agreement, including training was £4,785 
plus VAT.      

Page 16

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
3.10 Priorities for the Year 2022/2023   

 
During the financial year there would be several factors which would have an 
impact on the service.  To summarise:- 
 

3.10.1 Maintaining a balanced Housing Revenue Account 
 

The Government had agreed to allow social landlords to increase their rents 
by CPI plus 1% over a five year period. 
 
This was positive news; however, the number of properties continued to 
reduce and external pressures increased, requiring the need for continuous 
financial control and consideration of the future models of service delivery.  
 

3.10.2 Housing Management System - Cx 
 
The priority for 2021 had been to upgrade the current version of the software 
installed on the servers to 21.2 (currently 18.8.9 was installed).  This had 
required a server upgrade on the internal environment and had involved a 
joined up approach between Housing, IT Services, Civica and an external 
Consultant.  Following a robust testing process, two ‘show stopping’ issues 
had been identified which required a ‘hotfix’ from Civica before going live with 
the new version.  It was expected that those fixes would be available and 
applied for testing early January 2022, at which point (provided successful), a 
‘go live’ date would be scheduled with Civica to launch version 21.2 of the 
software. 
 
The new version would offer more user friendly and efficient user interface, 
new features and a much improved Tenant Portal, a self-serve facility offered 
by Civica for Tenants to access their rent account and other related 
information.  It would also enable the Service to focus on improving the way of 
monitoring void properties within Cx and also record interactions with 
Customers. 
 
Action:  
Embedding the new version and integrating its new and improved functionality 
into Housing processes would be a key priority across the service during 
2022/2023. 
 
Action:  
The development of the Cx system would continue as a key priority across the 
service during 2022/23. 

 
3.10.3 Welfare Changes & Income Collection 

 
The full service roll out of Universal Credit had commenced on 5th December, 
2018.  Members were aware of the change this had introduced and Officers 
continued to work to mitigate the effect of the roll out. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
It was evident that it continued to put a significant risk on the income received 
and puts continual increased pressure on the Operations Team to mitigate the 
effect to maximise income; rent collection would be a key priority for staff.  
 
Action:   
Operations Team to continue to monitor the impact of roll out and adopt best 
practice to minimise the risk to the income of the service. 
 

3.10.4 Covid Impact and Income Collection 
 

Staff continued to work hard to ensure Tenants’ benefit claims, including 
housing benefit, Universal Credit and alternative pay arrangements were 
optimised and Tenants were kept up to date with the help and support 
available to them to deal with the impact Covid-19 may have had on their 
health and wellbeing. 
 
Action:  
Staff would continue to monitor arrears and identify those individuals who may 
be struggling financially, referring them on to the Housing Service in-house 
support team or signposting them to other agencies who may be able to help 
where necessary.  

 
3.10.5 Water Rates Collection 

 
The current contract to collect water charges had been extended to 2026 
following agreement at Executive Committee in September 2020. 
 
The commission the service would receive in 2022/2023 was estimated to be 
£165,394.45. 
 

Summary 
 
The proposed budget provided assurance that the Council was controlling 
expenditure to meet the costs for service provision, taking into account the reducing 
number of housing stock and subsequent loss of rental income. 

 
The use of the earmarked reserve provided provision for flexibility in the service, 
together with ensuring a balanced budget over the next financial year 2022/2023, 
should additional reductions or efficiencies have not been identified.  
 
The Deputy Director of People and Place wished to place on record her thanks and 
express how proud she was of the Officers for working with vulnerable client groups 
in unprecedented challenging circumstances, including Covid-19. 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



 
RECOMMENDED:-  
 
1. To note the information provided within the report; 

 
2. To note the Expected Outturn Budget for 2021/2022 would be a surplus of 

£191,980 including the original budgeted contribution to Earmarked Reserves of 
£83,760; 

 
3. To note the balances on the Expected Outturn Budget for 2021/2022; 

 
4. To agree the basis on which the 2022/2023 draft Budget had been proposed in 

points 3.6.1 to 3.6.3 of the report. 
 

5. To agree dwelling rent increase of 3.1% as outlined in point 3.7 of the report; 
 

6. To agree garage rent increase of 3.1% as outlined in point 3.8 of the report; 
 

7. To agree or note as outlined in points 3.9.1 to 3.9.4 of the report, the other 
additional considerations; and 

 
8. To agree the approach to priorities for the year 2022/2023 raised in points 3.10.1 

to 3.10.5 of the report. 
 
The meeting closed at 2.21 pm. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6
Appendix 1



Appendix 1 - HMF Mins 27.01.22

Total Budget £5,705,407    

Routine Property Repairs Cyclical Repairs Major Improvement Work MRA - Capitalised Improvement Work

£978,156     Tenant Demand Repairs £292,012     Gas Servicing/Breakdown £100,000     Disabled Adaptations £343,800     Rewires (PP)
£168,399      Preliminary Costs £28,560     Door Entry Maintenance £5,000     Asbestos Surveys £470,758     Heating and Insulation (PP)
-£5,000       Rechargeable Repair Income £180,000     External Decoration (PP) £15,000     Decoration (After Major Works) £336,000     Window Replacements (PP)
-£6,188       Leasehold Repairs Income £81,000     Electrical Testing £20,000     Fencing and Gates £760,700     Re-Roofing Houses/Flats (PP)

£12,735     Ground Maintenance £40,000     Communal Lighting (PP) £250,000     Re-Roofing Works (PP) (Unplanned)
Void Property Repairs £15,000     Tipping Charges £10,000     Communal Painting (PP)

£10,168     TV Aerials £36,000     Shop Improvements
£852,651     Void Property Repairs £40,000     Consultancy Fees £5,000     Community Centres
£190,997      Preliminary Costs £7,800     Legal Fees £5,000     EEB Improvements
£10,615      EPC Surveys -£48,797       Service Charge Income £608,333     External Rendering/Pointing (PP) PP = Procure Plus

-£108,292       Service Charge Income

           
 

£2,189,630 £618,478 £736,041 £2,161,258  

S:\Committee Mins and Reps\Cttee Mins and Reps\Minutes\21_22\HMF\Appendix 1 - HMF Mins 27.01.22 21/02/22

P
age 20

A
genda Item

 6
A

ppendix 1



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee - 9 March 2022 

Full Council - 22 March 2022 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 
 

Report from:   Jan Sharp, Deputy Director of People & Place 

Report Author:  Caroline Wagstaff, Head of People & Communities 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  This report is to provide you with an updated Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 

Strategy 2022-2024 (Appendix 1) with an Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Action 

Framework (Appendix 2) and Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Pledge 

(Appendix 3) for the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness. 
 

This strategy has been developed with reference to the Local Government 

Association Equalities Framework, which sets out best practice.  It sets out what 

we need to do to ensure all our customers have a positive experience when 

engaging with the Council ensuring we engage with communities via appropriate 

channels which are available and promoted. 
 

As an employer we will embed equality, diversity and inclusion into all aspects of 

the Council developing a sustainable culture promoting personal responsibility 

for equality, diversity and inclusion rooted in respect and dignity. 
 

2.0 Recommendations  

2.1 It is recommended that Executive Committee recommend to full Council 

that it:  
 

(1) Agrees the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 – 2024 as 

part of the Council’s Policy framework. 

(2) Agree the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Action Framework. 

(3) Agree the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Pledge. 
 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1  Barrow Borough Council Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 - 2024 
and Action Framework set out how the Council will meet the requirements of the 
public sector equality duty (PSED), including setting out specific objectives.   The 
strategy is a public declaration of the Council’s commitment to the continued 

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



development and improvement of our services for our communities which is fully 
accessible and inclusive, combined with recruiting and retaining staff from all 
sectors of society. 

 
3.2 The Equality and Diversity strategy forms part of the Council’s Policy framework. 

Council last updated its Equality and Diversity Strategy and published its 
objectives in 2017.  The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to publish 
equality objectives every four years.  The current strategy is due for review and 
brings in line the new strategy with links to the Council Plan 2020-2024 and 
contributes to the Council’s Vision and Values: For our Borough to be a great place 
to live, work and visit. We will achieve this by being a compassionate Council, 
putting residents at the heart of all we do.  Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Strategy and Action Framework will serve the needs of the Council Plan, our 
Values and Behaviours, the Growing Forward Report. 

 
3.3 We believe everyone should be given the opportunity to flourish in an inclusive 

environment.  We will take a proactive approach to advancing equality, diversity 
and inclusion for all our staff, stakeholders and customers and will consider the 
Equality Act 2010, its PSED and protected characteristics. 

 
 We will do this by: 
 

 Demonstrating visible leadership and accountability at all levels. 

 Working in partnership with our staff, customers and stakeholders. 

 Embedding equality, diversity and inclusion in all we do and in our culture. 

 We will continue to develop our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Action 
Framework which will be a working document and updated on a regular 
basis. 

 
What our success will look like: 
 

 Our communities, customers and staff are assured we are doing all we can 
as a Council to eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and 
advance equality, diversity and inclusion. 

 People feel confident in speaking out when they see discrimination or bias. 

 We publish detailed information about the equality data we hold and the 
action we are taking across all our functions, this equality data informs our 
policies, processes and decisions, achieving positive outcomes. 

 We can demonstrate we actively listen, learn and are transparent about our 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion challenges, hold ourselves accountable for 
progress and set an example across the Borough. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 The Lead Member for  Equality, Diversity and Inclusion has been consulted on 
the proposed new Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, Action Framework 
and Pledge. 

 

Page 22

Agenda Item 8



 
4.2  Discussions have taken place with partner agencies on the new strategy and 

comments have been taken into account. 
 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 The consequence of not approving the update will increase the risk of challenge. 
 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 This Strategy update is a key organisational control that supports good 
performance with the Council Plan, Growing Forward Report and our Values and 
Behaviours. 

 

7.0 Implications  

7.1  Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 No financial implications are associated with the proposals set out in this report. 

 

7.1.2 Human Resources 
 

The Council should ensure equality, diversity and inclusion data should be 

available to inform its workforce planning and understood and in line with our 

public sector equality duty. 
 

7.2  Legal  

7.2.1 By producing and publishing our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, 

Action Framework and Pledge, the Council will be complying with the general 

equality duty, specific duties and the public sector equality duty as set out by the 

Equality Act 2010. 
 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation 
 

7.3.1 The Strategy 2022 – 2024 is in line with Local Government Reorganisation and 

will give us guiding principles and sets out our objectives until the Strategy is 

reviewed in line with LGR. 
 

7.4  Equality and Diversity  

7.4.1  By its very nature, the Strategy is drafted with a view to having a positive impact 

on equality, diversity and Inclusion. 
 

Risk 
 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Not to recommend adoption 
of the new Equality, Diversity 
and Inclusion Strategy, Action 
Framework and Pledge 

 

Risk of external legal 
challenge, not meeting 
statutory requirements 
and potential impact on 
the Councils reputation. 

Equality Strategy and 
Action Framework are 
implemented, managed 
and monitored. 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 8



 

 

Contact Officer  

Caroline Wagstaff, Head of People & Communities 
 

email: cewagstaff@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report  

 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1 Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 2022-2024 

2 Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Action Framework 2022-2024 

3 Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Pledge 

 

Page 24

Agenda Item 8

mailto:cewagstaff@barrowbc.gov.uk


 

 

Equality, Diversity  

& Inclusion Strategy  
 2022-2024 

BARROW BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Page 25

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



 

 

Introduction 
Our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EDI) Strategy sets 
out our approach to equality, diversity and inclusion for 
the next two years. 

It is a public declaration of Barrow Borough Council’s 
commitment to the continued development and 
improvement of our services for our communities that 
is fully accessible and inclusive, combined with 
recruiting and retaining staff from all sectors of society. 

Our Guiding 
Principles 
We believe everyone should have the opportunity 
to flourish in an inclusive environment.  

We will take a pro-active approach to advancing 
equality, diversity and inclusion for all our staff, 
stakeholders and customers and will consider the 
Equality Act 2010, its Public Sector Duty and the 
protected characteristics including: Race, Sex, 
Gender Reassignment, Disability, Sexual 
Orientation, Religion or Belief, Marriage or Civil 
Partner, Age and Pregnancy and Maternity 
explicitly. 

This Strategy and its Action Framework will also be 
guided by the Local Government Association 
Equality Framework 2020. 

We will do this by: 

• Demonstrating visible leadership and 
accountability at all levels. 

• Working in partnership with our staff, 
customers and other stakeholders. 

• Embedding equality, diversity and inclusion in 
all we do and in our culture through our 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022 
– 2024. 

• Developing an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
Action Framework which will be a working 
document, monitored and updated on a 
regular basis. 

 

Our Equality Diversity       
& Inclusion Pledge 

 

People are at the centre of everything we 
do - from our employees to the 

communities we serve. 

We are committed to creating a diverse 
and inclusive workforce. Our employees 
thrive when we get this right.  We aim to 
create a workplace which celebrates the 
diversity of our employees, customers 

and other users. 

We are committed to a comprehensive 
Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 

and Action Framework that will continue 
to improve our services to customers and 
prospective customers across the whole 

of Barrow Borough Council. 

 

Barrow Borough Council employees support Furness Pride   

Barrow Borough Council Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 2022-2024 

Page 26

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



 

 

Our Strategic Objectives for enhancing                         

Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 2022-2024 

As an Employer 

We will embed Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion into all aspects of the Council 
by: 

• Developing a sustainable culture promoting 
personal responsibility for equality, diversity and 
inclusion rooted in respect and dignity. 

• Promoting an environment of equality, diversity 
and inclusion in all areas of our day-to-day business 
and activity. 

• Mainstreaming equality, diversity and inclusion in 
all our staff policies and practices (both in their 
development and review through Equality Impact 
Assessments) including recruitment, career 
development, training, communication promotion 
and procurement. 

Attracting, retaining, developing and 
supporting excellent staff by: 

• Fostering good relations, partnerships and 
communication between diverse communities. 

• Ensuring inclusive and accessible physical spaces 
and virtual environments, providing an accessible 
environment with equal access for all staff. 

• Enhancing our workforce by supporting the career 
development of staff to develop and increase its 
diversity in the future. 

We will embed Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion training and development to 
achieve this strategy by:  

• Developing a range of tailored training sessions to 
ensure we embrace and embed good practice 
guidance and outcomes across the Council.  

• Introducing an equality, diversity and inclusion 
module for all new staff and update training 
annually. 

As a Service Provider 

We will engage with communities and 
customers by: 
• Proactively seeking opportunities to exceed our 

legal obligations to support the people of Barrow, 
eliminate discrimination, harassment and 
victimisation and ensure service users and 
partners are fully engaged with the Council. 

We will support our communities by: 
• Ensuring our decision-making is free from bias 

and discrimination and that everyone who has 
contact with us feels valued and respected. 

We will support specific communities 
by: 
• Developing and embedding an inclusive culture 

that encourages and values the diversity, 
uniqueness and experiences of our customers 
and communities. 

We will use robust reliable equalities 
data to target all our activities by: 
• Continuously improving the process of collecting 

reliable equality data to analyse, report and 
share. 

Barrow Borough Council Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 2022-2024 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



 

 What our success will look like 
Success will deliver the following outcomes: 

• Our communities, customers and staff are assured that we are doing all we can as a Council to eliminate 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and advance equality, diversity and inclusion. 

• People feel confident in speaking out when they see discrimination or bias. 

• We publish contemporaneous and detailed information about the equality data we hold and the action we are taking 
across all our functions and that this equality data informs our policies, processes and decisions, achieving positive 
outcomes. 

• We can demonstrate we actively listen, learn and are transparent about our Equality, Diversity and Inclusion 
challenges, hold ourselves accountable for progress, and set an example across the Borough. 

 

This Equality, Diversity, and 
Inclusion Strategy & its Action 

Framework will be guided by the 
Equality Act 2010 

The Equality Act 2010 legally protects people 
from discrimination in the workplace and in wider 
society. It sets out the different ways in which it is 
unlawful to treat someone. 

The Equality Act 2010 - Public Sector 
Equality Duty 5th April 2011 
• The general duty applies across Great Britain to 

public bodies and to other organisations when 
they are carrying out public functions. 

• The specific duty applies to certain public 
bodies in England, Scotland and Wales in 
relation to their non-devolved functions. 

The General Equality Duty is set out in 
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
In summary, those subject to the general duty 
must have due regard to the need to: 

• Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment 
and victimisation  

• Advance equality of opportunity between 
different groups  

• Foster good relations between different 

groups.  

The Specific Duties 
The specific duties require public bodies to 
publish information to demonstrate their 
compliance with the Equality Duty: 

1. At least annually from 31 January 2012; and 

2. Equality objectives at least every four years 
from  6 April 2012. 

Protected Characteristics                  
of the Equality Act 2010 

• Race 
• Sex 
• Gender Reassignment 
• Disability 
• Sexual Orientation 
• Religion or Belief 
• Marriage or Civil Partnership 
• Age 
• Pregnancy & Maternity 
 

The Equality Act obligations are to eliminate: 
• Direct Discrimination 
• Indirect Discrimination 
• Harassment 
• Victimisation 
 

Direct Discrimination is when people are treated worse 
than another person or other people because: 

• A protected characteristic 

• Someone thinks a person has that protected 
characteristic (known as discrimination by perception) 

• A person is connected to someone with that protected 
characteristic (known as discrimination by association). 

Indirect Discrimination happens when there is a policy 
that applies in the same way for everybody but 
disadvantages a group of people who share a protected 
characteristic, and a person is disadvantaged as part of this 
group. If this happens, the person or organisation applying 
the policy must show there is a good reason for this 
disadvantage. 

Harassment occurs when someone treats a person in a 
way that makes them feel humiliated, offended or 
degraded. 

Victimisation is when a person is treated badly because 
they have made a complaint of discrimination under the 
Equality Act. It can also occur if a person is supporting 
someone who has made a complaint of discrimination. 

Barrow Borough Council Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Strategy 2022-2024 

Page 28

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 1



 

 

Equality, Diversity  

& Inclusion  

Action Framework  
 2022-2024 

BARROW BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



 

 

Introduction 
The Local Government Association Equality Framework for 
Local Government (EFLG) was updated in 2020 to reflect the 
latest legislation affecting equality, such as Gender Pay Gap 
reporting, GDPR, the changing context of the local 
government sector, the equality in Britain and in response to 
other significant issues which might affect equality, including 
the UK’s decision to leave the European Union. 

The EFLG 2020 is intended to help Councils: 

a) Deliver accessible and responsive services to customers 
and residents in their communities including those with 
protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010 
which are: Race, Sex, Gender Reassignment, Disability, 
Sexual Orientation, Religion or Belief, Marriage or Civil 
Partnership, Age and Pregnancy and Maternity explicitly. 

b) Employ a workforce that reflects the diversity of the area 
they are serving. 

c) Provide equality of opportunity for all staff. 

d) Meet the requirements of the Public Sector Equality 
Duty.  

The EFLG sets out four 
modules for improvement 

1. Leadership and Commitment 

2. Understanding and working with your 
communities 

3. Responsive Services and Customer 
Care 

4. Diverse and Engaged Workforce.  

This Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Action 
Framework has used these four modules to 
form equality, diversity and inclusion 
objectives to develop a working document for 
the Council which can be monitored and 
updated on a regular basis. 

Barrow Borough Council Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Action Framework 2022-2024 

Leadership and Commitment  

OBJECTIVE ACTIONS OUTCOMES 

Leadership 

The Council should gain a 
reputation within the community 
and with all its partners for 
championing equality, diversity 
and inclusion, while balancing 
competing interests and fostering 
good relations. 

The Council should demonstrate 
success in working with partners 
in the public, private, community 
and voluntary sectors to address 
equality diversity and inclusion 
priorities, which are then 
reviewed on a regular basis. 

The Council should take steps to 
safeguard the human rights of 
individuals where these have been 
threatened. 

Senior leaders must have 
knowledge of local equality 
priorities and how and why 
they are being addressed. 

The Council must aim to 
demonstrate that 
improvements in equality, 
diversity and inclusion 
outcomes are being 
delivered though effective 
equality impact 
assessments. 

Partnership review 
mechanisms will be in place 
and reported on.  

Senior leaders will be ambassadors for the 
equality, diversity and inclusion agenda, by 
challenging inequalities in line with our 
commitment to Anchor Collaborative 
Charter and driving improvement agenda. 

Although the Socio-economic duty of the 
Equality Act 2010 has not been activated by 
the Government, the Council will continue 
to actively take duty regard to Socio-
economic inequality and deprivation in 
Barrow and will amend this strategy and 
fully implement the duty if the legislation 
changes.  

The Council will report on equality impact 
assessments annually and demonstrate 
improvements in equality, diversity and 
inclusion. 

The Council will report evidence that cross-
departmental and Council learning and 
training is taking place. 

The Council will make use of Members’ links 
with different communities depending on 
circumstances.  

Page 30

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



 

 

Barrow Borough Council Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Action Framework 2022-2024 

Responsive Services and Customer Care 

OBJECTIVE ACTIONS OUTCOMES 

Commissioning and 
Procurement Services 

The Council should demonstrate 
that commissioning and 
procurement services are helping 
to achieve its equality, diversity 
and inclusion priorities. 

The Council should be able to 
demonstrate general 
improvements and equality, 
diversity and inclusion outcomes 
are delivered throughout Council 
services. 

The Council should have systems 
in place to use monitoring data 
and citizen feedback to redesign 
and adapt service plans.  

  

There must be evidence that 
contracts are being monitored and 
will aim to publish quantitative and 
qualitative analysis. 

There must be evidence of 
contractors meeting the Council’s 
equality, diversity and inclusion 
objectives. 

The Council aim to assess the 
social value from its contracts and 
where possible aim for local 
procurement, to positively 
influencing the local economy. 

Business plans must review past 
performance, demonstrate how 
past objectives have been 
achieved, review performance and 
set new objectives. 

The Council will aim to provide 
evidence of improved or improving 
outcomes, where appropriate to 
demonstrate the effects on 
different communities/protected 
groups. 

Contractors’ commitment to equality, 
diversity and inclusion will be 
monitored annually. 

Service Plans will be designed and 
written with equality diversity and 
inclusion objectives in mind. 

Contractors staff will be required to 
receive equality, diversity and 
inclusion training within the 
organisation, or will be offered 
Council run training where 
appropriate. 

The Council will identify gaps in terms 
of who may not be using a service and 
why and action will be planned to 
make changes in services to response. 

The Council will report on examples of 
how different customers’ experiences 
are analysed and acted upon. 

Understanding and working with our communities 

OBJECTIVE ACTIONS OUTCOMES 

Effective Community 
Engagement 

Formal and informal interactions 
should take place between the 
Council and its diverse 
communities. 

Communities from across the 
protected groups should be 
actively participating in and 
influencing decision making. 

The Council should have a 
sophisticated approach to 
fostering good relationships in 
diverse communities. 

The Council’s leaders should 
maintain a high profile in 
community relations. 

  

The Council aim to continue to 
develop a range of innovative 
approaches involving communities, 
including arrangements to meet 
specific or individual needs, such 
as mobility and access issues. 

The Council aim to ensure 
vulnerable people/communities 
are participating, including the 
hardest to reach in the community. 

The Council aim to work with 
others to improve performance on 
good relations between diverse 
communities. 

The Council already has sophisticated 
knowledge of its communities in some 
areas of operation (such as Housing), 
this knowledge and understanding 
will be shared across all Council 
departments. 

The Council will monitor the levels of 
involvement of diverse groups in 
developing services within the 
community and targeted groups 
should be encouraged to become 
involved. 

Key decision makers will be involved 
in the engagement process with the 
diverse communities in Barrow. 

The Council will report good examples 
of how effective communication and 
engagement with diverse groups 
within the community has enabled it 
to prevent or manage tensions 
between different equality groups. 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



 

 

Barrow Borough Council Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Action Framework 2022-2024 

Diverse and Engaged Workforce 

OBJECTIVE ACTIONS OUTCOMES 

Workforce Diversity and 
Monitoring

The Council should actively 
ensure the profile of its 
workforce broadly reflects the 
communities it serves and 
demonstrate that equality, 
diversity and inclusion outcomes 
for the whole workforce are 
being achieved. 

The Council should ensure 
equality, diversity and inclusion 
outcomes are communicated and 
understood by the whole 
workforce. 

The Council should have robust 
and comprehensive sets of 
employment data and use this to 
inform its workforce planning. 

The Council has an excellent set 
of policies and procedures in 
place which must continue to be 
actively promoted to staff and 
used by managers to promote 
equality, diversity and inclusion. 

The Council will aim to provide 
appropriate examples of positive 
action to improve equality, 
diversity and inclusion. 

Good use must be made of 
flexible working arrangements 
and career pathway initiatives to 
address potential barriers and 
under representation. 

  

The Council will monitor and report on 
the workforce profile at all levels to 
demonstrate it broadly matches the 
local labour market/community profile. 

Workforce data will include a wide 
range of information and protected 
characteristic profiles, including pay 
levels, training opportunities and 
appraisal ratings. 

The Council will consider pay gaps 
across areas of inequality such as 
religion or belief/ race - ethnicity/ age, 
and disability. 

The Council will report satisfaction 
levels across all staff groups in respect 
of staff engagement. 

The Council will recognise good 
performance in the appraisal process 
and more generally. 

Learning and development 

The Council should have training 
and development strategies in 
place that are proven to be 
making a significant difference to 
the wider equality, diversity and 
inclusion agenda for employees 
and for workforce diversity. 

  

The Council must make sure that 
services are provided by 
knowledgeable and well trained 
staff who are equipped and 
understand equality, diversity 
and inclusion to meet the diverse 
needs of local communities. 

The Council will aim to monitor 
feedback from service users in 
protected groups to make sure 
that they are positive about the 
skills of staff in dealing with their 
diverse issues. 

Staff will feel their skills are 
continuously improving and that they 
are able to fulfil their duties and relate 
effectively with a diverse range of 
clients. 

The Council will make sure issues 
relating to protected characteristics and 
equality, diversity and inclusion practice 
are challenged confidently and 
effectively by managers. 

Staff will be able to answer questions 
about the Council’s equality, diversity 
and inclusion priorities and policies. 

Health and Wellbeing 

There should be positive health 
and wellbeing policies and 
cultures at all levels and areas of 
the Council. 

The Council should have positive 
health and wellbeing policies and 
procedures at all levels and areas 
of the Council to combat stress 
and boost the wellbeing and 
performance of our diverse 
workforce. 

The Council must make sure 
approaches to health and 
wellbeing are innovative and that 
there have been significant 
outcomes in the health and 
wellbeing of all staff, including 
those with protected 
characteristics. 

There are high satisfaction levels 
with the working environment 
across all staff groups, particularly 
those with protected 
characteristics. 

The Council has a designated Health & 
Wellbeing Group to ensure staff feel 
supported to perform at their best and 
stay healthy in the workplace.  

The Council has adopted the social 
model of disability. 

The Council will continue to have high 
satisfaction levels across all staff groups 
in respect of staff engagement. 

Harassment and bullying at work will be 
dealt with effectively and staff will be 
treated with dignity and respect. 

Page 32

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 2



People are at the centre of everything we do - from our 
employees to the communities we serve.   

We are committed to creating a diverse and inclusive 
workforce. Our employees thrive when we get this right. We 
aim to create a workplace that celebrates the diversity of our 

employees, customers and other users.  

We are committed to a comprehensive Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy and Action Framework that will continue to 
improve our services to customers and prospective customers 

across the whole of the Barrow Borough.  

The Council, as a whole has signed up to the Equality, 
Diversity and Inclusion Pledge, alongside our new and 

reviewed Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2022-2024. 

These documents will help us demonstrate our full 
commitment to Equality, Diversity and Inclusion.  

The Pledge outlines our commitment, and our EDI Strategy 
and Action Framework outlines our way forward; these will be 

endorsed at the highest level. 

Our Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Pledge 

Barrow Borough 

Equality, Diversity & Inclusion Pledge 

Everybody counts - a pledge for equality across the Borough 

Equality & Inclusion - Changing Lives 

Sam Plum 
Barrow Borough Council  

Chief Executive 

Cllr Ann Thomson 
Leader of the Council 

Date  ……………………….. 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

9 March 2022 

Food Safety Service Plan 2022-23 
 

 

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Graham Barker 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  The Council is required to prepare a documented Food Safety Service Plan for 
the areas of food law that it has a duty to enforce and set out how the authority 
intends to deliver Official Controls within the Borough.  

 
1.2 The Food Safety Service Plan, attached at Appendix 1 has been reviewed 

following the publication of the Food Standards Agencies’ (FSA) Recovery Plan in 
June 2021, and incorporates the FSA’s recovery plan for the period to 31st March 
2023, for consideration by Executive Committee. 

 
1.3 The food hygiene inspection programme recommenced in July 2021 as part of the 

FSA’s recovery plan. The Food Safety Service Plan also recognises the need to 
rely on temporary staff and qualified agency contractors to assist the service in 
delivering Official Controls.   

 
2.0  Recommendation  

  It is recommended that Executive Committee agree the Food Safety Service 
Plan for 2022-2023 as attached to this report 

 
3.0 Background and Proposals 
 
3.1 The Food Law Code of Practice (the Code) gives instructions that local 

authorities must consider when enforcing food law.  

The Competent Authority is defined in Regulation 2(1) The Official Feed and Food 
Controls (England) Regulations 2009 and for the purposes of the Code would 
mean Food Authorities. In relation to Food Hygiene, Barrow Borough Council 
acting as the Food Authority, is the Competent Authority. 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



 
3.2 The Code states that each Competent Authority must have an up-to-date, 

documented Food Service Plan which is readily available to food business 
operators and consumers. The Plan must be subject to regular review and clearly 
state the period of time during which the Plan has effect. The plan should reflect 
the requirements detailed in paragraph six of the Regulators’ Code; ensuring that 
their approach to their regulatory activities is transparent. 

 
3.3 The Plan must cover all areas of food law that the Competent Authority has a duty 

to enforce and set out how the authority intends to deliver Official Controls within 
its area and include imported food responsibilities and the control arrangements in 
place. The Plan must include reference to the authority’s approach to enforcement 
including its Alternative Enforcement Strategy for dealing with those premises 
rated as low risk under the Food Establishment Intervention Rating Scheme.  

 
3.4 Competent Authorities must have regard to any advice issued by the Food 

Standards Agency (FSA) and Local Government Association when drafting their 
Food Service Plan.  

 
3.5 The Food Safety Service Plan was last approved in September 2020, for the 

financial year to 31st March 2021.  Due to the additional COVID restrictions placed 
on businesses throughout last year (2021/22), the Service Plan was not updated. 
However, this report provides a revised Food Safety Service 2022-23 attached at 
Appendix 1, following the publication of the FSA’s Recovery Plan and extends to 
the period to 31st March 2023. 

 
4.0 Food Safety Service Recovery Plan 
 
4.1 In June 2021 the FSA set out their expectations for the delivery of local authorities’ 

food safety controls from July 2021 to 2023/24. 
  

The Recovery Plan provides a framework for re-starting programmed food 
inspections in line with the Food Law Codes of Practice (for England, Wales and 
Northern Ireland) for new food establishments and for high-risk and/or non-
compliant establishments while providing flexibility for lower risk establishments. 
 
This should be implemented alongside delivery of:  

 

 official controls, such as approved establishments, where the nature and 
frequency are prescribed in specific legislation and official controls 
recommended by FSA guidance that support trade and enable export; 

 reactive work including enforcement in the case of non-compliance, 
managing food incidents and food hazards, and investigating and 
managing complaints; 

 sampling; and  

 ongoing proactive surveillance.  

 
 

Page 36

Agenda Item 9



 
4.2 Outline of the FSA’s Recovery Plan for Local Authorities. 

 

 

4.3  The food safety service is part of the Commercial Team and the Lead Food Officer 
reports to the Head of Public Protection. Officers within the Commercial Team also 
undertake Health and Safety, Accident investigation, Infectious Disease Control, 
Animal Welfare, Port Health and Covid-19 related duties.  

 
4.4 Due to Covid-19 restrictions on businesses, additional regulatory activity related 

to COVID-19, our contact tracing efforts, staff sickness and staff shortages the 
following programmed inspections were outstanding at 31/03/2021: 

  

2020/21 Outstanding Inspections 

Risk Premises Risk 

Category 

Frequency of 

Intervention 

Number of 

Premises 

High A 6 months 0 

 B 12 months 0 

 C 18 months 43 

 D 24 months 15 

Low 
E 

Suitable for 

Alternative 

Intervention 

54 

 Total  112 

Plus 34 new business registrations remaining unrated. 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 9



 
4.5 The FSA have recognised the efforts of Local Authorities in the fight against 

COVID-19 and have produced their risk-based recovery plan to get back on track 
over a longer period than would normally be required. 

 
4.6 Therefore, the outstanding inspections have been added to our recovery 

inspection programme that now covers the period July 2021 to 31 March 2023, 
and is detailed below: 
 

July 2021 to 31st March 2023 Inspection Programme 

Premises Risk 

Category 

Frequency of 

Intervention 
Number of Premises 

A 6 months 3 

B 12 months 7 

C 18 months 103 

D 24 months 200 

E 
Suitable for 

Alternative 

Intervention 

185 

Unrated  80 

Total  578 

 Data updated: 10th January 2022. 

 

4.7 Over 480 premises will require a physical inspection, some of whom will require 
more than one. A proportion of E Risk premises can be subject to a desktop 
survey. Alongside these, we are also expected to deliver the following:  

 Official controls where the nature and frequency are prescribed in specific 
legislation and official controls recommended by FSA guidance that are 
undertaken to support trade and enable export.  

 Reactive work including, enforcement in the case of non-compliance, 
managing food incidents and food hazards, and investigating and managing 
complaints  

 Sampling in accordance with the local authority sampling programme or as 
required in the context of assessing food business compliance, and any follow-
up necessary in relation to the FSA Surveillance Sampling Programme.  

 Ongoing proactive surveillance to obtain an accurate picture of the local 
business landscape and to: identify open/closed/recently re-opened/new 
businesses; as well as businesses where there has been a change of 
operation, activities or FBO.  

 For ‘new businesses’, consideration of registration information and intelligence 
with appropriate onsite interventions carried out where there are concerns 
around public health/consumer protection. Where consideration of registration 
information and intelligence indicates lower risk, initial visits should be 

Page 38

Agenda Item 9



prioritised and undertaken in accordance with the Codes of Practice and 
Practice Guidance taking account of the flexibilities provided. 

 Implementing planned intervention programmes for high-risk category and 
non-compliant establishments.  

 Implementing an intelligence / information-based approach for lower risk 
category establishments. 

 Responding to FHRS requested re-visits in line with the timelines specified in 
the FHRS Brand Standard for England or the statutory guidance in Wales and 
Northern Ireland. 

Again, Officers within the Commercial Team also undertake Health and Safety, 
Accident investigation, Infectious Disease Control, Animal Welfare, Port Health 
and Covid-19 related duties.  

 

5.0 Consultation  

 None required. 

 

6.0  Alternative Options  

6.1 If the Council takes no action the FSA has the power to remove the food safety 

responsibilities and engage another authority to deliver the Service. If this did 

happen the Council would still have to fund the service but would lose member 

and management control of it. 

 

7.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

7.1 Service plans support the Council’s Council Plan and contributes to the strategic 

priorities therein. 

 

8.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

8.1.1 The required staffing resource to deliver the Food Safety Service Plan are either 

in place or being recruited to cover the work through fixed term contracts. 

Contingency plans to cover through agency staff are being explored if 

recruitment is unsuccessful.  

 

Legal  

8.1.2 The FSA has a key role in overseeing official food controls undertaken by Local 

Authorities.  Powers enabling the Agency to monitor and audit local authorities are 

contained in the Food Standards Act 1999 and the Official Feed and Food Controls 

Regulations. 

8.1.3 The Authority has a duty to comply with the Framework Agreement on Official 

Feed and Food Controls by Local Authorities issued by the FSA.  These duties 

include requirements for planning management and delivery of the local food law 

enforcement service. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



 
Equality and Diversity  

8.2 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? Yes 
 
Risk 

 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Failure to comply with 
legislative duties  

Council fails to 
discharge its 
responsibilities 
 
Potential for both unsafe 
and unscrupulous 
activities to go 
unchecked and un-
enforced which may 
lead to serious food 
borne illness or 
disadvantage to the 
residents, consumers 
and businesses within 
the Borough 
 
 

Ensure responsibilities 
discharged in 
accordance with 
legislative requirements 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Failure to meet FSA audit 
requirements 

FSA may use its powers 
to take away the 
functions of the authority 
and place them with 
another authority to 
exercise them on its 
behalf 

Ensure responsibilities 
discharged and regular 
performance monitoring 
 
Ensure Food Safety 
Service Plan is regularly 
review and up to date 

 

8.3 Local Government Reorganisation 

8.3.1 There are no direct impacts on Local Government Reorganisation. However, a 
Food Safety Service Plan will need to be developed by the new unitary authority 
incorporating the work of the three district councils and Trading Standards. 

 

Contact Officers  

Graham Barker gebarker@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40

Agenda Item 9

mailto:gebarker@barrowbc.gov.uk


 

Appendices Attached to this Report – If none, please state none or delete section 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Food Safety Service Plan 2022-23 

  

 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document  Where it is available  

None  

  

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 1 of 22 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

                                                                                                    
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Barrow Borough Council 
Public Protection Services – Food Safety Service Plan 
2022/2023 
(Incorporating the Food Standards Agencies Recovery Plan 
2021 – 2023) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 2 of 22 
 

 

Contents 
 
1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................................... 3 
2. SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES ......................................................................................................... 3 
3. BACKGROUND PROFILE OF BARROW ................................................................................................. 4 
4. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE ........................................................................................................... 5 
5. SCOPE OF THE FOOD SERVICE ............................................................................................................ 7 
6. DEMANDS ON THE FOOD SERVICE ..................................................................................................... 8 

6.1. Approvals .................................................................................................................................... 9 
6.2. The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme .............................................................................................. 9 
6.3. Enforcement Policy ................................................................................................................... 10 

7. SERVICE DELIVERY ............................................................................................................................. 11 
7.1. Food Safety Interventions ......................................................................................................... 11 
7.2. Performance Management Monitoring .................................................................................... 11 

8. FOOD SAFETY INTERVENTIONS PLAN ............................................................................................... 12 
8.1. Inspections ................................................................................................................................ 12 
8.2. Food Registration ...................................................................................................................... 15 
8.3. Information and Training .......................................................................................................... 15 
8.4. New Businesses ......................................................................................................................... 15 
8.5. Food Complaints ....................................................................................................................... 15 
8.6. Food Fraud ................................................................................................................................ 16 
8.7. Primary Authority Principle ...................................................................................................... 16 
8.8. Advice to Business .................................................................................................................... 17 
8.9. Food Sampling .......................................................................................................................... 17 
8.10. Infectious Disease Control ........................................................................................................ 17 
8.11. Liaison with Other Organisations .............................................................................................. 18 
8.12. Food Safety and Standards Promotion ..................................................................................... 18 
8.13. Food Alerts ................................................................................................................................ 18 
8.14. Equality and Diversity ............................................................................................................... 19 

9. RESOURCES/DEMANDS ON SERVICE DELIVERY ................................................................................ 20 
9.1. Financial / Staffing Allocation ................................................................................................... 20 
9.2. Staff Development Plan ............................................................................................................ 20 

10. QUALITY ASSESSMENT .................................................................................................................. 22 
11. REVIEW ......................................................................................................................................... 22 

11.1. Performance against Plan ......................................................................................................... 22 
11.2. Areas for improvement ............................................................................................................. 22 

 

Page 44

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 3 of 22 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
 
This Food Safety Service plan has been produced as required by and in accordance with 
the Food Standards Agency Framework Agreement on Local Authority Food Law 
enforcement.  It is written in the format prescribed by the Agency, its purpose being to 
demonstrate that Barrow Borough Council has in place adequate and effective 
arrangements to meet its statutory obligations in respect of Food Safety. 
 
Barrow Borough Council is designated as a Food Authority under the European 
Communities Act 1972, the Food Hygiene (England) Regulations 2013 and the Food 
Safety Act 1990. This places a statutory duty on the Authority to enforce the Acts.  

 
This plan covers the following: 

• The Food Safety Service Aims and Objectives  
• Background Information 
• Service Delivery  
• Resources 
• Quality Assessment  
• Service Review. 

 
 

2. SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES 
  
Barrow Borough Council’s Council Plan 2020-2024 sets out the actions it will take to 
ensure the Borough is a great place to live, work and visit. It will be underpinned by 
detailed delivery plans, one of which is the Food Safety Service Plan. 
 
We will need to be bold and ambitious to deliver this vision, and we will need to find 
different ways to work to make the most of the resources we have available. 
 
The Service objectives are as follows: 
 

• Ensure that all businesses involved in the preparation, sale, distribution or 
handling of food comply with food safety legislation and the requirements of codes 
of practice issued by the Food Standards Agency. 

 
• To minimise the spread of incidents of infectious diseases including incidents of 

food poisoning by investigating relevant cases and taking action to control the 
spread of disease. 

 
The Food Safety Service Plan links to the Councils Priorities of Developing the local 
economy to secure a long-term economic future for all our community; A strong and 

Page 45

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/8190.pdf
https://www.barrowbc.gov.uk/_resources/assets/attachment/full/0/8190.pdf


 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 4 of 22 
 

vibrant town centre community; Closing the gap on health inequalities; and Providing 
efficient and effective services. During the year we report our progress to the 
Management Team, through a performance indicator based on the number of food 
hygiene inspections undertaken each quarter. 

 
          This plan will be reviewed annually, and we welcome views, comments and suggestions 

on how it could be improved. 
 

3. BACKGROUND PROFILE OF BARROW 
 
 
Barrow Borough Council is one of 6 District Council’s within the County of Cumbria. It is 
mainly urban in nature with a population of around 67,100 covering an area of 7699 
hectares and a major industrial area of Cumbria.  By far the largest town within the 
Borough is Barrow and this is the business centre of the Furness area.  Dalton, the 
ancient capital of Furness, is smaller and lies inland.  Askam, Newton, Lindal and Marton 
are small villages lying near the borough boundary while a few smaller communities 
make up the more rural areas.  To the west of Barrow lies Walney Island which is 
approximately 9 miles long, the central area of the island being mainly residential. 

 
The Borough has a mixed economy although historically employment has been biased 
towards heavy industry, including shipbuilding, until recently this type of employment has 
seen large scale redundancies and closures resulting in a relatively high unemployment 
level.  

  
This has led to lower household incomes and higher levels of benefit dependency are 
concentrated in pockets of deprivation, hence improving the quality of life for all local 
people remains an overarching priority.  

 
 However, recent investment in offshore energy and at the UKs submarine construction 

facility has resulted in an increase of both the blue and white collar workforce, traveling 
to and residing in Barrow and the surrounding area. 

 
The restrictions placed on businesses and individuals over the past 2 years, because of 
the Coronavirus Pandemic, has increased the pressures on the local economy. 

 
 
  

Page 46

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 5 of 22 
 

4. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 

4.1.  Organisational Structure 

Barrow Borough follows an Alternative Arrangements structure with a committee 
structure for decision making. 
 
The Council has an Overview and Scrutiny Committee (OSC) and review panels, which 
broadly mirror the Service areas. OSC can be involved in the development of policy 
under its Overview role and will also scrutinize the decisions and activities of the council. 
 

4.2. Local Government Reorganisation 
 
Following the decision of the Secretary of State in July 2021 each local authority within 
Cumbria was notified that, subject to Parliamentary approval, two new unitary authorities 
would replace the current local government structure in Cumbria, with the Barrow, Eden 
and South Lakeland areas being the footprint for a new unitary authority covering the 
east of the County (Westmorland and Furness), and Allerdale, Carlisle and Copeland 
(Cumberland), being a footprint for a new unitary authority covering the west of the 
County, effective from 1st April 2023. All six districts and Cumbria County Council will 
cease to exist in their current format on 31 March 2023. 
 
Transitional arrangements, including the creation of a ‘Shadow Authority’ will be put in 
place from May 2022 to enable the transition to Westmorland and Furness Unitary 
Authority. This Service Plan will need to be reviewed, alongside those produced by Eden 
and South Lakeland, and agreed by the Shadow Authority during the year.  
 

4.3. Food Safety Service 
 
The food safety service is part of the Commercial Team and the Lead Food Officer 
reports to the Head of Public Protection. 
 
The Barrow Food Safety team at present consists of: 
1 x Commercial Team Leader / Lead Food Officer (0.6 FTE Food) 
2 x Environmental Health Officers (1.60 FTE Food) 
1 Contractor carrying out food hygiene inspections only. (0.2 FTE – Food) 
 
1 x Environmental Health Officer/Food Safety Officer (1 FTE Food – in recruitment) 
1 x Environmental Health Officer (0.2 FTE Food – in recruitment) 
The Team will also have 2 x Graduate Trainee Environmental Health Officers (0.4 FTE 
– Food) by the end of July 2022. 
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 6 of 22 
 

Officers within the Commercial Team also undertake Health and Safety, Infectious 
Disease Control, Animal Welfare, Port Health and Covid-19 related duties. 
 
Organisational Structure 

 
 
 
 
 
 
The provisions made for specialist services used on an as and when basis are:- 
 
Food Examiner: FW & E Microbiology Lab, York 

Email - yorkFWELab@phe.gov.uk 
Tel: 01904 468 948 

 
 
Food Analyst:          County Laboratory, Peddles Way,     

Preston Riversway Docklands,  
Ashton-on-Ribble, Preston PR2 2TY 
Tel: 01772 721660 

 
 The long-term staffing shortages have necessitated the use of suitably qualified 

contractors to carry out programmed  inspections. 
 

Page 48

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 7 of 22 
 

5. SCOPE OF THE FOOD SERVICE 
 
 
The scope of the food safety service consists of: 
 

• Ensuring that all food premises within the Borough are identified and inspected 
on a risk-assessed basis; 

 
• Implementing and maintaining the National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme; 

 
• Reviewing planning and building control applications to ensure that food hygiene 

requirements are considered at the design and build stages of development; 
 

• Providing advice to food businesses and members of the public on issues relating 
to food safety; 

 
• Investigating all complaints relating to food and food safety and taking appropriate 

enforcement action to prevent potential outbreaks of food poisoning; 
 

• Undertaking sampling in order to determine the quality and fitness of food that is 
available for purchase throughout the Borough; 

 
• Minimising the spread of incidents of infectious diseases, including incidents of 

food poisoning by investigating relevant cases and taking action to control the 
spread of disease. 

 
  

Page 49

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 8 of 22 
 

6. DEMANDS ON THE FOOD SERVICE 
 
 

 There are over 600 registered food premises within the Borough, mainly composed of 
restaurants, takeaways and retailers. A small number of businesses are seasonal, and 
several takeaways are run by proprietors whose first language is not English. 
 

 As of January 2022, 635 registered food premises within the Borough were made up of 
the following food premises types: 
 
 

Type of Premises Number of 
Premises 

Restaurant/ Cafe/ Canteen 95 
Hotel/ Guest House 15 
Small Retailer 122 
Supermarket/ Hypermarket 25 
Caring Premises 33 
Restaurants and Caterers - Other 51 
Distributors/ Transporters 2 
Pub/ Club 104 
Retailer - Other 26 
Take-Away 87 
School/ College 41 
Mobile Food Unit 29 
Manufacturers and Packers 4 
Primary Producers 1 

Total 635 
 
 
Incorporated in the above is 1 Approved Premises (See Section 6.1). 
 

 Barrow Borough Council has procedures in place that ensure that the Food Standards 
Agency’s Code of Practice and Practice Guidance document is followed. In addition, 
these Procedures also refer to the various Guidance Notes from the Local Government 
Regulation which gives guidance on Food Safety issues. Officers of the Council must 
and do have regard to these Codes and Guidance in undertaking the food safety function 
as they ensure consistent enforcement. 
 
Council services are provided 08.30 – 17.00 hours Monday to Thursday and Friday 08.30 
– 16.30 hours. This is supported by an out of hour’s emergency response service 
accessed by calling 01229 833311. 
 

 Planned out of hours inspections and visits are also made by Officers on the basis of the 
trading times of food businesses and perceived need. 

Page 50

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 9 of 22 
 

   

6.1. Approvals 
 

 The Authority approves premises which are required to be formally Approved under 
specific EU Legislation due to the increased risk posed by their particular food activities 
e.g. manufacturers or food premises producing meat products for other food businesses. 
There is  currently 1 approved premises in the Borough. 
 

6.2. The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 
 

 The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) is a Food Standards Agency/Local Authority 
partnership initiative.   It is a national scheme which provides consumers with information 
about hygiene standards in food business establishments using, information gathered 
by officers at the time they are inspected to check compliance with legal requirements 
on food hygiene.  The food hygiene rating given reflects the inspection findings. 

 
 The FHRS allows consumers to make informed choices about the places where they eat 

or shop for food and, through these choices, encourage businesses to improve their 
hygiene standards. 

 
There are six different food hygiene ratings (‘0’ up to ‘5’) - the top rating ‘5’ represents a 
‘very good’ level of compliance with legal requirements and all businesses irrespective 
of the nature or size of their operation should be able to achieve this. 
 

 Food hygiene ratings are published online at http://ratings.food.gov.uk/. Businesses are 
encouraged to display a sticker showing their food hygiene ratings at their premises 
where consumers can easily see them, although there is no legal requirement currently 
to display them. 
 

 The FHRS incorporates safeguards to ensure fairness to businesses. This includes an 
appeal procedure, a ‘right to reply’ for publication (together with the food hygiene rating) 
at http://ratings.food.gov.uk/ and a mechanism for requesting a re- inspection/re-visit for 
the purposes of re-rating when improvements have been made. Further guidance is 
available in the “Food Hygiene Rating Scheme: Guidance for Local Authorities on 
Implementation and Operation: the Brand Standard”. 

 
Barrow Borough Council joined the scheme in 2012. The following Table shows the list 
of Ratings for Barrow, as of January 2022: 
 
 
 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1

http://ratings.food.gov.uk/
http://ratings.food.gov.uk/
http://ratings.food.gov.uk/
http://ratings.food.gov.uk/


 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 10 of 22 
 

Ratings (January 2022) No of Food 
Premises 

% of total 

0 – Urgent Improvement Necessary 1 0.2 

1 – Major Improvement Necessary 15 2.9 

2 – Improvement Necessary 2 0.4 

3 – Generally Satisfactory 28 5.3 

4 – Good 74 14.1 

5 – Very Good 406 77.2 

Total 492 100% 

Premises with a rating of 3 or more 508 96.6 

Exempt / excluded / sensitive 30  
 
 
The Council received 8 requests for re-inspection last year, after the food business 
operator had addressed the issues raised. 

 

6.3. Enforcement Policy 
 

The Council has adopted the principles of the Regulators Code which provides a clear, 
flexible and principle based framework for how regulators should engage with those 
whom they regulate. The principles are incorporated within the Councils enforcement 
policy. 

 
All food safety enforcement decisions are  made  following  consideration  of  the 
Enforcement Policy. Any departure from the Policy will be documented. A copy of the 
Enforcement Policy is available on request. 

 
All food law enforcement will be carried out in accordance with the relevant Food 
Standards Agency Code of Practice and Practice Guidance and other Official Guidance 
produced by Local Government Regulation or the Food Standards Agency. 

 
Where   matters   are   identified   or   reported   to   officers   and   the   enforcement 
responsibility lies with other council services or agencies, officers will refer the matter to 
the appropriate service or agency. 

 
 

 
 

Page 52

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 11 of 22 
 

7. SERVICE DELIVERY 
 

7.1. Food Safety Interventions 
 

The enforcement of Food Safety legislation is governed by a Statutory Food Law Code 
of Practice and Practice Guidance. This specifies procedures and forms to be used by 
employees when enforcing the legislation. Interventions include the formal inspection 
regime, auditing, verification visits, sampling and food or food hygiene complaint 
investigations. 

 
In March 2017 the Food Standards Agency issued a revised Food Law Code of Practice. 

 
Interventions are risk based and a range of other interventions can be employed to 
achieve the same result, e.g. surveys, formal training and interventions including 
sampling, auditing, verification visits, as well as visits to investigate food or food hygiene 
complaints. 

 

7.2. Performance Management Monitoring 
 

The Food Standards Agency has a remit to oversee local authority food law enforcement 
to ensure appropriate local services are in place. 

 
Barrow report to the Local Authority Enforcement Monitoring System (LAEMS), 
uploading data from the Civica APP Flare public protection database. 

 
Barrow uploads food inspection ratings to the FSA NFHRS database. 

 
The data on approved premises was reviewed in February 2022 and the FSA advised 
accordingly. 

 
The previous LAEMS return has been uploaded electronically and the FSA’s 2020-21 
return completed. 

 

 
  

Page 53

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 12 of 22 
 

8. FOOD SAFETY INTERVENTIONS PLAN 
 

8.1. Inspections 
 

Inspections are carried out in accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice (March 
2017). 

 
Following each inspection,  the  premises  are  attributed  a  Risk  Rating  Score  in 
accordance with Food Law Code of Practice, which determines the minimum inspection 
period before the next inspection.   The risk score is entered on the Civica App Flare 
software system and each quarter a list of premises due for inspection is produced. 

 
At the time of every programmed food premises inspection, a pro-forma (aide memoir) 
is completed which is attached to the electronic premises file. Following each inspection, 
either a written report is sent to the proprietor of the business or, for minor matters, a 
carbonated handwritten report together with a letter advising how the rating is worked 
out is left on site. The report and carbonated handwritten report have a standard format. 

 
The inspection record includes an assessment of the risk from E.coli, based on Food 
Standards Agency guidance & is completed by Food Officers in premises where raw and 
ready to eat foods are handled. 

 
The Code requires  Category  A  and  B  premises  to  receive  an  inspection  at  the 
appropriate frequency (6 months & 12 months). 

 
Category C premises receive an inspection at the appropriate frequency (18 months) 

 
Category D premises will receive an inspection at the appropriate frequency (2 years) 

 
Category E premises will receive an inspection at the appropriate frequency (3 years) 

 
 

Revisits are made in order to check on compliance with Enforcement Notices and to 
ensure poor standards and serious defects are addressed by the food business operator. 
This is at the officers’ discretion, but in line with Departmental Enforcement Policy. 

 
The use of the risk assessment scheme ensures that the highest priority is given to food 
manufacturers and caterers where conditions are below standard and premises that 
cater for vulnerable groups. 

 
 

Page 54

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 13 of 22 
 

 

8.2. FSA Recovery Plan July 2021 to 31st March 2023. 
 
The FSA have recognised the efforts of local authorities in the fight against COVID-19 
and therefore in mid 2021 they set out their expectations for the delivery of local 
authorities’ food safety controls; producing their risk-based Recovery Plan for the period 
July 2021 to 2023/24.  
 
The Recovery Plan provides a framework for re-starting programmed food inspections 
in line with the Food Law Codes of Practice (for England, Wales and Northern Ireland) 
for new food establishments and for high-risk and/or non-compliant establishments while 
providing flexibility for lower risk establishments. The plan should be implemented 
alongside delivery of:  
 
• official controls, such as approved establishments, where the nature and frequency 

are prescribed in specific legislation and official controls recommended by FSA 
guidance that support trade and enable export  

• reactive work including enforcement in the case of non-compliance, managing food 
incidents and food hazards, and investigating and managing complaints  

• sampling, and  
• ongoing proactive surveillance.  

 
 

8.3. Outline of the FSA’s Recovery Plan for Local Authorities. 
 

 
 
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 14 of 22 
 

 
Due to Covid-19 restrictions on businesses, additional regulatory activity related to 
COVID-19, our contact tracing efforts, staff absence and shortages the following 
programmed inspections were outstanding at 31/03/2021: 
 
 

Premises Risk Category Number of Premises 
A 0 

B 0 

C 43 

D 15 

E 54 

Unrated 34 

Total 146 
 
 
These outstanding inspections have been incorporated into the inspection plan for the 
period to 31st March 2023. 
 

8.4. Inspection Plan to 31st March 2023. 
 
The Authority maintains an accurate list of the food businesses operating throughout the 
district due to the requirement for all food businesses to be registered.  Therefore, the 
following inspections are due in the period from July 2021 to 31st March 2023. These 
figures include all overdue inspections and is based on the FSA’s recovery plan. 

 
 

Premises Risk Category Frequency of 
Intervention Number of Premises 

A 6 months 3 

B 12 months 11 

C 18 months 106 

D 24 months 213 

E Suitable for 
Alternative Intervention 122 

Total  535 
 

In addition to this figure will be new business ventures that open up within the Borough 
ranging from home caterers and market stalls, through to national companies. 

Page 56

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 15 of 22 
 

 

8.5. Food Registration 
 

A public register of all food premises within the Borough is maintained in accordance 
with regulations.  

 

8.6. Information and Training 
 

The Food Safety team has received appropriate training to ensure knowledge of food 
specific legislation which relates to premises within the Borough. All Officers received 
the relevant training to ensure core CPD. 

 

8.7. New Businesses 
 

New food  premises  receive  an  initial  inspection,  generally  within  one  month  of 
opening or some other intervention. Due to the Covid Pandemic this has not always been 
possible and we have been and continue to utilise the FSA Triage form to gather 
intelligence on new businesses.  

 
All new food premises will receive an initial rating inspection and thereafter treated as 
above depending on the initial category. 

 

8.8. Food Complaints 
 

An  inspection  may  be  undertaken  following  receipt  of  a  food  or  food  hygiene 
complaint if required by the nature and circumstances of the complaint. 

 
Food complaints are varied in type and include: 

 
• Food which does not comply with the food safety requirements i.e. food which is 

unfit; food which has been rendered injurious to health; or food which is so 
contaminated. 

 
• Food which is not of the nature or substance demanded by the purchaser. 

 
• Food not produced, processed or distributed in accordance with the Hygiene 

Regulations. 
 

Barrow also enforces the provision of the Food Information Regulations 2014, which 
relate to 'Use-by' date labelling and quality issues, in co-operation with Cumbria County 
Council’s Trading Standards Authority. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 16 of 22 
 

 
Initial investigations into food complaints are given high priority, since these can give an 
indication of where the food supply chain has broken down. Such breakdowns may be 
one-offs or can indicate a problem that, if left unattended, could have serious 
consequences. Arrangements are in place to contact the Food Standards Agency where 
food complaints may have wider implications. 

 
Where companies involved are unable to provide a satisfactory defence that they take 
all reasonable precautions and exercise all due diligence to prevent such a complaint, 
legal proceedings may be instigated. The decision to prosecute would be taken at the 
recommendation of the officer concerned, in consultation with the Commercial Team 
Leader and the Council’s legal representative and in accordance with the Public 
Protection Enforcement Policy. 

 
Dealing with food complaints is a relatively small part of the workload from April 2020 to 
March 2021 the Council received 28 complaints. 

 
 

8.9. Food Fraud 
 

Officers are aware of the potential for food fraud and are mindful of this whilst 
undertaking interventions. Where intel is received, the Commercial Team Leader will 
cascade the information to the team accordingly to investigate as appropriate. 

 
 

8.10. Primary Authority Principle 
 

In April 2009 the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act introduced the Primary 
Authority Scheme. This is an arrangement where a Local Authority agrees to provide 
specialist advice to a company regarding its Food Safety arrangements and acts as a 
point of contact for other local authorities where its food may be sold. The Primary 
Authority is usually where the head office for a company is situated. 

 
If a business has a primary authority the officer will contact the primary authority before 
any enforcement action is taken, unless immediate action is required because of the 
imminent risk to health. 

 
Currently, Barrow Borough Council does not act as Primary Authority for any local 
business. 

 
If a business requests a Local Authority to be its Primary Authority for any regulatory 
function, the Local Authority must agree to the request, although it may charge for the 
cost of doing so.  

Page 58

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 17 of 22 
 

 
 

8.11. Advice to Business 
 

Whilst the Council will utilise its powers to enforce the food legislation, it is realised that, 
where food businesses break the law, it is not always deliberate.   As a consequence, it 
is the Council’s policy to provide advice to business in a number of different ways for 
example through ‘gain or retain’ for existing businesses and ‘safer food direct’ for new 
business start-ups. 

 
The Food Safety team does not provide formal food hygiene training, as there are many 
local providers. 

 
Advice is given during routine inspections and visits and also to direct queries received 
by letter or telephone. Provisional advice is given prior to the setting up of a food 
business upon request.  

 
Building Control and Planning applications are reviewed and advice given to the 
developers / applicants regarding issues relating to Food Safety and Health and Safety. 

 
The Barrow Borough Council website contains general information and is updated when 
required. 

 
 

8.12. Food Sampling 
 

Proactive, point of sale, food sampling programme can provide useful information 
about the microbiological fitness of food for sale within the Borough. 

 
The Council participates in the Cumbria Food Liaison Group and provides input to co-
ordinated food-sampling programmes based on agreed local priorities. 

 
The sampling programme consists of the following:- 

• Target approved and high-risk premises 
• Participation in local initiatives devised by the local sampling group 
• Participation in Public Health Laboratory Service sampling initiatives. 

 
 

8.13. Infectious Disease Control 
 

The investigation of food poisoning cases is given a high priority and in an outbreak 
situation can necessitate utilising officers from the Environmental Protection & Public 

Page 59

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 18 of 22 
 

Health team, in addition to those in the food safety team (for example distributing faecal 
pots). 

 
Outbreak investigations follow the UKHSA’s North West Outbreak Plan and associated 
procedures and guidance. Such investigations will be overseen by the Commercial 
Team Leader  in partnership with UKHSA. 

 
There are good links with UKHSA and all notifications are actioned on the day of receipt, 
by a telephone call, visit or a letter. 

  
 

8.14. Liaison with Other Organisations 
 

To ensure that enforcement action taken in the area of this Council is consistent with 
national guidance and neighbouring local authorities, liaison arrangements are in place 
with The Food Standards Agency, FW & E microbiology lab York, Manchester Lab 
(clinical samples) and UKHSA. 

 
 

The Council fully participates in the work of the Cumbria Food Liaison Group. This group 
has representatives from all Cumbria Local Authorities, microbiology labs and UKHSA. 

 

8.15. Food Safety and Standards Promotion 
 

Education and promotion activities can have a direct impact on food safety standards. 
The Council is committed to providing advice and information both to business and the 
public through a number of initiatives: 

 
• Food advisory visits 
• Food Safety information leaflets 
• Food Safety Week/Food Link 
• Link to food safety information on the council website (currently under review) 
• As resources allow, talks to schools and other groups 
• World of work campaigns 

 
 

8.16. Food Alerts 
 

All food officers are signed up to receive the automated Food Alerts notified from the 
Food Standards Agency. The Commercial Team Leader will discuss with officers of 
appropriate action in each case, which may include mailshots, visits, local press 

Page 60

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 19 of 22 
 

releases, etc. The resource implication is unknown, as it depends upon the nature and 
type of alerts, but existing resources usually perform this work as and when required. 

 
 

8.17. Equality and Diversity 
 

The Equality Act 2010 replaced many separate anti-discrimination laws with a single Act.  
It also strengthened the law in important ways and extends protection against 
discrimination on the basis of: race, disability, sex, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, sexual orientation, age, religion or belief, and pregnancy and maternity. 

 
There is a general duty under the act and some specific duties which include the need 
for public bodies to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation, 
advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations. In addition, there is a duty to 
publish certain information to demonstrate compliance with the Act. 

 
Barrow Borough Council have an Equality & Diversity Strategy 2017 that details the 
various measures in place to ensure the Service does not discriminate and is equally 
accessible to all. 

 
 
 

  

Page 61

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 20 of 22 
 

9. RESOURCES/DEMANDS ON SERVICE DELIVERY 

 

9.1. Financial / Staffing Allocation 
 

 
The Barrow Borough Council Food Safety team at present consists of: 
 
1 x Commercial Team Leader / Lead Food Officer (0.6 FTE Food) 
2 x Environmental Health Officers (1.60 FTE Food) 
1 Contractor carrying out food hygiene inspections only. (0.2 FTE – Food) 
1 x Environmental Health Officer/Food Safety Officer (1 FTE Food – in recruitment) 
1 x Environmental Health Officer (0.2 FTE Food – in recruitment) 
The Team will also have 2 x Graduate Trainee Environmental Health Officers (0.4 FTE 
– Food) by the end of July 2022. 
 
 
Officers within the Commercial Team also undertake Health and Safety, Infectious 
Disease Control, Animal Welfare, Port Health and Covid-19 related duties. 
 
Physical Programmed Food Hygiene inspections recommenced on the 1st August 2020, 
however this did leave a shortfall at the end of March 2021. This shortfall has been 
incorporated into the inspection plan for the period to 31st March 2023. 
 
Of the two Environmental Health Officers, one is a newly qualified officer, undertaking 
their initial competency framework requirements. As a consequence, we continue to 
enlisted the services of a suitably qualified Contractor and have financial resources 
approved for recruiting an Environmental Health Officer/Food Safety Officer (1 FTE 
Food) plus an additional Environmental Health Officer (0.2 FTE Food) to support the 
work of the service.  
 
Our two Graduate Trainee Environmental Health Officers completed their academic 
studies in 2021 and are currently undertaking the Chartered Inst. of Environmental 
Health’s Registration Programme and will take up permanent positions in the 
Commercial Team this year. 
 

 

9.2. Staff Development Plan 
 

Training is determined during 1:2:1 and section meetings. This plan recognises the need 
for Professional Officers to meet Continuing Professional Development (CPD) 
requirements. 

 
Training and development is based on the basic principles and ideals of: 

Page 62

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 21 of 22 
 

 
• The Council is committed to continuous development of employees and services 

to ensure it is properly equipped to deal with future challenges. 
• The Council will develop the potential of all its employees. 
• Officers and  the  team  have  a  duty  to  the  Council  to  meet  food  safety 

competencies 
• Regular and continual training and updating of skills in order to undertake "the 

job" are necessary. 
• Succession planning. 
• Training will include customer service training. 

 
 

Training may be provided through attendance at externally organised courses and 
seminars or through in-house training activities. 

 
 

  

Page 63

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 
Barrow Borough Council – Food Safety Service Plan (2022/23)    Page 22 of 22 
 

10. QUALITY ASSESSMENT 
 
 

The Food Law Code of Practice (England) Regulations, requires Authorities to have 
internal monitoring systems. 

 
Officers follow food safety procedures aimed at meeting the requirements of the Food 
Safety Code of Practice and Official Guidance. This is regularly kept under review and 
is used to ensure consistency and improvements in service delivery. 

 
Procedures are in place for achieving and monitoring the consistency and quality to 
ensure that its food safety service is provided in a way that is consistent with the Food 
Standards Agency Standard, Statutory Codes of Practice and nationally issued 
guidance. 

 
 

11. REVIEW 

 

11.1. Performance against Plan 
 

The Food Safety Service Plan is reviewed annually. 
 

Food safety actions; the number of premises inspected by risk (planned / actual), are 
reported quarterly to the Management Team and Executive Committee. 

 
The performance of the food service is reported annually to the Food Standards Agency, 
via the Local Authority Monitoring System (LAEMS). 

 
 Last year we acted upon the comments made by the OFFC Performance Management 

Team and have reviewed the service plan accordingly. 
  
 

11.2. Areas for improvement 
 

Delivery of the Food Safety service will need to rely on the use of suitably qualified 
contractors, whilst newly qualified Officers undertake their initial competencies. 

 
Service plans to be formulated in February / March each year. However, this was not 
possible last year, due to the Coronavirus Pandemic. 
 
 

Page 64

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

9 March 2022 

Update on Town Centre Regeneration & Levelling Up Fund 
 

 

Report from:   Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Helen Houston, Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy 

Wards:    Central 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

This report provides an update on the delivery programme of regeneration for 

Barrow Town Centre, following the Council being notified of its successful award 

from the Levelling Up Fund on 27th October 2021 and strategic alignment of 

Towns Deal projects to ensure economies of scale, consistency of design and 

effective delivery.  
 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that Executive Committee:-  
 

1) Note that the Levelling Up Fund Memorandum of Understanding has 
been signed and an update on the programme delivery and reporting 
arrangements have been agreed with DLUHC; 

 

2) Agree that delegated authority be given to the Director of People and  
Place in consultation with the Director of Resources to enter into a Co-
operation Agreement with Cumbria County Council; 

 

3) Agree the procurement and award of a contractor for Design and Build 
works for the Levelling Up Fund, Town Centre Community Hub Project 
and Place Development Project be delegated to the Director of People 
and Place. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

Levelling Up Funding 
 

3.1 The Levelling Up Fund will invest in local infrastructure that has a visible impact 

on people and their communities. This includes a range of high value local 

investment priorities, including local transport schemes, urban regeneration 

projects and cultural assets. 

 

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



 

3.2 In March 2021 Government sought applications from Local Authorities who could 

benefit from funding. All local authorities were categorised into priority 1, 2 or 3, 

with 1 being the highest priority, Barrow Borough Council was the only Priority 1 

authority within Cumbria. The deadline for the submission of applications was 

18th June 2021. 
 

3.3 The proposal for Barrow focussed around a package of projects aimed at 

addressing the long term economic strategy for Barrow. These projects are: 
 

• Improving the Market Hall 

• Improving the frontage and access to the Forum Theatre 

• Enhancing access to these cultural assets/attractions and connecting them 

to the rest of the town through better transport infrastructure and 

improvements to the public realm.  
 

3.4 These projects represent a high impact scheme that will transform the character 

and attractiveness of the town centre and improve accessibility to this area from 

all modes of transport providing the catalyst to increase footfall and deliver lasting 

change. 
 

3.5 The total funding requested was £15,992,485 and we were successfully awarded 

this amount, along with agreed match funding from Barrow Borough Council the 

total project cost is £17,591,733, broken down as follows: 

o Market Hall - £14,199,933 

o Accessibility - £3,391,800 
 

3.6 Since confirmation of the award the Council has been working with the LUF 

Delivery Team at the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 

(DLUHC) to update the submitted programme and agree reporting 

arrangements. 
 

3.7  In early February the Section 151 Officer entered into a Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) on behalf of the Council with the Department for Levelling 

Up, Housing and Communities setting out the terms, principles and practices for 

the delivery of the Levelling Up Fund Proposal for Barrow Town Centre. 
 

3.8 The MOU covers the funding commitments from DLUHC and the delivery, 

financial expenditure, agreed milestones, reporting and evaluation, 

communication and branding expectations between the DLUHC and the Council. 
 

3.9  Confirmation of Levelling Up Funding ensures that a complementary programme  

 of regeneration activity will now be delivered in the Town Centre. Levelling Up 

Funding along with Towns Fund monies for the Town Centre Community Hub in 

The Forum and Place Development project at the Market Square and at the 

amphitheatre at the Dock Museum will deliver a comprehensive package of 

capital works which will need to be carried out in conjunction with one another as 

they are co-located and interconnected. 

Page 66

Agenda Item 10



 

Delivery & Procurement 

 

3.10 The Council have committed to the project timeline and spending profile as set 

out in our application and updated to reflect the slippage between application and 

notification of award. In order to meet the ambitious deadline for completion of 

the works and spend of all grant funding by the end of the funding period, 31st 

March 2025, project delivery must begin at pace. 

 

3.11 As the proposal involves a Transport and Accessibility project it will be necessary 

for the Council to enter into a Co-operation Agreement with Cumbria County 

Council, as highways authority, for them to deliver this work package. 

 

3.12 The work programme will begin by procuring a Design and Build Contractor for 

the Market Hall project, the largest and most complex element of the scheme. 

This project forms part of a wider package of regeneration work for Barrow Town 

Centre which includes the Town Centre Community Hub in The Forum and Place 

Development project at the Market Square and Dock Museum funded through 

the Brilliant Barrow Town Deal. In order to maximise efficiencies around 

procurement and mitigate slippage against agreed milestones officers are 

exploring the joint procurement/commission of capital works contracts for these 

work packages as they need to be carried out in conjunction with one another as 

they are co-located and interconnected. 

 

3.13 Due to the scale of works and constrained timeframe agreement is sought to 

delegate authority to the Director of People and Place to undertake a 

procurement exercise in line with the Council’s Procurement Strategy and 

Contract Standing Orders, and appoint the successful contractor(s) to allow us 

to meet the milestones agreed with DLUHC. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 As part of the development of the bid Barrow Borough Council held two 

consultations in 2020 to share information and to find out what local residents felt 

should be the focus of regeneration activity in Barrow town centre.  

 

4.2 Further consultation took place in 2021 on the developed proposals. Consultation 

consisted of public drop in sessions, briefings, workshops with stakeholders, 

businesses, council officers and elected members and leaflets and posters in 

print and online. 

 

4.3  A detailed communication and stakeholder engagement plan for the programme 

will be prepared by the established LUF Project Team, which will set out the 

timeframe for when partners and local businesses/residents will be consulted. 

This will be done prior to any intrusive surveys, during the RIBA 3 design process 

and prior/during the formal planning process which will being in Spring 2022. 

 

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 Alternative Option (a) not entering into a Co-operation Agreement with Cumbria 

County Council. 

 This would result in difficulties in delivering the transport and accessibility 

element of the programme. Similar projects agreed and delivered via 

cooperation agreement between the councils have been successful. 

 

5.2 Alternative Option (b) requiring further report to let contract for Design & Build 

Contractor for Capital Work 

 Bringing further reports to committee for the procurement and award of 

contracts would result in delays to the delivery of the programme and 

failure to meet the milestones agreed with DLUHC. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 This project primarily supports Priority 2 and 3 of the Barrow Council Plan, 

creating a vibrant, safe and welcoming place where people want to live and 

supporting the economy to thrive. The project will support the creation of a vibrant 

centre for work, shopping, study, living, leisure and accessing services, 

supporting our residents, employees and visitors from the local area, South 

Cumbria and beyond. The project will increase footfall and customer spend in the 

town centre, supporting the local economy. 

 

7.0 Implications  

7.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 The financial and resources implications of the Levelling Up Fund Programme 

have previously been agreed by this Committee at its meeting of 16th June 2021. 

 

7.1.2 All procurement will be undertaken in line with the Council’s Procurement 

Strategy. 

 

7.2 Legal  

7.2.1 The Memorandum of Understanding and Co-operation Agreement will be 

reviewed and agreed by the Head of Legal and Governance, Section 151 Officer 

and Director of People & Place. 

 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation 

7.3.1 The Levelling Up work programme will have no impact on Local Government 

Reorganisation however the project lifetime will continue beyond the 

establishment of Westmorland & Furness Council. 

 

 

 

Page 68

Agenda Item 10



 

7.4   Equality and Diversity 
  

7.4.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No 
The project is currently at concept design stage (RIBA 2). The project has been 
developed to date on the basis that it will make the Market, Forum and 
surrounding public realm more accessible for all. As the project progresses into 
RIBA 3 and 4, it will be necessary to engage further with special interest groups 
and undertake a full equality impact assessment on each sub scheme. 

 
8.0 Risk 

 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Delay in signing of necessary 

agreements 

 

 Programme delays Early engagement 

between partners and 

continue communication 

to ensure necessary 

agreements are in place 

to allow work to 

commence on schedule. 

 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Inability to procure and 

appoint contractor in a timely 

manner 

Programme delays and 

Slippage against agreed 

milestones 

Procurement undertaken 

in line with Council Policy 

to ensure contractor is 

appointed and work can 

commence 

 

 

Contact Officers  

Helen Houston, Head of Regeneration & Planning Policy 

hhouston@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

Page 69

Agenda Item 10

mailto:hhouston@barrowbc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee - 9 March 2022 

Full Council - 22 March 2022 

Review of Corporate Health and Safety Policy, Framework 

and Risk Assessment Procedure  
 

   

Report from:   Steph Cordon, Director of People and Place 

Report Author:  Les Davies, Head of Asset Management 

Wards:    All 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions 
 
Barrow BC through its health and safety governance structures have reviewed the 
existing Health and Safety policies and procedures to ensure that they remain 
compliant. The outcomes of this work is attached to this report at Appendices 1-3.  
Executive Committee are asked to approve a revised corporate health and safety 
policy and associated framework and risk assessment procedures.    

 

2.0 Recommendations  

2.1   It is recommended that Executive Committee recommend to full Council that 
they:  

 

(1) Approve the Health and Safety Policy shown in Appendix 1. 
 
(2) Approve the Health and Safety Framework shown in Appendix 2. 
 

(3) Approve the Risk Assessment Procedure shown in Appendix 3. 
 

3.0    Background and Proposals  
 

3.1  In October 2021, Bob Pedley Safety Services (BPSS) were appointed to provide 
interim health and safety support to ensure continuity of health and safety 
management within the Council.  
 
The proposal for health and safety support from BPSS included; 
 
• Securing information on the council departmental structure and 

understanding how the internal processes are intended to operate.  
  

Page 71

Agenda Item 11



• Carrying out a desktop review of procedures currently in use and preparing 
updates and/or edited versions as required.  

• Evaluating the current use and understanding of the procedures and their 
application amongst the teams. 

• Providing advice and support to the team on health and safety 
 

3.2 As part of the health and safety review process, BPSS identified a number of areas 
of good practice as well as some areas for improvement.  

 
3.3 The good practice identified by BPSS included: 
 

 A willingness by the management group to engage and share their local 

needs for support. 

 As part of the transfer of the Leisure Centre into the new Barrow Forward 

organisation a due diligence review of the arrangements for the 

management of health and safety was undertaken. The results of the 

review have shown the team to be competent, well organised with good 

processes in place to continue to manage the operation of the facility. 

 The team at Forum 22 engaged with BPSS over the Christmas period for 

support in reviewing the arrangements and risk assessments for three 

events, the Barrow Christmas lights switch on, fireworks at Askam and the 

Barra Culture events over the weekend of the 4th and 5th December at the 

town square and Dock Museum. Good processes are in place for people 

to approach the council for support in organising and running events of 

this type. The team at Forum 22 are experienced and professional in their 

approach with the ability to guide organisers and interface with support 

groups when considering the safety arrangements for such public events. 

 
3.4  The areas for improvement generally relate to risk management and the need to 

ensure safety management systems define roles and responsibilities within the 
Council. 

 
3.5 As a result of this review, BPSS prepared a number of key policies and procedure 

for consideration and implementation, including: 
 

 Health and Safety Policy (Appendix 1) 

 Managerial Arrangement for Health and Safety (Appendix 2) 

 Risk Assessment Procedure (Appendix 3) 
 
3.5  The revised health and safety policy forms an overarching strategic document 

which is underpinned by a Health and Safety Management Framework document 
based on BS ISO 45001:2018. Both documents reflect the Council’s recent re-
structure and look to ensure Heads of Service take the lead responsibility for health 
and safety management within their respective teams. 

 

Page 72

Agenda Item 11



3.6 The attached Corporate Risk Assessment Procedure is the first of a number of 
supporting health and safety procedures to ensure risk is effectively managed 
across all service areas.  

 
3.7 It will be necessary to consult with members of the Health and Safety Management 

Group and Board regarding further policies and procedures before reporting to 
Executive Committee for consideration and decision. 

 

4.0    Consultation 
 

 The Health and Safety Policy, Health and Safety Framework and Risk Assessment 
Policy were shared with the Health and Safety Management Group on 8th February 
2022 and with the Health and Safety Management Board on 17th February 2022. 

 
5.0    Alternative Options 
 

 The alternative option is not to approve the health and safety documents but this 
is not recommended as failure to follow independent advice regarding health and 
safety management will increase risk across all service areas. 

 

6.0      Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  
 
6.1      The proposed health and safety policies and procedures contributes to the 

Council’s vision “For our Borough to be great place to live work and visit” and will 
assist the Council in meeting the Priority of Place to “Create a vibrant, safe and 
welcoming place where people want to live”. 

 
7.0      Implications  
 
7.1      Financial, Resources and Procurement  
 
7.1.1  The existing General Fund budget has sufficient funds to undertake further 

investment regarding development of the Councils health and safety management 
framework. 

 
7.2  Legal  
 
7.2.1 The report has regard to current legislation including: 
 

 Health and Safety at Work Act 1974 

 Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 

 Workplace (Health, Safety and Welfare) Regulations 1992 

 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation 
 
7.3.1 The Health and Safety Policy, Health and Safety Managerial Framework and Risk 

Assessment Procedure are in line with LGR and will provide guiding principles for 
safety management until these arrangements are reviewed in line with LGR 
transitional arrangements. 

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



7.4  Equality and Diversity  
 
7.4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out for this report. The 

assessment indicated no adverse impact on any of the nine protected 
characteristics of the Equality Act 2010. 

Risk  
 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Failure to meet statutory 
requirements with regard to 
health and safety. 

The Council could be 
open to legal challenge 
and/or prosecution that 
would incur costs 
outside existing budgets. 

Approval of the Health 
and safety 
documentation. 

 

Contact Officers  

Report Author- Les Davies Head of Asset Management Tel. (01229) 876540 

email: ldavies@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

Appendices Attached to this Report  

 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Health and Safety Policy 

2 Health and Safety Management Framework 

3 Risk Assessment Procedure 

 
  

Page 74

Agenda Item 11



 
 
Barrow Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

HEALTH & SAFETY POLICY STATEMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  2 of 9 

 

 

 

 
 

Author:   Bob Pedley  

Approved by:  Steph Cordon – Director of People and Place 

Version: V1 

Executive Committee 
Approval date: 

 

Full Council Approval 
date: 

 

Review date:   January 2023 

Version History 

Version Reasons/comments Approved 

P1 New revised policy document introduced  

V1  Revised and amended version following review by the 
Director of People and Place in preparation for Executive 
Committee and Full Council approval 

 

   

Page 76

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  3 of 9 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction 4 

The Health and Safety Policy Statement 5 

Head of Service 6 

Officers with Managerial / Supervisory responsibilities 7 

Employees, trainees, volunteers and visitors 8 

Trainees, Apprentices and Volunteers 9 

Young persons and work experience students 9 

Visitors and the public 9 

Devolved management 9 

Health and Safety Advice and Support 9 

 

 

  

Page 77

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  4 of 9 

 

 

 

Introduction  

The Health and Safety Policy provides a framework to ensure Barrow Borough Council 

proactively creates and maintains a safe and healthy working environment for all employees 

and those who may be affected by the Council’s activities. 

 

All Employees must co-operate fully with the measures the Council takes to fulfil the 

requirements of this policy. 

 

 

 

 

The Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 states that: 

“It is the duty of every employer to conduct his or her business in such a way as to ensure, so 

far as is reasonably practicable, that a safe and healthy environment for all members of staff, 

young persons and for persons not in their employment, (visitors, contractors, member of the 

public) is provided.” 

 

“No person (i.e., all employees, those we work for and with and the general public) shall 

intentionally or recklessly interfere with or misuse anything which is provided in the interests 

of health, safety or welfare in pursuance of any of the relevant statutory provisions.” 

 

 

Breaches of the health and safety policy, procedures and arrangements will be dealt with 

under Barrow Councils disciplinary procedures.  

 

It must be understood that such breaches may also expose the authority to criminal 

prosecution. 

  

Page 78

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  5 of 9 

 

 

 

The Health and Safety Policy Statement 

Barrow Borough Council is committed to providing and maintaining a safe and healthy working 

environment as is reasonably practicable, through the provision of plant, equipment, safe systems of 

work, information, training and supervision as is necessary to safeguard the health and safety of all 

employees and those who may be affected by our work activities. 

 

As Chief Executive, I embrace the duties and obligations imposed upon me by safety legislation and 

realise the importance of placing health and safety as an over-riding priority within Council services. 

 

Whilst accepting the minimum legal standards set by national legislation, the Council is committed to 

promoting a health and safety culture which considers all departments and services as one and aims 

to produce high standards of health and safety. Sufficient resources and provisions will be made 

available to achieve this commitment including: - 

 

 Developing and embedding a safety culture throughout the Council that recognizes the 

importance and value of effective safety management. 

 

 Complying with legislative health and safety requirements and where possible aiming for best 

practice. 

 

 Clearly defining roles and responsibilities for all employees. 

 

 Effectively managing all significant risks to health and safety arising from Council activities and 

reducing them to the lowest reasonably practicable and by implementing effective control 

measures. 

 

 Ensuring suitable plans are in place for emergency response as may be required. 

 

 Ensuring that all employees are provided with appropriate information, instruction, training and 

supervision relating to health and safety. 

 

 Establishing systems for planning, monitoring, measuring, inspecting and auditing the health and 

safety performance standards within the Council. 

 

 The Director of People and Place and Deputy Chief Executive will act as the Safety Champion 

and will deputise for the Chief Executive as required on Health and Safety Matters.  

 
 

I fully accept the final level of responsibility for implementing the Council’s Health and Safety Policy 

rests with me; however, every employee must take an active role in effectively implementing this policy, 

act in a safe manner at all times and encouraging others to do likewise. 

 

 

 

 

 

Sam Plum 

Chief Executive 

January 2022  

Page 79

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  6 of 9 

 

 

 

Head of Service 

 

Each Head of Service are responsible for the effective implementation of this Health and Safety Policy 

within their area of responsibility. 

 

They will: 

 Provide leadership on occupational health and safety to their managers/team leaders and 

employees supporting improvements in health and safety standards across the Council.  

 

 Establish systems within their area of control for effective management of risk. To identify, assess 

the associated risks and seek to eliminate them. Where this is not possible reduce the level of 

risk through suitable control measures to their lowest level practicable. 

 

 Ensure that health and safety risks or issues are taken into account in all service development 

plans and at the design stage of new projects or initiatives. 

 

 Ensure risk assessments are suitable and sufficient, formally recorded, brought to the attention 

of those affected and are reviewed within agreed timescales to ensure they remain valid. 

 

 Ensure all employees receive suitable training, information, guidance, supervision and equipment 

to carry out their duties safely and with the minimum of risk. 

 

 Ensure systems exist for the reporting of hazards and defects to premises, plant, equipment or 

processes which may affect health and safety, making sure these defects are made safe without 

delay. 

 

 Ensure effective communication, consult and discuss with employees, trade unions and 

employee representatives on health and safety matters; particularly where there are 

organisational and procedural changes. 

 

 Keep themselves informed of significant accidents, incidents, cases of work-related ill health, 

health and safety issues/risks and sick absence occurring in their area of responsibility. Ensure 

they have been correctly reported, appropriately investigated and remedial action taken in good 

time. 

 

 Establish systems for monitoring (benchmark, inspect, audit) safety performance. Satisfy 

themselves that safety standards are being maintained and shortcomings arising from these 

activities are rectified in good time. 

 

 In the absence of a Head of Service, a nominated officer will be appointed to deputise in all 

matters of health and safety. 

 
  

Page 80

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  7 of 9 

 

 

 

Officers with Managerial / Supervisory responsibilities 

 

Employees who manage, supervise or have responsibility for employees, trainees or members of the 

public are accountable for health and safety and day to day responsibility for the implementation and 

operation of this policy within their management control. 

 

They will: 

 

 Provide leadership on occupational health and safety to their employees and actively promote 
improvements in health and safety standards in their department and across the Council. Ensure 
that occupational health and safety issues/risks are addressed in good time. 

 

 Be responsible for ensuring the health, safety and welfare of all employees, trainees and other 
persons who may be affected by their work activities (e.g., visitors, volunteers, members of the 
public, contractors). 

 

 Effectively manage the risks to health and safety in their area of responsibility. 
 

 Are responsible for carrying out suitable and sufficient risk assessments and where risks cannot 
immediately be eliminated, ensure reasonable action is taken (e.g., control measures) to reduce 
risk to the lowest level practicable. Risk Assessments should be formally recorded and brought 
to the attention of those affected. 

 

 Ensure that all employees and trainees in their area of responsibility receive health and safety 
training; have sufficient knowledge, skills, information and appropriate supervision to carry out 
their work safely. 

 

 Ensure all employees and trainees have appropriate protective equipment and clothing where 
this is required, and are given suitable information, training and instruction on its correct use. 

 

 Ensure new employees are given a workplace safety induction during their first week at work or 
as soon as is reasonably practicable. 

 

 Ensure effective systems exist for the reporting of hazards and defects to premises, plant, 
equipment or processes which may affect health and safety, making sure these defects can be 
made safe without delay. 

 

 Ensure that accident, incidents and cases of work-related ill health, within their area of 
responsibility are promptly reported within the Council Accident Reporting Procedure. Incidents 
are robustly investigated and reasonable action is taken to prevent a recurrence. 

 

 Ensure effective communication for health and safety matters, particularly where there are 
organisational and procedural changes. 

 

 Monitor (benchmark, inspect, audit) safety performance including accident incident trends and 
satisfy themselves that safety standards are being maintained and that shortcomings are rectified 
in good time. 

 

 Keep themselves and their employees up to date with all relevant health and safety information. 
Consult with or seek advice, guidance and support from advisors as required. 

 
 
 
 

Page 81

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  8 of 9 

 

 

 

Employees, trainees, volunteers and visitors 

. . 
Employees take reasonable care of their own health and safety and that of any other persons who may 
be affected by their acts or omissions at work. 
 
In particular, all employees will:  
 

 Comply with health and safety legislation, safe systems of work and procedures at all times whilst 
at work and conduct themselves in such a manner so they or others are not put at risk by their 
activities, actions or omissions. 
 

 Co-operate with supervisors and managers including where appropriate on all matters affecting 
health, safety and wellbeing at work. 

 

 Support the production and review of risk assessments and procedures relevant to their area or 
work. 
 

 Only use machinery and equipment, which they have been authorised, have been fully instructed 
as to its safe use and have received suitable training. Employees must ensure that all plant and 
machinery is suitably guarded during use.  
 

 Wear the necessary protective clothing or use safety equipment (inc PPE) provided by 
management. This may require training and instruction in its correct use. Employees will face 
disciplinary action for not adhering to safe working procedures, misusing or failing to use safety 
equipment correctly 
 

 Report hazards, defects or potential risks affecting the health safety or welfare of themselves or 
others to their supervisor or manager immediately. 
 

 Report all accidents and incidents (ie. Near miss, violence, racial and hate related) occurring in 
their area of work including cases of work-related ill health to their manager/supervisor 
immediately, following the correct reporting process. Employees may be involved in the 
investigation and any remedial actions required arising from this process.  
 

 Keep up to date with health and safety policies, procedures, guidance and other safety 
documents as required by their manager. 
 

 Be encouraged to take an active interest in promoting health and safety and feel empowered to 
make suggestions to their Manager, Assistant Director or Director or equivalent which may 
reduce risk, improve the health and safety standards or the wellbeing of employees or anyone 
affected by the work of the Council. 

  

Page 82

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



 

Health and Safety Policy Statement V1 January 2022  9 of 9 

 

 

 

Trainees, Apprentices and Volunteers 

The Council recognises its responsibilities both as sponsor and managing agent to all its Trainees and 
to others who may be affected. All Trainees including Apprentices and Volunteers will assume the health 
and safety duties and responsibilities of that of an “Employee.” 

 
 

Young persons and work experience students 

All Young Persons and Work Experience Students have the same health and safety responsibilities as 
an employee and are required to adhere to the requirements of the Council’s Health and Safety at Work 
Policy.  
These vulnerable persons should be supervised at all times and may also be subject to additional 
controls arising from a risk assessment process. 
 
 

Visitors and the public 

All reasonable action must be taken to ensure that visitors are made aware of risks applicable to that 
site. All visitors must be accompanied within areas of Barrow Borough Council which are identified as 
non-public areas.  
 
These persons should not be allowed to access areas which may place them or others at risk. The 
Council will conduct its undertakings in such a way as to ensure that members of the public are not 
endangered by work or activities of its employees. 

 
 

Devolved management 

Certain areas of the Council have devolved all or part of their management structures from central 
control to local control, while the staff concerned, remain Council employees.  
 
These employees are still bound by the Council’s Health and Safety at Work Policy and any other health 
and safety policies and procedures operating within their Department or Service.  
 
Others involved with devolved services, i.e. Committees and Governing Bodies, are bound by both 
Council health and safety policies and by health and safety law.  
 
The Council will conduct its undertakings in such a way as to ensure that members of the public are not 
endangered by work or activities of its employees. 
 

 
 

Health and Safety Advice and Support 

The Council will provide support from health and safety advisors and practitioners along with other 
appropriate offices to all areas of the Council during the execution of their duties. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Barrow Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CORPORATE PROCEDURE 
MANAGERIAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR HEALTH 
& SAFETY 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  2 of 12 

 

 

 

 
 

Author:   Bob Pedley  

Approved by:  
 

Version: V1 

Executive Committee 
Approval date: 

 

Full Council Approval 
date: 

 

Review date:   01-02-23 

Version History 

Version Reasons/comments Approved 

V1 New revised policy document for final approval  

P1 New document  

   

Page 86

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  3 of 12 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction 4 

The Organisation 5 

Leadership and Worker Participation 7 

Planning 9 

Support 10 

Operation 11 

Performance Evaluation 12 

Improvement 12 

 

 

  

Page 87

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  4 of 12 

 

 

 

Introduction  

The Health and Safety Managerial arrangements provide a structure for directors and senior 

managers to use when developing the processes and procedures within their area of 

responsibility.  

 

 

 

The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations states that: 

Every employer shall make and give effect to such arrangements as are appropriate, having 

regard to the nature of his activities and the size of his undertaking, for the effective planning, 

organisation, control, monitoring and review of the preventive and protective measures. 

 

Employees ……take reasonable care of their own health and safety and that of any other 

persons who may be affected by their acts or omissions at work. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

References 

HSG 65 Managing for Health and Safety 

BS ISO 45001:2018 Occupational health and safety management systems  

Page 88

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  5 of 12 

 

 

 

The Organisation 

Barrow Borough Council is a local government organisation composed of thirty-six elected Councillors 

who are voted in during elections every four years. Councillors are democratically accountable to 

residents of the borough. The overriding duty of Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a 

special duty to their constituents, including those who did not vote for them. 

 

The Council has people working for it (called ‘Officers’) who form the paid service of the organization 

and as part of their role give advice, implement decisions and manage the day-to-day delivery of its 

services. Some Officers have a specific duty to ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its 

resources wisely. A code of practice governs the relationship between Officers and Members of the 

Council. 

 

The Chief Executive is the head of the paid service with overall corporate management and operational 

responsibility, including overall management responsibility for all officers and corporate health and 

safety matters. The Chief Executive also oversees the discharge of the Employer’s responsibilities 

associated with the safety, health and welfare of persons not in the Council’s employment who may be 

placed at risk by the operation of the authority. 

 

These arrangements are set out in detail within the Constitution of the Council and provide evidence 

that the scheme meets the requirements of the Local Government Act 1972, the overarching legislation 

for organizations such as Barrow in Furness Borough Council. In general, a delegation by the Council 

does not imply a parting with authority. 

 

There is delegated to the Chief Executive and to the Directors (“the Officers”) all the powers and duties 

of the Council necessary for the discharge of the Council’s functions carried out within the Officer’s 

Directorate or area of responsibility, including day to day management of buildings and services under 

their control. They are required:   

 

 To take all necessary steps to deliver the services for which they are responsible for to incur 

revenue expenditure within the Council’s budgets, subject to compliance with standing orders, 

financial regulations and any council policy for the time being in force. 

 

 To manage and deal with all people, welfare, inclusivity and training issues (unless otherwise 

covered by the Officer Procedure Rules) including making changes within the establishment, 

within Directorate areas, provided that all decisions are within Council policies and approved 

budgets and within any general HR management policies and procedures. 

 

 To be responsible for the health, safety and welfare of employees. 

 

 

The Health and Safety Policy document signed by the Chief Executive sets out in clear terms the 

standards and expectations of the Council for all those employed when delivering these services. 

  

Page 89

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  6 of 12 

 

 

 

Organisation  

This section describes the organisational structures within Barrow Borough Council for the management 

of Health and Safety. It identifies the personnel with responsibilities for ensuring that each area under 

their control has the appropriate arrangements in place to meet the needs that arise from managing the 

level of risk arising from activities in these areas. 

 

The chart below shows the high-level structure of the Council, more detailed charts are available that 

describe the individual departments.   

 
Heads of Service have the authority to develop local processes and procedures that are appropriate for 

the levels of risk that may arise during the course of their business on behalf of the Council. The local 

arrangements should be in line with the general framework set out within the current Barrow Borough 

Council Health and Safety Policy Statement signed by the Chief Executive and follow a risk-based 

process as set out within the Corporate Procedure for Risk Assessment. 

Page 90

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  7 of 12 

 

 

 

Leadership and Worker Participation 

The Council Health and Safety Policy recognises while responsibility and authority can be assigned, 

ultimately top management is still accountable for the functioning of the Occupational Health and Safety 

management system.  

 

For any management system to be effective those who hold the senior positions need to demonstrate 

leadership and commitment by: 

 

 Taking overall responsibility and accountability for the prevention of work-related injury and ill 

health, as well as the provision of safe and healthy workplaces and activities, 

 

 Ensure the OH&S policy and related OH&S objectives are established and are compatible with 

the strategic direction of Barrow Borough Council, 

 

 Ensure the OH&S management system requirements are integrated into other business 

processes, 

 

 Ensure the resources needed to establish, implement, maintain and improve the OH&S 

management system are available; 

 

 Communicating the importance of effective OH&S management and of conforming to the OH&S 

management system requirements; 

 

 Ensure the OH&S management system within their area of responsibility achieves its intended 

outcome(s), 

 

 Directing and supporting persons to contribute to the effectiveness of the OH&S management 

system, 

 

 Ensure continual improvement is promoted whenever possible; 

 

 Supporting members of their team in demonstrating leadership as it applies to their areas of 

responsibility, 

 

 Developing, leading and promoting a culture across Barrow Borough Council in order to support 

the intended outcomes of the OH&S management system; 

 

At a personal level all employees of Barrow Borough Council are expected to;  

 

 Comply with health and safety legislation, safe systems of work and procedures at all times 

whilst at work and conduct themselves in such a manner so they or others are not put at risk 

by their activities, actions or omissions. 

 

 Co-operate with supervisors and managers on all matters affecting health, safety and wellbeing 

at work. 

 

 Only use machinery and equipment, which they have been authorised, have been fully 

instructed as to its safe use and have received suitable training. 

Page 91

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  8 of 12 

 

 

 

Employees must ensure that all plant and machinery is suitably guarded during use. 

 

 Wear the necessary protective clothing or use safety equipment provided by management. This 

may require training and instruction in its correct use. Employees will face disciplinary action 

for not adhering to safe working procedures, misusing or failing to use safety equipment 

correctly. 

 

 Report hazards, defects or potential risks affecting the health safety or welfare of themselves 

or others to their supervisor or manager immediately. 

 

 Report all accidents and incidents (i.e. near- miss, violence, racial and hate related) occurring 

in their area of work including cases of work-related ill health to their manager/supervisor 

immediately, following the correct reporting process. Employees may be involved in the 

investigation and any remedial actions required arising from this process. 

 

 Keep up to date with health and safety policies, procedures, guidance and other safety 

documents as required by their manager. 

 

 Be encouraged to take an active interest in promoting health and safety and feel empowered 

to make suggestions to their manager which may reduce risk, improve the health and safety 

standards or the wellbeing of employees or anyone affected by the work of the Council. 

 

 

  

Page 92

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  9 of 12 

 

 

 

Planning 

Planning is not a single event, but   an   ongoing   process, anticipating   changing   circumstances and 

continually determining risks and opportunities, both for the workers and for these managerial 

arrangements.  

The process for determining occupational health and safety risks and potential opportunities for 

improvement is risk assessment.  

Risk assessment identifies hazards or things that can cause harm or damage and evaluates their 

potential severity and likelihood of occurrence. This process produces control measures in the form of 

things we do or things we have to manage. 

Occupational health and safety legislation also requires risk assessments to be carried out in order to 

be able to demonstrate that the risk to people is as low as is reasonably practicable and that suitable 

and sufficient arrangements are in place.  

This places a requirement on the organisation to maintain documented information on risks and 

opportunities and the processes and actions needed to determine and address these to the extent 

necessary to have the confidence that they are being carried out as planned. 

In the case of planned changes, permanent or temporary, risk assessment should be undertaken before 

the change is implemented. 

 

Heads of Service will be responsible for ensuring suitable and sufficient risk assessments have been 

carried out for their areas to cover all risks to the health, safety and welfare of staff and any other 

persons who may be affected (such as visitors, customers etc.).  

 

They must also ensure that they implement the documented control measures in order to reduce these 

risks and review these on an ongoing basis. 

 

The Corporate Procedure for risk assessment  details how these assessments are to be carried out, 

what they should consider and how the outcomes are to be implemented. 

 

Heads of Service will develop health and safety objectives that ensure performance is being continually 

monitored, improvements are being made where opportunities arise and that appropriate resources are 

provided to achieve these objectives. These will be communicated to all personnel within each 

department along with actions to be taken. 

 

Page 93

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  10 of 12 

 

 

 

Support 

To ensure the arrangements for occupational health and safety management are able to function 

effectively, Barrow Borough Council provide resources internally and where required from external 

sources. 

 

Heads of Service are expected to ensure controls identified within the risk assessments for their area 

of responsibility are costed within their budget proposals.  

 

 

Training and Competence 

Heads of Service will ensure all levels of staff within their area of responsibility receive appropriate and 

relevant information, instruction and training to support the legal requirements affecting their activities, 

the arrangements for health and safety and the maintenance of a competent workforce.  

Accurate records of employee training should be maintained and refresher sessions provided in a timely 

manner. 

Each department should maintain a suitable induction process for all staff and others who may provide 

services or support.  

The induction process is designed to make people aware of the general health and safety arrangements 

within the council as well as their specific area of work. During the induction individuals should be 

supplied with the relevant information they need in order to work without risk to their safety or health. 

Individual needs for the issue of personal protective equipment should be addressed along with 

additional familiarisation, instructions or training that may be required.  

 

Communication & Awareness 

Effective communication and consultation between management and staff is a key factor in ensuring 

the health, safety and welfare of all employees as well as identifying opportunities for improvement. 

How this is achieved rests with the Heads of Service and their support teams. 

 

The communication process(es) established by the Heads of Service should provide for the gathering, 

updating and dissemination of information across their area of responsibility.  

 

The arrangements should ensure that relevant information is provided, is received and is 

understandable to all relevant workers and interested parties. 

 

 

Health and Safety Advice and Support 

Support for Heads of Service is provided in the form of internal and external health and safety advisors 

and safety practitioners who will provide assistance as required.  

 

 

 

Page 94

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  11 of 12 

 

 

 

Operation 

The risk assessment process produces control measures and for many areas of the Council activities 

these should be incorporated into working processes for example: 

 

 The use of procedures and systems of work such as permits, 

 

 Carrying out checks to confirm the competence of workers, 

 

 Establishing preventive or predictive maintenance and inspection programmes, 

 

 Compiling specifications for the procurement of goods and services, 

 

 Applying legal requirements   and   other   requirements, or   manufacturers’   instructions for 

equipment, 

 

 The use of engineering and appropriate administrative controls to provide assurance the goods 

and services received match specification and expectations, 

 

 Where necessary defining how work should be organised and the processes to be followed.  

 

When reviewing procedures used, the hierarchy of hazard control should be implemented. The following 
are examples to be considered during any review:   
 

 Elimination: removing the hazard; using drones for roof inspections, reach-wash systems for 

window cleaning, stopping the use of hazardous chemicals, applying ergonomic approaches 

when planning new workplaces  

 

 Substitution: replacing the hazardous materials with less hazardous, changing to answering 

customer complaints with online guidance, combating OH&S risks at source, adapting to 

technical progress (e.g., replacing solvent-based paint by water-based paint; changing slippery 

floor material; lowering voltage requirements for equipment). 

 

 Engineering controls: reorganization of work, or both: isolating people from hazards, 

implementing collective protective measures (e.g., roof netting, isolation, machine guarding, 

ventilation systems); addressing mechanical handling, reducing noise, protecting against falls 

from height by using guard rails, reorganizing work to avoid people working alone, unhealthy 

work hours and workload, or to prevent victimization. 

 

 Administrative controls including training: conducting periodic safety equipment inspections, 

conducting training to prevent bullying and harassment, managing health and safety 

coordination with subcontractors’ activities, conducting induction training; administrating forklift 

driving licences, any changes to certification, providing instructions on how to report incidents, 

nonconformities and victimization without fear of retribution, changing the work patterns (e.g. 

shifts) of workers, managing a health or medical surveillance programme for workers who have 

been identified as at risk (e.g. related to hearing, hand-arm vibration, respiratory disorders, skin 

disorders or exposure); giving appropriate instructions to workers (e.g. entry control processes). 

 

 Personal protective equipment (PPE): providing adequate PPE, including clothing and 
instructions for PPE utilization and maintenance (e.g., safety shoes, safety glasses, hearing 
protection, gloves). 

Page 95

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 

Managerial Arrangements for Health and Safety V1 
02/02/22  12 of 12 

 

 

 

Performance Evaluation 

It is an essential feature of any management system that regular evaluation of performance takes place 

in order to determine the effectiveness of the processes and procedures in use. 

 

Heads of Service should develop systems that may include a programme of checks, routine inspections, 

audits and monitoring as a means of providing assurance that suitable controls are in place and working 

effectively.  

 

Inspections are the simple checks that are made to verify the things that need to be in place are there 

and working. The frequency of inspections can be daily, weekly, monthly or annually.  

 

Audits are a more in-depth review of an aspect of the safety management arrangements that need more 

preparation and produce a report. The frequency of audits can be quarterly, every 6 months or annually.   

 

Heads of Service should monitor the effectiveness of the programme by carrying out a periodic review 

in order to identify trends and unsafe practices and to consider opportunities for the development of 

improved procedures. The reports or minutes from such review meetings should be communicated to 

all members of the team and to the Director for People and Place.  

 

 

 

Improvement 

Health and safety management systems along with legislation are not to be considered as entirely 

prescriptive. They are written with the intention of being goal setting. Heads of Service should ensure 

that continuous improvement is a feature of their management system that looks for opportunities for 

improvement and where these arise implementing the necessary actions. 

 

Within each area there should be processes for reporting such items as non-compliance of a procedure, 

hazard or near miss reporting, incident and accident reporting.  

 

All reports must be treated seriously and followed up with an appropriate investigation, corrective 

actions and monitoring of the close out of actions. 

Page 96

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CORPORATE PROCEDURE 
RISK ASSESSMENT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

Page 97

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  2 of 18 

 

 

Author:   Bob Pedley  

Approved by:  
 

Version: V4 

Executive Committee 
Approval date: 

 

Full Council Approval 
date: 

 

Review date:   01-02-23 

Version History 

Version Reasons/comments Approved 

V4 New revised policy document for final approval  

P1 New revised policy document introduced 02/02/2022 

V3 Previous version – Programmed Review, author H&S Advisor 22/10/15 

V2 Previous version – Programmed Review, author H&S Advisor 25/04/12 

V1 New procedure, author H&S Advisor January 2007 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 98

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  3 of 18 

 

 

Table of Contents 

Introduction 4 

What is risk assessment? 5 

Responsibilities 5 

Chief Executive and Directors 5 

Heads of Service 5 

Employees and others 6 

Health & Safety Advisors 6 

Carrying out a risk assessment 7 

Approach 7 

5 step process to risk assessment 7 

Step 1. How to identify hazards 7 

Step 2. Decide who might be harmed and how 8 

Step 3. Review existing control measures and evaluate the risk 9 

Evaluate the risk 9 

Risk rating table 10 

Decide on additional controls and put them into practice 11 

Hierarchy of Control 11 

Consider the emergency arrangements 11 

Inform those who need to know 11 

Step 4. Recording the risk assessment 12 

Step 5. Review the risk assessment 12 

Update the risk assessment 12 

Monitor compliance 12 

Appendix 1 Hazard checklist 13 

Appendix 2 Persons who may be affected by the Council’s activities 16 

Vulnerable person checklist 16 

Appendix 3 Factors affecting likelihood and severity 18 

Page 99

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  4 of 18 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Introduction 

 
The Management of Health and Safety at Work Regulations 1999 states: 

 

Every employer shall make a suitable and sufficient assessment of the risks to the health 

and safety of his employees to which they are exposed whilst they are at work; and the 

risks to the health and safety of persons not in his employment arising out of or in 

connection with the conduct by him of his undertaking. 

 

Where the employer employs five or more employees, s/he shall record the significant 

findings of the assessment; and any group of his employees identified by it as being 

especially at risk. 

 

Any assessment shall be reviewed by the employer or self-employed person who made it 

if there is reason to suspect that it is no longer valid; or there has been a significant change 

in the matters to which it relates; and where as a result of any such review changes to an 

assessment are required, the employer or self-employed person concerned shall make 

them. 

 

 
 
  

Page 100

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  5 of 18 

 

 

What is risk assessment? 

 

As part of managing health and safety, managers must understand and control the risks 

resulting from the activities they are responsible for.  

 

Risk assessments are pro-active, considering what might cause harm to people and 

deciding whether all reasonably practicable steps to prevent that harm are being taken 

before accidents happen. They are the basis for managing health & safety. The 

assessment process should be systematic and ensure all areas and activities are covered 

 

Risk assessments produce two actions, things we do and things we manage. This put 

simply is what do we do to reduce risks and how do we manage it to ensure risks are 

being controlled – Control Measures.  

 

It is important to appreciate that control measures may take different forms such as 

procedures, permits to work, competency, supervisory requirements, pre-work briefs, work 

instructions and inductions.  

 

Once the control measures have been agreed they should be monitored for their 

effectiveness when the work is first carried out.  

 

Risk assessments must be reviewed and updated periodically or when significant change 

occurs. 

 

 

Responsibilities 

 

Chief Executive and Directors 

 

 Review the risk assessment process to ensure it remains effective 

 Monitor progress in the completion of outstanding reviews and significant risks 

 

Ensure that Managers meet their responsibilities by monitoring: 

 The implementation of this procedure and reviewing risk assessments 

 The implementation of appropriate measures to control risks   

 

Heads of Service 

 

 Ensure suitable risk assessments are carried out in all their areas of responsibility  

 Ensure they are carried out by suitably trained and competent staff  

Page 101

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  6 of 18 

 

 

 Ensure they are reviewed at suitable periods, when significant change or incidents 

occur i.e., to staff, a process or procedure, a chemical substance or equipment has 

changed 

 Ensure the risk assessment process is effectively managed and any necessary 

remedial works are prioritized and carried out 

 Ensure all staff involved in the activity have read and signed the risk assessment 

to demonstrate they understand the risks involved 

 

 

Employees and others 

 

 Are expected to cooperate with Managers and get involved when carrying out risk 

assessments 

 Must read and sign the risk assessment to demonstrate and understanding of the 

risks involved and control measures required 

 

 

Health & Safety Advisors  

 

Health and safety advisors and practitioners provide support to all departments of Barrow 

Borough Council when undertaking risk assessments and assist in the provision of training 

services as required.  

 

  

Page 102

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  7 of 18 

 

 

Carrying out a risk assessment  

 

Approach  

 

Risk assessments should be carried out with all reasonable care and diligence. The 

following pointers will help determine the correct approach when following the steps 

detailed below under “How to assess risks”. 

 

 Be proportionate. The amount of time, money and trouble taken to address hazards 

should be proportionate to the perceived level of risk. Concentrate on significant, not 

trivial risks. All reasonably practicable steps must be taken to identify and control those 

hazards that can lead to serious harm but risk is a part of everyday life and all risks 

cannot be eliminated.  

 

 Cover all areas and activities. Be systematic in approach. Consider all groups of 

people who could be affected by the department’s activities. Managers who are 

responsible for contractors, premises/land and events need to ensure that their 

assessments also cover these.                                  

 

 Make sure risk assessors are confident and competent. Ensure they have been 

properly trained and instructed, and are supervised as necessary. The Manager 

remains responsible for the assessment. 

 

 Engage with staff. Make sure all employees are involved in the process. They probably 

know best what activities are done, how they are carried out and what can be done to 

improve health and safety. Do not assess just from the desk, walk the area, observe 

the tasks, review the assessment to get it right.  

 

 

5 step process to risk assessment 

 

The HSE have a simple systematic approach to risk assessment based on 5 steps which 

will support you in creating risk assessments. Barrow council will follow the guidance to 

ensure it complies with legislation and ensure risks are controlled adequately.  

 

Step 1. How to identify hazards 

 

A hazard is anything that may cause harm such as chemicals, electricity, working from 

ladders, trailing cables across a floor surface etc.  

Page 103

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  8 of 18 

 

 

One of the most important aspects of risk assessment is accurately identifying the potential 

hazards in the workplace: 

 Take time to walk around the workplace and any other sites/areas under your 

responsibility and accompany employees on site visits, taking time to assess how 

people work and how the plant and equipment are used 

 Ask employees and their representatives what they think. They may have noticed 

things that are not immediately obvious 

 Identify safe or unsafe practices that exist  

 Identify what chemicals and substances are being used and check with the 

manufacturers' instructions or data sheets for chemicals and equipment (provide a 

COSHH risk assessment) 

 Look back at the accident and ill-health records. These often help to identify the less 

obvious hazards 

 Take account of non-routine operations (e.g. maintenance, cleaning operations or 

emergencies) 

 Remember to consider long-term hazards to health (e.g. high levels of noise or 

exposure to harmful substances) 

 Visit the HSE website (hse.gov.uk), for practical guidance on hazards and how to 

control them 

Ask the question: “Can I eliminate the hazard?” 

 

See Appendix 1 for further information on identifying hazards. 

 

Step 2. Decide who might be harmed and how  
 

For each hazard you need to be clear about who might be harmed. This will help identify 

the best way of managing the risk. That doesn’t mean listing everyone by name, but rather 

identifying groups of people (e.g. ‘people working in the storeroom’ or ‘pedestrians’): 

 Consider people who might not be in the workplace all the time, such as visitors, 

contractors and maintenance workers 

 Take members of the public into account if they could be affected by your activities 

 If you share your workplace with another business, consider how your work affects 

others and how their work affects you and your workers. Communicate with each other 

and make sure controls are in place that both parties are aware of. 

 Consider ‘vulnerable persons’ i.e. young or inexperienced workers, new or expectant 

mothers, people with disabilities, lone workers, temporary workers, contractors, 

children and the general public, where these persons may be affected, a separate 

assessment should be made.  

 

See Appendix 2 for further information on people who may be harmed. 

Page 104

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  9 of 18 

 

 

Step 3. Review existing control measures and evaluate the risk 

 
Identify and list all the measures in place to control the hazards you have already 

identified. Look at what you're already doing and the control measures you already have 

in place, ask;  

 

Can I eliminate the hazard altogether? If not, how can I control the risks so that harm is 

reduced to as low as reasonably practicable? 

 

If further controls are required, consider: 

 

 redesigning the job 

 replacing the materials, machinery or process 

 substitute products or substances for less hazardous ones 

 isolate the activity from others 

 organising your work to reduce exposure to the materials, machinery or process 

 identifying and implementing practical measures needed to work safely 

 providing personal protective equipment and making sure workers wear it 

 

You need to do everything 'reasonably practicable' to protect people from harm. This 

means balancing the level of risk against the measures needed to control the real risk in 

terms of money, time or trouble 

 

This list of controls also provides a useful checklist for any future monitoring.  

 

 

Evaluate the risk  

 

The term ‘risk’ is used as to describe the likelihood that harm from a particular hazard will 

occur, taking into account the possible severity of such an occurrence.  

This simple calculation may be used to calculate risk: 

 

Risk = Likelihood x Severity 

 

The Council uses a simple matrix (see below) to give risk a numerical value or a ‘risk 

rating’. This is a subjective rather than scientific process, but it helps prioritise any 

necessary actions to eliminate or reduce the risk. 

 

When working out the risk rating, consider the hazard with the existing controls in place.  

Page 105

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  10 of 18 

 

 

 
Risk rating table 
 

 
Almost 
always 
 

 
5 

 
5 

 
10 

 

 
15 

 
20 

 
25 

 
Most 
Likely 

 
4 

 
4 

 

 
8 

 
12 

 
16 

 
20 

 
Likely 

 
3 

 
3 
 

 
6 

 
9 

 
12 

 

 
15 

 
Unlikely 

 
2 

 
2 
 

 
4 

 
6 

 
8 

 
10 

 
Almost  
never 

 
1 

 
1 
 

 
2 

 
3 

 
4 

 
5 

  1 2 3 4 5 
   

Negligible 
 

Minor 
 

Moderate 
 

Major 
 

Catastrophic
/Fatal 

 
 
 

Risk rating score Action 

1 - 7 = LOW Broadly acceptable - reduce risks further if reasonable 

8 - 14 = MEDIUM Priority action to be undertaken 

15 - 25 = HIGH Unacceptable -action must be taken IMMEDIATELY 

 
 

When considering controls that are already in place and judging whether or not they are 

adequate, consider whether they meet legal requirements, best practice, and use up–to-

date technology.  

 

 

See Appendix 3 for further information on factors affecting likelihood and severity. 

 

 

 

Severity of injury 

Likelihood of 

injury 

Page 106

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  11 of 18 

 

 

Decide on additional controls and put them into practice 

 

Everything that is ‘reasonably practicable’ must be done to protect people from harm.  

 

When considering control measures, involve and consult employees to ensure that 

controls are practical, effective and accepted. Persons assigned to the activity can often 

have knowledge on the best and most appropriate control measures.  

 

Hierarchy of Control  
 
The hierarchy of control is a structure for selecting the most effective control measures to 

eliminate or reduce the risk of hazards. It should be followed in this order: 

 

Eliminate – e.g., can we eliminate working at height by bringing the activity to ground 
level. 
 
Substitution – e.g., can we substitute a substance for one less hazardous. 
 
Isolate – e.g., can we isolate welding activities to an area of the workshop where nobody 
is exposed to the fumes or the arc.   
 
Engineering and administrative Controls – Can barriers be installed to segregate 
vehicles and pedestrians or implement administrative arrangements where vehicles can 
only access certain areas at certain times when pedestrian footfall is lower.  
 
PPE – e.g., respirators to be worn where there is a risk of inhalation of a hazardous 
substance or dust is likely, hard hats to be worn during all working at height activities.  
 

Measures to control risks should be fully integrated into procedures, equipment and design 

of work – to make health and safety a part of normal work practice. 

 

 

Consider the emergency arrangements 

Have your control measures affected any existing arrangements for raising an alarm, 

getting assistance or affecting a means of escape?  

Do any additional arrangements need to be put in place? 

 

Inform those who need to know 

All findings of the risk assessment should be passed on to employees and others who 

may be affected by the activity. They should be informed of the associated risks and 

control measures. Once understood, they should be signed by all persons involved.  

 

Page 107

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  12 of 18 

 

 

Step 4. Recording the risk assessment 

 
All risk assessments should be documented and stored with the Head of Services and be 

available for review by a director, senior manager, health and safety advisor or local 

enforcing authority.  

 

Step 5. Review the risk assessment  

 
Risk assessments are not a once-and-for-all activity. To ensure they stay up to date the 

Council policy requires them to be reviewed at least once every 12 months.  

Reviews may need to be carried out at other times, for example if: 

 They many no longer be effective 

 There have been significant changes; i.e. to staff, a process or procedure, a chemical 

substance or equipment has changed  

 Changes to the working environment 

 Updates in legislation, codes of practice or guidance 

 There are outstanding improvements that still need to be made  

 A problem has been spotted  

 Accidents or near misses have revealed deficiencies in the assessment 

 Vulnerable worker 

 

Update the risk assessment  

 
The assessment should also be updated as any additional controls are put in place and 

the changes recorded. These should have the effect of reducing the risk rating.  

 

The further controls should be removed from the ‘further actions’ section and added as 

‘existing controls’. This ensures they continue to be implemented.   

 

All persons affected by the changes must be informed and trained if the changes require 

it. 

 

Monitor compliance 

 
Managers should monitor all new risk assessments to ensure the control measures are 

effective. This can be done by observing the activity, discussing with persons involved and 

analysing the performance of the job. Managers should look for opportunities for continual 

improvement in all activities and minimise risk where possible.  

 

 

Page 108

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  13 of 18 

 

 

Appendix 1 Hazard checklist  

Example of hazard Type of harm 

Unguarded moving parts 
Sudden release of pressure or ejection of material 
Crushing by or entrapment in moving parts 
Hot, cold, sharp or abrasive surfaces 
Stored energy in springs or cables under tension  
Sustained use of power tools – vibration 
Non-ionising radiation 
Defected tools and equipment 

Contact with machinery, equipment or 
material  

Damaged floors, loose coverings 
Poor housekeeping 
Trailing cables 
Liquid/debris spills 
Wet grass 
Sloping surface 
Uneven steps 
Changes in floor level 
Obstructions and stored materials 
Exposed to weather – rain, ice, moss growth 

Trips, slips and falls on the same level 

Work on roof – especially fragile roof  
Work on steps/ ladder/tower scaffold or scaffolding  
Work from MEWPS 
unprotected edges 
Window cleaning 
Falls from open windows 
Excavations and pits 

Falls from a height 

Low headroom 
Projections 
Awkward access 
Large glazing panels that are difficult to see  
Doors without vision panels 

Collision 

High and/or insecure stacks 
Inadequate racking 
Unloading vehicles 
Items falling from work carried out at height 
Collapse of building, scaffolding or equipment 
Automatic and revolving doors 

Hit by a moving, flying or falling object 

Driving to sites 
Longer distance driving to meetings and training 
Use of vehicles on road/pavement,  
off road, soft ground, slopes 

Accident whilst driving 

Reversing vehicles 
Poor vision 
Poor access/congestion 
Poor separation of pedestrians and vehicles 
Work next to a highway 

Contact with a moving vehicle 

Repetitive movements 
Poor posture  
Work above head height or at floor level 

Injury whilst handling lifting or carrying 

Page 109

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  14 of 18 

 

 

Insufficient space 
Awkward or heavy loads 
Sustained heavy work – insufficient recovery periods 

Example of hazard Type of harm 

Work near/on water 
Work in any unventilated or confined area 
Work in area where fumes or gases may be present 
e.g. tank/sump etc. 
Poorly maintained gas appliances – carbon 
monoxide 

Drowning or asphyxiation 

Uncontrolled sources of ignition 
Locked or obstructed exits 
Long exit route 
Inadequate firefighting equipment 
Inadequate evacuation procedures 
Defective alarms/emergency lighting/signs 
Storage of flammable substances 
Hot work by contractors 

Exposed to fire 

Toxic, harmful, corrosive and irritant substances 
Contaminated land sites 
Asbestos 
Legionella 
Sewage or water-borne diseases 
Human infectious disease 
Bird droppings 
Dust and fibres 
Substances at extreme temperatures – steam, hot 
water, dry ice 
Infectious Diseases – COVID, biological hazards 
Needles, broken glass 

Exposed to, or in contact with, a harmful 
substance 
Acute and chronic illness and disease 

Dust generation 
Gas pipes and appliances 
Compressed gasses 
Lead/acid batteries 
Control and storage of substances 

Explosion  

Poorly maintained equipment or installation 
Excavations/digging underground cables 
Outdoor use 
Drilling through walls 
Not isolating equipment 

Contact with electricity 
Electric shock 
Electrocution  

Assault 
Angry customer 
Drunk or drug abuser 
Lone working 

Violence 
Minor, major injuries 
Death 

Dogs 
Pest control target: wasps, rats, fleas 
Farm/zoo/abattoir visit 

Injured by an animal 
Minor, major injuries 
 

Extremes of temperature – outdoor work 
Ventilation 
Poor lighting 
Work station and seating 

Workstation/environment/welfare facilities 

Page 110

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  15 of 18 

 

 

Computer use 
Access to sanitary/rest/drinking water facilities 

Increased workload 
Work relationships 
Non-work relationships 
Lone working 

Stress related illnesses 

Work in a noisy environment 
Accessing plant/pump rooms 
Work on or with noisy equipment 
 

Noise  
Acute and chronic hearing deficiency  

 
  

Page 111

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  16 of 18 

 

 

Appendix 2 Persons who may be affected by the Council’s 
activities 

Examples of people at risk 

Employees  Members of the public  

Temporary workers  Visitors 

Contactors Volunteers  

Children  Customers  

Tenants Cleaners  

 
Vulnerable person checklist 
 

Vulnerable group Issues 

New and expectant mothers Susceptible to extremes of temperature, heavy 
weights, night or shift work, hazardous 
substances, general fatigue, cramped working 
conditions. 
Posture and workstation issues including sitting or 
standing for long periods 
Work related stress 
Hazardous substances such as: lead, radioactive, 
toxic materials, carbo monoxide and infectious 
diseases 
 

Visitors, contractors, members of the public 
and temporary employees 

Normally unaware of the dangers associated with 
the workplace and its layout. May disregard safety 
instructions. Possible vandalism. 

Young persons When employing a young person under the age of 
18.   
Immaturity can lead to carelessness.  
No previous work experience means that they are 
often unaware of dangers. 
 

Lone workers May be unable to summon help in an emergency. 
Susceptible to violence and other injuries. 

Disabled persons Visual or hearing impairment may result in 
hazards not being noticed. Physical impairment 
may make the operation of equipment difficult, and 
access and egress from workstations and 
workplace may be a problem. 

People with learning difficulties May not understand or react to verbal or written 
information or warnings. May not notice hazards. 

Non-English speakers 
Migrant workers 

May not understand or react to verbal or written 
information or warnings.   
Vocational qualifications are not compatible with 
those in GB 
 

Page 112

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  17 of 18 

 

 

Employees with certain illnesses Certain illnesses such as epilepsy may put the 
sufferer and others at increased risk from activities 
such as operating equipment & vehicles, work at 
height and lone working. 

Peripatetic workers No supervision or monitoring. Varying work 
locations may contain varying hazards. 

Maintenance workers Often work alone, sometimes with dangerous 
machinery. Possibility of machines being 
inadvertently switched on. 

 
  

Page 113

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



 
 

Risk Assessment (Corporate) Procedure V1 02/02/22  18 of 18 

 

 

Appendix 3 Factors affecting likelihood and severity  
 

The likelihood of harm may depend on a range of factors including:  

 Number of times the situation occurs  

 Duration of the exposure  

 Environmental conditions  

 Competence of the people involved 

 Any individual’s disability, medical conditions, inexperience etc. 

 The condition of equipment 

Just because something can happen does not automatically mean that it will happen. Care 

should be taken to select the likelihood that reflects reality bearing in mind all the existing 

controls and practices in place. 

 
Hazard  

likelihood  
Definition  Points 

rating  

 
Almost always 

 
 

An accident or incident will always occur unless further 
controls are implemented. 
 
You would definitely expect this to happen. 

5 

 
Most likely 
  

An accident or incident is most likely to happen unless 
further controls are considered. 
 
You would expect this accident to happen. 

4  

 
Likely 
 

An accident or incident is likely to happen with the 
existing control measures in place. 
 
You would not be surprised if this accident occurred. 

3  

 
Unlikely 
  

The accident may occur if additional factors precipitate 
it, but it is unlikely to happen without them.  
 
You would be surprised if this accident occurred. 

2 

 
Almost never 
  

This incident or illness might occur but the probability is 
very low.  
 
You would not expect this accident to happen at all. 

1  

 
Hazard  
severity  

Definition  Points 
rating  

Catastrophic 
Fatal 

Death, amputations, ill health or other major injuries with 

serious lifelong effects. 

 
Major destruction/collapse of building/structure rendering 

it totally or long term unusable. 

 

Long term interruption to/stoppage of work flow. 

5 
 
 
 

 

Page 114

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

9 March 2022 

Council Finances Quarter 3 2021-2022 

 
 

Report from:   Director of Resources 

Report Author:  Director of Resources 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  This report presents a summary of the General Fund financial monitoring at the 31 

December 2021 and is the last monitoring report prior to the outturn for 2021-2022. 

 

2.0  Recommendation  

2.1 It is recommended that the Executive Committee:-  

 
1. Note the General Fund financial monitoring at 31 December 2021; 
2. Approve the revised Capital Programme; and 
3. Note the proposed transfers and projection of reserves at 31 March 2022. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 General Fund at 31 December 2021 

 

3.1.1 The revenue service budget monitoring excludes internal support allocations, 

capital accounting, projects, treasury, pension accounting, and earmarked 

reserves which are covered in a separate section of this report.  Housing benefits 

expenditure and subsidy is also excluded and covered separately within this 

report.  The excluded items total £5.946m. 

 

3.1.2 The core net General Fund budget is £7.371m and adding back the value of the 

excluded items set out in paragraph 3.1.1, gives the current budget for services of 

£13.317m. 

 

3.1.3 The General Fund budget for services is increased by £1.729m from the previous 

report for one-off items funded from reserves (including the Local Government 

Reorganisation Implementation Reserve), New Burdens Grant and Homelessness 

Page 115

Agenda Item 12



Prevention Grant top-up.  The earmarked reserves have been used in accordance 

with the purposes that they were established for. 

 

3.1.4 The monitoring at 31 December is presented objectively in the following table. 

 

 
 

3.1.5 Major variations of 10% and/or £10k are reviewed individually and will continue to 

be monitored in the following quarters.  The concerns and items to note at 31 

December profiles are: 

 

 Community Wealth Building 

o There have been several vacant posts that have resulted in unspent 

budgetary provision – this will be consolidated into the corporate staff 

turnover provision. 

o The forum programme (show) income is determined after the events 

and is not possible to determine any surplus or deficit until year-end. 

 People & Communities 

o There have been a few posts vacant for most of the year resulting in 

unspent budgetary provision – apart from the Homelessness Service 

posts that are grant funded, the unspent budget will be consolidated into 

the corporate staff turnover provision. 

 Resources 

o Again, there are several vacant posts that have resulted in unspent 

budgetary provision.  This reporting division includes the corporate staff 

turnover provision which is used to consolidate unspent budget from 

vacancies which is then spent on recruitment, employment contract 

variations and agency/interim (temporary) staffing. 

 

3.1.6 The turnover consolidated and unspent at 31 December 2021 was £159k and this 

is expected to increase by the year-end.  The shortfall in Housing Benefit DWP 

subsidy budget reported in the previous Council Finances report remains at £314k 

and this will be met by the unspent staff budget for 2021-2022 – there may be 

further funding required, but it is anticipated that the net underspend from all other 

items in the General Fund for the year may cover this budget impact. 

 

Core

Budget

£000

 Profiled

Budget

£000 

 Accrued

Actual

£000 

 Difference

£000 

Variance

%

Community Wealth Building 1,293         969            847            122            13%

Legal & Governance 2,497         359            345            14              4%

People & Communities 366            204            146            58              28%

Place & Climate Change 3,024         2,111         1,999         112            5%

Resources 2,732         1,955         1,748         207            11%

Support Services 3,405         2,450         2,304         146            6%

Total 13,317      8,048         7,389         659            8%

Page 116

Agenda Item 12



3.1.7 At the 31 March 2021 £150k was set aside in reserves to cover ongoing COVID-

19 impacts; this has been used to offset the irrecoverable pay and display car 

parking income losses in 2021-2022. 

 

3.1.8 The COVID-19 emergency funding awarded at the time of the last financial 

settlement of £486k is funding additional expenditure but should there be any 

remainder this will also be used to offset the irrecoverable income losses of 2021-

2022. 

 

3.1.9 The subjective analysis at 31 December is presented objectively in the following 

table. 

 

 
 

3.1.10 Again the major variations of 10% and/or £10k are reviewed individually and will 

continue to be monitored in the following quarters.  The concerns and items to 

note at 31 December profiles are largely due to employee costs: 

 

 Employee Costs 

o As noted against the objective table there have been vacant posts both 

short term and longer term that have resulted in unspent budget that is 

consolidated to a corporate staff turnover provision.  This provision is to 

be used to offset the budget shortfall in Housing Benefit DWP subsidy 

to avoid the depletion of reserves.  The pay award for staff for 2021-

2022 is still pending and shall be accrued if it is not agreed by year-end.  

 

3.2 Treasury Management 

 

3.2.1 Treasury Management activities remain within the Policy approved in March 2021.  

There are no changes to the fixed term debt and a £1m maturity in March 2022 

will be repaid.  The interest earned to the 31 December 2021 was £54k which is 

in line with quarter 3 budget expectations. 

 

3.2.2 The temporary investments on the 31 December 2021 are shown in Appendix 1.  

There are more funds than other years as Government intentionally over funded 

the Business Rate retail relief to aid cashflow for district Councils. 

 

 

Core

Budget

£000

 Profiled

Budget

£000 

 Accrued

Actual

£000 

 Difference

£000 

Variance

%

Employee Costs 7,576         5,752         5,267         485            8%

Transport Costs 108            81              55              26              32%

Property Costs 2,255         1,609         1,506         103            6%

Supplies & Services 6,142         2,242         2,043         199            9%

Contracted Services 4,031         2,194         2,194         -             0%

External Income 6,795-         3,830-         3,676-         154-            4%

Total 13,317      8,048         7,389         659            8%

Page 117

Agenda Item 12



3.3 Reserves 

 

3.3.1 The General Fund reserves brought forward at 1 April 2021 included several 

elements of COVID-19 funding.  There is a reserve for the COVID Section 31 

Reliefs grants that link to the Collection Fund accounting, plus the Tax Income 

Guarantee compensation and general support held as COVID Section 31 (S31) 

Others. 

 

3.3.2 The current projection of reserves to 31 March 2022 are shown in the following 

table and there will be other movements before year-end: 

 

 
 

3.3.3 The transfers between reserves will be reassessed and transacted at year-end in 

accordance with the Reserves and Balances Policy: 

 

 
 

3.3.4 Reserves continue to be used for the purposes that they were established for.  

Reserves are not used to fund recurring expenditure; reserves are used to fund 

one-off items. 

 

3.4 Capital Programme 

 

3.4.1 The Capital Programme has been revised to include the Town Deal, Levelling Up 

Fund and the Brownfield Land Release Fund; to include the whole of the Low 

Carbon Barrow and Heritage Action Zone capital expenditure; and to incorporate 

other changes since the Programme was last approved. 

 

01/04/2021 Transfers Added Used 31/03/2022

£m £m £m £m £m

Transformation 2,043         -             -             851-            1,192         

Renewals 726            149            -             116-            759            

Insurance 100            -             -             20-              80              

Losses 862            12-              -             -             850            

Contingency 3,905         2,057-         559            911-            1,496         

Others 645            107-            -             57-              481            

LGR Implementation -             2,027         -             2,027-         -             

COVID-19 Collection Fund 4,680         -             2,092         3,763-         3,009         

Ring-fenced Grants 417            -             -             -             417            

Total 13,378      -             2,651         7,745-         8,284         

Reserve

Reserve:
 Renewals

£000 

 Losses

£000 

 Others

£000 

 LGR

£000 

 Contingency

£000 

 Total

£000 

Leisure Centre major works 149-            149                  -         

VAT exemption revision 11           11-                    -         

MMI scheme of arrangement revision 1             1-                      -         

LGR implementation county-wide 1,577-     1,577              -         

LGR implementation local 450-        450                  -         

Other reserve revisions 107        107-                  -         

Total 149-            12           107        2,027-     2,057              -         

Page 118

Agenda Item 12



3.4.2 The Programme is cash-limited and relies upon known usable capital receipts to 

be fully funded. 

 

3.4.3  The revised Capital Programme 2021-2025 is included as Appendix 2 and the 

variations are shown in Appendix 3. 

 

3.4.4 The 2021-2022 Programme and expenditure as at 31 December 2021 is included 

as Appendix 4. 

 

3.4.5 This Programme is presented within a Financial Plans and Strategies item on the 

agenda, for approval alongside the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

3.4.6 There are no exceptions to report, however there may be some slippage into 2022-

2023 that will be highlighted when the outturn is reported. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 Consultation is not relevant to the content of this report. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 There are no alternative options to present. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The recommendations primarily concern the Council’s financial resilience which 

underpins the Council’s operations strategies and Council Plan. 

 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1 The implications are contained within the report. 

 

7.2 Legal  

7.2.1 There are no specific legal implications from the recommendations; the Council 

has an ongoing duty to prepare and maintain a balanced budget. 

 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation 

7.3.1 This report relates to 2021-2022 and has no implications in regard to Local  

Government Reorganisation. 

 

7.4 Equality and Diversity  

7.4.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No, the report has no direct 
Equality and Diversity implications. 

 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Page 119

Agenda Item 12



Budget assumptions are 

insufficient. 
Budget shortfall. 

Best estimates are used 

and are supported by 

financial reserves. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Core expenditure is beyond 

the budget proposed or 

income is lower than 

expected. 

Budget shortfall. 
Financial monitoring and 

budgetary control. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Unplanned or unexpected 

expenditure pressures. 

Funding shortfall and 

moratorium. 

Financial planning and 

accountability. 

 
Appendices 

Appendix Name 

1 Treasury Portfolio 

2 Capital Programme 2021-2025 

3 Capital Programme 2021-2025 – Variations 

4 Capital Programme 2021-2022 - Expenditure 

 
Contact Officers  

Director of Resources directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 120

Agenda Item 12

mailto:directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk


Appendix 1

Treasury Portfolio

Deposits at 31 December 2021

Institution
Amount

£000
Notes

Cambridge Building Society 2,000    

Cumberland Building Society 2,000    

Furness Building Society 4,000    

London Borough of Croydon 4,000    

Monmouthshire Building Society 2,000    

National Counties Building Society 4,000    

Newcastle Building Society 3,000    

Nottingham Building Society 3,000    

Saffron Building Society 4,000    

Somerset West and Taunton Council 3,000    

Thurrock Borough Council 3,000    

Fixed Term Deposits 34,000  
HSBC 10,100  1

Total Deposits 44,100  

Notes
1. This is an overnight deposit account which covers cash flows.

Page 121

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Capital Programme 2021-2025

Programme at 31 December 2021

Project
2021-2022

£000
2022-2023

£000
2023-2024

£000
2024-2025

£000
Total
£000

Housing Planned Maintenance 2,184        2,161        2,161        2,161        8,667        
Disabled Facilities Grants 1,000        1,000        1,000        1,000        4,000        
Housing First -            310           -            -            310           
Town Deal - Rawlinson Street Phase 2 65             1,341        -            -            1,406        
North Central  Renewal - Greengate Street 150           -            -            -            150           
Town Deal - Ferry Road -            -            2,538        522           3,060        
Private Sector Housing -            -            -            94             94             

Cemetery 100           -            -            -            100           

Play Areas 35             -            -            -            35             

Walney Community Centre 25             -            -            -            25             

Leisure Centre -            52             700           65             817           

Waterfront Gateway Business Centre 88             -            -            -            88             

Town Deal - Marina Village 90             177           477           223           967           

Brownfield Land Release - Marina Village -            1,519        -            -            1,519        

Heritage Action Zone 327           385           58             -            770           

Accelerated Towns Fund 587           -            -            -            587           

Low Carbon Barrow 353           1,097        -            -            1,450        

Levelling Up Fund 200           4,497        12,855      38             17,590      

Town Deal - Learning Quarter 297           6,365        3,497        187           10,346      

Town Deal - Hubs & Earnse Bay 195           625           2,094        953           3,867        

Town Deal - Place Development 19             311           324           2               656           

Town Deal - Cycling & Walking 140           1,000        1,827        1,000        3,967        

Contingency 15             100           -            -            115           
5,870        20,940      27,531      6,245        60,586      

Source
2021-2022

£000
2022-2023

£000
2023-2024

£000
2024-2025

£000
Total

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,000        1,000        1,000        1,000        4,000        

Accelerated Towns Fund 563           -            -            -            563           

Town Deal 795           9,489        10,257      2,867        23,408      

Levelling Up Grant 200           4,497        11,295      -            15,992      

Heritage Action Zone 196           231           35             -            462           

European Structural and Investment Fund 171           529           -            -            700           

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership 183           567           -            -            750           

Brownfield Land Release Fund -            1,519        -            -            1,519        

Major Repairs Reserve 2,184        2,161        2,161        2,161        8,667        

GF Earmarked Reserves 131           517           293           27             968           

Usable Capital Receipts 447           430           2,490        190           3,557        
5,870        20,940      27,531      6,245        60,586      

Page 123

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3

Capital Programme 2021-2025

Variations at 31 December 2021

Project
Amount

£000
Source

 Amount
£000 

Total Capital Programme brought forward     18,280 Total Capital Financing brought forward 18,280    

Government Grant 23,409    

Usable Capital Receipts 10           

Government Grant 16,030    

Usable Capital Receipts 39-           

Brownfield Land Release - Marina Village       1,519 Government Grant 1,519      

Usable Capital Receipts 18-           

Private Contributions 62-           

Government Grant 410         

Reserves 308         

Walney Community Centre            25 Usable Capital Receipts 25           

Reserves 367         

Usable Capital Receipts 450         

Contingency -          35 Usable Capital Receipts 35-           

HRA Planned Maintenance -          68 Major Repairs Reserve 68-           

Total 60,586    60,586    

Leisure Centre          817 

Levelling Up Fund     15,991 

Town Deal projects     23,419 

Low Carbon Barrow -          80 

Heritage Action Zone          718 

Page 125

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 4

Capital Programme 2021-2022

Expenditure at 31 December 2021

Project
Budget

£000
Spend
£000

Notes

Housing Planned Maintenance 2,184       1,460  
Disabled Facilities Grants 1,000       330     
Town Deal - Rawlinson Street Phase 2 65            -      
North Central  Renewal - Greengate Street 150          -      
Cemetery 100          2         
Play Areas 35            -      
Walney Community Centre 25            -      
Waterfront Gateway Business Centre 88            88       1
Town Deal - Marina Village 90            -      
Brownfield Land Release - Marina Village -           -      
Heritage Action Zone 327          53       2
Accelerated Towns Fund 587          587     1
Low Carbon Barrow 353          52       2
Levelling Up Fund 200          -      2
Town Deal - Learning Quarter 297          -      
Town Deal - Hubs & Earnse Bay 195          -      
Town Deal - Place Development 19            -      
Town Deal - Cycling & Walking 140          -      
Contingency 15            -      

5,870       2,572  

Source
Budget

£000

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,000       
Accelerated Towns Fund 563          
Town Deal 795          
Levelling Up Grant 200          
Heritage Action Zone 196          
European Structural and Investment Fund 171          
Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership 183          
Brownfield Land Release Fund -           
Private Contributions -           
Major Repairs Reserve 2,184       
GF Earmarked Reserves 131          
Usable Capital Receipts 447          

5,870       

Notes
1 - Projects completed.
2 - Project and funding currently being profiled/re-profiled.

Page 127

Agenda Item 12
Appendix 4



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee 

9 March 2022 

Financial Policy and Strategy Updates 

 
 

Report from:   Director of Resources 

Report Author:  Director of Resources 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  This report contains the financial plans and strategies for 2022-2023 based upon 

the approved revenue budgets.  The plans and strategies contained are the 

Medium Term Financial Plan, the Treasury Management Strategy Statement, the 

Capital Strategy, the Reserves and Balances Policy and the Pay Policy. 

 

1.2 The key messages are; it is likely that 2021-2022 budget pressures will be met 

from in-year underspends and additional grant funding; the 2022-2023 budget 

balances from additional grant funding and once that is removed there is a core 

deficit which increases each subsequent year due to inflationary pressures 

outpacing the increases in the funding that can be generated;  the Capital 

Programme is reliant on expected usable capital receipts and is thereafter fully 

funded; reserves may be sufficient to fund the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

1.3 The materialisation of financial plans comes from effective monitoring, 

management and reacting to address/mitigate budgetary pressures.  There is 

more pressure on the budget to perform as there is a core deficit stemming from 

2021-2022.  The Council’s financial plans and strategies will be used in building 

the budgets for the Westmorland and Furness Authority. 

 

2.0  Recommendations  

2.1 The Executive Committee recommend that Council:-  

 
1. Approve the Medium Term Financial Plan for 2022-2025. 
2. Approve the Reserves and Balances Policy. 
3. Approve the Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme for 2022-2025. 
4.  Approve the Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023. 
5. Set the Authorised Limit for borrowing at £54.9m for 2022-2023. 
6. Approve the Pay Policy for 2022-2023. 

Page 129

Agenda Item 13



 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 Medium Term Financial Plan 

 

3.1.1 The Medium Term Financial Plan for 2022-2025 is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

3.1.2 Financial planning is a key tool for strategic management and is an aid to 

operational decision making.  Without financial planning the Council would be 

unlikely to achieve its priorities or make the best use of its resources.  The 

Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a financial representation of the 

Council’s vision and supports its priorities. 

   

3.1.3 The MTFP projects a balanced budget across the medium term.  It is important 

to note the assumptions and estimates that underpin the projections and these 

will be used to monitor budget performance during 2022-2023. 

 

3.1.4 The General Fund budget for 2022-2023 is balanced with the inclusion of one-off 

grants for the year; 2022-2023 is the basis for the future year projections: 

 

  
 

3.1.5 The Council Tax precept is included with an annual increase in the base and a 

£5 increase on Band D or 1.99% each year, and all of the Business Rate income 

including the benefit of the Cumbria Pool are included. 

 

3.1.6 The risks associated with financial projections are set out in the MTFP.  Strong 

internal controls and budget management along with the aim of achieving value 

for money provide the focus of the mitigation of risks. 

 

3.1.7 There are a number of uncertainties that cannot be incorporated into the budget 
projections that may reduce the core deficit: 

 

 New Homes Bonus – funding may continue in later years 

 Services Grant – this one-off grant has been paid for two years 

 Income from Fees and Charges – income may exceed expectations 

 Expenditure – whilst budgets are set against expected requirements each year, 
the austerity experienced over the last decade has resulted in prudence, 
efficiency and innovation.  Savings and reductions may materialise.  As an 

2022-2023 

Budget as 

published

2022-2023 

Core Budget

2023-2024 

Projected 

Budget

2024-2025 

Projected 

Budget

£ £ £ £

Net Revenue Budget 8,841,970      10,982,170    11,304,520    11,662,690    

Core Revenue Financing 8,520,440-      10,660,640-    10,895,330-    11,135,840-    

Core Deficit/(Surplus) 321,530         321,530         409,190         526,850         

One-off Government Grants 321,530-         321,530-         

Budget deficit/(surplus) -                  -                  409,190         526,850         

Incremental deficit 321,530         87,660            117,660         

Page 130

Agenda Item 13



example, the full staff establishment is budgeted but significant gaps in 
vacancies will save budget – this is not desired or targeted but may occur. 

 Capital/major programmes – the allocation of staff time spent on delivery 
 
3.1.8 The 2021-2022 outturn will be analysed against the projected budget and any core 

permanent changes will be incorporated into 2022-2023 and future years. 
 
3.1.9 The 2022-2023 quarterly monitoring will identify any core permanent changes 

and reflect those in the MTFP.  The MTFP will be used as part of the key 
supporting information in building the budgets for the Westmorland and Furness 
Authority and a mechanism for feeding individual authority changes through will 
be established between the Finance and Commercial Board and the Data Hub. 

 
3.1.10 Whilst the MTFP is not able to be presented as balanced, the future grant 

funding, Business Rate Retention, service income and service efficiencies are 
somewhat likely to contribute to reducing the core deficit. 

 

3.1.11 The use of reserves for one-off expenditure has been estimated across the 

period.  The drawdown peak during 2022-2023 comes from the COVID-19 

Collection Fund reliefs and grants being distributed against the deficits 

experienced in previous years, funds released to major projects and 

transformation projects. 

 

 
 
3.2 Reserves and Balances Policy 
 
3.2.1 The Reserves and Balances Policy is attached at Appendix 2. 
 
3.2.2 The requirement for financial reserves is acknowledged in statute.  The Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 require billing and precepting authorities in 
England and Wales to have regard to the level of reserves needed for meeting 
estimated future expenditure when calculating the budget requirement.  Local 
authorities may also ‘earmark’ specific parts of the General Fund reserve; these 
are referred to as Earmarked Reserves. 

 

Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated

Reserve 31/03/2022 31/03/2023 31/03/2024 31/03/2025

£m £m £m £m

Transformation 1,192         362            217            95              

Renewals 759            639            319            242            

Insurance 80              60              40              20              

Losses 850            850            850            850            

Contingency 1,496         1,298         1,190         1,082         

Others 481            114            57              -             

COVID-19 Collection Fund 3,009         -             -             -             

Ring-fenced Grants 417            342            267            192            

Total 8,284         3,665         2,940         2,481         

Page 131

Agenda Item 13



3.2.3 The Policy sets out the Fund balances (General Fund and Housing Revenue 
Account) which are calculated based on a risk-assessment basis and also sets 
out the purpose of usable earmarked reserves.  The operation of reserves is also 
set out, as are the responsibilities and other protocols. 

 
3.2.4 The Fund balances have been risk assessed as: 
 

 
 
3.2.5 The additional Fund balances held will not be released unless all other usable 

reserves are depleted.  Balances and reserves are created and maintained from 
revenue resources.  The Council accrues reserves for specific purposes and 
transfer any additional income and savings generated beyond the budget 
requirement each year, into reserves.  It is anticipated that this approach will 
provide sufficient usable reserves for the medium term. 

 
3.2.6 The projection of reserves over the medium term highlights the COVID-19 

specific reserves connected to the Council Tax and Business Rate precepting 
arrangements moving between years. 

 

  
 

3.2.7 The movement in reserves in core reserves peaks across 2021-2023 with 
significant movements from the major and transformation projects, and from the 
use of reserves to fund the Local Government Reorganisation implementation. 

 

 
 
3.2.8 As set out in the Reserves and Balances Policy any surplus or underspend from 

the revenue budget outturn is added to reserves – the exact attribution is 
reported to the Executive Committee. 

General 

Fund

Housing 

Revenue 

Account

Minimum Fund balance 1,900,000£ 900,000£     

Fund balance held 2,300,000£ 1,000,000£  

Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated

Reserve 31/03/2022 31/03/2023 31/03/2024 31/03/2025

£000 £000 £000 £000

Core Reserves 4,858         3,323         2,673         2,289         

COVID-19 Reserves 3,009         -             -             -             

Ring-fenced Grants 417            342            267            192            

Total 8,284         3,665         2,940         2,481         

Reserve

Core Reserves 7,186         6,758         8,281         4,858         

COVID-19 Reserves -             -             4,680         3,009         

Ring-fenced Grants 698            587            417            417            

Total 7,884         7,345         13,378      8,284         

Actual

31/03/2019

£000

Actual

31/03/2020

£000

Actual

31/03/2021

£000

Estimated

31/03/2022

£000

Page 132

Agenda Item 13



3.3 Capital Strategy 

 

3.3.1 The Capital Strategy is attached at Appendix 3 and includes the Capital 

Programme for 2022-2025.  The Capital Strategy has been refreshed to reflect 

the Council Plan and the proposed Capital Programme. 

 

3.3.2 The Capital Strategy determines the process for retaining and maintaining 

properties in the asset base and how capital projects are included in the Capital 

Programme in a rational and objective manner which maximises the contribution 

of the Capital Programme towards the achievement of the Council’s Priorities.  

The Capital Strategy compliments strategic asset management planning. 

 

3.3.3 The Capital Programme and capital financing is summarised below: 

 

 
3.3.4 The Capital Programme variations including the inclusion of the Town Deal and 

Levelling Up Fund are contained in the Council Finances Quarter 3 report for 

2021-2022. 

 

3.4 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
 

3.4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement is attached at Appendix 4 and 

details the capital prudential and treasury indicators.   

 

 2021-2022

£ 

 2022-2023

£ 

 2023-2024

£ 

 2024-2025

£ 

Programme

Public Housing 2,183,830    2,161,260    2,161,260    2,161,260    

Private Housing 1,000,000    1,310,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    

Housing Market Renewal 215,000        1,341,250    2,537,917    616,100        

Public Buildings 160,000        52,000          700,000        65,000          

Industrial & Commercial Property 177,840        1,696,081    477,000        222,667        

Regeneration & Public Realm 2,118,934    14,279,652  20,655,448  2,180,669    

Contingency 15,000          100,000        -                -                

Total of Programme 5,870,604    20,940,243  27,531,625  6,245,696    

Financing

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,000,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    

Accelerated Town Fund 562,530        -                -                -                

European Structural and Investment Fund 170,653        529,347        -                -                

Town Deal 795,667        9,489,117    10,256,851  2,867,367    

Heritage Action Zone 196,435        231,100        34,665          -                

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership 182,843        567,157        -                -                

Levelling Up Fund 200,000        4,497,115    11,295,370  -                

Brownfield Land Release Fund -                1,519,081    -                -                

Major Repairs Reserve 2,183,830    2,161,260    2,161,260    2,161,260    

GF Earmarked Reserves 130,956        516,066        293,110        27,000          

Usable Capital Receipts 447,690        430,000        2,490,369    190,069        

Total of Financing 5,870,604    20,940,243  27,531,625  6,245,696    

Page 133

Agenda Item 13



3.4.2 Treasury management ensures that cash flow is adequately planned, with cash 

being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk 

counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, 

providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return.  

Treasury management also covers the funding of the Council’s capital plans. 

 

3.4.3 The Council has existing debt with Public Works Loan Board fixed rate loans 

totalling £35.5m with £1m of that maturing in March 2022. 

 

3.4.4 The required indicators are calculated in the Strategy Statement, including: 

 

 projected capital expenditure plans and funding; 

 the Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement CFR); 

 the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement; 

 the estimates, limits and prudence of future debt levels; 

 the affordability impact of the capital programme; 

 the Council’s debt and investment projections; 

 the Council’s borrowing and investment strategies; and 

 specific limits on treasury activities. 

 

3.4.5 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement specifically sets the authorised 

limit for external debt; a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This 

represents a limit beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit must be 

set and revised by Full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while 

not desired, could be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the 

longer term: 

 

a. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 

Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the 

total of all Councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this power 

has not yet been exercised. 

 

b. The Council is asked to set the authorised limit for 2022-2023 as £54.9m. 

 

3.5 Pay Policy 

 

3.5.1 The Council is required to publish the Pay Policy each year to provide 

transparency of the Council’s approach to setting the pay of its employees. 

 

3.5.2 The Pay Policy for 2022-2023 is attached as Appendix 5 and has been updated 

to include the salaries required to comply with the regulations; these are 2021-

2022 salaries as at the date of preparation. 

 

3.5.3 The appendices referred to within the Pay Policy are not included as they have 

not changed and are available on the Council website. 

 

 

Page 134

Agenda Item 13



4.0 Consultation  

4.1 Consultation is not relevant to the recommendations. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 There are no alternative options to set out; the recommendations are based 

upon the approved revenue budgets and existing Council plans, policies and 

priorities. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The recommendations primarily concern the Council’s financial resilience which 

underpins the Council’s operations, strategies and Council Plan. 

 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1 The body of the report contains the financial implications. 

 

7.2  Legal  

7.2.1 None arising from this report, it is a legal requirement to balance the budget and 

the Council is required to agree and publish its pay policy statement by 31 March 

each year.. 

 

7.3  Local Government Reorganisation 

 

7.3.1 The policies and strategies recommended by this report will be used in building 

the same, and other, plans and strategies for the Westmorland and Furness 

Council. 

 

7.3.2 The Medium Term Financial Plan will inform future budget requirements, and this 

is supported by the documents; reserves and balances, capital, treasury and pay 

policy. 

 

7.4 Equality and Diversity  

7.4.1 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis?  No, the recommendations 
have no direct Equality and Diversity implications. 

 
Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Budget assumptions are 

insufficient. 
Budget shortfall. 

Best estimates are used 

and are supported by 

financial reserves. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Core expenditure is beyond 

the budget proposed or 
Budget shortfall. 

Financial monitoring and 

budgetary control. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 13



income is lower than 

expected. 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

Unplanned or unexpected 

expenditure pressures. 

Funding shortfall and 

moratorium. 

Financial planning and 

accountability. 

 
Contact Officers  

Director of Resources directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Medium Term Financial Plan 

2 Reserves and Balances Policy 

3 Capital Strategy 

4 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

5 Pay Policy 

 

 

Page 136

Agenda Item 13

mailto:directorsadmin@barrowbc.gov.uk


 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

 
 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

Version: February 2022 

Author: Director of Resources 

Approved by: Executive Committee/Council 

Date Approved:  

Review Date March 2023 

 

Page 137

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



Barrow Borough Council – Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

 

Barrow Borough Council Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 
 
Background 
 
Under section 112 of the Local Government Act 1972, the Council has the ‘power to 
appoint officers on such reasonable terms and conditions as the authority thinks fit’.  
This Pay Policy Statement sets out the Council’s approach to pay policy in accordance 
with the requirements of Section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
The purpose of the statement is to provide transparency with regard to the Council’s 
approach to setting the pay of its employees by identifying; 
 

□ The detail and level of remuneration of its most senior staff i.e. ‘chief officers’, 
as defined by the relevant legislation; 

□ Executive committee are responsible for ensuring the provisions set out in this 
statement are applied consistently throughout the Council and recommending 
any amendments to full Council. 

 
The Pay Policy Statement was approved by full Council on 20th March 2012 coming 
into immediate effect and is subject to review on an annual basis being approved by 
31st March each year. 
 
Other legislation relevant to pay and remuneration 
 
In determining the pay and remuneration of all of its Chief Officers, the Council will 
comply with all relevant employment legislation.  This includes legislation such as the 
Equality Act 2010, Part Time Employment (Prevention of Less Favourable Treatment) 
Regulations 2000 and where relevant, the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of 
Earnings) Regulations. 
 
Pay Structure for Chief Officers 
 
The Council uses locally determined rates with both spot salaries and grade bandings, 
which are subject to pay increases negotiated with joint trade unions, via the national 
pay bargaining arrangements (the JNC for Chief Officers). 
 
All other pay related allowances are the subject of either nationally or locally 
negotiated rates, having been determined from time to time in accordance with 
collective bargaining machinery. 
 
From time to time it may be necessary to take account of the external pay levels in the 
labour market in order to attract and retain employees with particular experience, skills 
and capacity.  Where necessary, the Council will ensure the requirement for such is 
objectively justified by reference to clear and transparent evidence of relevant market 
comparators, using data sources available from within the local government sector 
and outside, as appropriate. 
 
Any temporary supplement to the salary scale for the grade, for example ex-gratia 
payments and honoraria, is approved in accordance with the Council’s constitution, i.e. 
delegated to the Chief Executive and the Director of Resources who may seek 
Executive Committee approval if so determined.   
 
 

Page 138

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



Barrow Borough Council – Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

 

Chief Officer Remuneration 
 
For the purposes of this statement, senior manager means ‘chief officers’ and are 
defined below.  The posts falling within the statutory definition are set out below, with 
details of their basic salary as at 1st April 2020.  In addition to the Chief Executive, 
there are five employees designated as Chief Officer and receiving remuneration over 
£50,000 per annum.  The Council’s Organisation Structure is attached at Appendix 1. 
 
Chief Executive 
 
Salary currently set at £102,333 pa (spot salary) 
Will receive any inflationary increases agreed as part of national negotiations under 
the auspices of the JNC for Chief Executives 
Will receive fees relating to the role of Returning Officer and similar positions as 
detailed below* 
Will not be subject to performance related pay 
Will be published as part of transparency agenda 
 
*The role of Returning Officer is designated to the Chief Executive In accordance with the 
national agreement the Returning Officer is entitled to receive and retain the personal fees 
arising from performing the duties of Returning Officer, Acting Returning Officer, Deputy 
Returning Officer, or Deputy Acting Returning Officer and similar positions which he or she 
performs subject to the payment of pension contributions thereon, where appropriate. 

 
Director of Resources & Director of People and Place 
 
Salary set at £81,866 pa (spot salary) 
Will receive any inflationary increases agreed as part of national negotiations under 
the auspices of the JNC for Chief Officers 
Will not be subject to performance related pay 
Will be published as part of transparency agenda 
 
Deputy Director People and Place 
 
Salary of £62,000 pa (fourth point of 4 point scale ranging from £59,000 to £62,000) 
Will receive any inflationary increases agreed as part of national negotiations under 
the auspices of the JNC for Chief Officers 
Will not be subject to performance related pay 
Will be published as part of transparency agenda 
 
Head of Legal & Governance/Monitoring Officer 
 
Salary of £54,458 pa (fourth point of 4 point scale ranging from £51,375 to £54,458pa) 
Will receive any inflationary increases agreed as part of national negotiations under 
the auspices of the JNC for Chief Officers 
Will not be subject to performance related pay 
Will be published as part of transparency agenda 
 
 

Page 139

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



Barrow Borough Council – Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

 

Recruitment of Chief Officers 
 
The Council’s policy and procedures with regard to recruitment of Chief Officers is set 
out within the Recruitment Policy (Appendix 2) and as set out in the Constitution.  
Executive Committee or a sub-committee will make all Chief Officer appointments. 
 
When recruiting to all posts the Council will take full and proper account of all 
provisions of relevant employment law and its own policies (Recruitment Policy, 
Appendix 2, Organisational Change Policy, Appendix 5) as approved by Council. 
 
The determination of the remuneration to be offered to any newly appointed chief 
officer will be in accordance with the pay structure and relevant policies in place at the 
time of recruitment. 
 
Additions to Salary of Chief Officers 
 
The level of remuneration is not variable dependant upon the achievement of defined 
targets. 
 
To meet specific operational requirements, it may be necessary for an individual to 
temporarily take on additional duties to their identified role.  The Council’s 
arrangements for authorising any additional remuneration relating to temporary 
additional duties are set out in the NJC Terms and Conditions for Local Government 
Services for calculation of honoraria, and the Councils Ex-gratia Payments Policy 
(Appendix 3). 
 
In addition to basic salary, the following posts receive elements of ‘additional pay’ 
which are chargeable to UK Income Tax and do not solely constitute reimbursement of 
expenses occurred in the fulfilment of their duties; 
 
Post    Payment Details 
Chief Executive    Lump Sum Car Allowance currently £1,239 per annum 
Director of People & Place   Lump Sum Car Allowance currently £1,239 per annum 

Deputy Director of People & Place  Lump Sum Car Allowance currently £1,239 per annum 

 
Payments on Termination  
 
The Council’s approach to statutory and discretionary payments on termination of 
employment of chief officers, prior to reaching normal retirement age, is set out within 
the Early Retirement Policy (Appendix 4) and Organisational Change Policy (Appendix 
5) in accordance with Regulations 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination 
of Employment) Discretionary Compensation) Regulations 2006. 
 
The Council has a voluntary redundancy scheme in place aimed at encouraging 
volunteers and reducing the need for compulsory redundancies.  This scheme uses 
the statutory calculator (age/length of service) to determine the number of weeks pay 
volunteers will be entitled to, subject to a maximum of 30 weeks’ pay.  Actual pay is 
used in the calculation, NOT the statutory maximum. 
 
For volunteers aged over 55 and entitled to early access to pension, there will be no 
discretionary additions to payments.   
 
The severance terms apply to all employees of the Council. 

Page 140

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



Barrow Borough Council – Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

 

 
Any payments falling outside the provisions of the above policies, (pay in lieu of notice, 
working notice, gardening leave etc) will be made on a case by case basis by Senior 
Management Team and where relevant shall be subject to a formal decision by 
Executive Committee and approved by Council. 
 
Settlement Agreements 
 
Under the Enterprise and Regulatory Reform Act 2013 the Council will use Settlement 
Agreements where there exists a clear and real risk of an Employment Tribunal case 
and where it is commercially expedient to do so. Settlement Agreements will not be 
considered as normal protocol when employment terminates.  
 
Settlement Agreements are not necessary in a voluntary or compulsory redundancy 
scenario. If the Council’s redundancy policy and procedure has been complied with 
and if a Senior Manager’s employment has been terminated with proper notice and 
where any dismissal is fair, a Settlement Agreement is unnecessary. In addition, the 
Council avoids having to pay the legal fees incurred by the employee for the review of 
the agreement. The Council will therefore only use Settlement Agreements where 
there exists a real risk of Employment Tribunal litigation. 
 
Publication 
 
Upon approval by full Council, this statement will be published on the Council’s 
website. 
 
Lowest Paid Employees 
 
The lowest paid persons employed under a contract of employment with the Council 
are employed on full time (37 hours) equivalent salaries in accordance with the 
minimum spinal point with the Council’s grading structure. 
 
As at 1st April 2020, this is £17,842 per annum (spinal column point 1).   
 
The current pay levels within the Council (at 6.1.22) give the multiple between the 
median full time equivalent earnings and the Chief Executive as 3.83:1. 
 
Accountability and Decision Making 
 
In accordance with the Constitution of the Council, Senior Management Team, and 
where relevant Executive Committee is responsible for decision making in relation to 
the recruitment, pay, terms and conditions and severance arrangements in relation to 
employees of the Council. 
 
Re-employment / Re-engagement of former Chief Officers 
 
The Council will not normally re-employ/re-engage former Chief Officers. 
 
Appendices 
 
Appendix 1  Organisation Structure 
Appendix 2  Recruitment Policy 
Appendix 3  Ex-gratia Policy 

Page 141

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



Barrow Borough Council – Pay Policy Statement 2022/23 

 

Appendix 4  Early Retirement Policy 
Appendix 5  Organisational Change Policy 
 

Page 142

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



 

 

 

Medium Term Financial 
Plan 

 

 

 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Medium Term Financial Plan 

Version: 22022022 

Author: Director of Resources 

Approved by: Full Council 

Date Approved: March 2022 

Review Date: February 2023 

 

Page 143

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 1 

A. Introduction 

 
Financial planning is a key tool for strategic management and is an aid to operational 
decision making.  Without financial planning the Council would be unlikely to achieve 
its priorities or make the best use of its resources.  The Medium Term Financial Plan 
(MTFP) is a financial representation of the Council’s vision and supports its priorities.   
 
Our vision is for our Borough to be a great place to live, work and visit. 
 
The thematic key priorities for the next four years are: 
 
1. Enabling our residents to live happy, healthy, productive lives. 

Putting people at the centre of all that we do is a key priority for the Council. We 
will do this by helping them to have the best start in life, enjoy healthy and active 
lifestyles, and have opportunities to improve their well-being by building strong 
communities. We will actively encourage people to work with us to design 
activities that meet their needs. We will work with our communities so that people 
can enjoy good health and live in a safe environment where they can be happy 
and reach their full potential. 

 
2. Creating vibrant, safe and welcoming places where people want to live. 

Our Borough is a great place to live, work and have fun. There is an abundance 
of natural beauty and heritage but there is also an opportunity to offer people 
more. We want a varied housing offer to retain our residents and attract new 
people to settle here. We want to build on existing strengths and encourage more 
people to visit the town centres in Barrow and Dalton by making them more 
vibrant so that residents and visitors enjoy a positive and memorable experience. 
We want to protect our natural environment. 

 
3. Supporting our economy to thrive and benefit all our residents. 

Barrow’s manufacturing heritage and its pivotal role in the defence industry is a 
source of local pride and tradition. Our world-class manufacturing expertise is 
recognised worldwide, however to enable inclusive growth we will seek to 
diversify our economy to secure opportunities for our residents by supporting 
other key industries including the growing renewable energy sector. In particular, 
we have the opportunity to secure continued investment in the Borough and 
ensure our residents have the skills and services to allow them to benefit from the 
growing economy.  We will deliver our ambitions through effective joint working 
with public and private sector partners, by offering a clear policy framework, 
proactive steps to promote the role and opportunities within the Borough and by 
securing additional public and private investment. 

 
These priorities will be used as the basis for all future business planning and to direct 
the activity of any spare capacity and resources.  Given the severe constraints on 
Council income it is necessary to think and act more like a business, drive 

Page 144

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 2 

efficiencies from services, generate more income and support innovation and best 
practice within services. 
 
This MTFP covers the period from 2021-2022 to 2024-2025.  The level of 
Government support for the Council is known for 2022-2023 and the years beyond 
are based on that same allocation/settlement with one-off grant allocations removed. 
 
B. Medium Term Financial Strategy 

 
The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy is to be financially stable and resilient 
whilst making strategic and productive use of all resources.  The Council strives for 
efficiency in the use of resources and by monitoring outcomes and outputs will 
demonstrate effectiveness and economy. 
 
In the medium term the Council is focussed on the core budget and ensuring that is 
balanced; resources will be focussed and aligned to achieving the delivery of the 
Council Plan Priorities.  Where necessary reserves will be used to control the pace 
of change, fund transformation, support long term financial resilience and aid the 
delivery of external funding programmes and projects such as the Town Deal. 
 
B.  Planning Process 
 
To ensure a robust and achievable Medium Term Financial Plan is established, the 
planning process covers a number of key aspects: 
 

 Leadership – leading Members, the Section 151 Officer and Management 
Team demonstrate strong leadership of finances and strategic direction. 

 Priorities – the Council Plan Priorities provide a focus for resources. 

 Ownership – the Director of Resources produces and updates the Medium 
Term Financial Plan. 

 Achievement – the Director of Resources will monitor adherence to the 
Medium Term Financial Plan and will quantify and report any significant 
deviation to Management Team and the Executive Committee. 

 Risk management – the MTFP highlights the key considerations in terms of 
finance; the Reserves and Balances Policy risk assesses financial reserves. 

 Efficiencies – Management Team will pursue efficiencies and value for 
money, realising savings for the core budget.  This is an on-going process. 

 Completeness – the MTFP incorporates the Council Priorities, the Budget 
Setting process for revenue, capital and treasury management, and the 
Council Tax setting. 

 Relevance – the MTFP is reviewed periodically throughout the financial year 
and revised for known financial impacts.  This includes a review once the 
previous financial year outturn is known. 

Page 145

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 3 

C. Budget Strategy and Funding 

 
During the austerity of local government finances of the last decade and in order to 
achieve a balanced budget, the Council achieved cumulative core budget changes of 
£8.9m.  The budget changes are deemed to be sustained now; the changes, or 
savings, were achieved by the 31 March 2019 and the subsequent budgets have 
balanced without requiring budget support from the financial reserves 
 
The Council is committed to continue to offer all current services as far as possible. 
 
Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Council is charged with setting a 
balanced budget by the 11 March of the preceding financial year.  The budget for 
2022-2023 is balanced; projections ahead in the medium term are not balanced. 
 
The additional Business Rates retained are included in total revenue financing; the 
Council’s share of the Business Rates collected and retained has been higher than 
the settlement baseline since the inception of the scheme in 2013. 
 
It is hope that the national “re-set” and the Fairer Funding Review will have regard to 
the level of funding required by authorities and recognise the reliance upon local 
taxes which may be volatile. 
 
The Council Tax precept is included at the higher of £5 on Band D and 1.99% each 
year. 
 
For this iteration of the MTFP the existing settlement baseline is projected to 
increase at 2% per annum; the additional Business Rates are shown separately. 
 
To project the core budget forward the 2022-2023 budget is restated to eliminate the 
one-off use of reserves, non-core expenditure funded by matching income, technical 
accounting items and parish precepts. 
 
The 2022-2023 budget balances by relying on the one-off Government grants 
allocated in the settlement. 
 
The one-off Government grants total £321,530 for 2022-2023 which indicates there 
is a core deficit in the budget which is inherent in the medium term projections: 
 

 Services Grant 2022-2023 £215,740 

 New Homes Bonus £101,560 

 New Burdens £4,230 
 
The 2022-2023 General Fund budget is set as a balanced budget, but for the 
purposes of projecting the budget to future years, it is the core budget that must be 
identified. 

Page 146

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 4 

D. Budget Projections 

 
The medium term projections are shown in summary below and in further detail at 
Appendix 1.  The assumptions and estimates are explained in the subsequent 
Section. 
 

 
 
The core deficit for 2022-2023 is shown to identify the incremental widening of the 
core deficit for 2023-2024 of £87,660 and for 2024-2025 of £117,660; the annual 
deficit projected for future years is the shortfall between the costs from inflationary 
pressures against the additional income raised from local taxes. 
 
The cumulative budget deficit unfunded is £936,040; the core deficits projected for 
2023-2024 and 2024-2025. 
 
There are a number of uncertainties that cannot be incorporated into the budget 
projections that may reduce the core deficit: 
 

 New Homes Bonus – funding may continue in later years 

 Services Grant – this one-off grant has been paid for two years 

 Income from Fees and Charges – income may exceed expectations 

 Expenditure – whilst budgets are set against expected requirements each 
year, the austerity experienced over the last decade has resulted in prudence, 
efficiency and innovation.  Savings and reductions may materialise.  As an 
example, the full staff establishment is budgeted but significant gaps in 
vacancies will save budget – this is not desired or targeted but may occur 

 Capital/major programmes – the allocation of staff time spent on delivery 
 
The 2021-2022 outturn will be analysed against the projected budget and any core 
permanent changes will be incorporated into 2022-2023 and future years. 
 
The 2022-2023 quarterly monitoring will identify any core permanent changes and 
reflect those in the MTFP.  The MTFP will be used as part of the key supporting 
information in building the budgets for the Westmorland and Furness Authority and a 

2022-2023 

Budget as 

published

2022-2023 

Core Budget

2023-2024 

Projected 

Budget

2024-2025 

Projected 

Budget

£ £ £ £

Net Revenue Budget 8,841,970      10,982,170    11,304,520    11,662,690    

Core Revenue Financing 8,520,440-      10,660,640-    10,895,330-    11,135,840-    

Core Deficit/(Surplus) 321,530         321,530         409,190         526,850         

One-off Government Grants 321,530-         321,530-         

Budget deficit/(surplus) -                  -                  409,190         526,850         

Incremental deficit 321,530         87,660            117,660         

Page 147

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 5 

mechanism for feeding individual authority changes through will be established 
between the Finance and Commercial Board and the Data Hub. 
 
Whilst the MTFP is not able to be presented as balanced, the future grant funding, 
Business Rate Retention, service income and service efficiencies are somewhat 
likely to contribute to reducing the core deficit. 
 
E. Assumptions and Estimates 

 
It is necessary to make certain assumptions and calculate estimates when projecting 
the budget into future years.  Some budget items can be simply uplifted by an 
estimated percentage for inflationary pressures whilst others are more complex. 
 
It is important that the underlying bases used to produce the budget projections are 
set out in order to measure/vary those as part of budget monitoring during the 
financial year.  The MTFP is ordinarily re-set annually but for 2022-2023 it is 
proposed that the figures are updated quarterly to the Executive Committee and fed 
into the Westmorland and Furness Authority financial planning as required. 
 
1. General Principles 

 
The Council pursues value for money at all times and whilst the budget projections 
do not anticipate a specific saving or budget reduction, all efficiencies will be realised 
and either repurposed within the budget or reserved for future expenditure. 
 
No service reductions are anticipated and no significant changes in service demand 
are projected.  No alternative service delivery models are provided for within the core 
budget for 2022-2023 apart from the funding arrangements for Barrow Forward 
Limited, the Council’s wholly owned leisure company operating the park leisure 
centre.  
 
2. Staff Related Expenditure 

 
The full establishment is budgeted for as it is anticipated that posts currently vacant 
will be filled.  The organisational restructure has been incorporated into the budget 
overall and resources will be aligned to the new divisions prior to April 2022. 
 
Employees with incremental progression within grades will progress as normal. 
 
The pay award has been estimated as 2%. 
 
3. Bought-in Supplies and Services 

 
These are the annual assumptions applied to each of the projected years. 
 

Page 148

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 6 

There has been no adjustment for gas and electricity prices reducing from the peak 
expected in 2022-2023; the projections have assumed the 2022-2023 costs become 
the new base. 
 
Property costs: 

 Utilities 3% 

 Business Rates 2% 

 Maintenance contracts and materials 3% 
 
Supplies and services 

 Software maintenance 3% 

 Subscriptions and publications 3% 

 Professional fees and consultancy % 
 
Contracts 

 Revenues and benefits IT 0% 

 Building cleaning contract 3% 

 Grounds maintenance contract 3% 

 Waste and street cleansing contract 3% 
 
4. External Income 

 
External income covers over £5.9m of the Council’s gross expenditure. 
 
There are no new fee or charge price increases proposed with the 2022-2023 
General Fund budget and that has been mirrored in the medium term with the 
following exceptions: 
 

 Certain services operate on full cost recovery and the medium term budgets 
maintain that for: allotments; building control (the fee earning element); and 
local land charges. 

 The recycling credit/reward per ton increases by 3% each year (this is 
statutory).  No increase in recycling tonnage is included in the budget 
projections, but it is hoped that an improvement will materialise from the 
communications and marketing strategy.   

 It is assumed that the additional rent from letting the Waterfront Gateway 
Business Centre will cover the income losses from the Marina Village site. 

 Administration grants that relate to Housing Benefits, Council Tax Support 
and Business Rates all reducing by 5% each year. 

 
5. Treasury Management 

 
The Council has PWLB fixed rate debt belonging to the General Fund and the 
Housing Revenue Account.  No new borrowing is to be drawn down and maturities 
during the medium term are repaid. 

Page 149

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 7 

 
The Minimum Revenue Provision is the amount required to be set aside to reply dent 
under statute.  The amount does not alter in the medium term. 
 
In terms of interest earned on temporary surplus cash, this has been significantly 
reduced from the pre-COVID years.  The Council manages its cash under the 
Treasury Management Strategy which generally focusses deposits with Building 
Societies and other local authorities – security is paramount, then liquidity and finally 
yield. 
 
The weighted average principle for the years and the average rate of interest 
assumed is: 
 

 2022-2023 £24.5m 0.3% 

 2023-2024 £20m 0.75% 

 2024-2025 £20m 1% 
 
6. Council Tax Precept 

 
The Council Tax Base increased during 2021-2022 and this impacted on the Council 
Tax calculation for 2022-2023.  The increase comes from changes in chargeable 
dwellings in the borough, the discounts applied, and the uptake of Council Tax 
Support; Council Tax Support is netted off the Council Tax Base. 
 
A 1% growth in each year is projected and this is based on normal actual growth. 
 
The Council Tax precept in the MTFP excludes the Parish precepts as those are 
determined by the local councils. 
 
The Council Tax is assumed to increase by the maximum permitted by the 
Referendum Principles which is currently £5 on the Band D amount or 1.99%. 
 
7. Settlement Baseline and Additional Business Rates 

 
At some point the Revenue Support Grant will be merged into the settlement 
baseline.  The settlement baseline is the value of Business Rates that Government 
expects the Council to retain from the whole value collected.  The settlement 
baseline increases along with the Business Rate multiplier each year; the projections 
assume a 2% increase. 
 
The Council’s actual share of the whole value of Business Rates collected is higher 
than the settlement baseline.  The additional Business Rates income has previously 
been partly used to fund the General Fund budget and set aside for income volatility 
(the reserved volatility is used to cushion the budget). 
 

Page 150

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 8 

In previous years around 20% of the additional Business Rates is excluded from the 
budget to be set aside against volatility.  It is not possible to exclude such a 
percentage of revenue financing in balancing the 2022-2023 budget, or the years 
ahead.  The volatility reserve will be reduced should the budget require support from 
movement in the business rate base, and increased should the business rate base 
or pooling create a surplus. 
 
No significant additions or losses are assumed in the Business Rate base. 
 
Membership of the Cumbria Business Rate Pool continues and the estimated pool 
benefit is included in the budget. 
 
8. New Homes Bonus 

 
The New Homes Bonus shown for 2022-2023 has surpassed the threshold and grant 
has been awarded, however that is noted that the awards for 2022-2023 shall not 
attract legacy payments. 
 
F. Reserves and Balances 

 
The Council holds earmarked reserves and has fund balances and these can be 
held for three main purposes: 
 

 a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves; 

 a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – 
this also forms part of general reserves; 

 a means of building up funds, often referred to as earmarked reserves to meet 
known or predicted requirements; earmarked reserves are accounted for 
separately but remain legally part of the General Fund. 

 
Earmarked reserves are used to fund items of non-recurring expenditure. 
 
Upon closing each financial year, the outturn is reviewed and surpluses are 
appropriates to relevant specific reserves (commercial properties for example), and 
the balance added to the Budget Contingency reserve; all reserves are reviewed 
when the financial year is closed and transfers are made where required. 
 
In order to be in a position to mitigate the fluctuations in the Borough Council’s 
retained share of Business Rates, income has been prudently set aside into a 
volatility reserve.  As the localisation of Business Rates progresses there is an 
increased risk and reliance placed on Business Rates to finance Council services; 
this may be over and above the current fluctuations, revaluations and appeals. 
 

Page 151

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 9 

The current Pension Fund triennial valuation significantly reduced the contribution 
that the Council makes.  Asset values, particularly property asset values may reduce 
between valuations and the result would increase the contributions required. 
 
The projected budgets are based on the pension contributions (deficit funding) 
continuing at the same amounts again.  An increase in pension contributions from 
the next triennial valuation (1 April 2023) would result in a direct revenue impact and 
need for reductions/savings in the core budget. 
 
The movements in reserves included in the projections are the best estimates based 
on previous years and known timeframes, but there may be slippage across the 
period covered.  The movement for 2022-2023 consists of the movements presented 
with the budget, plus others that are anticipated to be drawn down during 2022-2023 
but amounts and timing are not certain. 
 
Until the funding position beyond 2022-2023 is known, reserves as a whole will be 
protected as far as possible.  The Council’s reserves are set out in the Reserves and 
Balances policy.  Reserves are earmarked for specific purposes through 
recommendations to Full Council from the Executive Committee.  The transferring, 
repurposing or extinguishing of reserves is dealt with by the Executive Committee.  
 
The General Fund balance at the 31 March, 2022, is projected to be £2,300,000; the 
minimum balance required is currently £1,900,000. 
 
The General Fund earmarked reserves over the life of this Medium Term Financial 
Plan are projected in the following tables. 
 

 
 
The use of reserves across 2022-2025 includes major projects drawdown, public 
buildings maintenance, insurance excesses, local government reorganisation, 
budget variations, welfare support and some drawdown of ring-fenced grants. 
 

Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated

Reserve 31/03/2022 31/03/2023 31/03/2024 31/03/2025

£000 £000 £000 £000

Transformation 1,192         362            217            95              

Renewals 759            639            319            242            

Insurance 80              60              40              20              

Losses 850            850            850            850            

Contingency 1,496         1,298         1,190         1,082         

Others 481            114            57              -             

COVID-19 Collection Fund 3,009         -             -             -             

Ring-fenced Grants 417            342            267            192            

Total 8,284         3,665         2,940         2,481         

Page 152

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 10 

Where necessary any depleted earmarked reserves will be reviewed and topped-up 
from other reserves or alternatively from revenue. 
 
The purpose of the earmarked reserves is as follows: 
 

 Transformation – funds for service redesign and investment in efficiencies; 
restructuring; funds for major projects. 

 Renewals – revenue funds set aside for capital/major projects and cyclical 
renewal of major items. 

 Insurance - funds set aside for excesses payable over the medium term. 

 Losses – funds set aside for the partial exemption VAT threshold, Municipal 
Mutual Insurance scheme of arrangement and uninsured losses. 

 Contingency – funds set aside for one-off items that are not in the core 
revenue budget including business rate volatility. 

 Welfare support – funds set aside for Housing First and external welfare 
funding commitments. 

 Local Government Reorganisation – this reserve was created for the 
Implementation across Cumbria and for funds set aside for costs incurred 
directly that are outside the purposes of the Implementation Reserve. 

 COVID-19 – this reserve holds the grant funding that related to the borough 
share of Council Tax and Business Rates; the grant funding relating to relief 
awarded and income losses that will be distributed under existing precepting 
arrangements. 

 Revenue grants – ring-fenced income which has no claw-back conditions 
attached and are yet to be applied to matching expenditure. 

 
G. Council Tax 

 
The Council Tax for 2022-2023 was set by Full Council on the 24 February 2022.  
The unparished Band A value is £166.94 including a £3.33 increase (2.04%).  The 
unparished Band D value is £250.41 with the Tax Base at 19,899.25. 
 
The Council’s demand on the Collection Fund to meet the 2022-2023 General Fund 
budget was set at £4,982,970 excluding parish precepts. 
 
The Council Tax Base is calculated on Band D equivalents; the following table 
highlights that 89% of properties in the Borough are lower than Band D, giving the 
authority a low Council Tax Base. 
 
The chargeable dwellings for 2022-2023 are shown in their Council Tax bands: 
 

Page 153

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 11 

 
 
Barrow Borough Council is the billing authority for the borough which means that in 
addition to the amount collected to pay for the services directly delivered, the Council 
also bills for, collects and distributes the precepts or Council Tax for Cumbria County 
Council, the Police & Crime Commissioner for Cumbria and the local parishes. 
 
Each £1 collected belongs to: 
 

 
 
H. Risk 

 
Estimates contain an element of risk from items such as inflation, the financial 
markets, Government support, customer demand and the anticipation of future 

Page 154

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 12 

events.  The Council’s Reserves and Balances Policy sets out the risk assessment 
applied to estimates.  Some of the key financial considerations are: 
 

 Strong contracting and procurement. 

 Uncertainty concerning future funding. 

 Delivery of the Council Plan within financial constraints. 

 Impacts of delivering of major projects and accountable body status. 

 Allowances for inflation may be insufficient. 

 Impacts of establishment restructure or job evaluation and grading. 

 Employer pension contributions may increase. 

 National insurance contributions may increase. 

 Staff grading changes or other structural changes are not budgeted for. 

 Usage of gas and electricity may be estimated too low. 

 Business Rates and water rates may change. 

 Professional services may be required to support key functions. 

 Local Government Reorganisation. 

 The possibility of driving further efficiency savings from the budget. 

 No major contracts are due to be retendered during the life of this Plan. 

 Some lower value (non-major) long-term contracts are to be retendered during 
the life of this Plan. 

 Additional expenditure items must be necessary and are subject to approval; 
as determined by the Director of Resources. 

 Recurring additional expenditure must be approved and is subject to the 
approval of the Director of Resources. 

 Cash flow requirements must be constantly reviewed. 

 The cost of new borrowing is not included or anticipated. 

 Interest rate fluctuations. 

 The next triennial pension fund valuation will apply from April 2023. 

 Uncertain of the continuation of the Cumbria Business Rates Pool. 

 The impact of Universal Credit and other welfare reforms. 

 Economic downturn. 

 Strong and robust financial management. 

 New requirements or legislative changes with significant implications. 
 
I. Capital 

 
The Capital Programme is based on the principles set out in the Capital Strategy. 
 
The Programme for this medium term period does not include any borrowing which 
leads to increased capital costs in the revenue budget.  The Programme does 
include anticipated funding for known grants when projects are confirmed, capital 
receipts, and the use of the Major Repairs Reserve.  The Renewals Reserve may be 
called upon where Council owned properties require major capital works; this will be 
informed by the Asset Management Plan.   

Page 155

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 13 

 
The capital receipts include known land disposals that are already identified and in 
progress – if those receipts are realised then the Programme is fully funded.  The 
projects in future years will not be commissioned until sufficient funding is in place.   
 
For externally funded projects, the Council’s policy is not to include schemes in the 
overall Programme until such time as the sources of funding have been confirmed.   
 
The summarised Capital Programme 2021-2025 is shown below: 
 

 
Any further capital investment is dependent upon generating additional usable 
capital receipts or securing external funding. 
 
J. Treasury 

 
The Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy are set annually.  The 
Treasury Strategy includes the Prudential Indicators that control all of the Council’s 
treasury activities, the borrowing strategy, the annual investment strategy and credit 
and counterparty risk management. 
 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: “The management of the local authority’s 
investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and capital market 

 2021-2022

£ 

 2022-2023

£ 

 2023-2024

£ 

 2024-2025

£ 

Programme

Public Housing 2,183,830    2,161,260    2,161,260    2,161,260    

Private Housing 1,000,000    1,310,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    

Housing Market Renewal 215,000        1,341,250    2,537,917    616,100        

Public Buildings 160,000        52,000          700,000        65,000          

Industrial & Commercial Property 177,840        1,696,081    477,000        222,667        

Regeneration & Public Realm 2,118,934    14,279,652  20,655,448  2,180,669    

Contingency 15,000          100,000        -                -                

Total of Programme 5,870,604    20,940,243  27,531,625  6,245,696    

Financing

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,000,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    1,000,000    

Accelerated Town Fund 562,530        -                -                -                

European Structural and Investment Fund 170,653        529,347        -                -                

Town Deal 795,667        9,489,117    10,256,851  2,867,367    

Heritage Action Zone 196,435        231,100        34,665          -                

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership 182,843        567,157        -                -                

Levelling Up Fund 200,000        4,497,115    11,295,370  -                

Brownfield Land Release Fund -                1,519,081    -                -                

Major Repairs Reserve 2,183,830    2,161,260    2,161,260    2,161,260    

GF Earmarked Reserves 130,956        516,066        293,110        27,000          

Usable Capital Receipts 447,690        430,000        2,490,369    190,069        

Total of Financing 5,870,604    20,940,243  27,531,625  6,245,696    

Page 156

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 14 

transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with those activities; and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.” 
 
The Council is required to set the maximum level, beyond which external debt is 
prohibited.  This limit can only be set or revised by Full Council.  This Prudential 
Indicator is the Authorised Limit for External Debt: 
 

 
 

The General Fund external debt is long term whilst the Housing Revenue Account 
has a mixture of maturity dates due to the self-financing exit from the previous 
Government subsidy regime. 
 
The external debt for MTFP period will be: 
 

 
 
K. Housing Revenue Account 

 
From the 1 April 2012 the Housing Subsidy system ended.  The Housing Revenue 
Account is self-financing as set out in its 30 year Business Plan; the rent from the 
dwellings pays for the upkeep and management of the dwellings. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account remains a ring-fenced account as determined by the 
Local Government Housing Act 1989. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account budget for 2022-2023 was set by Full Council on the 
24 February 2022; a balanced budget with a 3.1% rent increase for dwellings and 
garages. 
 
For 2022-2023 there is a contribution from the Major Repairs Reserve to cover the 
increased Housing Maintenance Investment plan 
 
The dwelling stock at the 1 April 2021 was 2,562 and is estimated that there will be 8 
sales in 2021-2022 and 14 sales per year assumed for future budget projections.   
 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Total 55.7 54.9 55.0 55.2

Authorised limit

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

At 1st April 36.479 35.479 34.479 33.479 32.479

Expected change (1.000) (1.000) (1.000) (1.000) (1.000)

Gross debt at 31st March 35.479 34.479 33.479 32.479 31.479

External debt

Page 157

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Barrow Borough Council 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan 
2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
 

Page 15 

The projections out to 2024-2025 show a balanced budget for the Housing Revenue 
Account; the projections use the same assumptions as the General Fund where 
applicable, plus dwelling and garage rents increasing by a notional 1% each year to 
provide an indication of income only.  Where any surplus arises it has been allocated 
to the maintenance budget which fluctuates each year in accordance with the overall 
housing maintenance programme. 
 
The Housing Revenue Account balance at the 31 March 2022, is projected to be 
£1,000,000; the minimum balance required is currently £900,000. 
 
The MTFP projection for the Housing Revenue Account is: 
 

 

 Approved 

Budget

2022-2023 

 Estimated Core 

Budget

2023-2024 

 Estimated Core 

Budget

2024-2025 

£ £ £

Expenditure:

Repairs and maintenance 3,712,430           3,660,760           3,687,320           

Supervision and management 3,893,500           3,940,070           3,987,890           

Rents, rates, taxes and others 19,000               19,380               19,760               

Depreciation of dwellings 1,867,340           1,867,340           1,867,340           

Depreciation of other assets 140,300             140,300             140,300             

Debt management expenses 16,290               16,290               16,290               

Bad debt provision 157,030             157,030             157,030             

Total expenditure 9,805,890           9,801,170           9,875,930           

Income:

Dwelling rents 10,124,360-         10,168,750-         10,212,920-         

Non-dwelling rents 395,710-             399,650-             403,620-             

Charges for services and facilities 1,199,790-           1,199,790-           1,199,790-           

Total income 11,719,860-         11,768,190-         11,816,330-         

Interest payable and similar charges 862,320             836,710             809,690             

Adjustments under regulations:

Voluntary repayment provision 816,520             816,520             816,520             

Revenue contribution to capital 293,920             293,920             293,920             

Pension contributions 19,480               19,870               20,270               

Movement in reserves 78,270-               -                    -                    

Total adjustments 1,051,650           1,130,310           1,130,710           

Deficit/(surplus) -                    -                    -                    

Page 158

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 2



Medium Term Finances Projections Appendix 1

Approved 
Budget

2022-2023

Eliminate Non-
core Items

Core Budget 
2022-2023

Budget 
Changes

Estimated 
Core Budget 

2023-2024

Budget 
Changes

Estimated 
Core Budget 

2024-2025
£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Subjective headings:
Staff Related Expenditure 8,244,520       119,780-          8,124,740       218,730          8,343,470       224,800          8,568,270       
Bought-in Supplies & Services 8,961,400       630,400-          8,331,000       176,660          8,507,660       181,790          8,689,450       
Cost of Housing Benefits 480,930          -                  480,930          -                  480,930          -                  480,930          
External Income 6,267,440-       342,340          5,925,100-       2,960              5,922,140-       1,580              5,920,560-       
Internal Income 1,045,960-       -                  1,045,960-       -                  1,045,960-       -                  1,045,960-       
Treasury Management 1,016,560       -                  1,016,560       76,000-            940,560          50,000-            890,560          
Use of Reserves 2,548,040-       2,548,040       -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Net Revenue Budget 8,841,970       2,140,200       10,982,170     322,350          11,304,520     358,170          11,662,690     

Budget financed by:
Council Tax Precept 5,131,730-       148,760          4,982,970-       150,320-          5,133,290-       154,450-          5,287,740-       
Settlement Baseline 4,447,980-       -                  4,447,980-       -                  4,447,980-       -                  4,447,980-       
Additional Business Rates 1,140,320-       51,010            1,089,310-       84,370-            1,173,680-       86,060-            1,259,740-       
New Homes Bonus 101,560-          -                  101,560-          101,560          -                  -                  -                  
Other Government Grants 360,350-          -                  360,350-          219,970          140,380-          -                  140,380-          
Prior Year Council Tax 82,070            82,070-            -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Prior Year Business Rates 2,257,900       2,257,900-       -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  
Total Revenue Financing 8,841,970-       2,140,200-       10,982,170-     86,840            10,895,330-     240,510-          11,135,840-     

Deficit/(surplus) -                  -                  -                  409,190          409,190          117,660          526,850          

P
age 159

A
genda Item

 13
A

ppendix 3



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 Reserves and Balances 

Policy 

 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Reserves and Balances Policy 

Version: 22022022 

Author: Director of Resources 

Approved by: Full Council 

Date Approved: March 2022 

Review Date: February 2023 

Page 161

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 1 

Reserves and Balances Policy 
 
 
Legislative and Regulatory Framework 
 
The requirement for financial reserves is acknowledged in statute.  Sections 31A, 32, 
42A and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require billing and precepting 
authorities in England and Wales to have regard to the level of reserves needed for 
meeting estimated future expenditure when calculating the budget requirement.  
Local authorities may also ‘earmark’ specific parts of the General Fund reserve; 
these are referred to as Earmarked Reserves. 
 
There are a range of safeguards in place that help to prevent local authorities over-
committing themselves financially.  These include: 
 

 the balanced budget requirement: sections 31A, 42A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992, as amended 

 Director of Resources’ duty to report on robustness of estimates and 
adequacy of reserves (under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003) 
when the authority is considering its budget requirement 

 the legislative requirement for each local authority to make arrangements for 
the proper administration of their financial affairs and that the Director of 
Resources / proper officer has responsibility for the administration of those 
affairs section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 

 the requirements of the Prudential Code. 
 
These requirements are reinforced by section 114 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988 which requires the Director of Resources in England and Wales to report to 
all the authority’s councillors if there is or is likely to be unlawful expenditure or an 
unbalanced budget.  This would include situations where reserves have become 
seriously depleted and it is forecast that the authority will not have the resources to 
meet its expenditure in a particular financial year.  The issue of a section 114 notice 
cannot be taken lightly and has serious operational implications.  Indeed, the 
authority’s full council must meet within 21 days to consider the s114 notice and 
during that period the authority is prohibited from entering into new agreements 
involving the incurring of expenditure. 
 
Whilst it is primarily the responsibility of the local authority and its chief financial 
officer to maintain a sound financial position, external auditors will confirm that there 
are no material uncertainties about going concern.  Even where as part of their wider 
role auditors have to report on an authority’s financial position, it is not their 
responsibility to prescribe the optimum or minimum level of reserves for individual 
authorities or authorities in general. 
 

Page 162

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 2 

CIPFA's Prudential Code requires Director of Resources in local authorities to have 
full regard to affordability when making recommendations about the local authority’s 
future capital programme.  Such consideration includes the level of long term 
revenue commitments.  Indeed, in considering the affordability of its capital plans, 
the authority is required to consider all of the resources available to it/estimated for 
the future, together with the totality of its capital plans and revenue forecasts for the 
forthcoming year and the following two years. 
 
Types of Reserve 
 
When reviewing medium term financial plans and preparing annual budgets local 
authorities should consider the establishment and maintenance of reserves.  These 
can be held for three main purposes: 
 

 a working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves; 

 a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – 
this also forms part of general reserves; 

 a means of building up funds, often referred to as earmarked reserves to meet 
known or predicted requirements; earmarked reserves are accounted for 
separately but remain legally part of the General Fund. 

 
Financial Reporting for Reserves 
 
The IFRS-based Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom (the Code) introduced the Movement in Reserves Statement to local 
authority financial statements in the 2010-2011 financial year.  This Statement 
presents the movement in the year of the reserves of the authority analysed into 
usable reserves, (such as General Fund, HRA Balances and earmarked reserves) 
and unusable reserves. 
 
Unusable reserves arise out of the interaction of legislation and proper accounting 
practice either to store revaluation gains or as adjustment accounts to reconcile 
accounting requirements driven by reporting standards to statutory requirements.  
These reserves, which are not resource-backed and cannot be used for any other 
purpose, are described below: 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
 

 The Revaluation Reserve - this is a reserve that records unrealised gains in 
the value of property, plant and equipment.  The reserve increases when 
assets are revalued upwards, and decreases as assets are depreciated or 
when assets are revalued downwards or disposed of.  Local authorities might 
benefit from these gains in the future from the continued use of the assets or 
from their sale.  The Reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated 

Page 163

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 3 

since 1 April 2007, the date that the Reserve was created.  Accumulated 
gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance on the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 

 
Adjustment Accounts 
 

 The Pensions Reserve – this is a specific accounting mechanism used to 
reconcile the payments made for the year to various statutory pension 
schemes in accordance with those schemes’ requirements and the net 
change in the authority’s recognised liability under the Code’s adoption of IAS 
19 – Employee Benefits, for the same period.  A transfer is made to or from 
the pensions reserve to ensure that the charge to the General Fund reflects 
the amount required to be raised in taxation.  For example, the debit balance 
on the Reserve shows that an authority has made commitments to fund 
pensions that the Government has permitted it to fund from contributions to be 
made in future years. 

 The Capital Adjustment Account - this is a specific accounting mechanism 
used to reconcile the different rates at which assets are depreciated under 
proper accounting practice and are financed through the capital controls 
system.  Statute requires that the charge to the General Fund is determined 
by the capital controls system.  For example, the credit balance on the 
Account shows that an authority has generally financed capital investment in 
advance of receiving the benefits of that investment.  The Account also 
contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment 
before 1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to 
hold such gains. 

 The Financial Instruments Adjustment Account – this is a specific accounting 
mechanism used to reconcile the different rates at which gains and losses 
(such as premiums on the early repayment of debt) are recognised under 
proper accounting practice and are required by statute to be met from the 
Housing Revenue Account Fund. For example, the debit balance on the 
Account shows that an authority has incurred expenses on borrowings that 
the Government has permitted it to spread over future years. 

 Collection Fund Adjustment Account – this is a specific accounting 
mechanism used to reconcile the differences arising from the recognition of 
council tax and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement to those amounts required to be charged by statute to 
the General Fund.  For example, the credit balance on the Account shows 
that more tax has been collected on behalf of the authority and the precepting 
bodies (and central government for non-domestic rates income) than an 
authority is permitted to transfer out of the Collection Fund by 31 March. 

 The Accumulated Absences Adjustment Account – this is a specific 
accounting mechanism used to absorb the differences that would otherwise 
arise on the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account Balances from 

Page 164

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 4 

accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, this is 
annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March.  Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the Fund Balances is neutralised by 
transfers to or from the Account. 

 
Other such reserves may be created in future where developments in local authority 
accounting result in timing differences between the recognition of income and 
expenditure under proper accounting practice and under statute or regulation. 
 
In addition authorities will hold the following usable reserves: 
 

 Major Repairs Reserve – this reserve records the unspent amount of HRA 
balances for capital financing purposes in accordance with statutory 
requirements for the Reserve. 

 Capital Receipts Reserve – this reserve holds the proceeds from the sale of 
assets, and can only be used for those purposes specified in the capital 
finance and accounting regulations. 

 Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve – this reserve holds capital grants that 
have been received but have yet to be used to finance capital expenditure.  
Amounts are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they have 
been applied to fund capital expenditure. 

The Code recommends that earmarked reserves are reported on the face of the 
Movement in Reserves Statement.  Particularly significant movements might need to 
be reported individually on the face of the Statement to ensure key messages are 
presented clearly to users. 
 
When establishing reserves, local authorities need to ensure that they are complying 
with the Code and in particular the need to distinguish between reserves and 
provisions. 
 
The introduction of the IFRS-based Code on 1 April 2010 has meant that grant 
income should be recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (and therefore against the General Fund or HRA Balances for revenue 
grants) where grant payment is unconditional or grant conditions have been 
satisfied.  The Code Guidance Notes recommend that where these grants have been 
received prior to the expenditure having taken place authorities should consider 
establishing earmarked reserves.  This will ensure that amounts are set aside from 
the General Fund and HRA balances in earmarked reserves to provide financing to 
meet the requirements of the grant.  The amounts set aside will be posted back from 
earmarked reserves to meet General Fund and HRA expenditure in future years.  It 
is likely therefore that since the introduction of the IFRS-based Code there is an 
increased tendency to hold earmarked reserves. 
 

Page 165

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 5 

The statutory reporting regime described earlier and effective financial management 
underpin the need for clear, transparent reporting arrangements for reserves and 
therefore in addition to the financial reporting requirements above, it is 
recommended that for each earmarked reserve held by a local authority there should 
be a clear protocol setting out: 
 

 the reason for / purpose of the reserve; 

 how and when the reserve can be used; 

 procedures for the reserve's management and control; and 

 a process and timescale for review of the reserve to ensure continuing 
relevance and adequacy. 

 
Principles to Assess the Adequacy of Reserves 
 
In order to assess the adequacy of unallocated general reserves when setting the 
budget, Director of Resources should take account of the strategic, operational and 
financial risks facing the authority.  The assessment of risks should include external 
risks, such as flooding, as well as internal risks, for example, the ability to deliver 
planned efficiency savings.  Statutory provisions require authorities to review at least 
once in a year the effectiveness of their system of internal control, which will include 
risk management.  The CIPFA/SOLACE framework Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government details an approach to giving assurance that risk, control and 
governance matters are being addressed in accordance with best practice. 
 
The Codes of Audit Practice make it clear that it is the responsibility of the authority 
body to identify and address its operational and financial risks, and to develop and 
implement proper arrangements to manage them, including adequate and effective 
systems of internal control.  The financial risks should be assessed in the context of 
the authority’s overall approach to risk management. 
 

Budget Assumptions 
Financial standing and management 
assessment/impact 

The treatment of inflation and 
interest rates. 

The overall financial standing of the authority (level 
of borrowing, debt outstanding, council tax 
collection rates and so on). Rises in the prices of 
some commodities, such as fuel, highlight the 
relevance of using a number of inflation rates in the 
budget and financial strategy, and considering 
whether general reserves are adequate to deal with 
unexpected increases. 
 
Volatility in the financial markets also points to the 
need to consider investment and borrowing risks 
and their impact on income. 

Page 166

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 6 

Budget Assumptions 
Financial standing and management 
assessment/impact 

Estimates of the level and 
timing of capital receipts. 

The authority’s track record in budget and financial 
management including the robustness of the 
medium term plans. Authorities will also need to 
take into account changes in the property market, 
and adjust estimates and assumptions for reserves 
accordingly. 

The treatment of demand led 
pressures. 

The authority’s capacity to manage in-year budget 
pressures, and its strategy for managing both 
demand and service delivery in the longer term. 

The treatment of planned 
efficiency savings/productivity 
gains. 

The authority’s virement and end of year 
procedures in relation to budget under/overspends 
at authority and department/directorate level.  Risk 
management measures in relation to partnerships, 
including consideration of risk allocation. Contract 
provisions designed to safeguard the authority's 
position in the event of problems arising from 
outsourcing arrangements. 

The availability of reserves, 
government grants and other 
funds to deal with major 
contingencies and the 
adequacy of provisions. 

The adequacy of the authority’s insurance 
arrangements to cover major unforeseen risks.  
When considering insurance cover, the structure of 
the cover as well as the overall level of risk should 
be taken into account. 
Risk assessments should be used when balancing 
the levels of insurance premiums and reserves. 

The general financial climate 
to which the authority is 
subject. 

External factors, such as future funding levels 
expected to be included in Spending Reviews and 
expected referenda principles and limits, will 
influence an authority's ability to replenish reserves 
once they have been used.  Any plans for using 
reserves will need to consider the need and ability 
of the authority to replenish the reserves, and the 
risks to which the authority will be exposed whilst 
replenishing the reserves. 

 
Whist many of these factors relate to setting the annual budget, the level of risk and 
uncertainty associated with these factors will be relevant in determining an 
appropriate level of reserves. 
 
Authorities have been faced by increasing financial pressures since 2008.  This has 
been followed by a period of significant reduction in government funding which is 
anticipated to continue for some time.  Demands on local government services 
continue to increase. 
 
 

Page 167

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 7 

In addition to reduction in government funding other pressures include: 
 

 Councils striving to constrain council tax increases, 

 reductions of income, 

 new service demands and responsibilities such as: 

- the localisation of non-domestic rates retention, and 
- council tax support 

 severe weather and floods. 
 
Furthermore, events such as the losses in Icelandic banks and the problems in 
global financial markets are likely to mean that Councils will focus on cautious 
investment strategies.  Council budgets and reserves have remained under pressure 
and are likely to continue to do so for some time. 
 
The many factors involved when considering appropriate levels of reserves can only 
be assessed properly at a local level.  A considerable degree of professional 
judgement is required.  The Director of Resources may choose to express advice on 
the level of balances in cash and/or as a percentage of budget (to aid understanding) 
so long as that advice is tailored to the circumstances of the authority.  The Audit 
Commission Report (December 2012) Striking a Balance makes a number of 
recommendations to both Director of Resources and elected members to better 
assist councils in their decision making. 
 
The advice should be set in the context of the authority’s risk register and medium 
term plans and should not focus exclusively on short-term considerations.  Balancing 
the annual budget by drawing on general reserves may be viewed as a legitimate 
short-term option.  However, it is not normally prudent for reserves to be deployed to 
finance recurrent expenditure.  CIPFA has commented that Councils should be 
particularly wary about using one off reserves to deal with shortfalls in current 
funding.  Where such action is to be taken, this should be made explicit, and an 
explanation given as to how such expenditure will be funded in the medium to long 
term.  Advice should be given on the adequacy of reserves over the lifetime of the 
medium term financial plan, and should also take account of the expected need for 
reserves in the longer term. 
 
Events such as the floods and severe weather that occurred in recent years have 
emphasised the need for authorities to be prepared for major unforeseen events.  
Adequate insurance cover combined with appropriate levels of reserves will enable 
authorities to manage the demands placed on them in such circumstances.  
However, these arrangements need to take account of all possible scenarios.  An 
example quoted in the Audit Commission report Staying Afloat is that the total cost of 
the flooding was reduced where authorities had specifically considered the impact of 
a wide scale, serious event affecting many assets, and had taken appropriate action, 

Page 168

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 8 

for example, negotiating insurance policies that capped the total excesses linked to 
one event. 
 
Part of the risk management process involves taking appropriate action to mitigate or 
remove risks, where this is possible.  This in turn may lead to a lower level of 
reserves being required, and it would be appropriate to consider reducing the level of 
balances held where appropriate action to mitigate or remove risks has been 
successfully undertaken.  A balance will need to be found between maintaining 
adequate levels of reserves and investing in risk reduction measures.  This balance 
should form part of the risk management process and be considered as part of the 
annual budget process. 
 
Emergency financial assistance from central government may be available to assist 
authorities in dealing with the immediate consequences of major unforeseen events, 
normally under the Emergency Financial Assistance to Local Authorities scheme 
(commonly known as the ‘Bellwin’ scheme).  However, there is no automatic 
entitlement to financial assistance, and where financial assistance is given, it will not 
cover all of the costs even in exceptional circumstances.   Authorities should plan to 
have access to sufficient resources (through reserves, insurance or a combination of 
both) to cover the costs of recovering from events that are likely to be unavoidable. 
 
When considering the level of reserves, it would be appropriate for authorities to take 
into account the likely level of Government support that would be available, and to 
consider how the balance would be funded in the event of an unforeseen event 
occurring. 
 
Flooding, the effects of severe weather and the impact of the problems experienced 
by the global financial markets are examples of external risks which local authorities 
may need to take into account in setting levels of reserves and wider financial 
planning.  An assessment of external risks should not be limited to those issues, but 
should range more widely, to take account of all significant external risks identified 
through the authority’s risk management processes. 
 
Director of Resources Reporting 
 
The Director of Resources as Section 151 Officer has a fiduciary duty to local 
taxpayers, and must be satisfied that the decisions taken on balances and reserves 
represent proper stewardship of public funds. 
 
The level and utilisation of reserves will be determined formally by the Council, 
informed by the advice and judgement of the Director of Resources.  To enable the 
Council to reach its decision, the Director of Resources should report the factors that 
influenced their judgement, and ensure that the advice given is recorded formally. 
 
Where the Director’s advice is not accepted this should be recorded formally in the 
minutes of the Council meeting. 

Page 169

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 9 

It is recommended that: 
 

 the budget report to the Council should include a statement showing the 
estimated opening general reserve fund balance for the year ahead, the 
addition to/withdrawal from balances, and the estimated end of year balance.  
Reference should be made as to the extent to which such reserves are to be 
used to finance recurrent expenditure; 

 this should be accompanied by a statement from the Director of Resources on 
the adequacy of the general reserves and provisions in respect of the 
forthcoming financial year and the authority’s medium term financial strategy; 

 a statement reporting on the annual review of earmarked reserves should also 
be made at the same time to the Council.  The review itself should be 
undertaken as part of the budget preparation process.  The statement should 
list the various earmarked reserves, the purposes for which they are held and 
provide advice on the appropriate levels.  It should also show the estimated 
opening balances for the year, planned additions/withdrawals and the 
estimated closing balances. 

 
Reserves Held 
 
The Council will not hold a general reserve as this is accounted for within the 
General Fund balance.  General reserves have no restriction on their use and can be 
used to smooth the impact of significant pressures across years, offset the budget 
requirement in year, and to mitigate the risks of unexpected events or emergencies.  
The restructuring reserve is used to smooth budget pressures over the medium term. 
 
Earmarked reserves are usually created and held for one of the five main reasons 
below: 
 

1. Service restructuring – to fund the costs of organisational changes so that the 
beneficial impact of savings achieved may be immediately realised in revenue 
budgets. 

2. Renewals – to enable services to plan and finance an effective programme of 
equipment replacement and planned property maintenance.  These reserves 
are a mechanism to smooth expenditure so that a sensible replacement 
programme can be achieved without the need to vary budgets. 

3. Insurance – to meet the estimate of future claims to enable the Council to 
meet excesses not covered by insurance. 

4. Losses – such as breaching the partial exemption VAT threshold, uninsured 
losses and other liabilities. 

5. Other earmarked reserves will be set up from time to time to meet known or 
predicted liabilities, such as future predicted budget demand pressures. 

 

Page 170

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 10 

The Council has the following financial reserves: 
 

1. Transformation - funds for service redesign and investment in efficiencies; 
restructuring; funds for major projects. 

2. Renewals - revenue funds set aside for capital/major projects and cyclical 
renewal of major items. 

3. Insurance - funds set aside for excesses payable over the medium term. 

4. Losses - funds set aside for the partial exemption VAT threshold, the MMI 
scheme of arrangement and any uninsured losses. 

5. Earmarked reserves - contingency reserve for the funds set aside to cover 
one-off items that are not set in the revenue budget including business rate 
volatility; welfare support reserve for the funds set aside for Housing First and 
external welfare funding commitments; Local Government Reorganisation 
reserve; COVID-19 grants relating to the Collection Fund precepting 
arrangements.  

 
There are also ring-fenced reserves which are funds received and set aside in 
accordance with the grant funding source.  These can only be used for specific 
expenditure and are not available for transfer or general use.  
 
Holding Reserves 
 
The Council recognises the need to hold and maintain reserves but also recognises 
the opportunity cost of holding balances as reserves.  For this reason it is important 
to set out clearly, and regularly review, the framework through which reserves are 
managed. 
 
The management of financial reserves is a key tool of the Council’s overall strategy 
which has two key objectives: 
 

 achieving stable and sustainable budgets throughout the medium term; and 

 ensuring resources are effectively focussed on priorities. 
 
Underpinning the achievement of these objectives is the recognition of the need to 
manage risk.  This could be the increased risks of volatility in planning assumptions 
in uncertain economic times, or the risks to Government funding as a result of 
significant future funding reviews. 
 
Building Reserves 
 
The Director of Resources is authorised to annually review and recommend the 
appropriate level of revenue balances during the budget setting process and at the 
end of the financial year.  The Director of Resources will take into consideration all 
relevant factors at the time of the review.  The bases and reasons for recommending 

Page 171

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 11 

a certain level will be reported to committee as part of the budget setting process 
and/or as part of the final accounts reporting stage. 
 
Earmarked reserves may be established, as part of setting the budget or for a 
specific purpose to be used in the future.  Or they can be created at the end of the 
financial year if the final outturn allows the creation of a new reserve or the addition 
to an existing reserve.  Adding funds into financial reserves is the responsibility of full 
Council, however the transactions with reserves when closing the financial year are 
delegated to the Director of Resources; these are reported to the Executive 
Committee with the Outturn Report. 
 
Using Reserves 
 
Revenue balances can be used to meet the cost of emergencies, unexpected events 
or un-budgeted statutory items.  The Director of Resources can authorise this type of 
expenditure but must report it to committee at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Revenue balances may be used to supplement un-budgeted but necessary 
expenditure that could impact on service delivery if not incurred.  The Director of 
Resources can authorise this expenditure up to a limit of 1% of the net revenue 
budget; if the expenditure is not directly related to operational service delivery 
consultation with the Chief Executive is also required.  The Director of Resources 
must also ensure that such expenditure would not have a detrimental effect on the 
overall finances of the Council. 
 
Earmarked reserves can only be used for the purpose for which they were created.  
The Executive Committee, however, can change the use of the earmarked reserve if 
it so wishes or move funds between reserves but cannot increase the overall 
reserves of the Council. 
 
Earmarked reserves created for general use must have the Executive Committee 
approval before they are used for a specific purpose.  The Executive Committee, on 
the recommendation of the Director of Resources, can eliminate or reduce the funds 
in the earmarked reserves by adding them to the revenue balances.  The Director of 
Resources may transfer between reserves and report to the Executive Committee 
with the Outturn Report. 
 
Other Protocols 
 
Any under spending on the revenue budget is not permitted to be carried forward to 
the following year.  It will revert back to the financial reserves. 
 
This policy will be subject to periodic review and approval by the Executive 
Committee and where necessary, by Full Council. 
 
 

Page 172

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 12 

Minimum Reserves 
 
The General Fund minimum balance for 2022-2023 has been assessed as £1.9m 
and should preferably be held above that level if possible; £2.3m is held. 
 
The losses reserve also has a minimum level as the items that this covers are not 
included in the General Fund balance; these are different in nature and do not lend 
themselves to risk analysis, being fully payable when they are triggered.  The losses 
reserve includes the partial exemption VAT threshold £160k, the MMI scheme of 
arrangement £439k and any uninsured losses £250k. 
 
Housing Revenue Account 
 
The Director of Resources has reviewed the financial reserves required by the 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  The fund balance together with a separate 
general earmarked reserve is recommended as the most appropriate method for 
holding the HRA financial reserves. 
 
The HRA fund balance has been risk assessed with regard to budget assumptions, 
the level and timing of income, demand led expenditure, cash flow, the availability of 
reserves to deal with major contingencies, the materialisation of planned savings, the 
general financial climate and upcoming changes.  The impact of each element of risk 
exposure is assessed to arrive at a minimum balance for the fund which remains 
untouched by operational budget matters.  The HRA fund balance for 2022-2023 has 
been risk assessed as £0.9m and should preferably be held above that level if 
possible; £1m is held. 
 
The general earmarked reserve contains the funds available to the HRA for 
restructuring costs, service development costs, insurance premiums (including old 
MMI claims settlement), uninsured losses, one-off items of spend that meet the 
Reserves and Balances Policy, budget support and budget volatility (including 
housing maintenance). 
  
Risks and Calculations 
 
The following section set out the calculation of the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue Account balance for 2022-2023 based on the estimated impact of the risks 
facing the Council and the likelihood/percentage of the financial impact if it 
materialises. 
 

Page 173

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 13 

Risk Based Assessment of the Level of General Fund Balance 
 
 

Specific Areas

Estimated 

Exposure

£

Likelihood 

Percentage

Balance 

Required

£

Risk Area

Changes since the 

budget was set

Staff pay 7,956,260              1% 79,562.60              

Contractual inflation 5,102,610              1% 51,026.10              

Utility inflation 825,800                 5% 41,290.00              

Total             171,878.70 

Risk Area

Income from areas within 

the base budget where 

the Council raises fees 

and charges

Car parking pay and 

display ticket sales
                  400,000 10%                40,000.00 

Development and building 

control income
                  107,160 10%                10,716.00 

Land charges income                   147,090 10%                14,709.00 

Recycling credits 

(tonnage)
                  273,320 20%                54,664.00 

Indoor market rents                   215,380 5%                10,769.00 

Forum income                   266,670 10%                26,667.00 

Commercial property 

income
               1,534,840 5%                76,742.00 

Total             234,267.00 

Comments including any mitigation factors

Potential risk that things change since the budget estimates 

were made and the estimates are then under budgeted for.

Calculated Risk

Comments including any mitigation factors

Potential risk that the budgeted level of income from 

activities where the Council is charging for services will not 

be achieved.  This is anticipated largely to be as a result of a 

downturn in the economy, but could also be as a result of 

poor weather or new competition.  All fees and charges 

income is reviewed as part of the monthly/quarterly budget 

monitoring process.  All budgets are set based on previous 

experience and to reflect any new requirements.

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 174

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 14 

 
 

Specific Areas

Estimated 

Exposure

£

Likelihood 

Percentage

Balance 

Required

£

Risk Area

Demand led budgets

Housing benefit maximum 

risk based on not meeting 

minimum threshold for 

Local Authority errors

72,248                    75% 54,186.00              

Total                54,186.00 

Risk Area

Estimated balances 

required for any over 

spend or under recovery 

of expenditure and 

income

Gross income 38,396,270            1.5% 575,944.05            

Gross spend 39,144,380            1.5% 587,165.70            

Total          1,163,109.75 

Risk Area

Other risks

Core deficit to be 

eliminated
321,530                 50% 160,765.00            

Borrowing costs 1,000,000              4% 40,000.00              

Safety net for business 

rates
234,711                 25% 58,677.75              

Total             259,442.75 

Calculated Risk

Comments including any mitigation factors

Potential risk that savings will not be realised, that contract 

renewals require additional funding, that under-borrowing for 

cashflow purposes cannot be maintained and that Business 

Rates drop below the Safety Net.

Comments including any mitigation factors

Potential risk that spending on parts of the budget where the 

Council has a legal duty to provide the service increases 

significantly.  Individual budgets are reviewed as part of the 

budget monitoring process.

Comments including any mitigation factors

This calculation is based on the Council’s net revenue 

budget and services to cushion the impact of uneven cash 

flows.

 
 
 

£
1,882,884.20         

1,900,000.00         

2,300,000.00         General Fund balance held for 2022-2023

Summary
Calculated level of balance for General Fund based on risk

Minimum level of General Fund balance

 

Page 175

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 15 

Risk Based Assessment of the Level of Housing Revenue Balance 
 
 

Specific Areas
Estimated 

Exposure £

Likelihood 

Percentage

Balance 

Required £

Risk Area

Changes since the 

budget was set

Staff pay 1,539,220              1% 15,392.20              

Contractual inflation 3,932,650              1% 39,326.50              

Utility inflation 18,900                    5% 945.00                    

Total                55,663.70 

Risk Area

Income from areas within 

the base budget where 

the Council charges rent, 

and raises fees and 

charges

Dwelling rents 10,124,360            2% 202,487.20            

Other rents 395,710                 5% 19,785.50              

Water rates 786,920                 5% 39,346.00              

Other income 412,870                 5% 20,643.50              

Total             282,262.20 

Risk Area

Demand led budgets

Responsive maintenance 3,712,430              5% 185,621.50            

Total             185,621.50 

Comments including any mitigation factors

Potential risk that spending on parts of the budget where the 

Housing Revenue Account (and the Countcil as landlord) has 

a legal duty to provide the service increases significantly.  

Individual budgets are reviewed as part of the budget 

monitoring process.

Calculated Risk

Comments including any mitigation factors

Potential risk that things change since the budget estimates 

were made and the estimates are then under budgeted for.

Comments including any mitigation factors

Potential risk that the budgeted level of income from dwelling 

and other rents will not be achieved.  Risk that income from 

activities where the Housing Revennue Account is charging 

for services will not be achieved.  This is anticipated largely 

to be as a result of a downturn in the economy, but could also 

be as a result of a change in arrangements, new competition; 

changes in demand.  All income is reviewed as part of the 

monthly/quarterly budget monitoring process.  Rents are set 

by Council and estimated on previous experience of 

disposals and void loss.

 
 

Page 176

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



 

Page 16 

 

Specific Areas
Estimated 

Exposure £

Likelihood 

Percentage

Balance 

Required £

Risk Area

Estimated balances 

required for any over 

spend or under recovery 

of expenditure and 

income

Gross income 11,719,860            1.5% 175,797.90            

Gross spend 9,731,660              1.5% 145,974.90            

Total             321,772.80 

Comments including any mitigation factors

This calculation is based on the Housing Revenue Account’s 

net revenue budget and services to cushion the impact of 

uneven cash flows.

Calculated Risk

 
 

£

845,320.20            

900,000.00            

1,000,000.00         

Summary
Calculated level of balance for HRA based on risk

Minimum level of Housing Revenue Account balance

Housing Revenue Account balance held for 2022-2023  
 

Page 177

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 4



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
Capital Strategy 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Capital Strategy 

Version: 22022022 

Author: Director of Resources 

Approved by: Full Council 

Date Approved: March 2022 

Review Date: February 2023 

Page 179

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 5



 
 Page 1  

Capital Strategy 
 

A. Introduction 
 
The purpose of this document is to show how the Capital Strategy determines the 
process for retaining and maintaining properties in the asset base and how capital 
projects are included in the Capital Programme in a rational and objective manner 
which maximises the contribution of the Capital Programme towards the achievement 
of the Council’s Priorities by investing in services such as regeneration and housing. 
 
In terms of volume, the majority of the Council’s assets are the Housing Revenue 
Account dwellings.  Day to day maintenance and any plans for improvements are 
incorporated into the Housing Revenue Account Business Plan.  This covers a 30-
year period and is updated annually.  
 

B. Council Vision and Priorities 
 
Our vision is for our Borough to be a great place to live, work and visit. 
 
The thematic key priorities for the Council are: 
 
1. Enabling our residents to live happy, healthy, productive lives. 

Putting people at the centre of all that we do is a key priority for the Council. We 
will do this by helping them to have the best start in life, enjoy healthy and active 
lifestyles, and have opportunities to improve their well-being by building strong 
communities. We will actively encourage people to work with us to design 
activities that meet their needs. We will work with our communities so that people 
can enjoy good health and live in a safe environment where they can be happy 
and reach their full potential. 

 
2. Creating vibrant, safe and welcoming places where people want to live. 

Our Borough is a great place to live, work and have fun. There is an abundance 
of natural beauty and heritage but there is also an opportunity to offer people 
more. We want a varied housing offer to retain our residents and attract new 
people to settle here. We want to build on existing strengths and encourage more 
people to visit the town centres in Barrow and Dalton by making them more 
vibrant so that residents and visitors enjoy a positive and memorable experience. 
We want to protect our natural environment. 

 
3. Supporting our economy to thrive and benefit all our residents. 

Barrow’s manufacturing heritage and its pivotal role in the defence industry is a 
source of local pride and tradition. Our world-class manufacturing expertise is 
recognised worldwide, however to enable inclusive growth we will seek to 
diversify our economy to secure opportunities for our residents by supporting 
other key industries including the growing renewable energy sector. In particular, 
we have the opportunity to secure continued investment in the Borough and 
ensure our residents have the skills and services to allow them to benefit from the 
growing economy.  We will deliver our ambitions through effective joint working 
with public and private sector partners, by offering a clear policy framework, 

Page 180

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 5



 
 Page 2  

proactive steps to promote the role and opportunities within the Borough and by 
securing additional public and private investment. 

 
These priorities will be used as the basis for all future business planning and to direct 
the activity of any spare capacity and resources.  Given the constraints on Council 
income it is necessary to think and act more like a business, drive efficiencies from 
services, generate more income and support innovation and best practice within 
services. 
 
The priorities do not feature equally in the Capital Strategy because some objectives 
incur predominately ongoing revenue costs. 
 
The Capital Programme is related to the Council’s priorities as follows: 
 

Council Priority Capital Programme elements 

People 
Public Housing 
Private Housing 
Housing Market Renewal 

Place 
Public Buildings 
Industrial & Commercial Property 
Regeneration & Public Realm 

Prosperity 
Private Housing 
Housing Market Renewal 
Industrial & Commercial Properties 

 

C. Resource Allocation 
 
The Government introduced a new system for the management of capital finance in 
2004-2005 contained in The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
Regulations (2003), which became operative from 1 April 2004.  The Act sets out a 
new financial power for local authorities to use unsupported prudential borrowing for 
capital investment provided that the Council can afford the revenue consequences of 
any proposed borrowing.   The key objectives of the prudential system are to ensure, 
within a clear framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable.  Under the regulations local authorities have 
been given the freedom to determine the amount of external borrowing they are 
prepared to undertake when considering their own capital spending and financing 
decisions.  

  
At the outset of each Capital Programme planning cycle, the level of resources 
available to fund the Programme is reassessed in light of the most recent 
information.  The current Programme is then reviewed to establish the level of 
resources needed to fund the committed Programme. This information is then used 
to establish the resources available to fund new schemes.  
 
It is the Council’s policy to maximise capital receipts through a review of existing 
property use.  A rigorous approach has been adopted to the identification and 
disposal of surplus assets that are no longer required to meet the Priorities of the 

Page 181

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 5



 
 Page 3  

Council.  The Council views this as the most cost effective way to finance the Capital 
Programme and minimises the risks to the core revenue budget.  
 

 The Council has been very successful at securing external funding from the 
Government and private sources, to achieve the delivery of its Capital Programme.  
The Council has been able to fund a significant proportion of its Capital Programme 
from external funding in previous years.  

 
For externally funded projects, the Council’s policy is not to include schemes in the 
overall Programme until such time as the sources of funding have been confirmed.  
This is specifically to address issues of slippage within the Programme and to avoid 
the Council entering into an open-ended commitment which then deprives other 
important schemes of resources.  However, it is vital that when such schemes have 
secured sufficient partner funding, that the Council has the capability to fund its share 
of the overall scheme cost and can add such schemes to the Programme if it desires. 
 
Getting value for money is a priority for the Council and the Capital Programme 
should provide high quality, value for money public services.  The Council recognises 
that best value is based on whole life costs and therefore the on-going revenue 
implications of capital spend are identified when bids for capital resources are 
assessed and when schemes are approved; when a new capital project is proposed 
any impact on revenue expenditure is anticipated and costed.  These revenue costs 
are used to inform the revenue budget planning process and are considered 
alongside other priorities in the revenue budget when the overall budget is set. 
  

 In order to ensure that resources available for capital investment are used efficiently 
and effectively, the Council prioritises all capital projects in line with its Priorities, 
available resources and longer term revenue savings.  This is achieved by the 
submission of bids for capital resources being appraised by the Programme Board, 
which consists of the Senior Management Team, for their consideration and 
comment.  This process includes all elements of capital apart from planned housing 
maintenance which is dealt with by the Housing Management Forum.  

 
 The resulting Capital Programme is then reported to the Executive Committee for 

recommendation to Council for approval.  
 

D. Managing and Monitoring the Capital Programme 
 
 Programme management, monitoring and review in terms of both the delivery of 

outcomes, priorities and financial performance are the responsibility of the 
Programme Board, working in conjunction with the responsible manager.  Progress 
reports incorporating any recommended variations to the Programme are presented 
to the Programme Board and the Executive Committee where required.  Any 
‘learning’ arising from the monitoring/review process is used to inform the approach 
on an ongoing basis.  The Council’s Financial Regulations and Contract Standing 
Orders stipulate how the financial aspects of the Capital Programme and each capital 
scheme should be managed and the Programme Board ensures compliance with 
these requirements. 

  

Page 182

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 5



 
 Page 4  

The Council is committed to consulting with the community, its partners and service 
users on the key issues affecting the quality of life in the Borough.  It has always 
been important to ensure that resources and services are designed, delivered and 
improved to meet the changing needs and expectations of our community, our 
partners and our service users.  To achieve this commitment the Council consults 
and involves the community on any major or controversial capital schemes and 
makes its policies, decisions and services accessible to comment from residents, 
businesses, agencies and major partners.  
 

E. Reviewing the Capital Strategy 
 
The Capital Strategy is reviewed annually to ensure it remains valid.  The Council 
reviews the allocation of its Capital Resources on an annual basis to ensure that its 
Programme of investment is in line with the actual resources available to support its 
spending needs and priorities.  
 
During the financial year to Capital Programme is reviewed and can be varied by the 
Executive Committee. 
 
F. Summary 
 
The Council will continue to prioritise its capital spending in line with its Priorities and 
other criteria. 
 
The Council will annually review its approach to capital expenditure having regard to 
outcomes of service reviews, inspections, condition surveys, and outcomes of the 
Capital Programme. 
 
The Capital Programme for 2021-2025 is included at Appendix 1. 
 

Page 183

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 5



 
 Page 5  

Capital Programme              Appendix 1 

 
Capital Scheme/Project 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025

£ £ £ £

HRA planned maintenance 2,183,830      2,161,260      2,161,260      2,161,260      

Public Housing 2,183,830      2,161,260      2,161,260      2,161,260      

Disabled facilities grants 1,000,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      

Housing First -                  310,000         -                  -                  

Private Housing 1,000,000      1,310,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      

Town Deal - Rawlinson Street Phase 2 65,000            1,341,250      -                  -                  

North Central  Renewal - Greengate Street 150,000         -                  -                  -                  

Town Deal - Ferry Road -                  -                  2,537,917      522,500         

Private Sector Housing -                  -                  -                  93,600            

Housing Market Renewal 215,000         1,341,250      2,537,917      616,100         

Cemetery 100,000         -                  -                  -                  

Play Areas 35,000            -                  -                  -                  

Walney Community Centre 25,000            -                  -                  -                  

Leisure Centre -                  52,000            700,000         65,000            

Public Buildings 160,000         52,000            700,000         65,000            

Waterfront Gateway Business Centre 87,840            -                  -                  -                  

Town Deal - Marina Village 90,000            177,000         477,000         222,667         

Brownfield Land Release - Marina Village -                  1,519,081      -                  -                  

Industrial & Commercial Property 177,840         1,696,081      477,000         222,667         

Heritage Action Zone 327,391         385,166         57,775            -                  

Accelerated Town Fund 587,380         -                  -                  -                  

Low Carbon Barrow 353,496         1,096,504      -                  -                  

Levelling Up Fund 200,000         4,497,115      12,855,739    38,469            

Town Deal - Learning Quarter 296,667         6,365,000      3,497,000      187,000         

Town Deal - Hubs & Earnse Bay 195,000         624,867         2,094,100      952,700         

Town Deal - Place Development 19,000            311,000         324,167         2,500              

Town Deal - Cycling & Walking 140,000         1,000,000      1,826,667      1,000,000      

Regeneration & Public Realm 2,118,934      14,279,652    20,655,448    2,180,669      

Contingency 15,000            100,000         -                  -                  

Total of Programme 5,870,604      20,940,243    27,531,625    6,245,696      

Capital Financing 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025

£ £ £ £

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,000,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      1,000,000      

Accelerated Town Fund 562,530         -                  -                  -                  

European Structural and Investment Fund 170,653         529,347         -                  -                  

Town Deal 795,667         9,489,117      10,256,851    2,867,367      

Heritage Action Zone 196,435         231,100         34,665            -                  

Cumbria Local Enterprise Partnership 182,843         567,157         -                  -                  

Levelling Up Fund 200,000         4,497,115      11,295,370    -                  

Brownfield Land Release Fund -                  1,519,081      -                  -                  

HRA Major Repairs Reserve 2,183,830      2,161,260      2,161,260      2,161,260      

GF Earmarked Reserves 130,956         516,066         293,110         27,000            

Usable Capital Receipts 447,690         430,000         2,490,369      190,069         

Total of Financing 5,870,604      20,940,243    27,531,625    6,245,696      

 

Page 184

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 5



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement 2022-2023 

 
 
 
 
 

Version Control: 

Document Name: Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 

Version: 22022022 

Author: Director of Resources 

Approved by: Full Council 

Date Approved: March 2022 

Review Date: February  2023 

Page 185

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

 
1 INTRODUCTION 

 
1.1  Background 
 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that 
cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure.  Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with 
cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low risk 
counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, 
providing adequate liquidity initially before considering investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of 
the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning to ensure that the Council 
can meet its capital spending obligations.  This management of longer term cash 
may involve arranging long or short term loans, or using longer term cash flow 
surpluses.  On occasion any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives.  
 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

 
“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of 
the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks.” 

 
1.2  Reporting requirements 
 
The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main reports 
each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and actuals.   
 
Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The first, 
and most important report covers: 
 

 the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 
 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital expenditure is 

charged to revenue over time); 
 the treasury management strategy (how the investments and borrowings are to 

be organised) including treasury indicators; and  
 an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be 

managed). 
 
A treasury management monitoring report – This will update members with the 
progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as necessary, and 
whether the treasury strategy is meeting the strategy or whether any policies require 
revision.  This is incorporated into the quarterly finance reports. 
 

Page 186

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

An annual treasury report – This provides details of a selection of actual prudential 
and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates 
within the strategy. 
 
Scrutiny - The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to Full Council by the Executive Committee. 
 
Capital Strategy - in December 2017, CIPFA issued revised Prudential and 
Treasury Management Codes.  As from 2019-2020, all local authorities are required 
to prepare an additional report, a Capital Strategy report, which is intended to 
provide the following: 
 

• a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services; 

• an overview of how the associated risk is managed; and 
• the implications for future financial sustainability. 

 
The aim of the report is to ensure that all elected members on the Full Council fully 
understand the overall strategy, governance procedures and risk appetite entailed by 
this Strategy. 
  
The Capital Strategy includes capital expenditure, investments and liabilities and 
treasury management in sufficient detail to allow all members to understand how 
stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability and affordability will be 
secured. 
 
1.3  Treasury Management Strategy for 2022-2023 
 
The strategy for 2022-2023 covers two main areas: 
 
Capital issues 

 the capital plans and the prudential indicators; 
 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) strategy. 
 

Treasury management issues 
 the current treasury position; 
 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 
 prospects for interest rates; 
 the borrowing strategy; 
 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 
 debt rescheduling; 
 the investment strategy; 
 creditworthiness policy; and 
 policy on use of external service providers. 

 
These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the 
CIPFA Prudential Code, MHCLG MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and  MHCLG Investment Guidance. 

Page 187

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

1.4 Treasury management consultants 
 
The Council uses Link Asset Services, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors; they also provide member training. 
 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon our external service providers.  
 
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. 
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.  
 
2 THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS 2021-2022 to 2024-2025 
 
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans. 

 
2.1  Capital expenditure 
 
This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, 
both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.  The table 
below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans are 
being financed by capital or revenue resources.  Any shortfall of resources would 
result in a funding borrowing need:  
 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

HRA 2.184 2.161 2.161 2.161

General Fund 3.686 18.779 25.370 4.084

Total 5.870 20.940 27.531 6.245

Financed by:

Capital receipts 0.447 0.430 2.490 0.190

Capital grants and contributions 3.108 17.832 22.587 3.867

Reserves 2.315 2.678 2.454 2.188

Total 5.870 20.940 27.531 6.245

Net financing need for the year 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000

Capital expenditure

 
 
2.2  The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 
 
The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which 

Page 188

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital resources.  It is essentially a 
measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing need.  Any capital expenditure above, 
which has not immediately been paid for, will increase the CFR.  The CFR does not 
increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a statutory annual 
revenue charge which broadly reduces the borrowing need in line with each assets 
life.  The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 
 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

HRA 16.391 15.574 14.758 13.941

General Fund 18.619 18.093 17.555 17.239

Total 35.010 33.667 32.313 31.180

Movement (1.336) (1.343) (1.354) (1.133)

Represented by:

MRP/VRP & other financing movements (1.336) (1.343) (1.354) (1.133)

Capital financing requirement

 
 
2.3 Core funds and expected investment balances  
 
The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance capital 
expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget will have an 
ongoing impact on investments unless resources are supplemented each year from 
new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed below are estimates of the year-end 
balances for each resource and anticipated day-to-day cash flow balances. 
 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

Fund balances/reserves  20.32  15.89  14.46  14.40  13.94 

Capital receipts  2.71  2.49  2.28  0.00  0.00 

Provisions  0.60  0.60  0.60  0.60  0.60 

Other; capital grants unapplied  5.34  4.59  4.03  4.03  4.03 

Total core funds  28.97  23.57  21.37  19.03  18.57 

External investments  18.00  24.50  24.50  20.00  20.00 

Working capital  10.97  2.99  3.20  2.64  2.71 

Under/(over) borrowing  0.87  0.53  0.19  (0.16)  (0.30) 

Expected investments  29.84  28.02  27.89  22.48  22.41 

Year End Resources

 
 
3 BORROWING 

 
The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service 
activity of the Council.   
 
The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is organised in 
accordance with the the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is 
available to meet this service activity.  This will involve both the organisation of the 
cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of approporiate 

Page 189

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

borrowing facilities.  The strategy covers the relevant treasury/prudential indicators, 
the current and projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy. 
 
3.1  Current portfolio position 
 
The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31 March 2021, with forward projections 
is summarised below. The table shows the actual external debt (the treasury 
management operations), against the underlying capital borrowing need (the Capital 
Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.  
 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m £m

At 1st April 36.479 35.479 34.479 33.479 32.479

Expected change (1.000) (1.000) (1.000) (1.000) (1.000)

Gross debt at 31st March 35.479 34.479 33.479 32.479 31.479

Capital financing requirement 36.345 35.010 33.667 32.313 31.180

Under/(over) borrowed 0.866 0.531 0.188 (0.166) (0.299)

External debt

 
 
Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure that 
the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that the 
Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, 
exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2022-2023 and the following two financial years.  This allows 
some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that 
borrowing is not undertaken for revenue purposes. 
 
The Director of Resources reports that the Council complied with this prudential 
indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  This 
view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in 
this budget report.  
 
3.2  Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 
 
The operational boundary - this is the limit beyond which external debt is not 
normally expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the 
CFR, but may be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt. 
 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Total 38.9 37.2 36.3 35.4

Operational boundary

 
 
The authorised limit for external debt - a further key prudential indicator 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing.  This represents a limit 
beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by 
the full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could 
be afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term: 

Page 190

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

 
1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 

Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the 
total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this power 
has not yet been exercised. 

 
2. The Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit: 

 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Total 55.7 54.9 55.0 55.2

Authorised limit

 
 

3.3  Borrowing strategy  
 
The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that 
the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully 
funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash 
flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy is prudent as investment 
returns are low and counterparty risk is relatively high. 
 
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be 
adopted with the 2022-2023 treasury operations.  The Director of Resources will 
monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to 
changing circumstances: 

 
 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long and short 

term rates (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse into 
recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings will be 
postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding into short term 
borrowing will be considered. 

 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in long 
and short term rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from a 
greater than expected increase in world economic activity or a sudden 
increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-appraised with 
the likely action that fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates were 
still relatively cheap. 

 
Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision making body at the next 
available opportunity. 
 
The Council will maintain the current prudent borrowing strategy to support the 
approach of minimising counterparty risk. 
 
3.4 Policy on borrowing in advance of need  
 
The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to 
profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in 

Page 191

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, 
and will be considered carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated 
and that the Council can ensure the security of such funds.  
 
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting. 
 
3.5  Debt rescheduling 
 
As short term borrowing rates will be considerably cheaper than longer term fixed 
interest rates, there may be potential opportunities to generate savings by switching 
from long term debt to short term debt.  However, these savings will need to be 
considered in the light of the current treasury position and the size of the cost of debt 
repayment (premiums incurred).  
 
The reasons for any rescheduling to take place will include:  
 

 the generation of cash savings and/or discounted cash flow savings; 
 helping to fulfil the treasury strategy; 
 enhance the balance of the portfolio (amend the maturity profile and/or the 

balance of volatility). 
 
Consideration will also be given to identify if there is any residual potential for making 
savings by running down investment balances to repay debt prematurely as short 
term rates on investments are likely to be lower than rates paid on current debt.   
 
All rescheduling will be reported to the Executive Committee, at the earliest meeting 
following its action. 
 
4 ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 
  
4.1  Investment policy 
 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the  revised CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance 
Notes 2017 (“the CIPFA TM Code”).  The Council’s investment priorities will be 
security first, liquidity second, then return. 
 
In accordance with the above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA, and in order to 
minimise the risk to investments, the Council applies minimum acceptable credit 
criteria in order to generate a list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also 
enables diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings 
used to monitor counterparties are the Short Term and Long Term ratings.   
 
Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is important 
to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro 
basis and in relation to the economic and political environments in which institutions 

Page 192

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

operate. The assessment will also take account of information that reflects the 
opinion of the markets. To achieve this consideration the Council will engage with its 
advisors to maintain a monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and 
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.  
 
Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and other 
such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to establish the most 
robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment counterparties. 
 
Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in Section 6 
under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investments categories. Counterparty limits 
will be as set through the Council’s treasury management practices – schedules. 
 
4.2  Creditworthiness policy  
 
The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security of its 
investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key 
consideration.  After this main principle, the Council will ensure that: 
 

 it maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it 
will invest in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with 
adequate security, and monitoring their security.  This is set out in the 
specified and non-specified investment sections below; and 

 it has sufficient liquidity in its investments.  For this purpose it will set 
out procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds 
may prudently be committed.  These procedures also apply to the 
Council’s prudential indicator covering the maximum principal sums 
invested.   

 
The Director of Resources will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the 
following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval 
as necessary.  These criteria are separate to that which determines which types of 
investment instrument are either specified or non-specified as it provides an overall 
pool of counterparties considered high quality which the Council may use, rather 
than defining what types of investment instruments are to be used.   
 
The minimum rating criteria uses the lowest common denominator method of 
selecting counterparties and applying limits.  This means that the application of the 
Council’s minimum criteria will apply to the lowest available rating for any institution.  
For instance, if an institution is rated by two agencies, one meets the Council’s 
criteria, the other does not, then the institution will fall outside the lending criteria.  
Credit rating information is supplied by Sector, our treasury consultants, on all active 
counterparties that comply with the criteria below.  Any counterparty failing to meet 
the criteria would be omitted from the counterparty (dealing) list.  Any rating 
changes, rating watches (notification of a likely change), rating outlooks (notification 
of a possible longer term change) are provided to officers almost immediately after 
they occur and this information is considered before dealing.  For instance, a 

Page 193

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

negative rating watch applying to a counterparty at the minimum Council criteria will 
be suspended from use, with all others being reviewed in light of market conditions.  
 
The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment counterparties (both 
specified and non-specified investments) is: 
 

 Banks 1 - good credit quality – the Council will only use banks which: 
i. are UK banks; and/or 
ii. are non-UK and domiciled in a country which has a minimum 

sovereign long term rating of AA- 
and have, as a minimum, the following Fitch, Moody’s and Standard 
and Poor credit ratings (where rated): 

i. Short term – F1, P-1,A-1 
ii. Long term – AA-, Aa3, AA- 

 Banks 2 – Part nationalised UK banks – Lloyds Banking Group and 
Royal Bank of Scotland. These banks can be included if they continue 
to be part nationalised or they meet the ratings in Banks 1 above. 

 Banks 3 – The Council’s own banker for transactional purposes if the 
bank falls below the above criteria, although in this case balances will 
be minimised in both monetary size and time. 

 Building societies.  The Council will use all societies which: 
i. meet the ratings for banks outlined above; 
ii. Have assets in excess of £500 million; 

or meet both criteria. 

 Money market funds 

 UK Government; including gilts and the Debt Management Accounts 
Deposit Facility (DMADF) 

 Local authorities and parish councils 
 
Country and sector considerations - Due care will be taken to consider the 
country, group and sector exposure of the Council’s investments.  In part, the 
country selection will be chosen by the credit rating of the sovereign state in Banks 1 
above.  In addition: 
 

 no more than 10% will be placed with any non-UK country at any time; 

 limits in place above will apply to a group of companies; 

 sector limits will be monitored regularly for appropriateness. 
 
Use of additional information other than credit ratings - Additional requirements 
under the Code require the Council to supplement credit rating information.  Whilst 
the above criteria relies primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a pool 
of appropriate counterparties for officers to use, additional operational market 
information will be applied before making any specific investment decision from the 
agreed pool of counterparties.  This additional market information (for example 
Credit Default Swaps, negative rating watches/outlooks) will be applied to compare 
the relative security of differing investment counterparties. 
 

Page 194

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

Time and monetary limits applying to investments - The time and monetary limits 
for institutions on the Council’s counterparty list are set out in Section 6. 
 
4.3  Country limits 
 
The Council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties from 
countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch.  This list will be 
added to, or deducted from, by officers should ratings change in accordance with this 
policy.  UK counterparties are preferred and may represent 100% of investments. 
 
4.4  Investment strategy 
 
In-house funds - Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and 
cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. rates for 
investments up to 12 months).    
 
Investment returns expectations - The revenue budget for 2022-2023 is based on 
achieving a weighted average return of 0.3%. 
 
Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater 
than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements 
and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are based on the 
availability of funds after each year-end. 
 
The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: 
 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

£m £m £m £m

Maximum principal sums invested >364 & 365 days 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0  
 
There are no current investments as at 22 February 2022 in excess of 1 year. 
 
For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its overnight 
deposit account in order to benefit from the compounding of interest. 
 
4.5  Investment risk benchmarking 
 
These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so they may be breached 
from time to time, depending on movements in interest rates and counterparty 
criteria.  The purpose of the benchmark is that officers will monitor the current and 
trend position and amend the operational strategy to manage risk as conditions 
change.   
 
Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current portfolio, 
when compared to these historic default tables, is: 
 

 0.1% historic risk of default when compared to the whole portfolio. 
 

Page 195

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

Liquidity – in respect of this area the Council seeks to maintain: 
 

 Liquid short term deposits of at least £2m available with a week’s notice. 

 Weighted average life benchmark is expected to be 0.15 years, with a 
maximum of 0.75 years. 

 
Yield - local measures of yield benchmark: 
 

 Investments – internal returns above the 7 day LIBID rate 
 
4.6  End of year investment report 
 
At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as 
part of its Annual Treasury Report.  
 
5 THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2021-2022 – 

2024-2025 AND MRP STATEMENT 
 
5.1 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 
 
The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund 
capital spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue 
provision - MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary 
payments if required (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).   
 
MHCLG regulations have been issued which require the full Council to approve an 
MRP Statement in advance of each year.  A variety of options are provided to 
councils, so long as there is a prudent provision.  The Council is recommended to 
approve the following MRP Statement. 

 
For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 or which in the future will be 
Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP policy will be: 

 

 The MRP charge in relation to capital expenditure incurred prior to 1 April 
2008 where the expenditure was funded by either supported or unsupported 
borrowing will be 1/50th of the balance remaining at the 31st March 2016. 

 
From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing the MRP policy will be: 

 

 Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the assets, in 
accordance with the proposed regulations (this option must be applied for any 
expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation Direction) (option 3). 

 
These options provide for a reduction in the borrowing need over approximately the 
asset’s life.  

 
There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but there 
is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made (although there are 

Page 196

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

transitional arrangements in place).  The HRA Business Plan under self-financing 
includes a voluntary revenue provision to repay the debt on the account. 
 
MRP Overpayments - A change introduced by the revised MHCLG MRP Guidance 
was the allowance that any charges made over the statutory minimum revenue 
provision (MRP), voluntary revenue provision or overpayments, can, if needed, be 
reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.  In order for these sums to 
be reclaimed for use in the budget, this policy must disclose the cumulative 
overpayment made each year.  Up until the 31 March 2021 the total overpayments 
were £4.95m. 

 
5.2  Affordability prudential indicators 
 
The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the 
affordability of the capital investment plans.   These provide an indication of the 
impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances.  The Council 
is asked to approve the following indicators: 
 
5.3  Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
 
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term 
obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. 
 

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-2024 2024-2025

Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

HRA 15% 15% 14% 14% 14%

General Fund 5% 13% 11% 8% 7%

Ratio

 
 
The estimates of financing costs include current and known commitments. 
 
5.4 Maturity structure of borrowing 
 
These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large fixed rate sums 
falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits.  The Council 
is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits: 
 

Maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 20%

12 months to 1 year 0% 20%

2 years to 5 years 0% 50%

5 years to 10 years 0% 75%

10 years and above 0% 100%  
 

Page 197

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

Maturity structure of variable rate borrowing Lower Upper

Under 12 months 0% 30%

12 months to 1 year 0% 30%

2 years to 5 years 0% 30%

5 years to 10 years 0% 30%

10 years and above 0% 30%  
 

5.5 Control of interest rate exposure 
 
Upper limits on variable interest rate exposure; this identifies a maximum limit for 
variable interest rates based upon the debt position net of investments  
 
Upper limits on fixed interest rate exposure; this is similar to the previous indicator 
and covers a maximum limit on fixed interest rates. 
 

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate

£m £m £m £m

Upper limit for fixed interest rate exposure on debt 39.3 38.9 37.2 36.3

Upper limit for variable interest rate exposure on debt 12.0 12.0 12.0 11.0

Interest rate exposures

 
 
6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT PRACTICE (TMP1) – Credit and Counterparty 

Risk Management 
 
Specified investments – These investments are sterling investments of not more 
than one-year maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the 
Council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are 
considered low risk assets where the possibility of loss of principal or investment 
income is small.  These would include sterling investments which would not be 
defined as capital expenditure with: 
 
1. The UK Government (such as the Debt Management Account deposit facility, UK 

treasury bills or a gilt with less than one year to maturity). 
 
2. A local authority, parish council or community council. 
 
3. Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market funds) that have been 

awarded a high credit rating by a credit rating agency. For category 4 this covers 
pooled investment vehicles, such as money market funds, rated F1, P-1, A-1 by 
Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating agencies. 

 
4. A body that is considered of a high credit quality (such as a bank or building 

society.  For category 5 this covers bodies with a minimum short term rating of 
F1, P-1, A-1 (or the equivalent) as rated by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or 
Fitch rating agencies.   

 
Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the Council has set additional 
criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies: 

Page 198

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

 

  
Fitch long term rating 

or equivalent 
Time limit 

Money 
limit 

Limit 1: long term AA- 5 years £2m 

Limit 2: short term Council’s 
own bank 

F1 1 year £10m 

Limit 3: short term banks & 
building societies 

F1 or institution with 
£500m+ of assets 

1 year £4m 

Other institutions limit - 1 year £5m 

DMADF AAA 1 year Unlimited 

Local authorities - 1 year £5m 

 
Non-specified investments – are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined as 
specified above).  The identification and rationale supporting the selection of these 
other investments and the maximum limits to be applied are set out in the following 
table.   
 
Non specified investments would include any sterling investments with: 
 

 Non Specified Investment Category Limit (£ or %) 

a.  

Gilt edged securities with a maturity of greater than one 
year.  These are Government bonds and so provide the 
highest security of interest and the repayment of principal 
on maturity. The value of the bond may rise or fall before 
maturity and losses may accrue if the bond is sold before 
maturity. 

£5m 
5 years 

b.  The Council’s own banker – HSBC £10m 

c.  

Building societies not meeting the basic security 
requirements under the specified investments.  The 
operation of some building societies does not require a 
credit rating, although in every other respect the security of 
the society would match similarly sized societies with 
ratings.  The Council may use such building societies 
which have a minimum asset size of £500m, but will 
restrict these types of investments to £4m and a time limit 
of 1 year. 

£4m 
1 year 

d.  

Any bank or building society that has a minimum long 
term credit rating of AA-, for deposits with a maturity of 
greater than one year (including forward deals in excess of 
one year from inception to repayment). 

£4m 
1 year 

e.  

Any non-rated subsidiary of a credit rated institution 
included in the specified investment category.  These 
institutions will be included as an investment category 
subject to the parent bank having the necessary credit 
rating to qualify in its own right. 

£5m 
1 year 

f.  Local authorities  
£5m 

1 year 

 

Page 199

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

The monitoring of investment counterparties - The credit rating of counterparties 
will be monitored regularly.  The Council receives credit rating information (changes, 
rating watches and rating outlooks) from Link Asset Services as and when ratings 
change, and counterparties are checked promptly.  On occasion ratings may be 
downgraded when an investment has already been made.  The criteria used are 
such that a minor downgrading should not affect the full receipt of the principal and 
interest.  Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria will be removed from the list 
immediately by the Director of Resources, and if required new counterparties which 
meet the criteria will be added to the list. 
 
Accounting treatment of investments - The accounting treatment may differ from 
the underlying cash transactions arising from investment decisions made by this 
Council.  To ensure that the Council is protected from any adverse revenue impact, 
which may arise from these differences, we will review the accounting implications of 
new transactions before they are undertaken. 
 
7 TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 
(i) Full Council 
 

 approval of/amendments to the Council’s adopted clauses, treasury management 
policy statement and treasury management practices; 

 budget consideration and approval; 
 approval of the division of responsibilities; 
 approval of annual strategy. 

 
(ii) Executive Committee 
 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations; 

 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 
appointment; 

 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making 
recommendations to the Full Council. 

 
8 THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER 
 
The S151 (responsible) officer 
 

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 
 submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 
 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 
 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

Page 200

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



 
Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2022-2023 
 
 

 

 recommending the appointment of external service providers; 
 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, 

non-financial investments and treasury management, with a long term ensuring 
that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long 
term and provides value for money; 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority; 

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure 
on non-financial assets and their financing; 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not 
undertake a level of investing which exposes the authority to an excessive level of 
risk compared to its financial resources; 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, 
monitoring and ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and 
long term liabilities; 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including 
material investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial 
guarantees; 

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk 
exposures taken on by an authority; 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally 
provided, to carry out the above; 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non 
treasury investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following: 

 
o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and 

risk management criteria for any material non-treasury investment 
portfolios; 

o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), 
including methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and 
success of non-treasury investments;          

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), 
including a statement of the governance requirements for decision making 
in relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to ensure that 
appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision 
making; 

o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), including 
where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 

o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the 
relevant knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will 
be arranged. 

Page 201

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee – 9 March 2022 

Council – 25 March 2022 

Annual Review of the Constitution

 
   

Report from:   Monitoring Officer 

Report Author:  Debbie Storr, Head of Legal and Governance 

Wards:    All 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

1.1  To consider suggested changes to the Constitution as part of the annual review 

process. 

  

2.0  Recommendation  

 Executive Committee and Council are asked to   

1) To note the annual review of the Constitution; 

2) To consider clarification to the membership of  Overview & Scrutiny as 

set out in paragraph 3.4; 

3) To approve the revisions to the Financial Regulations and Contract 

Standing Orders as attached at appendix 1. 

4) To agree the additional revisions to the Constitution and Officer 

Delegation Scheme and update to the Planning Panel references as 

detailed in paragraphs 3.6-3.8 of the report and Appendix 2 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 One of the duties of the Monitoring Officer is to monitor and review on an annual 

basis, the operation of the Constitution to ensure that its aims and principles are 

given full effect. 

 

3.2 In undertaking the review, the Monitoring Officer has sought the views of 

Members, Officers, parish councils and also the public through the Council’s 

website, on any issues which they wished to raise with regard to the Constitution. 

 

3.3  Some minor revisions were made to the Officer and Proper Officer delegations 

through Council in January 2022. 

 

3.4 A Member response to the consultation has asked for consideration of 
membership of Overview and Scrutiny Committee and queries whether the 

Page 203

Agenda Item 14



Leader of Council should sit on scrutiny.  The existing make up confirms that 
“one Executive Committee member from each political group may be appointed 
to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  All other Councillors qualify to sit on 
the Committees and any sub-committees established”.  Members are asked to 
consider whether they would wish to clarify within the constitution that the Leader 
of Council should not sit on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. If so it is 
recommended that this take effect from the start of the new municipal year. 

 

3.5  As part of the ongoing procurement review, the Financial Regulations and 

Contracts Standing Orders have also been revised following consultation with 

Managers and Procurement Officers.  The revision has also incorporated the 

requirements covering the impact on accounting of Barrow Forward Limited.  

Suggested changes to financial regulations and new contract standing orders are 

shown at Appendix 1, and if accepted it is proposed that these will come into 

effect from 1 April 2022 with training for appropriate officers being undertaken 

during March. 

 

3.6 In approving these changes it is proposed that Article 12.04 authentication of 

documents be revised to edit the value from £100,000 to £150,000 which need 

signature of two officers or to be made under the common seal attested by at 

least one officer. 

 

3.7 The revisions to the contract standing orders require some further clarification 

adding through the delegation scheme and additional revisions to those taken in 

January 2022 have been incorporated as track changes as shown at Appendix 

2. 

 

3.8 Further additions to the delegation scheme are to amend the delegation to the 

Head of Development Management to include additional delegations to the 

Principal Planning Officers to facilitate signing of delegated decisions in the 

absence of the Head of Development Management. 

 There is also a need to edit the reference to Planning Panel in terms of being 

consulted on urgent enforcement action.  Previous delegations to the Head of 

Development Management have made clear that the exercise of enforcement 

action is within existing delegations, and the Panel reference should be amended 

to reflect the current position and avoid any ambiguity.  The Planning Panel 

reference at 14 in the code of conduct for elected members and officers dealing 

with planning matters is therefore proposed to be amended to show; 

 The Panel will be consulted on the following issues.  

(i) Whether relevant applications should be delegated to the Head of 

Development Management or be determined by the Planning Committee.  

(ii) Other items relating to the Planning Service. 

 

3.9 Members are asked to approve the recommendations within this report following 

which the Constitution will be amended to take account of any changes approved 

Page 204

Agenda Item 14



by Council and all Members will receive a web-link to the revised Constitution at 

the start of the new municipal year. 

 

4.0 Consultation  

4.1 As stated in paragraph 3.2, Members, officers, parish councils and the public 

have been consulted as part of the review.  

4.2 Audit and Governance Committee have also had overview of the financial 

regulations and contract standing orders. 

 

5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 An alternative option is not to approve the changes as proposed, or make 

amendments to the proposals. 

 

6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The Constitution underpins the Council’s decision making processes in achieving 

the aims and objectives of the Council’s priorities. 

 

7.0 Implications  

Financial, Resources and Procurement  

7.1.1 The revised contract procedure rules are intended to strengthen the Council’s 

procurement processes and procedures and revisions have been made following 

external review and have regard to national context and best practice elsewhere.  

Training is being provided to officers on the revisions. 

 

Legal  

7.1.2 There are no legal implications arising from this report.   

 

Local Government Reorganisation 

7.1.3 There are no issues to raise. 

 

Equality and Diversity  

7.2 These revisions raise no equality or diversity issues. 
 

Risk 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

That the Constitution is not fit 

for purpose 

Challenge to decision 

making processes 

Regular review and 

updating to reflect aims 

and principles and 

ensure that it meets any 

legislative requirements 

 

Page 205

Agenda Item 14



Contact Officers  

dstorr@barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

Appendices attached to this Report 

 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Proposed revisions to Financial 

Regulations and revised Contract 

Standing Orders 

2 Proposed revisions to Delegation Scheme 

 

 

Background documents available 

 

 

1. Constitution www.barrowbc.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 206

Agenda Item 14

mailto:dstorr@barrowbc.gov.uk


 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 1 

 

Part 3(2) 
Responsibility for Functions 

Scheme of Delegations to Officers 
 

 CONTENT PAGE 

1 Guidance and Background 2 

2 General Delegations 

 General delegations 3 

 Authorisations 4 

 Other provisions regarding general delegations 4 

3 Officer Delegations 

Section A Chief Executive, Directors and Deputy Director of People and Place 5 

Section B Head of Legal and Governance 12 

Section C Head of Development Management 14 

Section D Head of Building Control 17 

Section E Head of Public Protection 18 

Section F Head of Programme Management and Climate Change 24 

Section G Collections and Exhibitions Manager 26 

Section H Head of Asset Management  

4 Appointments of Proper Officer & Deputy Proper Officer 29 

5 Organisational Structure 35 

Page 207

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 2 

 

 

Part 1 – Guidance and Background 

 1. Introduction 

1.1  This part of Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council’s (“the Council”) Constitution deals 
with delegations from the Council and its committees to officers of the Council.  
Delegations to committees and sub-committees are set out in Part 3(1) of the 

Council’s Constitution. 

1.2   The scheme aims to provide evidence that the Council (or one of its committees) 
has authorised a particular officer of the Council to take an action or make a 
decision in given circumstances.  
 

1.3 The scheme meets the requirement in Section 100G (2) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 that the Council should maintain a list: (a) specifying those powers of the 
Council which are exercisable by officers of the Council in pursuance of 
arrangements made under the 1972 Act or any other enactment for their discharge 
by those officers; and (b) stating the title of the officer by whom each of the powers 
so specified is exercisable.  

 2. Legislative Framework 

2.1 Section 101(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 empowers the Council to 
delegate certain of its functions to a committee, sub-committee or officer of the 
Council, or to another local authority.  

2.2 Only the body or officer on whom a statutory power has been conferred may 
exercise that power, unless sub-delegation has been expressly authorised by 
words or necessary implications. Section 101(2) of the Local Government Act 1972 
contains such a (limited) express power to sub-delegate. It provides that 
committees are empowered to sub-delegate to sub-committees or to officers, and 
that sub-committees are empowered to sub-delegate to officers, unless the Council 
otherwise directs. 

2.3 In general a delegation by the Council does not imply a parting with authority. The 
Council retains not only the power to revoke the grant but also the power to act 
concurrently on matters within the area of delegated authority (except in so far as 
the Council may already have become bound by an act of its delegate). Section 
101(4) formalises this general position in respect of delegation arrangements made 
by the Council or one of its committees, by providing that such arrangements shall 
not prevent the authority or the committee by whom the arrangements are made 
from exercising those functions (i.e. they retain concurrent power to do so).  

2.4 Legislative provisions prescribe that certain of the Council’s functions may not be 
delegated. These include:  

o levying, or issuing a precept for a rate (as per Section 101(6) of the Local 
Government Act 1972); and  

o functions listed The Local Authorities (Committee System) (England) Regulations 
2012.  

Page 208

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 3 

 

Part 2 – General Delegations 

1. General Delegations  

1.1  The Council delegates: - 
 

1.1.2 In respect of the officers, or the group of officers, named in Part 3 of this scheme, 
the functions described in that part, subject to consultation with the officer named 
in that part, where applicable;  
 

1.1.3  In respect of the appointments as Proper Officer and Deputy Proper Officer in the 
table in Part 4 of this Scheme, the functions mentioned in the first column of that 
table.  

 

1.2  Where the Council, a committee or a sub-committee gives authority for the doing of 
anything the officer designated shall be entitled to take all necessary steps for the 
doing of such thing.  
 

1.3  Where a delegation is made without naming an officer the delegation shall be 
deemed to authorise the Chief Executive or the appropriate Director to take such 
steps. 

 

1.4  The Chief Executive may exercise the powers delegated to any Officer except in 
relation to those functions allocated to the Director of Resources as Chief Financial 
Officer (within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 and the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 Sections 112-114A (unless he or she is 
qualified under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 Section 113)) and to the 
Monitoring Officer (within the meaning of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 Sections 5, 5A).  
 

1.5  The Chief Executive is the Head of the Paid Service. 
 

1.6  The Director of Resources is the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

1.7  The Head of Legal and Governance is the Monitoring Officer. 
 

1.8  In the event that a Head of Service’s post ceases to exist or his or her 
responsibilities are transferred to another Head of Service (as the case may be), 
temporarily or permanently, then the powers given by this Scheme of Delegation 
shall be exercisable by the officer in whose area of responsibility the power falls to 
be exercised.  

 

1.9  Any reference in this Scheme or its Appendix to an Act of Parliament includes 
reference to subordinate legislation made under it and to any modification and/or 
replacement of it or of such subordinate legislation.  

 

1.10  The Scheme of Delegation as revised came into effect on 25th January, 2022 
unless otherwise stated. 

 

1.11  Nothing in this Scheme of Delegation shall prejudice the validity of any actions 
taken by Officers before 25th January, 2022 under any previous scheme. 

Page 209

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 4 

 

2. Authorisations  
 

2.1  Officers to whom functions are delegated under this scheme may not sub-delegate 
those functions. However, where it would be impracticable for all the powers and 
duties conferred on a named person to be performed by that individual, that person 
may authorise officers in their departments to perform tasks, or to carry out specific 
statutory functions under the provisions of relevant legislation, on their behalf.  

 

2.2  Each Officer will ensure that where s/he wishes to authorise officers within her/his 
department to sign documents or perform functions on her/his behalf s/he will:  

 

2.2.1  Where applicable, record that authorisation, naming the officer, the date, tasks 
which that officer is authorised to perform, and including the signature of the 
officer, and retain that record until such a time it is no longer required; and 

 

2.2.2  Where applicable, comply with the requirements of the Council’s Financial 
Regulations and Contract Standing Orders.  

 

2.3  An authorised officer will perform the tasks on behalf of the authorising officer. Any 
decisions taken under this, or any other similar authority, shall remain the 
responsibility of the Authorising Officer and must be taken in the name of that 
Officer.  

 

3. Other provisions regarding general delegation 
 

3.1  Officers shall have delegated powers to make decisions on behalf of the Council in 
respect of those matters that are delegated to them within this scheme. A Director 
may exercise any delegations of an officer, for whom, that Director is responsible, 
in the absence or default of that officer. 

 

3.2  Where a delegation is made but without naming an officer, the delegation shall be 
deemed to be a delegation to the Chief Executive, or to the Director/Deputy 
Director responsible for that service area.  

 

3.3  The Chief Executive, Directors, Deputy Director and Heads of Service delegated to 
under this scheme may authorise officers as explained in paragraph 2 of this Part, 
above with each authorisation being copied to the Monitoring Officer. 

 

3.4  Where a Director/Deputy Director is to be absent for any period, that 
Director/Deputy Director may nominate to the Chief Executive, in writing, another 
officer to act in that capacity during the period of absence.  

 

3.5  The Chief Executive may appoint one or more deputies to exercise his/her 
functions owing to absence or illness and such deputy is or such deputies are 
authorised to exercise the functions of the Chief Executive pursuant to the 
Constitution, Financial Regulations and this Scheme of Delegation except in 
relation to those functions allocated to the Director of Resources as Chief Finance 
Officer (within the meaning of the Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 and the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988 Sections 112-114A (unless he or she is 
qualified under the Local Government Finance Act 1988 Section113)) and to the 
Monitoring Officer (within the meaning of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 Sections 5, 5A) 

Page 210

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 5 

 

Part 3 - Scheme of Officer Delegations 

 Section A 

A. General Principles 

With the exception of the power set out in B.1.1 below the powers delegated to officers 
referred to in this part of the Constitution may only be exercised in accordance with the 
following general principles. 

1. All decisions taken must be in accordance with the approved budget, policy 
framework, financial regulations, contract standing orders, or any other procedure 
rules or requirements of this Constitution 

2. Where, in the opinion of the officer making a delegated decision, that decision is 
likely to be contentious, before taking that decision the officer will consult with the 
relevant Committee Chair or a more senior officer as the case may be. 

3. An officer may, instead of exercising a delegated power, refer the matter to a more 
senior officer or committee or the full Council as appropriate. 

B. General 

1. To the Chief Executive 

1.1 To take such action on behalf of the Council as appears to them necessary in 
circumstances that prevent obtaining the necessary authority from Council or an 
appropriate committee following consultation with the Leader of the Council, or the 
Chair of the committee concerned.  Where the Chief Executive is acting in an 
emergency and it involves spending outside any budgetary provision, then any 
expenditure must be reported to full Council at the first available opportunity. 

1.2 To deal with matters concerned with civic and ceremonial occasions together with 
civic hospitality including authorising at her discretion or on direction from the 
Executive Committee to arrange for the flying of the Union Jack flag over Barrow 
Town Hall on such occasion as may be appropriate and which are not among those 
presently specified. 

1.3 To oversee the discharge of the Employer’s responsibilities associated with the 
safety, health and welfare of persons not in the Council’s employment who may be 
placed at risk by the operation of the authority. 

1.4 To undertake on behalf of the Council negotiations and discussions with trade 
unions and other staff organisations concerned with employees of the Council. 

1.5 The determination of any applications from individuals and organisations using the 
facilities in consultation with the Leader and s.151 Officer. 

1.6 To consider any request for a review by any owner with regards to a decision to 
approve a nomination to the Council’s List of Assets of Community Value. 

1.7 To take all necessary administrative action in connection with the operation of 
elections and electoral administration 

1.8 To make such amendments as may be necessary from time to time to the Barrow-in-
Furness Parliamentary Polling Districts and the Barrow Borough Polling Districts. 

Page 211

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 6 

 

 
2. To the Chief Executive and Directors 
 
2.1 There is delegated to the Chief Executive and to the Directors (“the Officers”) all the 

powers and duties of the Council necessary for the discharge of the Council’s 
functions carried out within the Officer’s Directorate or area of responsibility, 
including day to day management of buildings and services under their control. 

2.2 To take all necessary steps to deliver the services for which they are responsible for 
to incur revenue expenditure within the Council’s budgets, subject to compliance 
with standing orders, financial regulations and any council policy for the time being in 
force. 

2.3 To manage and deal with all people, welfare, inclusivity and training issues (unless 
otherwise covered by the Officer Procedure Rules) including making changes within 
the establishment, within Directorate areas, provided that all decisions are within 
Council policies and approved budgets and within any general HR management 
policies and procedures.  

2.4 For the avoidance of doubt, people, welfare, inclusivity and training issues include 
appointments, promotions, discipline, grievance, early retirement, redundancy, 
leave, additional duties, ex-gratia payments, car allowances and any relevant 
appeals in accordance with HR management policies and procedures (unless 
otherwise covered by the Officer Procedure Rules). 

2.5 The appointment of staff above the NJC scheme but below Assistant Director level 
(as per Executive Committee Decision15.9.21 Minute No. 57). 

2.6 To be responsible for the health, safety and welfare of employees. 

2.7 To implement national agreements, salaries, terms and conditions of employment 
and to undertake negotiations and discussions on industrial relations as appropriate. 

2.8  To appoint staff as Duly Authorised Officers and Inspectors of the Council and 
suitable competent individuals not in the employ of the Council in appropriate 
circumstances. 

2.9 To exercise powers of entry for the purposes of any statutory power insofar as the 
powers relate to the functions entrusted to that Officer. 

2.10 To serve all notices relevant to statutory responsibilities that come within their area 
of responsibility and to take appropriate enforcement action in the event of default by 
persons served with such notices. 

2.11 The imposition of civil penalties under s.126 and Schedule 9 Housing and Planning 
Act 2016, and the application for Banning Orders under Part 2 of the Act and 
Applications for Rent Repayment Orders. 

2.12 Authentication of documents where necessary to any legal procedure or 
proceedings on behalf of the Council. 

2.13 Authorising Letters or Deeds of Postponement under s.156 Housing Act 1985 in 
accordance with the Council’s approved procedure 

Page 212

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 7 

 

2.14 To respond to the government and other consultation bodies following appropriate 
consultation. 

2.15 To take all steps necessary to implement decisions of the Council or its Committees. 

2.16 To consider any representations and objections received from persons on whom 
notices of intent are served under the Redress Scheme for Lettings Agency Works, 
etc. Regulations 2014 and in those cases to authorise final notices, either as set out 
in the notice of intent, in modified form or to withdraw notices. 

2.17 In relation to matters or functions for which the officer concerned is responsible, 
issuing requisitions for information under Section 16 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning 
act 1990 or any similar provision in any other existing or future legislation. 

2.18 To consider and make appointment of consultants. 

2.19 In consultation with the s.151 Officer to agree to act as Accountable Body where the 
project is less than £50,000 in total and satisfies the requirements of the Financial 
Regulations. 

2.20 In the absence of the Chief Executive, the power to make emergency decisions in 
consultation with the relevant Committee Chair or Vice-Chair in their absence 
together with the Leader of the Council. 

2.21 The setting of fees and charges, such fees and charges to be set against the 
Discretionary Income Policy or increased in line with the annual budget proposals. 

3. To Chief Executive, Directors and Heads of Service  
 

3.1 Powers to take any decision on behalf of the Council, not otherwise delegated, 
which can lawfully be delegated to Officers, subject to the decision taker, before 
taking the decision, having taken appropriate steps to consult the Leader and/or 
Chair and if appropriate members of the Committee which would, save for this 
delegated power, have taken the decision. 

4. To the Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer) 

The Council’s Financial Regulations set out in more detail the statutory and non-statutory 
powers of the Director of Resources and the rules within which the financial affairs of the 
Council are administered. 

4.1 The Director of Resources (Section 151 Officer) has the following delegations and 
as set out in the above rules: 

4.2 Properly managing and administering of all the Council’s financial affairs in 
accordance with all statutory requirements, any adopted codes of practice and the 
Council’s Financial Regulations (including any technical adjustments to the Council’s 
approved budgets, or accounts to ensure compliance to safeguard the Council’s 
financial position. 

 

4.3 Preparation of the revenue budget and capital programme; responsibility for the 
overall financial control of the revenue budgets and capital programme of the 
Council.  For subdividing service budgets within the overall budget framework 

Page 213

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 8 

 

according to Council structure and services, having regard to relevant Codes of 
Practice.  For allocating the revenue budgets and capital programme wholly among 
responsible Heads of Service. 

 
4.4 To approve annually a list of expenditure proposals for which revenue budget 

provision had been made in the previous year and for which the particular goods or 
services had not been supplied before the financial year end; and a list of 
expenditure proposals on capital schemes for which provision had been made in the 
capital programme for the previous year but which was under or overspent so that 
supplementary estimates may be considered for the ensuing financial year. 

 
4.5  Where an individual debtor owes the Council no more than £25,000 (Borough 

share), the Director of Resources may approve the write off of that debt where there 
is satisfactory evidence that it is irrecoverable.  In any other case, the debt may be 
written off only with the approval of the Executive Committee.  However, there may 
be occasions when an immediate write off decision above £25,000 is necessary, for 
example at year end, to enable the completion of the final accounts within the 
statutory timescale.  In such cases the Director of Resources will have authority to 
approve a maximum Business Rate write off of no more than £62,500. 

 

4.6  Treasury management; the Director of Resources is responsible for all investment, 
borrowing and leasing undertaken in the name of the Council.  Preparation of the 
annual Treasury Management Policy Statement, Treasury Management Strategy, 
Investment Strategy, Prudential Indicators including borrowing limits, and ensure 
compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the 
Council’s Treasury Management Policy Statement. 

 

4.7 Preparation of an annual Capital Strategy. 
 

4.8 Maintaining an effective Internal Audit service. 
 

4.9 To determine the Council Tax Base, calculating the Council Tax Requirement, 
calculating the Council Tax as required by legislation; by Parish and by Band.  The 
award of mandatory or discretionary, exemptions, disregards and discounts.  Billing, 
collection and recovery of Council Tax due. 

 

4.10  To apply any applicable or relevant changes in the Housing Benefit Regulations to 
the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme.  Determining, assessing, awarding and 
paying Housing Benefit and Council Tax Support. 

 

4.11 To determine the Non-Domestic Rate Base. Dealing with all matters relating to the 
Business Rate Retention Scheme and agency arrangements, including billing, 
collection, recovery and the award of mandatory or discretionary, exemptions and 
reliefs.  Determining membership of the Cumbria Business Rate Pool. 

 

4.12 Payment of precept demands. 
 

4.13 To administer, bill, collect and enforce levies arising under a Business Improvement 
District (BID) Scheme.  Payment of the levy collected to the BID. 

 

4.14 To determine all arrangements for the collection, recording, payment and recovery of 
VAT. 

 

Page 214

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 9 

 

4.15 To arrange banking, treasury and other financial services, including indemnities, 
guarantees, bonds, securities, leasing arrangements and advances.  Only officers 
personally mandated by the Director of Resources may authorise payments and 
other documents transferring funds out of the Council’s bank accounts. 

 
4.16 Effecting all insurance cover on a corporate basis, through external insurance or 

through internal self-insurance arrangements as the Director of Resources considers 
appropriate.  Negotiating all claims in consultation with relevant Heads of Service 
where necessary, including settlement of those claims uninsured to a limit of 
£10,000. 

 

4.17 The administration of all arrangements for the payment of salaries, pensions, travel 
and subsistence claims and other emoluments to existing and former employees, 
and for all related matters. 

 

4.18 To institute and defend any legal proceedings in respect of any matter relating to the 
functions of the Council (including the service of any notice or order, the exercise of 
any power of entry and engaging the Council’s solicitors) in any case where such 
action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council (including for the 
avoidance of doubt any officer acting under delegated powers) or in any case where 
the Director of Resources considers that such action is necessary to protect the 
Council’s interests. 

4.19 To make changes to the list of employees representing the Council in the 
Magistrates Court as section 151 Officer to deal with local taxation matters. 

4.20 To authorise Covert Surveillance under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
and within the Council’s adopted policy. 

5. To the Director of People and Place 

5.1 Authority to enter into new leases for Council owned shops and garages and for any 
other leases under the Landlord and Tenant Acts up to a period of 25 years.   

5.2 With Management Team, authority to consider and approve applications under the 
Council’s Corporate Community Lettings Policy (Executive Committee 10.3.21). 

5.3 Authority to agree and accept surrenders of leases. 

5.4 Authority to enter into licences in respect of land and property owned by the Council, 
including licences in respect of allotments, garage bases, fun fairs and ice-cream 
vending bases. 

5.5 To make representations as a responsible authority as outlined in the Licensing Act 
2003 for the following considerations: 

 Public Protection Services and  

 Health and Safety at Work 

5.6 To exercise the Council’s functions and enforcement powers under the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014  

Page 215

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 10 

 

5.7 To exercise the Council’s functions under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 
including authority to serve and revoke statutory and fixed penalty notices and to 
take appropriate enforcement action in the event of non-compliance including:  

 

 Provisions with relation to litter 

 Waste Collection 

 Statutory nuisances and clean air 

 Contaminated land  

 Control of stray dogs, including functions imposed or conferred by s.149 (1)  

 Authority to waive kenneling fees either in part or in full where appropriate 
after consideration of the social implications of each case. 
 

5.8 To exercise the Council’s functions under the Traffic Management Act 2004 and 
relevant Traffic Regulation Orders, including cancellation of excess charge notices in 
accordance with the guidelines laid down. 

5.9 Authority to deal with all matters related to the Landlord and Tenant Act regarding 
Barrow Market, including rent reviews and variations, including any varying or 
waiving of rents, lease renewals, notices to quit and landlord approvals, where 
appropriate and where there is a social or economic benefit to the Borough in doing 
so. 

5.10 Management and enforcement of Market Tenancy conditions including use of legal 
remedies to deal with breaches by current and former tenants. 

5.11 The management of all stock within the Council’s Housing Revenue Account to be 
exercised in accordance with all relevant legislation and the Council’s agreed policy. 

5.12 Management and enforcement of tenancy conditions, including use of legal 
remedies to remedy breaches and to take action to recover debts outstanding with 
regards to former Council tenants, including use of legal redress. 

5.13 To authorise adaptations for disabled tenants up to the Council agreed limit 
(currently £40,000) 

5.14 Authority, in consultation with the Head of Legal and Governance, to defend the 
Council against any legal claims made against it in connection with the management 
of the Council’s housing stock, for example disrepair. 

5.15 To ensure applications to waive repayments of discount under the Right to Buy are 
dealt with expediently and in a confidential manner, delegation to consider and 
decide on such applications after consultation with the Chair of the Executive 
Committee and s.151 Officer. 

5.16 To agree the disposal and sale of small ad-hoc parcels of land on Council Housing 
Land where they are adjacent to and can be incorporated into adjoining residential 
belonging to the prospective purchase in accordance with agreed policy up to a 
value of £20,000. The authorisation includes instructing a conveyancing solicitor to 
transfer the legal title of the property. (Note: appeal through the Housing 
Management Forum if request is declined). 

5.17 Fulfilment of the Council’s statutory duties with regards to homeless persons. 

5.18 To hear and determine homelessness appeals 

Page 216

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 11 

 

5.19 making decisions re waiving repayment of discount under the Right to Buy after 
consultation with the Chair of the Executive Committee and s.151 Officer. 

5.20 To approve or reject nominations for inclusion on the List of Assets of Community 
Value under s.88 of the Localism Act 2011. 

5.21 The setting of the following fees and charges, where discretionary, to be set against 
the Discretionary Income Policy: 

 

(a) Land Charge fees  
(b) The setting of charges for the Council’s Ordnance Survey Plan printing 

service. 
(c) To agree fees and charges for pre-application planning advice. 
(d) To set and review fees for charging for Environmental Information. 
(e) To set additional charges and future fees for discretionary activities against 

the Discretionary Income Policy. 
 

5.22 To formally enter into Planning Performance Agreements; agree any subsequent 
variations or amendments to an approved Planning Performance Agreement; and 
secure bespoke fees associated with any Planning Performance Agreements 
(Minute No. 22 Executive Committee 8th July, 2020 refers). 

 
5.23 Authority, in consultation with the Chair of Executive Committee to put in place the 

necessary arrangements to facilitate the establishment, governance requirements 
and ongoing control of the Local Authority Trading Company for the delivery of 
Leisure Services (Minute No. 117 Council 21st April, 2021 refers). 

 

6. To the Deputy Director of People and Place 

6.1 Authority to exercise any power delegated to her Director in this Section of Part 3 
that relates to her Directors’ area of responsibility 

7. To the Heads of Service 

7.1 Authority to enter into contracts in accordance with the contract standing orders 
within the Council’s Constitution within agreed Management guidance limits. 

Page 217

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 12 

 

 

 Section B 

 

To the Head of Legal and Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
 
1.1 To be responsible for the conduct of all legal and quasi-legal proceedings entered 

into by the Council including the appointment of external Solicitors, Counsel and 
professional witnesses as appropriate. 

1.2 Instituting legal proceedings on behalf of the Council and representing the Council 
before any Court, Tribunal, Inquiry or other hearing. 

1.3 In consultation with the relevant Director, to take action, including prosecution in 
respect of any breach of legislation for which the Council, or an officer of the 
Council, is the responsible enforcement authority and it is in the interest of the 
Council and in the public interest to do so. 

1.4 In consultation with the relevant Director, to issue civil proceedings in any 
appropriate Court or Tribunal for the recovery of a financial payment, possession or 
repossession or property, or to seek any other appropriate remedy. 

1.5 To respond to all proceedings of a legal or quasi-legal nature issued against the 
Council in consultation with the s.151 Officer, to settle claims up to a maximum of 
£10,000 where there is a legal liability on the Council.  

1.6 The preparation and completion of documents required to give effect to decisions of 
the Council, its committees or sub-committees or officers acting under delegated 
authority. 

1.7 To serve any notices required under contract not otherwise delegated to the Chief 
Executive or a Director and to take appropriate enforcement action in the event of 
default by persons served with such notices. 

1.8 To approve applications for anti-social behaviour orders either by the Police or by 
the Council (This delegation is also with the Director of People and Place) 

1.9 Following consultation with the Chair of the Council, alter the agreed starting times 
of Council meetings if the volume of business to be transacted appears to warrant 
change. 

1.10 To take such action as is delegated to them under the Council’s Standards 
Arrangements 

1.11 In consultation with the Independent Person, the power to grant dispensations up to 
a maximum of 4 years in the following circumstances: 

 That he/she considers that without the dispensation the number of persons 
prohibited from participating in any particular business would be so great a 
proportion of body transacting the business as to impede the transaction of the 
business 

 That, without the dispensation, the representation of different political groups on 
the body transacting any particular business would be so upset as to alter the 
likely outcome of any vote relating to the business 

Page 218

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 13 

 

1.12 To respond on behalf of the Council, in consultation with the Chair of Audit and 
Governance, to national reviews and consultations on standards related issues. 

1.13 To administer the Members’ Allowances Scheme. 

1.14 To give effect to the wishes of the Political Group Leaders in relation to the 
appointment of Members to Committees and Sub-Committees pursuant to Section 
16, Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

1.15 To authorise Covert Surveillance under the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 
and within the Council’s adopted policy. 

Page 219

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 14 

Section C 

Head of Development Management 

Delegations Exercising of 
Other Delegations 

1. To determine all applications for planning consent,
advertisement consent, and listed building consent except:-

i. Where the determination or observation would be contrary to
current national guidance, the provisions of an approved
Development Plan or other stated adopted Council policies.

ii. When the application is classed as a Major application in
accordance with government guidance, but excluding
subsequent amendments whether Material or Non material.

iii. Where the determination would be contrary to a
recommendation of a Statutory Consultee that could not be
addressed via a suitable condition or revision as agreed with
the consultee.

iv. Where the application affects Council owned assets (in the
interests of transparency).

v. In the case of householder development, where the
application generates more than 3 written material planning
comments from neighbours or other interested parties
(comments from the same address count as 1) prior to
determination or within 21 days of their publication in the
press, or the despatch of a written consultation which would
be contrary to the prospective decision. Where 1- 3 material
comments are received the application shall be determined in
consultation with the Planning Panel.

vi. Where any Member notifies the Planning Manager or the
Case Officer in writing (email or hard copy) within 21 days of
the despatch of the weekly list of planning applications that
he or she wishes the application to be referred to the
Planning Committee for determination, unless the Member is
satisfied by attending the Planning Panel and considering the
Officer recommendations. (A pro forma is provided for this
purpose with each copy of the weekly list of planning
applications). Each Member should provide details of the
planning consideration(s) for such request.

vii. Where there is a request within the statutory determination
period to address the Committee

viii. Where the applicant is an elected Member.
ix. Where the applicant is employed in the Development

Services section, or is a close family member of such,
(defined as spouse, parent, sibling or child of an employee)

x. Where the Director of People and Place is of the view that the
application or matter should be referred to the Planning

The Principal 
Planning Officers 
have authority to 
act in the absence of 
the Head of 
Development 
Management in 
signing non  
major decision 
notices (in 
consultation with 
relevant case officer) 

Page 220

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 15 

 

Committee for determination. 
 

2. To make observations on all statutory and other notifications 
including consultations on County Matter applications except 
where such applications appear contrary to the Development 
Plan or national policy in which case the Panel shall be 
consulted. 

3. To determine all applications and consultations submitted 
under the relevant Hazardous Substances Regulations. 

4. To determine all applications for Screening and Scoping 
Opinions submitted under the relevant EIA Regulations 

5. To determine all applications subsequently found to consist of 
works that are Permitted Development 

6. To determine all applications pertaining to Prior Approvals 
and Prior Notifications (but where 3 written material planning 
representations are received from more than 3 neighbouring 
properties, then in consultation with the Planning Panel)  

7. To determine all applications submitted under the Larger 
Homes Extension legislation (but where written material 
representations are received, in consultation with the 
Planning Panel) 

8. To determine any matters when Reserved or made the 
subject of conditions in a Planning Consent, or any material 
or non-material amendments to that consent. 

9. To determine all applications for works to trees, including 
felling, pruning and requirements to replant, subject to a Tree 
Preservation Order 

10. To exercise the powers and duties of the Council under 
Sections 211 to 214 of the Town and Country Planning Act, 
1990 insofar as they relate to responding to notifications of 
intention to fell trees in Conservation Areas and to compiling 
a register under Section 214 of the said Act.  

11. To authorise making of Tree Preservation Orders and confirm 
unopposed Tree Preservation Orders under s.198 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) and the 
Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) 
Regulations 2012. 

12. To review the Planning Authority’s Local Validation Criteria, 
undertake public consultation, and revise the criteria as 
necessary. 

13. The service of notices for the obtaining of information under 
Section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976, and section 330 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990, or any amendments or re-
enactments thereof, as to interests in land. 

14. To exercise the powers of entry as set out in s.196A, 196B, 
214B, 214C, 214D, 324 and 325 Town and Country Planning 
Act 1990 (as amended) and sections 88, 88A and 88B of the 
Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(as amended) and s.74 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 
and Regulation 12 of the Hedgerow Regulation s1997 and to 

Page 221

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 16 

 

authorise all other planning officers whose duties require 
such powers. 
 

15. To undertake, after consultation with the Planning Panel any 
necessary enforcement action including the service of a stop 
notice or a Temporary Stop Notice under Section 171E of the 
Planning Act 1990 where such development is in the process 
of being carried out and is considered to be unacceptable. 

16. To serve planning contravention notices, breach of condition 
or stop notice under s.171C, 187A and 183(1) of the Town 
and County Planning Act 1990. 

17. The taking of enforcement action, including the issue of an 
Enforcement Notice under s.172 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

18. Authority to withdraw an Enforcement Notice. 

19. To execute urgent works under s.54 of the Planning Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

20. To service notices under s,215(1) of the Town and County 
Planning 1990 to require proper maintenance of land and to 
take appropriate action in the event of non-compliance with 
any notice. 

21. To determine minor issues falling within the Case Priority 
Assessment List Level 4 of Council’s Enforcement Policy 
Guidance which in the professional judgement of the Head of 
Development Management are of a nature that does not 
require a Member decision.  

22. To determine all applications for Certificates of Lawfulness, 
whether or not subject to representations 

23. To exercise the authority’s functions under Section 225 of the 
Planning Act 1990. 

24. To deal with all, except the most serious cases, that fall into 
case priority assessment list level 1 of the revised Planning 
Enforcement Policy. 

25. To make any non-material amendments or minor changes to 
the Planning Enforcement Document. 

26. To approve within budget provision, work on agreed 
enhancement schemes. 

27. To determine, in consultation with the Planning Panel, the 
issue of remedial notices and to take any necessary action 
arising therefrom in relation to high hedges under Part 8 of 
the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003.  

28. To take any action relating to the protection of important 
hedgerow under The Hedgerows Regulations 1997. 

29. To dispose of planning applications in accordance with the 
Town and Country Planning GDPO 2015 Articles 40 (or any 
subsequent legislation re-enacting or revising this Article). 
 

All decisions are to be in line with the contemporary Code of 
Conduct.  
 

Page 222

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 17 

 

 

 Section D 

Head of Building Control 

Delegations Exercising of 
Other Delegations  

 
1. To be the Council’s representative and to take decisions on 

behalf of the Council under the Safety of Sports Grounds Act, 
1975 and the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of Sports Act 
1986. 

 
2. To deal with all matters (including the serving of notices and the 

institution of legal proceedings) under the provisions of the 
Building Act, 1984 Section 77 (Dangerous Structures) and 
Section 78 (Dangerous Structures – Emergency Measures). 

 
3. To deal with all matters (including the serving of notices and the 

institution of legal proceedings under the provisions of the 
Building Act, 1984 Sections 80, 81 and 82 (Local Authorities’ 
powers concerning demolition). 

 
4. To deal with all Building Regulation applications and matters 

(including the service of notices and the institution of legal 
proceedings) subject to reporting on action taken to the relevant 
Committee on a quarterly basis in relation to any rejection of 
plans, refusal and/or approval or relaxations. 

 
5. To deal with the setting of charges with respect to the Building 

Regulation chargeable functions under the provisions of The 
Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010. 

 
6. To deal with Re-naming and numbering of existing individual 

properties and naming of new streets under the Town 
Improvement Clauses Act 1847. 
 

 
Principal Building 
Control Surveyor  
has authority to     
act in the absence   
of the Head of 
Building Control 
 

Page 223

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 18 

 

 Section E 

Head of Public Protection 

Delegations from Licensing Regulatory Committee 
Exercising of 
Other Delegations  

 

Taxi, Gaming, Food, Miscellaneous Licensing and registration 
functions (other than functions under the Licensing Act 2003 
and Gambling Act 2005) 
 

Determination of Applications 
 

Except where objections have been received; 
 

1. To determine any licence, registration, permission or consent for 
which the Licensing Regulatory Committee is responsible and 
attach to the grant of a licence such conditions as they consider 
reasonably necessary. 

2. To refer such applications to the Licensing Regulatory 
Committee/Sub-Committee which in the opinion of the Head of 
Public Protection should be determined by them. 

3. To institute, defend or participate in any action, including but not 
limited to, enforcement action or legal proceedings in respect of 
any matter relating to the functions (including, where not 
delegated to any other officer, the service of any notice or order 
or the exercise of any power of entry) in any case where such 
action is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Licensing 
Regulatory Committee or any officer acting under delegated 
powers in consultation with the Director of Resources. 

 

“Taxi” Licensing 
 

Private Hire / Hackney Carriage Drivers’ Licences 
 

4. To suspend or revoke a private hire or hackney carriage drivers’ 
licences for: 

 

(i)    Failure to provide such information as the Council considers 
reasonably necessary to enable them to make 
determinations regarding the continued safety and suitability 
of drivers during the term of the licence; 

(ii)   Contravention of any of the conditions of a licence or other 
relevant legislation; or 

(iii) Pursuant to s.61(1)(a) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and s.61 (1)(b) for ‘any 
other reasonable cause’ and to be permitted, where 
practicable in consultation with the Chair or Vice-Chair of 
the Licensing Regulatory Committee, to suspend or revoke 
immediately pursuant to s.61(2B) where it is considered 
necessary in the interest of public safety; 

 

Commercial Services 
Team Leader has 
authority to act in the 
absence of the Head 
of Public Protection 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 224

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 19 

 

 
Private Hire / Hackney Carriage Vehicles’ Licences 
 

5.  To suspend private hire and hackney carriage vehicle licences on 
any of the grounds contained in s.60(1) Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976; and serve any relevant 
notice. 

 

Private Hire / Hackney Carriage Operators’ Licences 
 

6.  To suspend or revoke the licence of an operator on any of the 
grounds contained in s.62(1) Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976; and serve any relevant notice. 

 

Miscellaneous Licensing & Registration 
 
Executive Hire 
 

7.  To determine applications for an Executive Hire Exemption 
Notice permitted under Section 75(3) Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. 

 

Business and Planning Act 2020 
 

8.  To determine applications for pavement licences; to include 
setting the duration of the licence and attach such conditions as 
considered reasonably necessary and to take any necessary 
action in relation to the enforcement and revocation of the 
licence. 

 
Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and 
Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 
 
9.  To determine applications from a relevant person to be included 

on a register of fit and proper persons; to include attaching 
condition(s) as considered reasonably necessary to secure the 
proper management of the site, which may include a condition 
relating to the payment of an annual fee and to take any 
necessary action in relation to the removal from the register, 
enforcement and revocation of a site licence. 

 
 

Delegations from Licensing Committee 
 

 

Functions under the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 
Powers under the Licensing Act 2003 
 

To determine applications for a personal licence where no Police 
objection is made. 
 

To determine applications for a premises licence and a club 
premises certificate where no relevant representation is made. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commercial Services 
Team Leader has 
authority to act in the 
absence of the Head 
of Public Protection 
 

Page 225

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 20 

 

To determine applications for a provisional statement where no 
relevant representation is made. 
 

To determine applications to vary a premises licence or a club 
premises certificate where no relevant representation is made. 
 

To determine applications to vary premises licence/club premises 
certificate by way of a minor variation in all cases. 
 

To suspend a Premises Licence or Club Premises Certificate, for 
non-payment of the Annual Fee. 
 

To revoke a Premises Licence, for non-payment of the Annual Fee. 
 

To cancel a Societies Registration under the Act. 
 

To determine applications to vary the designated premises 
supervisor in cases where there is no Police objection. 
 

To determine all requests to be removed as a designated premises 
supervisor. 
 

To determine applications for the transfer of a premises licence 
where no Police objection is made. 
 

To determine applications for interim authorities where no Police 
objection is made. 
 

To determine whether a representation is irrelevant, frivolous, 
vexatious etc. 
 

To make representations as a Responsible Authority, where 
appropriate, in response to applications. 
 

To classify films which have not already been classified by the 
British Board of Film Classification (delegated to the Commercial 
Services Team Leader in the absence of the Head of Public 
Protection. 
 

To institute, defend or participate in any action or legal proceedings 
in respect of any matter relating to the functions (including, where 
not delegated to any other officer, the service of any notice or order 
or the exercise of any power of entry) in any case where such action 
is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Licensing Committee 
or any officer acting under delegated powers in consultation with the 
Director of Resources. 
 

Powers under the Gambling Act 2005 
 

To act as authorised officer for the purposes of s.304 and Part 15 of 
the Gambling Act 2005. 
 

To determine applications for premises licences where no 
representations have been received or any representations made 
have been withdrawn. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commercial Services 
Team Leader has 
authority to act in the 
absence of the Head 
of Public Protection  
 

Page 226

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 21 

 

 

To determine applications for a variation to a licence where no 
representations have been received or any representations made 
have been withdrawn. 
 

To determine applications for the transfer of a licence where no 
representations have been received from the Commission. 
 

To determine applications for a provisional statement where no 
representations have been received or any representations made 
have been withdrawn. 
 

To determine applications for club gaming/club machine permits 
where no representations have been received or any 
representations made have been withdrawn. 
 

To determine applications for other permits (up to 4 machines). 
 

To cancel licensed premises gaming machine permits. 
 

To consider any Temporary Use Notice. 
 

To institute, defend or participate in any action or legal proceedings 
in respect of any matter relating to the functions (including, where 
not delegated to any other officer, the service of any notice or order 
or the exercise of any power of entry) in any case where such action 
is necessary to give effect to decisions of the Licensing Committee 
or any officer acting under delegated powers in consultation with the 
Director of Resources. 
 

Other Delegations 
 

Additional Meetings of Licensing Regulatory and Licensing 
Committees/Sub-Committees 
 

The Head of Public Protection is authorised to arrange special 
meetings of the Licensing Regulatory and Licensing Committees if 
appropriate in each cycle. 
 

Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
 

To serve direction under s.77 of the Criminal Justice and Public 
Order Act 1994 on persons residing on land in vehicles to leave the 
land and remove vehicles, and authority, in consultation with the 
Head of Legal and Governance, to issue proceedings under s.77 
and/or s.78 if the direction is not complied with. 
 

The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
 

To exercise the Council’s functions and enforcement powers under 
the 2014 Act, including:- 
 

Issuing community protection notices. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 227

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 22 

 

To exercise any function including the service of any notice or order, 
the exercise of any powers of entry and the taking of any other 
action or proceedings under any relevant legislation or otherwise 
(after consultation with the Director of Resources in respect of any 
proposal to institute court proceedings) in respect of matters relating 
to: 
 

1. contaminated land 
 

2. the control of pollution or the management of air quality 
 

3. the inspection of the authority's area to detect any statutory 
nuisance and the investigation of any complaint as to the 
existence of a statutory nuisance including the service of any 
abatement notices.  
 

4. functions relating to health and safety including, without 
prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the service of any 
Improvement or Prohibition Notices,  
 

5. functions relating to smoke free premises, places and vehicles 
for which the Licensing Regulatory Committee is responsible, 
without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing, the power to 
enforce offences relating to the display of no smoking signs; 
offences relating to smoking in smoke free places; offence of 
failing to prevent smoking in smoke free places; and, power to 
transfer enforcement functions to another enforcement authority 
all such functions being pursuant to the Health Act 2006, and the 
Smoke-free (premises and enforcement) Regulations 2006 and 
any other ancillary Regulations. 

 

To deal with all functions relating to health and safety under any 
statutory provision within the meaning of Part 1 of the Health and 
Safety at Work Act 1974, to the extent that those functions are 
discharged otherwise than in the authority’s capacity as employer. 
 

All Environmental Health Officers employed by the Council shall be 
appointed as Inspectors under Health and Safety at Work Act etc. 
1974 and be empowered to serve Improvement and Prohibition 
Notices and to institute proceedings for an offence under the same 
legislation. 
 

To take action in accordance with the powers contained in:  
 

1. The Public Health Act 1936, Section 84 and 85 (Cleansing or 
destruction of filthy or verminous premises, clothing and 
articles),  
 

2. The Public Health Act 1961, Section 37 (Disinfection of 
verminous articles offered for sale), 
 

3. The Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984, Sections 48 
(removal of dead bodies), 61 and 62 (powers of entry), 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Environmental 
Protection and  
Public Health Team 
Leader unless 
express delegation 
elsewhere 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Commercial Services 
Team Leader unless 
express delegation 
elsewhere. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 228

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 23 

 

 

4. The Health Protection (Notification) Regulations 2010, 
Regulations 2 (Duty to notify suspected disease, infection of 
contamination in patients) and 3 (Duty to notify suspected 
disease, infection or contamination in dead bodies), 
 

5. Public Health (Ships) (Amendment) (England) Regulations 
2007 
 

6. Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 
 

7. Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 1984 
 

8. Housing Act 1985 
 

9. Building Act 1984 
 

10. Public Health Act 1936 
 

11. Public Health Act 1961 
 

12. Control of Pollution Act 1974 
 

13. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
 

14. Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
 

15. Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984 
 

16. Environmental Protection Act 1990 
 

17. Clean Air Act 1993 
 

18. Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 

Ship Water Sampling Fees 
 

To review the setting of fees for water sampling. 
 

Page 229

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 24 

 

 

 Section F 

Head of Programme Management and Climate Change 

Delegations 
Exercising of 
Other Delegations  

 

Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy or other forms of 
assistance as apply at the time 
 

(i) To draw up detailed procedures for the provision and 
authorisation of agreed forms of assistance; and  

 

(ii) To authorise Disabled Facilities Grants, Barrow Disability Minor 
Works Grants and Barrow Disability Major Works Grants 
(delegation to transfer to Head of Asset Management with effect 
from 1.4.22) 

 

(iii) Authorisation of ECO flex declarations 
 

Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy/Housing Act 
2004 
 

Delegated authority in relation to Mandatory Licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation and taking enforcement action under the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating Scheme:- 
 

o Making, serving, varying and revoking of Prohibition Orders, 
Improvement Notices and Hazard Awareness Notices; 
 

o Powers to take emergency remedial action and to make 
emergency Prohibition Orders; 
 

o Powers of entry and seeking warrants to enter; 
 

o Making charges under Section 49; 
 

o Recovery of Section 49 charges under Section 50; 
 

o Granting, varying and revoking of HMO Licences; 
 

o Powers to make requisitions for information s.16 (Local 
Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 
 

o Approval of remedial notices and penalty charge notices, and 
other notices as required by the Smoke and CO Alarm 
Regulations 2015, and to approve in writing officers to act as 
“authorised persons” who can take remedial action; 
 

o Authorisation of notices of intent under the Redress Schemes 
for Letting Agency Work etc. Regulations 2014, and if no 
representations or objections are raised to authorise final 
notices. 

 

 

Page 230

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 25 

 

 
o Authorisation of the service of remedial notices, remedial action 

and notices to recover costs under the Electrical Safety 
Standards in the Private Rented Sector (England) Regulations 
2020. 

 
o Authorisation of compliance notices under the Energy Efficiency 

(Private Rented Property) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2015 (as amended). 
 

To agree that the decision and all reasonable enquiries to facilitate 
that decision to grant, refuse, revoke or vary a licence and the length 
of licence and charge for a licence in relation to Mandatory Licensing 
of Houses in Multiple Occupation and, that any person who is not 
satisfied with any decision may take the matter before the 
Residential Property Tribunal in the manner prescribed by the Act. 
 

Page 231

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 26 

 

 

 Section G 

Collections and Exhibitions Manager 

Delegations 
Exercising of 
Other Delegations  

 

Deaccessioning 
 
To agree to the under-mentioned deaccessioning:- 
 
1.   Where the value is less than £1,500; and 
 
2.  The object is not related to the Borough of Barrow-in-Furness; 

and/or  
 
3.  Does not fit in the Collections Development Policy (which has 

been approved by the Executive Committee). 
 
Where there is a distinct collection such as geology collection, 
archaeology collection or natural history collection, then that cannot 
be deaccessioned without the Executive Committee’s approval. 
 

 

 

Page 232

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

Part 3(2) Version 10 (January 2022) Page 27 

 

 

 Section H 

Head of Asset Management 

Delegations 
Exercising of 
Other Delegations  

 

(With effect from 1.4.22) 
 
To authorise Disabled Facilities Grants, Barrow Disability Minor 
Works Grants and Barrow Disability Major Works Grants  
 
Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994 
 

To serve direction under s.77 of the Criminal Justice and Public 
Order Act 1994 on persons residing on land in vehicles to leave the 
land and remove vehicles, and authority, in consultation with the 
Head of Legal and Governance, to issue proceedings under s.77 
and/or s.78 if the direction is not complied with. 
 
Housing Maintenance 
 
Authorised Officer re procurement and contract awards with regards 
to the Council’s housing maintenance programme where tendered 
through approved framework/contract standing orders within 
approved budgets 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 233

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 1



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 234

A
genda Item

 14
A

ppendix 1



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 42 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Financial Regulations 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Director of Resources 
Resources Directorate    Reviewed March 2022 

Page 235

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 43 

Financial Regulations 
 

 
 

 
Barrow Borough Council is committed to ensuring a sound financial management 
framework is in place that is relevant and provides the necessary financial controls to 
meet the demands of delivering local services. 
 
The Financial Regulations also provide clarity about the financial accountabilities of 
individuals - Members, the Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring 
Officer, the Director of Resources and Section 151 Officer, other Heads of Service 
and staff generally. These Regulations are therefore formally endorsed by the 
Council as a key part of the Council’s Constitution. 
 
The Financial Regulations provide the overall key control framework to enable 
Barrow Borough Council to exercise effective financial management and control of 
its resources and assets.  Another key purpose of the Regulations is to support and 
protect Members and staff in the performance of their duties where financial issues 
are involved. 
 
These Regulations need to be read in conjunction with the remainder of the 
Constitution and any other regulatory documents of the Council. 
 
Please address queries or comments regarding the Council’s Financial Regulations 
to the Director of Resources. 
 

 
 

Page 236

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 44 

Section 1: General 

 

 

WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
It is important that the Council has a sound and effective financial management 
framework in place to safeguard the Council’s financial arrangements and activities, 
to support staff and to minimise risk.  The Local Government Act 1972, Section 151 
requires the Council to nominate one of its officers to be responsible for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs.  The officer so appointed is the Director of 
Resources and in their absence the Accountancy Services Manager and the 
Financial Services Manager take on these delegations unless otherwise stated.  
Financial Regulations form part of the Council’s approach to corporate governance 
and provide a control framework through which the Director of Resources carries out 
their statutory duty on behalf of the Council. 
 

 
1. Application of Financial Regulations 
 

Financial Regulations are the framework for controlling and managing the 
Council’s financial affairs.   They apply to every Member and officer of the 
Council and anyone acting on its behalf: 

 
a. These Regulations identify the financial responsibilities of the Full 

Council, the Executive Committee, the Audit and Governance 
Committee, the Head of Paid Service, the Section 151 Officer and 
Heads of Service generally.  References to Heads of Service include 
the Chief Executive and Directors.  References to the Director of 
Resources refer to their role as Section 151 Officer. 

b. References in these Regulations to Heads of Service also apply to 
individual department and cost centre managers. 

c. These Regulations apply equally to all external agencies and their 
employees incurring expenditure or receiving income on behalf of the 
Council.  Accordingly, Heads of Service will ensure that partnership 
and other arrangements with external parties are not set up to operate 
in conflict with these Regulations as far as the Council’s involvement is 
concerned. 

d. These Regulations will apply until such time as they are rescinded, 
amended or suspended by the Council. 

 
2. General responsibility 
 

a. All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking 
reasonable action to provide for the security of any assets under their 
control, and for ensuring that the use of resources is legal, is properly 
authorised and provides the best value for money. 

b. Any officers of the Council receiving any financial related Government 
Department correspondence will immediately forward a copy to the 
Director of Resources.  The Director of Resources must be consulted 
in connection with any correspondence or discussions that have 

Page 237

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 45 

financial implications. 
c. All Members and staff of the Council must abide by the codes and 

protocols of the Council. 
d. Money held or received on behalf of the Council will not be borrowed or 

used to en-cash personal cheques. 
e. Heads of Service are responsible for informing the Director of 

Resources of any matter liable to materially affect the finances of the 
Council including negotiations with Government Departments, before 
any commitment is incurred or arrangements reached. 

 
3. Compliance 
 

Heads of Service are responsible for making all staff in their departments 
aware of the existence of and content of these Financial Regulations and for 
their compliance with them. 

 
4. Review 
 

The Director of Resources will maintain a continuous review of the Financial 
Regulations and submit any necessary additions or changes for approval by 
Council.  The Director of Resources will report, where appropriate, breaches 
of the Financial Regulations to the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 

Page 238

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 46 

Section 2: Internal Controls 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
The functions of the Council are diverse and therefore to ensure delivery of the 
Council’s strategic objectives, a framework of internal control is required. 
 
The Council has statutory obligations and therefore requires internal controls to 
identify, meet and monitor compliance with these obligations. 
 
The Council faces a wide range of financial, administrative and commercial risks, 
from both internal and external factors, that need to be managed to enable the 
Council to achieve its objectives.  Internal controls are necessary to manage these 
risks. 
 
A system of internal controls is established in order to provide measurable 
achievement of: efficient and effective operations, reliable financial information, 
compliance with laws and regulations, and risk management. 
 

 
1. The Director of Resources has statutory duties in relation to the financial 

administration and stewardship of the Council.  This responsibility cannot be 
overridden.  The statutory duties arise from: 

 
a. Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
b. The Local Government Finance Act 1988. 
c. The Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 
d. The Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011 (as    amended). 
e. The Local Government Act 2003. 

 
2. The Director of Resources is responsible for: 
 

a. The proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs. 
b. Setting financial management standards and monitoring compliance 

with them. 
c. Advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial 

controls necessary to secure sound financial management. 
d. Providing financial information. 
e. Preparing the revenue budget and capital programme. 
f. Treasury management. 
g. Reporting on the robustness of estimates made for the purposes of 

preparing budgets and the adequacy of the proposed financial 
reserves. 

h. Maintaining an effective Internal Audit service. 
 
 
 
 

Page 239

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 47 

3. The Director of Resources will report to the Full Council, Executive Committee 
and external auditor in fulfillment of their statutory obligations under Section 114 
of the Local Government Act 1988 or otherwise if the Council or any of its 
officers: 

 
a. has made, or is about to make, a decision that involves incurring unlawful 

or unauthorised expenditure 
b. has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful or unauthorised action that has 

resulted or would result in a loss or deficiency to the Council 
c. has made or is about to make an unlawful or unauthorised entry in the 

Council’s accounts 
 
4. The Director of Resources is responsible for recommending Contract Standing 

Orders and monitoring compliance with them. 
 

5. Heads of Service are responsible for ensuring that: 
 

a. Members of the Executive Committee are advised of the financial 
implications of all proposals and that these have been previously agreed 
by the Director of Resources 

b. contracts are duly signed on behalf of the Council and the Council Seal is 
applied where applicable 

c. the approval of the Director of Resources is sought on any matter liable to 
affect the Council’s finances materially, before any commitments are 
incurred 

 
6. The Director of Resources will assist the Council to put in place an appropriate 

control environment and effective internal controls that provide reasonable 
assurance of effective operations, financial stewardship, probity and compliance 
with laws and regulations.  The Director of Resources shall eliminate practices 
that are identified as inefficient or wasteful of Council resources. 

 
7. Heads of Service will ensure that: 
 

a. managerial control systems operate effectively throughout their 
departments.  These will include the setting of objectives and plans, the 
monitoring of financial and other performance, and the taking of 
appropriate anticipatory and remedial action.  The key objective of these 
systems is to promote ownership of the control environment by defining 
roles and responsibilities and ensuring staff have a clear understanding of 
the consequences of any lack of control. 

b. financial and operational control systems and procedures operate 
effectively throughout their departments.  These will include physical 
safeguards for assets, segregation of duties, checking and authorisation 
procedures and information systems. 

c. key controls and control objectives for internal control systems are 
reviewed regularly in order to be confident as to the proper use of 
resources, achievement of objectives and management of risk. 

d. processes are managed so as to check that established controls are being 
adhered to and are effective. 

e. existing controls are reviewed in the light of changes affecting the Council 
and new controls are established and implemented in line with guidance 
from the Director of Resources. 

Page 240

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 48 

f. controls that are no longer necessary, or no longer cost or risk effective, 
are removed 

 
8. The Director of Resources will ensure that there is an effective and properly 

resourced Internal Audit function. 

 
9. As part of the system of internal controls a Programme Board has been 

established comprising of Senior Management Team supported by relevant 
officers which will have oversight of the major contracts and projects which are 
reported into the Board on a regular basis. 

Page 241

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 49 

Section 3: Accounting 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Maintaining proper accounting records is one of the ways the Council discharges its 
responsibility for stewardship of public resources.  The Council has a statutory duty 
to prepare its annual Statement of Accounts in a way that gives a true and fair view 
of its operations during the year.  The accounts are subject to external audit, which 
provides assurance that they have been prepared properly, that proper accounting 
practices and statutory requirements have been followed.  There is also a statutory 
right for members of the public to inspect the accounts and relevant supporting 
documentation. 
 

 
1. The Director of Resources is responsible for: 
 

a. selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies 
b. determining accounting procedures and policies 

 
2. The Director of Resources will: 
 

a. make arrangements for the proper administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs 

b. apply accounting policies consistently 
c. maintain proper accounting records 
d. ensure that the Statement of Accounts for the previous financial year is 

completed, approved by the appropriate Committee and published 
within the corporate and statutory timetable and in accordance with 
relevant Codes of Practice 

 
3. Heads of Service will ensure: 
 

a. that all the Council’s transactions, material commitments, contracts and 
other essential accounting information are recorded completely, 
accurately and promptly 

b. that in the allocation of accounting duties of any kind: 
i. the duty of providing information, calculating, checking and 

recording sums due to or from the Council will be separated from 
the duty of collecting or paying such sums 

ii. officers charged with the duty of examining and checking 
accounts of cash or stocks transactions will not themselves be 
engaged in any of those transactions 

c. that the Director of Resources is supplied with such information as may 
be requested from time to time for the purpose of the proper 
administration of the Council’s affairs 

Page 242

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 50 

4. The Council will ensure that where there are group accounting requirements 
(i.e. Barrow Forward Limited): 

 
a. the Director of Resources is provided with all of the information required to 

produce the group entity Statement of Accounts within statutory deadlines 
b. there is an established process to obtain assurances and evidence to 

support transactions and balances held at any point in time and in 
particular at year-end and in response to the Council’s own annual audit 

c. entities have the same financial year as the Council 
d. the arrangements for retaining the appropriate financial records is robust 
e. the external reporting required, such as company accounts, is arranged 

with suitably qualified persons 
f. monitoring and reporting includes financial information 
g. an annual budget requirement is established 

 

Page 243

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 51 

Section 4: Revenue Budgets 
 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 

The Council is responsible for producing an overall policy framework.  The purpose 
of the framework is to explain overall priorities and objectives, and ensure that 
resources follow the identified priorities, current performance and proposals for 
improvement.  The revenue budget is important in this context because, together 
with the capital programme (see Section 5), it expresses the approved policies and 
service levels of the Council in financial terms. 
 

Once approved, the revenue budget confers authority on managers to incur 
expenditure to achieve the aims and objectives of the Council.  If expenditure plans 
cannot be met within the approved budget, then they can only proceed with an 
approval to divert funds (as provided for in Section 7(4)). 
 

 
1. The Director of Resources will: 
 

a. recommend to the Executive Committee appropriate guidelines for 
preparation of the annual budget 

b. recommend to the Executive Committee the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Plan incorporating the annual budget and the financial 
forecast for at least the following two financial years  

c. recommend the level of financial reserves for the annual budget and 
future financial plans 

d. issue appropriate guidance to Heads of Service and prepare a 
corporate budget timetable 

e. ensure the approved budget guidelines are complied with so that 
statutory and other deadlines can be met 

 
2. Heads of Service will: 
 

a. submit to the Director of Resources estimates in accordance with the 
budget guidelines and within agreed time scales 

b. ensure that the estimates are prepared having regard to the Council 
priorities and other corporate aims and objectives 

c. for each cost centre, supply to the Director of Resources an estimated 
profile of the rate of expenditure or income across the budget year 

d. provide any information the Director of Resources may require 
 
3. The Director of Resources will report to the Executive Committee (via the 

Housing Management Forum for the Housing Revenue Account) and to Full 
Council: 

 

a. on the revenue estimates, ensuring that the context and format comply 
with legal requirements and relevant Codes of Practice 

b. on the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of 
calculations and the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves 

c. on any significant surplus or deficit arising on the Collection Fund with a 

Page 244

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 52 

recommended course of action 
d. on the final proposed budget to enable the Leader of the Council to 

make a recommendation to Full Council on the appropriate levels of 
provisions and reserves, and on the levels of Council Tax for the year 

 
4. Final acceptance of revenue estimates can only be made by Full Council. 
 
5. Subject to (6) below, the approval of a budget for the year by Full Council 

confers authority to spend in accordance with the budget for that year.  
Commitments affecting future financial years may only be made where the 
provisions of Section 7(6) are satisfied.  Heads of Service are responsible for 
co-ordinating programmes of expenditure and income that will achieve the 
objectives on which the budget was based. 

 
6. Heads of Service will not enter into any new arrangements or other 

contractual commitments with long-term revenue consequences without the 
prior written consent of the Director of Resources. Such arrangements may be 
defined for this purpose as any lease, contract hire or other contract or series 
of contracts under which the use of an asset is obtained in exchange for a 
series of revenue payments which extend beyond the end of the following 
financial year. 

 
7. If Heads of Service need to incur expenditure outside the approved budget 

provision, or anticipates an under spend against an approved budget head, 
the procedures set out in Section 7(5a) and 7(3) will apply. 

 

Page 245

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 53 

Section 5: Capital Programme 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
The revenue budgets (Section 4) and the capital programme together express the 
approved policies and service levels of the Council in financial terms.  It is important 
to ensure that the Council achieves maximum economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
from the use of its capital resources and directs those resources into the agreed 
priority areas.  Unlike the revenue budget however, due to the uncertainty of capital 
resources and the timing of capital projects, total capital expenditure is often over or 
under programmed against estimated resources, so special controls are needed to 
ensure commitments do not exceed the resources available. 
 

 
1. The Director of Resources is responsible for preparing a Capital Strategy with 

periodic reviews submitted to the Executive Committee for approval. 
 
2. The Director of Resources will: 
 

a. maintain current estimates of resources available to finance capital 
expenditure in the current year and at least the following two financial 
years 

b. maintain a capital programme for approval periodically by the Executive 
Committee, based on the current Council priorities and other relevant 
corporate plans and strategies. 

c. following assessment by the Programme Board receive all formal 
appraisal reports for capital project proposals and approve their 
submission where relevant to the Executive Committee 

 
3. Heads of Service will: 
 

a. submit to the Programme Board, estimates of the cost of capital 
spending proposals and the estimated amount and timing of any capital 
receipts and other contributions receivable 

b. ensure that the estimates submitted are prepared having regard to the 
Council priorities and other corporate aims and objectives 

c. ensure that all capital project proposals are the subject of a formal 
appraisal by the Programme Board defining the need, purpose, options, 
risks and financial implications which must include all capital 
considerations and subsequent revenue implications 

d. provide any other information the Director of Resources may require for 
the review, monitoring or control of the capital programme 

 
4. In working up any capital scheme, Heads of Service will have regard to the 

risk of triggering claw back or breaching restrictive covenants or other 
contractual conditions in relation to land or otherwise. 

 
 

Page 246

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 54 

5. The inclusion of a capital scheme within an approved capital programme will 
confer authority to spend, including expenditure which may fall in a 
subsequent financial year, subject to: 

 
a. the provisions of the Council’s Contracts Standing Orders 
b. the provisions of (7) below 
c. the Director of Resources having first confirmed in writing that sufficient 

resources are available for the purpose 
d. scheme details being approved by the Executive Committee where 

necessary 
 
6. If Heads of Service wish to incur expenditure outside the approved capital 

programme provision, the procedures set out in Section 7(5b) will apply. 
 
7. Heads of Service will give the Director of Resources early warning of known 

under spends, overspends and changes to planned resources so that the 
availability of uncommitted capital resources may be monitored effectively. 

 

Page 247

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 55 

Section 6: Authorised Signatories 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Officers with delegated authority to incur expenditure on behalf of the Council must 
act in accordance with the codes and protocols of the Council and where appropriate 
operate within the Council’s Contract Standing Orders. 
 
Each officer has a financial limit set on the activities that they are authorised to 
commit up to.  In addition to this, officers may have authority to approve contracted 
payments over and above the financial limit for day-to-day commitments for their 
budgets. 
 

 
1. The names of officers authorised to sign for cost centres and contractual 

payments will be agreed with the Director of Resources on an approved form, 
with the officers’ specimen signatures provided.  The approved form is to be 
signed by the cost centre manager and relevant Head of Service, prior to the 
Director of Resources’ review and authorisation. 

 
2. The certification by or on behalf the cost centre manager will be taken to 

mean that the authorising officer is satisfied that the expenditure is authorised, 
properly and necessarily incurred and payable by the Council. 

 
3. The Director of Resources will be notified immediately of any authorised 

signatories who leave the Council’s employment or cease to be authorised to 
sign.  The Director of Resources will immediately give authorisation to remove 
all access to financial systems. 

 
4. All authorised signatories will sign in their own hand. Electronic Certification 

may be used if this is agreed between the parties. 
 
5. The Director of Resources will maintain a register of authorised signatories 

which will be subject to review. 

Page 248

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 56 

Section 7: Budgetary Control 
 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Budgetary control ensures that once Full Council has approved a revenue budget or 
a capital programme, the resources allocated are used for their intended purposes, 
i.e. the agreed priority areas, and are properly accounted for.  It is a continuous 
process, enabling the Council to review and adjust its budget targets during the 
financial year to make the most effective use of resources in delivering the Council’s 
policies and objectives.  The budgetary control framework also sets out the 
accountabilities of managers for defined elements of the budget. 
 
By continuously identifying and explaining variances against budgetary targets, the 
Council can identify changes in trends and resource requirements at the earliest 
opportunity. 
 
To ensure that the Council as a whole does not over or under spend, each service is 
required to manage its own expenditure within approved resources and to identify 
any surplus resources for diversion to other areas. 
 

 
1. Overall responsibility for budgetary control 
 

The Director of Resources is responsible: 
 

a. for the overall financial control of the revenue budgets and capital 
programme of the Council 

b. for providing quarterly financial performance information to the 
Executive Committee 

c. for subdividing service budgets within the overall budget framework 
according to Council structure and services, having regard to relevant 
Codes of Practice 

d. for allocating the revenue budgets and capital programme wholly 
among responsible Heads of Service 

e. for supplying timely information on receipts and payments on each cost 
centre and capital scheme, sufficiently detailed to enable managers to 
fulfill their budgetary control responsibilities 

 
2. Responsibility for control of individual budgets 
 

Heads of Service are responsible: 
 

a. for the budgets and programmes allocated to them, for delivering the 
levels of service on which they were based, and for compliance with 
their financial obligations 

b. for monitoring levels of service and performance within services, as 
measured by expenditure and income incurred against relevant cost 
centres and capital programme provision, and by benchmarking their 
service against similar providers to demonstrate value for money 

Page 249

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 57 

c. for seeking virements, either to increase or to reduce the provision 
allocated to particular budget heads or capital schemes, in accordance 
with (4) below in order to maintain budget provisions in line with the 
service levels required 

d. for exercising powers delegated to them to enter into new financial 
commitments only where adequate provision has been made in the 
revenue budget or capital programme and where the revenue 
consequences for future financial years are in accordance with (6) 
below 

e. for providing any additional information the Director of Resources may 
require 

 
3. Variances from budget 
 

The Director of Resources is responsible: 
 

a. for reporting significant variances to the Executive Committee where a 
Head of Service fails to take action under (4) to (6) below 

b. for agreeing annually: 
 

i. a list of expenditure proposals for which revenue budget 
provision had been made in the previous year and for which the 
particular goods or services had not been supplied before the 
financial year end 

ii. a list of expenditure proposals on capital schemes for which 
provision had been made in the capital programme for the 
previous year but which was under or overspent so that 
supplementary estimates may be considered for the ensuing 
financial year in accordance with (5) below 

 
4. Virements between budgets 
 

a. Subject to appropriate consultation, budget allocations may be moved 
between revenue cost centres for the purpose of maintaining approved 
service levels, in accordance with the following scheme of virements: 

 
i. Up to £5,000 by the Heads of Service 
ii. Up to £25,000 by the Accountancy Services Manager and the 

Financial Services Manager 
ii. Over £25,000 by the Director of Resources and any virements 

over £50,000 will be identified in the budget monitoring report 
 

and in making any such decision, due regard will be had to any budget 
implications for future financial years. 

b. Heads of Service may only make virements between the direct costs 
under their control; this includes items such as supplies and services 
and excludes items such as staffing and allocated support services. 

c. Virement between the General Fund and the Housing Revenue 
Account is not permitted, nor between revenue and capital. 

d. Virement between cost centres within the discrete funds is possible 
with the mutual consent of the relevant Heads of Service. 

Page 250

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 58 

 
5. Supplementary estimates 
 

a. Revenue expenditure 
 

Where no provision currently exists in the revenue budget, or where 
the provision made for an existing budget head is insufficient and a 
virement is not available under (4) above, then new or additional 
budget provision may be established using financial reserves in 
accordance with the Reserves and Balances policy.   
 
For unbudgeted but necessary expenditure that could impact on 
service delivery if not incurred, the following scheme of supplementary 
estimates should be followed: 

 
i. does not exceed 1% of the net revenue budget - by the Director 

of Resources after appropriate consultation with the Chief 
Executive.  The Director of Resources must report these items 
to the Executive Committee at the earliest opportunity 

ii. exceeds 1% of the net revenue budget - by the Executive 
Committee 

iii. where general earmarked reserves are available - by the 
Director of Resources or a specific reserve has its purpose 
changed to allow its immediate use - by the Executive 
Committee 

 
For emergencies, unexpected events or unbudgeted statutory items 
the Director of Resources can authorise a supplementary estimate and 
must report these items to the Executive Committee at the earliest 
opportunity. 

 
The Executive Committee can, on the recommendation of the Director 
of Resources, eliminate or reduce the funds in earmarked reserves by 
adding them to the revenue balance. 

 
In making any such decision, due regard will be given to any budget 
implications for future financial years. 

 
b. Partnership Expenditure and Additional External Funding 

 
Where no provision currently exists in the revenue budget or capital 
programme for specific projects or activities which are to be wholly or 
partly funded by external agencies, partners or new/additional external 
funding is drawn into the Council, then the above criteria for 
supplementary estimates will apply to the value of the Council’s net 
financial contribution to the revenue or capital cost of the project.   

 
Where the impact is a net zero, the Director of Resources, 
Accountancy Services Manager and Financial Services Manager are 
empowered to adjust revenue budgets and capital programmes to 
reflect the gross value of all such arrangements and transactions. 

Page 251

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 59 

 
Heads of Service must liaise with the Director of Resources and the 
Monitoring Officer, and refer to Section 9 of these Regulations, prior to 
undertaking any bidding for external funding or setting up any 
partnerships. 

 
6. Commitments of revenue expenditure affecting future financial years 
 

The following arrangements will apply in relation to the commitment of 
expenditure prior to the approval of the revenue budget for the financial year 
concerned: 
 
a. Heads of Service may commit expenditure affecting future financial 

years provided the estimated cost in real terms does not exceed the 
current year’s budget provision and that the written consent of the 
Director of Resources is obtained where Section 4(5) applies. 

b. Heads of Service may only commit expenditure on new or extended 
services with the approval of the Executive Committee. 

 
7. Other matters affecting budgets 
 

Heads of Service are responsible for alerting the Director of Resources of any 
issues with the potential to affect revenue or capital budgets or resources in 
the current year or future years, and where significant the Director of 
Resources will report such matters to the Executive Committee at the 
appropriate time. 

 
No recurring expenditure will be committed that would take the General Fund 
or Housing Revenue Account in excess of the agreed budget, without a 
supplementary budget agreed by Full Council following Executive Committee 
recommendation. 

 

Page 252

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 60 

Section 8: Procuring and paying for Works, Supplies and Services 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
The letting of public contracts should be done with demonstrable transparency and in 
accordance with Council policies, including the policy on fraud and corruption.  It is 
essential for maintaining public confidence that the Council and its officers are seen 
to act with complete fairness and impartiality in the letting of contracts. 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to achieve best value for money, partly through 
economy and efficiency.  The Council’s procedures should help to ensure that 
services obtain value for money from their purchasing arrangements.  All of the 
Council’s procurement and payment activities must be in compliance with the 
provisions of the Bribery Act 2010. 
 
In compliance with the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012, all major 
procurement shall recognise the impact of the social and economic well-being of the 
Borough and in particular ensure that, wherever possible, procurement supports the 
local economy.  Whilst looking at Social Value the Best Value duty remains 
throughout. 
 
These Regulations should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Contract 
Standing Orders. 
 
For procurement, the adopted principle is that the Council aims to deliver value for 
money when procuring goods and services.  This is balanced with consideration to 
sustainability, the local economy and fair competition to all providers. 
 

 
1. Placing Orders for Works, Supplies and Services 

 
a. The Contract Standing Orders contain the Council’s procurement rules 

and thresholds for low value procurement, sub-threshold procurement 
and above threshold procurement. 

b. The Contract Standing Orders apply to all procurement activities. 
c. All officers entering into contractual arrangements must enter the 

necessary information into the Council’s electronic contract register. 
d. For all procurements above the sub-threshold a Procurement Checklist 

is required. 

Page 253

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 61 

 
2. Other contract terms 
 

Heads of Service will: 
 
a. in consultation with the Director of Resources include in every contract 

appropriate clauses to cover financial and insurance requirements, and 
to provide sufficient security for due performance 

 
b. put in place adequate procedures for the effective cost control of all 

contracts 
  

3. Receipt of Works, Supplies and Services 
 

Heads of Service will put in place adequate systems for verifying the 
performance of work or the receipt of supplies and services. In particular 
controls will be established to ensure that: 
 
a. the work done or supplies and services received are as specified 
b. the quality or workmanship is of the required standard 
c. the expenditure has been duly authorised, is properly payable by the 

Council and is within budget estimates 
d. the price to be paid is correct 
e. the account has not previously been passed for payment 
f. appropriate entries have been made in inventory, stock or other 

records 
g. the account is arithmetically correct 

 
4. Payment for Works, Supplies and Services 
 

a. Heads of Service will make adequate and effective arrangements 
approved by the Director of Resources for checking and certifying 
invoices and other requests for payment without undue delay. 

b. All certified invoices will be dealt with in a manner set by the Director of 
Resources and will, where possible, quote the Council’s official 
purchase order number. 

c. The Director of Resources or their representative has the right to 
perform checks against any invoice, before or after payment, to ensure 
correct procedures have been applied. 

d. The Director of Resources will decide the most effective way for the 
Council to make payments; payments may only be made by direct 
debit with the prior approval of the Director of Resources, Accountancy 
Services Manager or Financial Services Manager. 

e. Proforma invoices will only be used for the purposes approved by the 
Director of Resources. 

f. Minor items of expenditure, up to a limit set by the Director of 
Resources, may be paid under petty cash procedures determined by 
the Director of Resources. 

 
5. General 
 

Page 254

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 62 

a. Every Member and officer engaged in contractual or purchasing 
decisions on behalf of the Council will declare any links or personal 
interests they may have with purchasers, suppliers and contractors, 
and will comply with the provisions of the appropriate Codes of 
Conduct. 

b. Heads of Service will ensure that the final account is cleared by 
Internal Audit before any retention is paid. 

c. Heads of Service will ensure that the duties of ordering works, supplies 
or services, receiving them, certifying and approving for payment are 
not performed by the same officer. 

d. All Information Technology hardware and software acquisitions must 
be made in consultation with the IT Manager and for financial systems 
or those that interact with such systems, with the additional approval of 
the Director of Resources. 

 

Page 255

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 63 

Section 9: Work carried out for others 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Legislation enables the Council to provide a range of services to other bodies.  Such 
work may help maintain economies of scale and existing expertise.  It may also be 
helpful to share the Council’s facilities, expertise and resources with others under 
partnership arrangements.  Effective controls should be in place to ensure that any 
risks associated with such work are minimised and that the work falls within the 
Council’s statutory powers. 
 

 
1. Financial Regulations apply equally to any service carried out by the Council 

on behalf of any other Council, body or person.  Heads of Service will not set 
up partnership or other arrangements with external parties to operate in 
conflict with these Regulations as far as the Council’s involvement is 
concerned. 

 
2. Heads of Service will: 
 

a. properly assess the financial implications of the proposal prior to 
commitment following consultation with the Director of Resources 

b. draw up contracts having regard to the Council’s powers, relevant 
policies and protocols and in compliance with any insurance or other 
requirements of the Director of Resources 

c. have regard to the Contract Standing Orders and other requirements of 
the Director of Resources. 

 

Page 256

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 64 

Section 10: External funding and partnership arrangements 
 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Partnerships play a key role in delivering community strategies and in helping to 
promote and improve the well being of the Borough.  The Council works in 
partnership with others - public agencies, private companies, community groups and 
voluntary organisations - and its distinctive leadership role is to bring together the 
contributions of the various stakeholders.  The Council will mobilise investment, bid 
for funds, champion the needs and harness the energies of local people and 
community organisations.  It will be measured by what it achieves in partnership with 
others. 
 
Partnerships can provide ways to access new resources and share risk.  They can 
also lead to innovative and improved ways of delivering services whilst forging new 
relationships.  Whilst external funding is a very important source of income, funding 
conditions need to be carefully considered to ensure they are compatible with the 
aims and objectives of the Council.  In some instances, tight specifications may not 
be flexible enough to link to the Council’s overall plan. Also, new ways of working 
can increase the Council’s exposure to fraud and to irregularities in the operation of, 
for example, VAT, insurances, and pay. 
 

 
1. Bidding for external funding 
 

a. Heads of Service will seek external resources only to further the 
priorities and aims of the Council. 

b. Before making a bid for resources which, if successful, would require 
any financial commitment from the Council, Heads of Service will 
ensure that appropriate budgets have been approved or earmarked in 
accordance with these Regulations. 

c. In working up bids, Heads of Service will use appropriate project 
appraisal processes to assess the viability of the project in terms of 
resources, staffing and expertise, to identify and assess all potential 
risks, and to ensure achievement of the required outcomes. 

 
2. Setting up partnerships 
 

a. Heads of Service will agree and formally accept the roles and 
responsibilities of each of the partners involved in a project before the 
project commences. 

b. Where the Council is to be the lead partner or the accountable body 
where other public funds are involved, the responsibilities of the 
Council and the obligations of the various partners are to be clearly 
defined and understood.  Heads of Service will consult the Director of 
Resources on: 
 
 
i. any financial control, insurance and audit requirements including 

Page 257

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 65 

physical access to be incorporated in the partnership 
arrangements 

ii. the overall financial implications for the Council. 
 
c. Prior to entering into any commitment, the relevant Heads of Service 

will ensure that any match funding or other financial obligations of the 
Council are provided for within revenue or capital programmes and that 
arrangements are made for future years’ financial provisions to reflect 
these obligations.  This should include any audit and other 
consequential fees as appropriate. 

 
3. Working with partners 
 

a. These Financial Regulations and the Council’s Contract Standing 
Orders will apply equally to any orders for works, goods or services 
which are the responsibility of the Council under the partnership 
arrangements. 

b. Heads of Service will ensure that all formal contracts are referred to 
Internal Audit for the proper stage checks to be performed and as soon 
as the final account is agreed, before any retention is paid.  For all 
contracts awarded under the Council’s Contract Standing Orders the 
responsible Officer will complete the Procurement Checklist. 

c. The relevant Heads of Service will comply with any key conditions of 
funding and any statutory requirements. 

d. Any variation in resources to be contributed by the Council, or in the 
overall resources of the partnership where the Council is the 
accountable body, will be dealt with in the same way as other budget 
variations as set out in Section 7 (Budgetary Control). 

e. The relevant Heads of Service will ensure that any financial control, 
insurance and audit requirements of the partnership are met. 

f. The relevant Heads of Service will communicate regularly with the 
other partners throughout the project so that problems are identified 
and shared to achieve their successful resolution. 

 
 

Page 258

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 66 

Section 11: Income 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
It is essential that all income due to the Council is identified, collected, receipted and 
banked promptly.  To achieve this it is necessary to put effective income systems in 
place. 
 
It is preferable to obtain income in advance of supplying goods or services as this 
improves the Council's cash flow and also avoids the time and cost involved in 
administering debts. 
 

 
1. General 
 

Heads of Service will implement arrangements made by them under this 
Section only with the approval of the Director of Resources. 

 
2. Prompt identification of sums due to the Council 
 

Heads of Service will make adequate and effective arrangements for the 
prompt identification of all sums due to the Council. 

 
3. Prompt recording in the Council’s accounts of all sums due 
 

a. Heads of Service will make adequate and effective arrangements for 
recording all sums due in the Council’s accounts. 

b. Apart from local taxes, housing rents, fines and licences, accounts for 
sums due may only be raised on the Council’s corporate debtors 
system unless alternative arrangements have been approved by the 
Director of Resources. 

 
4. Collection and receipting of all income 
 

a. Heads of Service will make adequate and effective arrangements for 
the collection and receipting of all income and for the security of all 
cash and other valuables having regard to agreed insurance limits for 
locked safes. 

b. Heads of Services will only introduce new methods of collection after 
consultation and approval of the Director of Resources. 

c. Acknowledgement for money received must only be made on official 
Council receipts or other form authorised by the Director of Resources 
for that purpose. 

d. Books and forms relating to the collection of income due to the Council 
will be kept in a manner set by the Director of Resources. 

 
 
 
5. Banking of income 

Page 259

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 67 

 
Heads of Service will make arrangements with the Director of Resources for 
the prompt and secure transfer of cash from the Council’s offices and facilities 
to the Council’s bankers. 

 
6. Reconciliation of income 
 

Heads of Service will make adequate and effective arrangements for the 
sums collected and banked to be reconciled with the records of sums due. 
 

7. Debt recovery 
 

In all cases Heads of Service will take prompt and appropriate actions to 
recover all sums overdue to the Council. 

 
8. Writing off sums due 
 

a. Heads of Service are responsible for recommending the write off of 
irrecoverable debts to the Director of Resources. 

b. Where an individual debtor owes the Council no more than £25,000 
(Borough share), the Director of Resources may approve the write off 
of that debt where there is satisfactory evidence that it is irrecoverable.  
In any other case, the debt may be written off only with the approval of 
the Executive Committee. However, there may be occasions when an 
immediate write off decision above £25,000 is necessary, for example 
at year end, to enable the completion of the final accounts within the 
statutory timescale. In such cases the Director of Resources will have 
authority to approve a maximum Business Rate write off of £62,500. 

c. The Director of Resources will report annually the total amount written 
off to the Executive Committee. 

 
9. Reviews of fees and charges 
 

a. Heads of Service will, in consultation with the Director of Resources, 
review all fees and charges at least annually in accordance with 
guidelines approved by the Executive Committee.   

b. Heads of Service are responsible for revised fees and charges being 
correctly implemented from the authorised date. 

 
10. Segregation of duties 
 

The duty of providing information, calculating, checking and recording sums 
due to or from the Council will be separated as completely as possible from 
the duty of collecting such sums. 

 
 
 
 
11. Revenues and Taxation 
 
 The Director of Resources is responsible for: 

Page 260

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 68 

 
a. Setting the Council Tax Base. 
b. Calculating the Council Tax Requirement. 
c. Calculating the Council Tax as required by legislation; by Parish and by 

Band. 
d. The award of mandatory or discretionary, exemptions, disregards and 

discounts. 
e. Council Tax billing. 
f. The collection and recovery of Council Tax due. 
g. Applying any applicable or relevant changes in the Housing Benefit 

Regulations to the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme. 
h. Determining, assessing, awarding and paying Housing Benefit and 

Council Tax Support. 
i. Dealing with all matters relating to the Business Rate Retention Scheme 

and agency arrangements, including billing, collection, recovery and the 
award of mandatory or discretionary, exemptions and reliefs. 

j. Determining membership of the Cumbria Business Rate Pool. 
k. Payment of precept demands. 

7. Business Improvement District (BID) 

The Director of Resources is responsible for: 

a. BID levy billing. 
b. The collection and recovery of BID levy due. 
c. Payment of the levy collected to the BID. 
d. Recovering the cost of administering the BID billing and collection 

process. 

Page 261

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 69 

Section 12: Value Added Tax 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Value Added Tax (VAT) is a tax applied to many of the goods and services the 
Council either buys in or supplies to others.  VAT therefore impacts on many of the 
Council’s financial transactions.  Whilst generally speaking the Council is able to 
reclaim the VAT it pays on buying in goods and services, this ability is limited in 
relation to certain types of services made by the Council.  VAT is a very complex tax, 
particularly where it relates to land and property transactions and partnership 
arrangements.  It is essential that the VAT implications of all major projects, 
partnership arrangements and land and property transactions be evaluated well in 
advance of commitments being made.  If this is not done the Council could be faced 
with a substantial irrecoverable VAT bill that is both unplanned and unbudgeted.  Her 
Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC) also have the power to impose penalties 
(fines) for late or non-compliance with VAT rules. 
 

 
1. The Director of Resources is responsible for the determination of all 

arrangements for the collection, recording, payment and recovery of VAT. 
 
2. The Director of Resources will: 
 

a. maintain complete and accurate accounting records of all the Council’s 
VAT transactions 

b. submit the Council’s VAT return to HMRC monthly in accordance with 
statutory deadlines 

c. prepare the Council’s partial exemption calculation as at the end of 
each financial year 

d. conduct all negotiations with HMRC in respect of VAT matters affecting 
the Council 

e. provide guidance, advice and training to Council staff on all aspects of 
VAT as they affect the Council 

 
3. Heads of Service will: 
 

a. properly account for VAT on all transactions under arrangements 
determined by the Director of Resources 

b. consult the Director of Resources in all cases where the VAT treatment 
of any transaction is unclear so that the matter can be reviewed and 
appropriate treatment determined 

c. consult the Director of Resources in all cases where new projects, 
schemes or services are proposed, well in advance of commitments 
being made, so that any impact on the Council’s VAT position can be 
assessed and any necessary action taken to protect the Council’s VAT 
recovery position 

 
d. co-operate with any VAT inspector and give access at all reasonable 

Page 262

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 70 

times to premises, personnel, documents and assets which they 
consider necessary for the purposes of their work 

 

 
Examples of activity with potential VAT implications 
 
Examples of the types of new activity that could have an impact on the Council’s 
VAT position are shown below. However this list is not exhaustive and consultation 
should take place when any new or innovative scheme is proposed: 
 

- a new service 
- a significant extension to an existing service 
- a capital new-build scheme 
- a land or property transaction, including any involving a land exchange 
- a new or extended partnership arrangement 
- a scheme involving third party funding 
- an agency arrangement 
- any scheme where there is consideration in kind 

 

 

Page 263

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 71 

Section 13: Banking  
 

 

WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 

The Council has a duty to ensure that all monies are properly safeguarded and only 
utilised for authorised purposes.  It is therefore necessary to have controls to ensure 
the proper authorisation and control of all bank accounts, all payments made from 
them and all income deposited into them. 
 

 

1. Operation of bank accounts 
 

a. The Director of Resources is responsible for opening, closing and 
operating all bank accounts and related facilities in the Council’s name. 

b. All communications with the Council’s bankers concerning its bank 
accounts and any changes in banking arrangements will be made 
under arrangements approved by the Director of Resources. 

 

2. Authorisation of signatories 
 

Only officers personally mandated by the Director of Resources may 
authorise payments and other documents transferring funds out of the 
Council’s bank accounts. 

 

3. Payments from Council bank accounts 
 

a. All payments from the Council’s bank accounts will be, so far as is 
practicable, made by automated bank transfer but the Director of 
Resources may exclude from this regulation such payments as the 
Director of Resources may consider appropriate from time to time. 

b. No payments will be made from the Council’s bank accounts unless 
approved personally by a signatory authorised in accordance with (2) 
above. 

 

4. Custody of banking facilities 
 

Banking facilities will be held by the Director of Resources, Accountancy 
Services Manager and Financial Services Manager for use only in exceptional 
cases. 

 

5. Banking of income 
 

Heads of Service will make arrangements with the Director of Resources for 
the prompt and secure transfer of cash from the Council’s offices and facilities 
to the Council’s bankers. 

 

6. Reconciliation 
 

The Director of Resources will regularly and promptly reconcile the Council’s 
bank accounts with the accounting records. 

Page 264

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 72 

Section 14: Security and Inventories 
 

 

WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 

The Council holds assets in the form of land and buildings, fixed plant, vehicles and 
machinery, furniture and equipment, software and data, cash and other items of 
value.  It is important that assets are used efficiently in service delivery, that they are 
adequately insured and that there are arrangements for the security of both assets 
and information required for service operations.  Up to date records are a 
prerequisite for sound asset management.  See also Sections 15 (Stocks) and 17 
(Insurances). 
 

 

1. Proper use of the Council’s resources 
 

Resources are to be used solely for the purposes of the Council and are to be 
properly accounted for. 

 

2. Asset Register 
 

The Director of Resources is responsible, in consultation with other Heads of 
Service, for the compilation and maintenance of the Council’s official 
accounting Asset Register covering land and property and other fixed assets. 
 
Officers involved in the disposal of Council assets will: 
a. comply with the legal requirements of the Head of Legal and 

Governance and Director of Resources 
b. comply with the financial and accounting requirements of the Director 

of Resources 
 

3. Inventories 
 

a. Each Head of Service is responsible for maintaining an inventory of 
moveable assets under procedures determined by the Director of 
Resources. 

b. Inventories are to be reviewed at least once each year with an updated 
schedule retained by the Heads of Service and copied to the Director 
of Resources. 

 

4. Security 
 

a. Heads of Service will make proper arrangements for: 
i. the security of all buildings and other assets under their control 
ii. the safe custody of all documents held as security 
iii. keys to safes and similar receptacles for valuables to be kept in 

secure places 
 

b. The security of personal possessions in the work environment is the 
responsibility of the owner.  The Council will accept no responsibility for 
the security of any items not necessary for the services of the Council. 

Page 265

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 73 

Section 15: Stocks 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
It is important that the stocks held by the Council are safeguarded and used 
efficiently in service delivery.  There therefore needs to be adequate arrangements 
for the receipt, security and issue of stocks and for the disposal of surplus or 
redundant items. 
 

 
1. Receipt, Control and Custody 
 

Heads of Service will make adequate and effective arrangements for the 
custody, care and physical control of all stocks in their departments. 

 
2. Stocks Records 
 

a. In consultation with the Director of Resources, Heads of Service will 
maintain adequate records of all issues and other movements of 
stocks. 

b. Heads of Service will provide to the Director of Resources each year a 
stock certificate detailing stocks and stores in hand at 31st March. 

 
3. Maintenance of stocks 
 

a. Heads of Service will maintain stocks at reasonable levels, agreed with 
the Director of Resources, and subject them to a regular independent 
physical check. 

b. All discrepancies will be investigated, pursued to a satisfactory 
conclusion and removed from the Council’s records by making stock 
adjustments as necessary.  Gains and losses resulting from stock 
adjustments will only be written off or adjusted in the records under 
arrangements approved by the Director of Resources. 

 
4. Disposal of surplus, obsolete or redundant stocks or equipment 
 

Heads of Service will ensure that all stocks and equipment no longer required 
are disposed of economically and accounted for under arrangements 
approved by the Director of Resources. 

 
5. Delegation 
 

All staff responsible for stocks are required to take an uninterrupted holiday of 
at least two weeks duration in each financial year. 

Page 266

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 74 

Section 16: Cash Holdings 
 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
It is important that all cash held by Council departments is safeguarded and used 
effectively in service delivery.  There therefore needs to be adequate arrangements 
for the receipt, security and issue of petty cash reimbursements and the security of 
all cash floats held in Council departments. 
 

 
1. Receipt, Control and Custody 
 

Heads of Service will make adequate and effective arrangements for the 
custody, care, security and physical control of all petty cash and cash floats in 
their departments. 

 
2. Petty Cash and Cash Float Records 
 

a. In consultation with the Director of Resources, Heads of Service will 
maintain adequate records of all petty cash reimbursements and float 
replenishments. 

b. In consultation with the Director of Resources, Heads of Service will 
maintain effective control and security over till floats and change floats 
held in their departments. 

c. Heads of Service will provide to the Director of Resources each year a 
cash imprest certificate detailing all floats and vouchers in hand at 31st 
March. 

 
3. Maintenance of floats 
 

a. Heads of Service will maintain cash floats and subject them to a 
regular independent physical check by their officers. 

b. Petty cash floats will be reimbursed monthly. 
c. All discrepancies will be investigated and pursued to the Director of 

Resources’ satisfaction. 
 
4. Delegation 
 

a. Every transfer of official money from one officer to another will be 
evidenced in the record of the department concerned by the entry of 
the amount and signature of the receiving officer. 

b. Before an officer leaves the employment of the Council or ceases to be 
entitled to hold a cash float, the Head of Service will agree the 
unexpended balance and will submit a float replenishment; till and 
change floats will be balanced. 

c. All staff responsible for cash are required to take an uninterrupted 
holiday of at least two weeks duration in each financial year. 

Page 267

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 75 

Section 17: Insurances 
 

 

WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 

The provision of insurance cover is one of the major methods of responding to 
corporate and service risks identified under the Council’s risk management 
arrangements. Cover can be arranged either externally with major insurance 
companies or through an internal insurance pool.  Accurate record keeping and 
timely provision of information are essential if the Council’s insurance cover is to be 
effective.  This Section should be read in conjunction with that relating to Risk 
Management (see Section 18). 
 

 

1. The Director of Resources is responsible for: 
 

a. effecting all insurance cover on a corporate basis, through external 
insurance or through internal self-insurance arrangements as the 
Director of Resources considers appropriate  

b. negotiating all claims in consultation with relevant Heads of Service 
where necessary 

 

2. Heads of Service will notify the Director of Resources immediately: 
 

a. of all new risks, properties, vehicles or other assets that require 
insurance 

b. of any alterations to such risks or assets affecting existing insurances 
c. should any of the Council’s assets be damaged, lost or stolen 
d. should any of the Council’s assets be relocated to different premises 
e. of any loss, liability, damage or personal injury that may lead to a claim 

against the Council 
 

and will provide any related information or explanation required within time 
scales determined by the Director of Resources. 

 

3. Heads of Service will ensure that no employee or other person covered by the 
Council’s insurances admits liability (orally or in writing) or makes any offer to 
pay compensation, because this may prejudice a proper assessment of the 
Council’s liability. 

 

4. Heads of Service will maintain proper records relating to insurances effected 
by the Council, under arrangements approved by the Director of Resources. 

 

5. Heads of Service will consult the Director of Resources on the terms of any 
indemnity that the Council is requested to give. 

 

6. Heads of Service will consult the Director of Resources to determine the 
minimum level of insurance cover required of any person or body (including all 
Council contractors) to indemnify the Council or to effect insurance cover in 
accordance with the Council’s requirements. 

 

7. The Director of Resources will ensure that insurers are subject to competitive 
tendering, possibly using brokerage services, at least once every five years. 

Page 268

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 76 

Section 18: Risk Management 
 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
The Council faces numerous risks: to people (including its employees), to property, 
to its reputation and to continuity of service delivery.  Risk is the threat that an event 
or action will adversely affect the Council’s ability to achieve its objectives and to 
successfully execute its strategies.  This will include both external and internal risks. 
Risk Management is the process by which risks are identified, evaluated and 
managed.  Risk management seeks to protect the Council and enable achievement 
of stated aims and objectives.  It also seeks to maximise the rewards that can be 
gained through effectively managing risk.  It is the responsibility of the Executive 
Committee to approve the Council’s risk management policy and strategy and of the 
Audit and Governance Committee to promote a culture of risk management 
awareness throughout the organisation. 
 
This Section should be read in conjunction with that relating to Insurance (see 
Section 17), which is just one tool used in the control of organisational risk. 
 

 
1. The Executive Committee will approve the Council’s corporate risk 

management policy and strategy. 
 

2. The Audit and Governance Committee will promote a culture of risk 
management awareness. 

 

3. The Chief Executive will: 
 

a. develop risk management processes and procedures to assist in the 
identification, assessment, reduction and control of material risks 

b. undertake regular monitoring and review of the corporate and service 
arrangements for effective risk management 

c. regularly report the status of monitoring arrangements to the Audit and 
Governance Committee 

 

4. Heads of Service are responsible: 
 

a. for risk management within all areas under their control, having regard 
to appropriate advice from the Chief Executive 

b. for carrying out regular reviews of risk, risk reduction strategies and the 
operation of appropriate controls (including business continuity plans) 
within their departments 

 

5. Heads of Service will consult the Director of Resources on the terms of any 
indemnity that the Council is requested to give. 

 

6. Heads of Service will promptly notify the Chief Executive of all new risks that 
are material, as they are identified. 

Page 269

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 77 

Section 19: Internal Audit 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
The requirement for an Internal Audit function for local authorities is implied by 
Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, which requires that authorities 
“make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs”.  The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations more specifically require that a “relevant body will 
maintain an adequate and effective system of Internal Audit of their accounting 
records and control systems”. 
 
Accordingly, Internal Audit provides one aspect of an independent and objective 
assurance in the review of the system of internal control as a contribution to the 
proper, economic, efficient and effective use of resources.  In fulfilling this 
responsibility the Internal Audit service comply with best practice as set out by 
CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government, the Institute of 
Internal Auditors and the Public Sector International Auditing Standards. 
 

 
1. The Director of Resources will ensure that the Internal Audit service is 

independent in its planning and operation.  Clear and detailed terms of 
reference will exist for the Internal Audit service, which will be approved and 
regularly reviewed by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
2. The Director of Resources or their authorised representative will have 

authority to enter at all reasonable times any offices, premises or land under 
the control of the Council and will have unrestricted access to all records, 
documents and correspondence relating to any matter under consideration, 
without limitation. 

 
3. All staff and contractors will provide such information and explanations as the 

Director of Resources considers necessary and will produce upon demand 
cash, stocks, documents or other property of the Council under their control. 

 
4. Heads of Service will comply with all requests for evidence and specifically in 

relating to contracts awarded under the Contract Standing Orders.  Heads of 
Service will ensure that the final account of a staged payment contract is 
cleared by Internal Audit before any retention is paid 

 
5. Heads of Service, Senior Managers and other staff will immediately notify the 

Internal Audit service on behalf of the Director of Resources upon discovery or 
suspicion of any financial irregularity, whether affecting cash, stocks, property, 
financial records or otherwise.  The Director of Resources will notify the Chief 
Executive in all significant cases. 

 
6. The Council will set out in policy documents its approach to fraud, bribery and 

corruption and to “whistleblowing” (see also Section 20). 
 

Page 270

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 78 

7. The Internal Audit service will operate an independent fraud hotline for the 
Council.  This will be available to officers and members of the public. 

 
8. Copies of all final audit report summaries will be considered by the Audit and 

Governance Committee. 
 
9. The Head of Internal Audit has direct access to the Chief Executive, to all 

levels of management, to the Chairman of the Audit and Governance 
Committee, the Leader of the Council and the External Auditor. 

Page 271

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 79 

Section 20: The Council Acting Against Fraud 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
The Council is determined to prevent its involvement in activities of fraud and 
corruption.   In order to ensure that, not only, does it minimise opportunities for fraud 
and corruption to go undetected, but that waste of resources is also minimised, the 
Council has established an Anti-Fraud and Corruption strategy. 
 
Members and officers are required to make declarations of interests and influences. 
 
Within the Council framework the Audit and Governance Committee have a role in 
promoting the Council’s position against fraud, bribery and corruption, by reviewing 
Council business and the implementation, by officers, of Council decisions.  In 
addition the Audit and Governance Committee remit includes the standards of 
conduct for Members. 
 
Internal Audit and External Audit are key partners in the effective review of anti-fraud 
and corruption measure that the Council has put in place. 
 

 
1. The principles of public life apply to anyone who works as a public office 

holder.  This includes all those who are elected or appointed to public office, 
nationally and locally, and all people appointed to work in the civil service, 
local government, the police, courts and probation services, NDPBs, and in 
the health, education, social and care services.  All public office holders are 
both servants of the public and stewards of public resources.  The principles 
also have application to all those in other sectors delivering public services.  
The principles are: 
 
a. Selflessness 
b. Integrity 
c. Objectivity 
d. Accountability 
e. Openness 
f. Honesty 
g. Leadership 

 
2. Members and officers make declarations about interests and influences.  All 

Members annually declare their direct interests, which are recorded in a 
register held by Democratic Services and are available for public inspection. 
Members are required to notify any change in their interests within 28 days of 
that change.  Officers are required to register their interests and influences 
with the HR department. 

 
3. The Audit and Governance Committee is responsible for promoting and 

maintaining high standards of conduct for elected members. 
 

Page 272

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 80 

4. Internal Audit review, through a risk assessment and significance analysis 
process, the services and functions of the Council to assist in ensuring the 
adequacy of the Council’s internal control environment.  In addition they 
perform periodic spot checks to ensure established controls remain in place. 

 
5. Whistleblowing 
 

a. The Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 promotes responsible 
whistleblowing and provides protection for employees and members 
who raise concerns internally and then where appropriate externally. 

b. All reported concerns (except for reports relating to housing benefit or 
council tax support – see c.) will be confidentially investigated by 
Internal Audit.  

c. Reports relating to housing benefit will be passed to the DWP. Reports 
relating to council tax support will be investigated by the Revenues and 
Benefits department where appropriate. 

d. Where investigations show the probability of abuse, the matter and 
findings should be referred to the Director of Resources (unless the 
Director of Resources is seen to have a substantial interest in the 
abuse) who will determine, in consultation with the Chief Executive, any 
follow up action including sanctions and prosecution where appropriate. 

6. Bribery Act 2010 

 
The Bribery Act 2010 came into force on the 1st July 2011.  It has created a new 
corporate offence of failing to prevent bribery by third party service providers, to 
which there is a complete defence of having in place adequate procedures designed 
to prevent service providers from engaging in bribery. 
 

a. Principal bribery offences 
This is giving, offering, receiving and accepting bribes; this covers any 
advantage given to a person in the course of their work or public 
function to get that person to behave improperly (usually to show favour 
in circumstances in which the person should not be showing favour). 

b. Secondary bribery offences 
This is the offence of “failure to prevent bribery” when a third party 
service provider gives a bribe with the intention of benefitting the 
Council.  If adequate procedures designed to prevent bribery are in 
place, then this is a complete defence.  The onus is on the organisation 
to prove that it had adequate procedures. 

Page 273

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 81 

Section 21: External Audit and Inspection 

 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd began appointing external auditors to each 
Council from the 1st April, 2015, and the Council has continued to opt into that 
national procurement ever since. The basic duties of the external auditor are 
governed by statute. 
 
The Council may from time to time also be subject to audit, inspection or 
investigation by various other external bodies.  The External Auditor, government 
department inspectorates and bodies such as HMRC and the Inland Revenue have 
statutory rights of access.  Rights of access are also sometimes granted under 
contractual arrangements, including partnerships where the Council is not the lead 
body.  It is important that all officers of the Council respond to external scrutiny in a 
timely, professional and helpful manner. 
 

 
1. The Director of Resources will facilitate the co-ordination of the work of 

internal and external audit together with ensuring appropriate consideration of 
External Audit reports by the Audit and Governance Committee. 

 
2. External Auditors began to be appointed by Public Sector Audit Appointments 

Ltd from the 1st April, 2015, and the Council has continued to opt into that 
national procurement ever since.  The External Auditors have specific 
responsibilities in relation to the Council’s accounts, corporate governance 
arrangements and value for money: 
 
a. For the audit of the Council’s financial statements. 
b. For the Council’s Annual Governance Statement. 
c. For the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources. 
 

The External Auditors provides other services, in particular the audit of 
external grants claims. 

 
3. Co-ordination of all other inspection and independent review work will be the 

responsibility of the relevant Heads of Service. 
 
4. Heads of Service will give External Auditors and any other inspectors’ access 

at all reasonable times to premises, personnel, documents and assets which 
they consider necessary for the purposes of their work. 

 

Page 274

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 82 

 

Section 22: Treasury Management and Leasing 
 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Treasury Management is in place to provide assurance that the Council’s money and 
overall cash flow are properly managed, in a way that balances risk with return but 
with overriding consideration being given to the security of investments. 
 
The signing of leases and other forms of credit can have a wider financial impact 
than just the rental payments.  It is therefore necessary that the Director of 
Resources be given the opportunity to evaluate the costs of any potential agreement 
before it is legally binding. 
 

 
1. General 
 

The Director of Resources is responsible for all investment, borrowing and 
leasing undertaken in the name of the Council. 

 
2. Treasury Management 
 

The Director of Resources will: 
 

a. prepare annually a Treasury Management Policy Statement setting out 
the duties of Members and officers covering all aspects of treasury 
management for consideration by the Executive Committee and 
recommendation to Full Council 

b. prepare annually a Treasury Management Strategy setting out the 
Council’s strategy for consideration and approval by the Executive 
Committee 

c. prepare annually an Investment Strategy for consideration and 
approval by the Executive Committee 

d. recommend to the Council, before the commencement of each 
financial year (when setting the budget) a range of Prudential 
Indicators, including borrowing limits, to be set for that financial year in 
accordance with statute and the CIPFA Prudential Code 

e. arrange the borrowing and investments of the Council in such a 
manner as to comply with the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management and the Council’s Treasury Management Policy 
Statement and its annual Strategy 

f. make all investments, borrowings and other financing transactions only 
in the name of the Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 275

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 83 

3. Leasing and Similar Credit Arrangements 
 

Leasing and other similar credit arrangements, including new or extended 
leases of land and property, may only be entered into with the written consent 
of the Director of Resources.  Such arrangements may be defined for this 
purpose as any lease, contract hire or other contract or series of contracts 
under which the use of an asset is obtained in exchange for a series of 
payments which extend beyond the end of the following financial year. 

 

Page 276

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 84 

Section 23: Pay and Conditions of Employment 
 

 
WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 
Staffing costs are the largest single item of expenditure for most Council services.  It 
is therefore important that payments are accurate, timely, made only where they are 
due and that payments accord with individuals’ conditions of employment.  It is also 
important that all payments are accurately and completely recorded and accounted 
for and that Members’ allowances are paid in accordance with the scheme adopted 
by Full Council. 
 
Like all organisations, the Council is responsible for ensuring its tax affairs are in 
order. Tax issues are often very complex and the penalties for incorrectly accounting 
for tax can be severe.  It is therefore important for all officers to be aware of their 
role. 
 

 
1. General 
 

Terms and conditions of employment are to be determined by the Council and 
the Director of Resources.  The Director of Resources is responsible for the 
administration of all arrangements for the payment of salaries, pensions, 
travel and subsistence claims and other emoluments to existing and former 
employees, and for all related matters. 

 
2. Deductions from Pay 
 

The Director of Resources will make proper arrangements for all statutory and 
other deductions from pay, including tax, national insurance and pension 
contributions, and payment of such sums to the bodies concerned. 

 
3. Terms of employment 
 

Heads of Service will promptly notify the Director of Resources of: 
 
a. the terms and conditions applying to new contracts of employment 
b. any changes or events affecting the salaries, wages or emoluments of 

the Council’s employees 
c. all resignations, retirements and terminations of employment 

 
4. Provision of Information 
 

Heads of Service will provide to the Director of Resources: 
 
a. all relevant information in an agreed format and within agreed time 

scales to enable the prompt and accurate payment of all elements of 
pay 

b. notification of the impending departure of any employee.  
 

Page 277

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 85 

5. Members’ Allowances 
 

Payments to elected Members of the Council will be made by the Director of 
Resources in accordance with the Council’s Members Allowances Scheme. 

Page 278

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 86 

Section 24: Reports to Members 
 

 

WHY ARE THESE REGULATIONS IMPORTANT? 
 

New and changing policies of the Council result from consideration of reports from 
officers.  Policies could therefore be set on the basis of insufficient or misleading 
information if both the financial and risk management implications have not been 
considered, and if commitments are made these could lead to financial difficulties for 
the Council. 
 

 
1. Reports will only be put before the Council, Committees, Forum or Working 

Parties Members if the financial and risk management implications for the 
Council have been considered and presented fairly in the report.  Informal 
advice to Members will also have regard to any significant financial 
implications. 

 
2. Consultation will take place as appropriate between the authors of reports, the 

Director of Resources and any other Heads of Service affected, in good time 
for any financial and risk management implications to be properly identified. 

 
3. Where there are no financial or risk management implications or they are 

negligible, the report will say so. 
 

 

Examples of proposals with potential financial implications 
 

Broadly speaking any actual or proposed action or decision that affects the Council’s 
finances in any way has a financial implication. 
 

Listed below are examples of actions or decisions that are likely to have a financial 
implication. However this list is not exhaustive and it should be borne in mind that 
other areas of action or decision will undoubtedly have financial implications too. 
 

 Anything that affects the current year’s budget or capital programme, for 
example: 
 a new service 
 an improved service level 
 cessation of a service 
 a reduction in service level 
 a new capital project 
 

 Anything that affects the budget or capital programme of future years, for 
example: 
 ongoing net cost of a new or improved service 
 ongoing net revenue cost of a new capital project 
 reduced ongoing effect of service cessation or reduction 
 reduced ongoing effect of the sale or disposal of a capital asset 
 
 

Page 279

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



Part 4 Version 9 (September 2021) Page 87 

 Anything that affects the Council’s level of income, for example: 
 an increase or reduction in charges 
 introduction of a charge for a service currently provided free 
 free provision of a service currently provided at a charge 

 
 Anything that affects the Council’s ability to recover VAT, for example: 

 provision of a new exempt or partly exempt service 
 a new capital project or existing capital asset to be used for exempt or partly 

exempt purposes 
 transfer of a service or undertaking to another body 
 See Section 12 for more detail 
 

 Anything that affects the Council’s entitlement to government grant, for example: 
 action which may result in an increase or reduction of grant entitlement 
 

 Anything that enables the Council to attract outside funding from any source, for 
example: 
 a new partnership 
 a new third party funding arrangement or a new agency arrangement 
 

 Anything that could potentially expose the Council to legal action, government 
surcharge or other financial penalty, for example: 
 an action which could be subject to legal challenge 
 an action which could lead to fines or penalties being imposed on the Council 
 

 Any action that may result in the payment of redundancy or other staff severance 
costs, for example: 
 cessation of a service leading to a surplus of staff 
 reduction in a service level leading to a surplus of staff 
 externalisation of a service (including where TUPE applies) 
 

 Any action that would affect the market value of a Council asset, for example: 
 a reduction in the maintenance level of an asset leading to a lower asset 

value 
 

 Any action likely to increase the Council’s insurance costs, for example: 
 the use of a Council asset for what is perceived to be a higher risk purpose 
 a worsening claims record 

 
 
 

Page 280

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



 

Part 4 Version 9 (March 2021) Page 88 

 

 
Page 281

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Barrow Borough Council Contract Standing Orders 
 
1. Introduction and Basic Principles 

1.1 Barrow Borough Council (“the Council) has a devolved procurement service.  
Corporate Procurement keeps control of the key documentation such as the 
Procurement Strategy and provides advice and guidance on process (Including the 
Procurement Handbook), with responsibility for operational procurement sitting with 
Procuring Officers across each of the Council service areas. 

1.2 These Rules are standing orders pursuant to s.135 of the Local Government Act 1972. 
These Rules must be read in conjunction with the Council’s wider Constitution, and 
any guidance documents issued by Corporate Procurement. 

1.3 Compliance with the documents referenced at 1.2 is mandatory for all Members and 
Officers of the Council, who will ensure that all procurement activity is legally 
compliant, transparent, fair, and competitive. Members and Officers of the Council 
must act in a manner which is accountable, consistent, efficient, and responsive. If any 
Officer does not follow these Rules, this may result in disciplinary action being brought 
against such an employee and/or senior officer responsible for ensuring compliance. 

1.4 All procurement activity shall adhere to the principles of non-discrimination, 
transparency, equal treatment, and proportionality, and shall comply with UK law, the 
Council’s Constitution including these Rules, Financial Regulations, Codes of Conduct, 
and any guidance provided by Corporate Procurement. 

1.5 Through the application of these Rules, Members and Officers of the Council will 
ensure that the Council obtains best value and addresses, in its procurement activity, 
the local requirements and aspirations for the Borough, which are agreed by Members 
from time to time and referred to as ‘corporate priorities’. 

1.6 These rules apply to all expenditure for the awarding of Contracts, Framework 
Agreements, DPS’, or PDPS’ for Supplies, Services, Works, or Concessions where the 
Council is the contracting authority or commissioner, regardless of the origin of 
funding for that expenditure. This includes any agent, consultant, or contractual 
partner acting on behalf of the Council for any procurement expenditure. 

1.7 Corporate Procurement shall be responsible for the periodic review of these Rules and 
may present recommendations for amendment of these Rules for consideration by the 
Council and subject to the Council’s ratification processes. 

2. Interpretation & Definitions 

2.1 Interpretation of these Rules and determination of any procedures to be followed as 
described in these Rules are the responsibility of Corporate Procurement who, in cases 
of doubt, may seek advice from Monitoring Officer, Section 151 Officer and/or Internal 
Audit. 

2.2 Any sums of money stated in these rules are exclusive of Value Added Tax, unless 
otherwise stated. 

2.3 In these Rules, the words or phrases below have the following meanings:  

Agreement Means a legally binding agreement between 
the Council and the Contractor for the 
provision of all Supplies, Services, the 
execution of Works, or Concessions and which 
incorporates the terms and conditions under 

Page 283

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



which the Supplies, Services, execution of 
Works and Concessions will be provided. This 
includes Contracts, Framework Agreements, 
Dynamic Purchasing Systems, and Pseudo-
Dynamic Purchasing Systems 

Agreement Extension Form Means the form supplied by Corporate 
Procurement for the purpose of recording the 
extension of an Agreement 

Best Value Has the same meaning as that defined in the 
Local Government Act 1999 as amended from 
time to time 

Bidders Means an economic operator that submits a 
quote or tender 

Call-off Means an order made/call off Contract entered 
into  under a Framework Agreement or DPS 

Concessions Means the granting of a right (Exclusive or 
otherwise) to an economic operator to exploit 
works or services provided for their own gain 
with or without payment 

Contract Means a legally binding agreement between 
the Council and the Contractor for the 
procurement by the Council of all Supplies, 
Services, the execution of Works and which 
incorporates the terms and conditions under 
which the Supplies, Services, execution of 
Works and Concessions will be provided 

Contracts Finder Means the web-based portal provided for the 
purposes of the Regulations or on behalf of the 
Cabinet Office 

Corporate Procurement Means the centralised procurement function of 
the Council 

Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) Means an electronic system procured using the 
restricted procedure for the purchase of 
commonly used Supplies, Services, or Works 
which are generally available on the market 
and objectively defined to which all bidders 
who meet the requirements of the selection 
criteria must be admitted during the entire 
period of the validity of the system 

Economic Operator Means any natural or legal person or public 
entity or group of such person sand/or entities, 
including any temporary association of 
undertaking, which offers the execution of 
Works and/or work, the supply of Supplies or 
the provision of Services on the market 

Page 284

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



Exemption  Means the release of the obligation to comply 
with these Rules  

Exemption Form Means the form supplied by Corporate 
Procurement for the purpose of recording the 
Exemption 

Financial Regulations Means the written code of procedures forming 
part of the Council’s constitution which provide 
a framework for proper financial management 
and which set out the rules on accounting, 
audit, administrative procedures and budgeting 
systems 

FOI Freedom of Information Act 2000 

Framework Agreement Means an agreement between one or more 
authorities and one or more economic 
operators, the purpose of which is to establish 
the terms governing Call-Off Contracts to be 
awarded during a given period, in particular 
with regard to price and, where appropriate, 
the quantity envisaged 

GDPR General Data Protection Regulations 

Internal Audit The internal audit function of the Council. 

IR35 Means Off-payroll working rules. 

Key Decision Has the same meaning as set out in the 
Councils constitution. 

Modification Means any variation to a Contract, DPS or 
Framework Agreement, excluding a pre-agreed 
extension. 

Modification Form Means the form supplied by Corporate 
Procurement for the purpose of recording the 
authorisation of a Modification. 

Monitoring Officer Means the Officer appointed under section 5 of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989, 
or their substitute as set out under Scheme of 
Delegation. 

Officer Means any employee of the Council which shall 
include any person engaged by the Council to 
act as an agent or consultant on its behalf. 

Pseudo-Dynamic Purchasing 
System (PDPS) 

Means an altered version of an electronic 
system that works similarly to a DPS, usually 
created for Services that fall under the Light 
Touch regime set out in Regulations. 

Procurement Checklist Means a document which provides details of 
the procurement activity, authority to 
commence, and summary of the outcomes.  

Page 285

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



Procurement Handbook Means the document which Corporate 
Procurement may issue from time to time to 
provide guidance on procurement.  

Procurement Strategy  

 

Means the document which the Council may 
issue from time to time to set out its 
procurement objectives. 

Procuring Officer 

 

Any Officer who has delegated Authority to 
undertake procurement actions, e.g. the Cost 
Centre Manager. 

Quote Means a formal offer submitted by a Bidder to 
supply Supplies, Services, execute Works or 
operate a Concession Contract at a defined 
price. 

Regulations Means the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
or Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 as 
appropriate, and as may be amended from 
time to time. 

Rules Means these Standing Orders. 

Scheme of Delegation Means the scheme identified within the 
Council’s constitution which delegates powers 
and duties of the Council to officers under 
Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 
and other powers enabling such delegation 
necessary for the discharge of the Council’s 
functions. 

Section 151 Officer Means the Officer appointed by the Council 
pursuant to s151 of the Local Government Act 
1972, or their substitute as set out under 
Scheme of Delegation. 

Services Means the time, effort and expertise required, 
by the Council, from time to time, and supplied 
by a Contractor. 

Social Value Means to have regard to economic, social and 
environmental well-being in connection with 
public services contracts; and for connected 
purposes. 

Specification Means the outputs, outcomes, and the scope 
and nature of the Supplies, Services, and 
execution of Works or Concession Contract 
required by the Council from a procurement 
activity. 

Supplies Means an inherently useful tangible item 
required by the Council, from time to time. 

Threshold Means the relevant threshold as stipulated by 
the Regulations. 

Page 286

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



Tender Means a formal offer submitted by a Bidder to 
the Council at a stated price in response to a 
Specification to supply Supplies, Services, 
execute Works or operate a Concession 
Contract. 

The Chest Means the Council’s e-procurement system. 

TUPE Means the Transfer of Undertakings 
(Protection of Employment) Regulations 2016 
as amended from time to time. 

Value for Money Means the optimum combination of whole-life 
costs, price quality and benefits to meet the 
Council’s requirement.  Such a term equates to 
the duty of Best Value as defined by the Local 
Government Act 1999 as amended form time 
to time. 

Works Means the provision of physical activity which 
is directed towards the production of 
accomplishment of something by the 
Contractor, from time to time. 

 

3. Contracts to which these Rules do not apply 

3.1 These Rules to not apply to: 

3.1.1 Employment contracts; 

3.1.2 Contracts relating solely to the disposal or acquisition of securities; 

3.1.3 Contracts for the acquisition of an interest in land or property; 

3.1.4 Contracts for the appointment of Counsel or experts for the purpose of 
potential legal proceedings; 

3.1.5 Qualifying contracts between public sector entities; 

4. Authority to Carry Out Procurement Activity 

4.1 All procurement activity carried out on behalf of the Council must be carried out by a 
Procuring Officer with appropriate delegated authority as set out in the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation.  The Procuring Officer must ensure that all necessary and 
correct authorisations to procure has been properly obtained, including Member 
decisions where relevant, prior to the initiation of any procurement activity. 

4.2 The Procuring Officer may be required to provide evidence of any decision made and 
any authorisation granted in respect of any procurement activity. 

5. Engagement with Corporate Procurement 

5.1 The Procuring Officer must engage the services of Corporate Procurement for all 
procurement activity equal to, or in excess of £50,000 and submit a Procurement 
Checklist (Part 1) prior to commencing the relevant procurement activity.  By 
submitting the Procurement Checklist, the Procuring Officer is confirming that they 
have the delegated authority to carry out that procurement activity. 

Page 287

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



5.2 The Procuring Officer may engage the services of Corporate Procurement for any 
procurement activity below £50,000 in accordance with the procedure described in 
rule 5.1. 

5.3 The Procuring Officer must ensure that any agreement entered into by the Council 
with a value in excess of £5,000 that is caught by these Rules, is entered on to the 
Council’s Contracts Register in accordance with Rule 17. 

5.4 For all agreements over £5,000, prior to the commencement of the agreement the 
Procuring Officer must submit to Corporate Procurement the completed Procurement 
Checklist (Parts 1 & 2) and a copy of the signed contract between the Council and the 
Supplier.  In the absence of a formal signed contract, a copy of the Purchase Order 
must be provided to Corporate Procurement. 

6. Pre-Procurement 

Considerations 

6.1 The Procuring Officer must give consideration to the following: 

6.1.1 The need for the expenditure, its priority, and whether the purchase is a Key 
Decision; 

6.1.2 The objectives of the requirement, and any risks associated with it and how 
to manage them; 

6.1.3 Which procurement method is most likely to achieve the purchasing 
objectives including use of existing Contracts, Framework Agreements, DPS’, 
or other arrangements; 

6.1.4 The supply market and whether there are any potential local providers; 

6.1.5 Social Value; 

6.1.6 TUPE and consultation with HR and / or Legal Services; 

6.1.7 IR35 and other tax issues; 

 

Specification 

6.2 The Procuring Officer must ensure that an appropriate Specification commensurate to 
the scope of the Supplies, Services, execution of Works, or Concession required is 
written prior to the commencement of any procurement activity.  The Procuring Officer 
may seek guidance from Corporate Procurement in respect of the structure of the 
Specification and shall ensure that it is drafted in accordance with the standards 
relevant to the proposed nature of the Supplies, Services, Works, or Concessions 
required. 

6.3 The Procuring Officer must ascertain any relevant British or international standards 
which may apply to the requirement and must include those standards or other 
equivalents in the Specification where they are necessary to describe the required 
quality. 

 

Market Research and Consultation 

6.4 Consultation with the supply market, in general terms about the nature, level and 
standard of the supply, contract packaging, and other relevant matters, prior to 
issuing competition documents is acceptable provided this does not prejudice or create 

Page 288

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



a conflict of interest regarding any potential Bidders. The Procuring Officer shall follow 
advice provided by Corporate Procurement from time to time on how best to 
undertake this activity and mitigate these risks. 

 

Estimating Value 

6.5 The total value of the proposed procurement activity shall be estimated in accordance 
with the formula: 

6.5.1 Supplies, Services, and Work: Annual estimated value to be awarded under the 
arrangement multiplied by the proposed agreement period, inclusive of any 
options to extend and any optional extras / future phases. 

6.5.2 Concessions: Annual revenue to concessionaire (including any potential gifts, 
payments, or income to Concessionaire from Council, customers, fines, grants, 
other 3rd parties etc. and including Assets they are provided with) multiplied 
by the proposed agreement period, inclusive of any options to extend. 

6.6 The procurement activity shall not be split or sub-divided in such a manner as to avoid 
being caught by these Rules or any part of these Rules, nor shall the total value be 
calculated in a manner which deliberately avoids exceeding any value threshold 
identified in these Rules. 

 

Social Value 

6.7 The Procuring Officer shall have regard to the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 
in all appropriate procurement activity.  In such appropriate procurement activity the 
Procuring Officer shall determine how the procurement activity under consideration 
can improve the social, economic and environmental wellbeing of the Borough and the 
local area in conjunction with the delivery of the subject matter of the procurement 
activity itself. 

6.8 The Procuring Officer shall follow advice as provided by Corporate Procurement from 
time to time on how best to consider, manage, monitor, and measure Social Value. 

 

Award Criteria 

6.9 The Procuring Officer must define an award criteria that is appropriate to the 
procurement activity and designed to secure an outcome ensuring Value for Money for 
the Council.  The award of contract shall be based on the Most Economically 
Advantageous Tender (MEAT) assessed from the Council’s view of the requirement in 
accordance with one of the following: 

6.9.1 Best price-quality ratio; 

6.9.2 Price / cost / income; 

6.10 Price / cost criteria may consist of: price, cost, and/or lifecycle costing; 

6.11 Quality criteria may consist of: qualitative, environmental and/or social aspects, 
technical merit, aesthetic and functional characteristics, accessibility, design, 
innovative characteristics, and trading conditions, how staff will be utilised to deliver 
requirements, after sales service, technical assistance, delivery conditions, delivery 
processes, and delivery period / period of completion. 

Page 289

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



6.12 The Procuring Officer must include a Social Value weighting of at least 10% in all 
procurement activity of £50,000 or over.  Exceptions to this shall only be made 
following consultation with and as authorised by Monitoring Officer and Section 151 
Officer. 

 

7 Pre-Arranged Routes to Market 

7.1 Where, following the considerations conducted in accordance with Rule 6.1 and/or 
6.2, it is determined that the route to market shall be by direct award or mini-
competition under a suitable established Framework Agreement, DPS, or PDPS, the 
Procuring Officer must ensure that the rules of the Framework Agreement, DPS, or 
PDPS are followed.  This will supersede the requirements of Rule 8 and 9. 

7.2 A Framework Agreement, DPS, or PDPS must be approved by Corporate Procurement 
prior to being used and will be considered suitable where 

7.2.1 It has been established by the Council in accordance with these Rules; or 

7.2.2 It has been established by another contracting authority in accordance with 
UK legislation and the Council has been identified as an eligible contracting 
authority. 

8 Thresholds 
 

Threshold Value Route to Market 

Low Value Procurement Below £5,000 2 quotes 

£5,000- £49,999 3 quotes 

Sub-Threshold 
Procurement 

£50,000 – Threshold Request for Quotation 

Invitation to Tender 

Above Threshold Determined by 
Regulations (Inclusive of 
VAT) 

In line with Regulations 

 

9 Low Value Procurement (Below £50,000) 
 

9.1 Low value procurement is defined as any procurement activity where the total value 
estimated in accordance with Rule 6.5 is below £50,000. 

9.2 Where the total value is estimated to be below £5,000, the Procuring Officer shall 
obtain a minimum of two quotations and shall record the process followed and make 
evidence available to Internal Audit if/when requested.  Acceptance of a quotation 
may be made by the issue of a Purchase Order by the Council. 

9.3 Where the total value is estimated to be between £5,000 and £49,999.99, the 
Procuring Officer shall obtain a minimum of three quotations in accordance with Rule 

Page 290

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



12. Evidence of the process  followed must be made available to Internal Audit if/when 
requested 

 

10 Sub-Threshold Procurement (£50,000-Threshold) 

10.1 Sub-threshold procurement is defined as any procurement activity where the total 
value estimated in accordance with Rule 6.5 is between £50,000 and the relevant 
Regulations Threshold. 

10.2 The Procuring Officer shall, in accordance with Rule 5.1 send a Procurement Checklist 
to Corporate Procurement. The Procuring Officer shall, in conjunction with Corporate 
Procurement, agree on the risks present with the requirement and market conditions 
and determine the most appropriate route to market. 

10.3 The Procuring Officer shall, in conjunction with Corporate Procurement, and on the 
basis of route to market agreed in 10.2, undertake either a Request for Quotation 
process in accordance with Rule 12 or a formal tender process in accordance with Rule 
13.  

 

11 Above-Threshold Procurement 

11.1 Above-threshold procurement is defined as any procurement activity where the total 
value estimated in accordance with Rule 6.5 is above the relevant Regulations 
Threshold. 

11.2 The Procuring Officer shall, in accordance with Rule 5.1 send the Procurement 
Checklist to Corporate Procurement. The Procuring Officer shall, in conjunction with 
Corporate Procurement, undertake the procurement activity in accordance with the 
most appropriate procedure permitted by the Regulations. 

 

12 Request for Quotation 

12.1 For all Low Value Procurements the Procuring Officer shall conduct the Request for 
Quotation (RfQ), assistance from Corporate Procurement may be requested in 
accordance with Rule 5.2. 

12.2 All Sub-Threshold RfQs should be issued through The Chest. .  If The Chest cannot be 
used then approval should be sought from Corporate Procurement. 

12.3 For all Sub-Threshold Procurements, where an RfQ shall be advertised to the open 
market it shall be advertised on The Chest. 

12.4 For all Sub-Threshold Procurements of £25,000 or more, where it to be advertised to 
the open market is must also be advertised on Contracts Finder as a minimum. 

12.5 All RfQs that are not being openly advertised, must have a minimum of 3 
organisations invited to bid, ideally more. 

12.6 An RfQ must include as a minimum: 

12.6.1 An appropriate description of the Supplies, Services, execution of Works, or 
Concession, setting out the Council’s requirements and length of contract; 

12.6.2 The terms and conditions that will apply, in accordance with Rule 18; 

12.6.3 A description of the award procedure and the applicable evaluation criteria; 

Page 291

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



12.6.4 Details of the time and date by which the quotation is to be submitted; and 

12.6.5 Confirmation that the quotation is prepared at the Bidder’s expense and that 
the Council is not bound to accept any quotation submitted; 

12.7 All RfQs must be issued simultaneously to Bidders.  Any supplementary information 
should be provided on the same basis. 

12.8 All quotations obtained must be in writing and shall be stored on The Chest. 

 

Pre- and Post-Quotation Clarifications  

12.9 All pre- and post-quotation clarifications must be conducted in writing, or in a meeting 
recorded by the Procuring Officer or their substitute (As set out in the Scheme of 
delegation).  All clarifications and the written record of any meetings must be stored 
on The Chest.  Where a meeting is required, there should be a minimum of two 
Officers of the Council in attendance, one of whom shall be the Procuring Officer. 

12.10 Post-quotation clarifications may be undertaken with a Bidder only where it is essential 
to clarify any fundamental aspect of the quotation submission before the completion of 
the evaluation process. 

 

13 Invitation to Tender 

13.1 For all Sub-Threshold Procurements the Procuring Officer shall conduct the Invitation 
to Tender (ITT).  

13.2 All ITTs shall be advertised on The Chest and on Contracts Finder as a minimum. 

13.3 An ITT must include as a minimum: 

13.3.1 An appropriate description of the Supplies, Services, execution of Works, or 

Concession, setting out the Council’s requirements and length of contract; 

13.3.2 The terms and conditions that will apply, in accordance with Rule 16; 

13.3.3 A description of the award procedure and the applicable evaluation criteria; 

13.3.4 A form upon which the Bidder can provide details of its tender (“Form of 
Tender”); 

13.3.5 A form upon which the Bidder can confirm that any particulars of its tender 
have not been disclosed to a third party other than for the necessary purpose 
of preparation of its tender, including a declaration of canvassing and non-
collusion; 

13.3.6 A description of the method by which any errors discovered in a submitted 
tender will be dealt with by the Council; and 

13.3.7 Confirmation that the tender is prepared at the Bidder’s expense, that the 
Council is not bound to accept any tender submitted and that the Council is 
able to award in whole, in part, or not at all; 

13.4 All ITTs must be issued simultaneously to Bidders.  Any supplementary information 
should be provided on the same basis. 

13.5 All communications with Bidders in respect of an ITT, its subsequent evaluation, and 
award must be issued through, and recorded on, The Chest. 

 

Page 292

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



Pre- and Post-Tender Clarifications  

13.6 All pre- and post-tender clarifications must be conducted in writing, or in a meeting 
recorded by the Procuring Officer.  All clarifications and the written record of any 
meetings must be stored on The Chest.  Where a meeting is required, there should be 
a minimum of two Officers of the Council in attendance, one of whom shall be the 
Procuring Officer. 

13.7 Post-tender clarifications may be undertaken with a Bidder only where it is essential to 
clarify any fundamental aspect of the tender submission before the completion of the 
tender evaluation process. 

 

Verifying and Opening Tenders 

13.8 All sub-Threshold and above-Threshold ITTs shall be opened and/or verified by 
Corporate Procurement or Democratic Services via The Chest. 

13.9 No paper tenders will be accepted.  Only in exceptional circumstances and where 
there is agreement from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer prior to the 
tender being issued will paper tenders be allowed. 

 

14 Submission and Receipt of Quotations and Tenders 

14.1 Bidders must be given a reasonable period, consistent with the complexity of the 
requirement, in which to prepare and submit a proper quotation or tender. 

14.2 If a quotation or tender is considered to be abnormally low, the Procuring Officer must 
take advice from Corporate Procurement on how to proceed.  Any decision taken must 
be recorded and stored on The Chest. 

14.3 Any quotation or tender submitted after the date and time specified for submission in 
the RfQ or ITT shall only be accepted for consideration by the Council following 
agreement by the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer. 

14.4 If fewer than the required minimum number of quotations or tenders is received, the 
Procuring Officer must take advice from the Corporate Procurement.  Any decision 
taken must be recorded and stored on The Chest. 

 

15 Amendment of Quotations and Tenders 

15.1 The Council may accept amendments to quotations and tenders, providing such 
amendments are made before the date and time specified for submission in the RfQ or 
ITT.  Bidders submitting amendments in accordance with this Rule should resubmit a 
new quotation or tender and clearly identify which quotation or tender is correct and 
shall be considered by the Council. 

15.2 An amendment to a quotation or tender after the date and time specified for 
submission in the RfQ or ITT shall be limited to correction of arithmetical error.  
Approval for any such amendment shall be obtained from the Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer, recorded and stored on The Chest. 

 

16 Evaluation of Quotations and Tenders 

Page 293

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



16.1 All compliant quotations and tenders, including quotations obtained by mini-
competition under Framework Agreements, DPS’, or PDPS’, must be checked by the 
Procuring Officer to ensure that they are arithmetically correct.  Arithmetical errors 
shall be notified to the relevant Bidders.  Arithmetical errors shall be dealt with as 
follows: 

16.1.1 Lump sum price.  The Bidder shall confirm or withdraw the quotation or 
tender; or 

16.1.2 Quantities and rates.  The Bidder shall resubmit the quotation or tender, 
correcting the arithmetical errors; the revised total will be used for the 
purpose of evaluation and, where applicable, acceptance. 

16.2 All evaluations including an explanation of the scoring shall be recorded and stored on 
The Chest. 

16.3 For Low Value and Sub-Threshold Procurements, following evaluation, the Procuring 
Officer may obtain a best and final offer from all Bidders, a range of Bidders, or only 
the Bidder whose submitted quotation or tender is the most economically 
advantageous, whichever is deemed most appropriate.  This process must be run by 
Corporate Procurement and following the agreed process.  

 

17 Contracting Formalities 

Award 

17.1 Subject to the Council’s ability to proceed to award, that award shall be made on the 
basis of the winning quotation or tender in accordance with the evaluation criteria 
used. 

17.2 Where the quotation or tender is not within the approved budget, but where additional 
budgetary provision is available, the Procuring Officer may proceed to award subject 
to receipt of approval from the Section 151 Officer and in accordance with the 
Council’s Financial Regulations. 

17.3 Approval to award must be given in accordance with the Council’s Scheme of 
Delegation. Approval to award may require a Key Decision, if such approval was not 
sought prior to the procurement activity commencing. 

17.4 The Procurement Checklist must be updated with the award decision. 

17.5 Award of an Above-Threshold agreement shall comply with the process defined for the 
selected procedure in the Regulations, including adherence to any standstill procedure 
and the publication of award procedure. 

17.6 The award of any openly advertised RfQ or ITT in excess of £25,000 shall be published 
on Contracts Finder by the Procuring Officer in a reasonable timescale, via The Chest. 

17.7 Once the decision to award a quotation or tender is made, each Bidder must be 
notified in writing of the outcome.  All Bidders must be notified simultaneously and as 
soon as possible of the intention to award the Contract to the successful Bidder(s). 

17.8 All Bidders should be informed of the relative advantages of the winning quotation(s) 
or tender(s) in comparison to their own whilst retaining confidentiality. 

 

 

Page 294

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



 

 

17.9 The Procuring Officer is responsible for providing the required notifications to Bidders 

Enquiries Concerning the Award Process 

17.10 The identity of Bidders and confidentiality of process shall be preserved at all times 
insofar as this is compatible with the Councils’ obligations under the FOIA and GDPR. 

17.11 If the Council receives a request for information to the relevant Officer of the Council 
who deals with such requests.  The Procuring Officer will be responsible for 
responding to the request. 

17.12 Any challenges, complaints or requests for feedback, clarification, or further 
information must be referred to Corporate Procurement who will advise on how to 
respond and who will notify the Monitoring Officer. 

Agreement Provisions 

17.13 All Contracts below £10,000 may be awarded by a Council issued Purchase Order. All 
Agreements equal to and exceeding £10,000 must be in writing and set out the 
parties’ rights, obligations and risk allocations.  All Agreements shall be on the 
Council’s standard terms and conditions appropriate to the procurement activity 
undertaken, unless otherwise agreed with the Monitoring Officer. 

Agreement Formalities 

17.14 Once a decision to award has been made in accordance with Rule 16.3, the 
Agreement must be either: 

17.14.1 A Purchase Order (where appropriate and the value is below £10,000) 

17.14.2 Signed by Officer(s) of the Council authorised to award the Agreement in 
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation, or 

17.14.3 Sealed in accordance with Rules 16.21  

17.15 Every contract having an estimated total value of £10,000 and above, and any other 
case where the Monitoring Officer so decides shall be in writing. 

17.16 Every such contract entered into by the Council shall be in a form approved by the 
Monitoring Officer and shall be signed by a duly authorised officer(s) of the Council or 
made under the common seal of the Council in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution.  The Monitoring Officer will specify when electronic signatures are 
appropriate 

17.17 Two copies of the Agreement, including all schedules and appendices must each be 
signed by all parties.  The Procuring Officer should transmit either two printed and 
bound copies or an electronic copy of the entire Agreement to the successful Bidder 
for signature.  If the transmission is electronic, the Bidder shall be asked to print and 
bind two copies prior to signature. 

17.18 The Procuring Officer must ensure that the person signing on behalf of the Bidder has 
requisite legal authority to bind the Bidder. 

17.19 Before arranging for the returned copies of the Agreement to be signed or sealed on 
behalf of the Council, the Procuring Officer must check that the returned signed 
Agreement copies have not been amended or altered by the Bidder without prior 
written agreement by the Council. 

Page 295

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



17.20 All Agreements must be signed prior to commencement.  In exceptional 
circumstances, the Monitoring Officer may approve commencement of an Agreement 
prior to finalisation of these agreement formalities. 

17.21 Once executed, the Council shall retain one original of the complete Agreement 
documents and the Procuring Officer shall ensure that one copy of the complete 
Agreement documents is be provided to the Bidder.  An electronic copy of the 
Agreement must be stored in the agreed central location. 

17.22 A Purchase Order must be raised by the Procuring Officer for all Agreements incurring 
expenditure.  That Purchase Order must reference the terms and conditions of 
agreement signed. 

Agreement under Seal 

17.23 A contract must be sealed in one of the following circumstances: 

17.23.1 The total value is in excess of £150,000 

17.23.2 The Council wishes to extend the liability period under the Agreement and 
enforce its terms for up to 12 years; or 

17.23.3 The price to be paid or received under the Agreement is a nominal price and 
does not reflect the value of the Supplies or Services; or 

17.23.4 There is any doubt about the authority of the person signing for the other 
party. 

17.24 The seal must be affixed in accordance with the provisions of the Council’s 
Constitution. 

 

Transfer / Novation of Agreement 

17.25 An Agreement shall only be transferred / novated if such transfer is approved by the 
Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer, or their nominees in accordance with the 
Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

 

18 Contracts Register 

18.1 All Contracts in excess of £5,000 awarded by the Council must be published on the 
Council’s Contracts Register in accordance with the Local Government Transparency 
Code 2015. 

18.2 The Council’s Contracts Register shall be maintained by Corporate Procurement. 

18.3 It is the responsibility of the Procuring Officer to ensure that they have informed 
Corporate Procurement of the Agreements they are responsible for and provided them 
with the information necessary to maintain the Council’s Contracts Register 
accordingly. 

 

19 Extending Agreements 

19.1 Where an Agreement entered into by the Council in accordance with these Rules 
includes a provision for extension beyond its initial term, such extension shall only be 
made following consultation with and as authorised by the Monitoring Officer and 
Section 151 Officer. 

Page 296

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



19.2 Any extension shall only be in accordance with the provisions set out for such 
extension in the original Agreement. 

19.3 No procurement activity connected with the proposed extension should be 
commenced, nor should any commitment be made to the supplier, prior to 
authorisation. 

19.4 Where an Agreement entered into by the Council does not include a provision for 
extension, or all extension provisions have been used, then this will be considered a 
Modification. 

 

 

Extension Procedure 

19.5 The Procuring Officer must complete and submit an Agreement Extension Form 
providing full details of the extension request and any supporting/supplementary 
documentation. 

19.6 An extension request will not be approved until the extension form has been signed by 
the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer, or their nominees in accordance with 
the Council’s Scheme of Delegation. 

19.7 The completed and signed Extension Form, approving the extension and stating the 
reasons for that approval, shall be stored on The Chest or stored in central location. 

 

20 Modification of Agreements 

20.1 An existing Agreement shall only be modified during its term following consultation 
and approval by the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer. 

20.2 Any modifications should be necessary and reasonable in the circumstances, and the 
Procuring Officer should be satisfied that it offers value for money and they have 
explored the delivery of additional Social Value from the supplier where appropriate. 

20.3 Any above-Threshold modifications must comply with Regulation 72 of the 
Regulations. 

20.4 No procurement activity connected with the proposed modification should be 
commenced, nor should any commitment be made to the supplier, prior to 
authorisation. 

20.5 The Modification Process is set out from Rule 21.6 

21 Exemptions from the Standing Orders Rules 

21.1 An Exemption from these Rules will only be permitted in the following circumstances: 

21.1.1 The arrangement is a permitted exemption from the requirement for 
competition contained in legislation; or 

21.1.2 To comply with legal requirements; or 

21.1.3 The arrangement is required to fulfil Returning Officer duties 

21.1.4 The Agreement is for Supplies, Services or the execution of Works which are 
required in circumstances of extreme urgency or unforeseeable emergency 
involving risks to persons, property or serious disruption to Council services; 
or 

Page 297

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



21.1.5 Repairs or parts; if the only option is to repair or buy new parts for existing 
equipment or buildings, and there is only one supplier; or 

21.1.6 Where a service review includes the intention to co-terminate relevant 
Agreements, and where required to facilitate the Local Government Reform 
requirements; or 

21.1.7 Proprietary or patented Supplies or Services are proposed to be purchased 
which are only obtainable from one person, and it can be demonstrated that 
no reasonably satisfactory alternative to those proprietary or patented 
Supplies is available; or 

21.1.8 The Procuring Officer can demonstrate that no genuine competition can be 
obtained in respect of the purchase of particular Supplies, Services or 
execution of Works; or 

21.1.9 The Procuring Officer can demonstrate that the Services or execution of 
Works are of such a specialist nature that they can only be carried out by one 
person (e.g. statutory undertakers); or 

21.1.10 Supplies are proposed to be purchased by or on behalf of the Council at a 
public auction; or 

21.1.11 Supplies or Services are proposed to be purchased which are of a specialist or 
unique nature (such as antiquities for museums or a particular performance 
artist); or 

21.2 Where the Agreement is of a value where the Regulations apply, in addition to the                                                                                           
above circumstances at 20.1, the requirements of Regulation 32 (Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015) must also be met. There is no legal route to seek an Exemption 
for a Concession. 

21.3 Guidance shall be sought from Corporate Procurement prior to the commencement 
of any procurement activity connected with the proposed Exemption. 

21.4 An Exemption from these Rules cannot be authorised where it would contravene the 
Regulations. 

21.5 No commitment shall be made by the Council to the proposed Supplier prior to 
authorisation of a requested Exemption. 

 

    Exemption and Modification Procedure 

21.6 The Procuring Officer must complete and submit to Corporate Procurement for 
consideration and review, an Exemption Form / Modification Form providing full 
details of the request and any supporting/supplementary documentation. 

21.7 A request will not be approved until the form has been signed by the Monitoring 
Officer and Section 151 Officer, or their nominees in accordance with the Council’s 
Scheme of Delegation. 

21.8 In circumstances of extreme urgency, the Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer 
may authorise an Exemption / Modification in writing without the need to complete a 
form before the award is made. The Exemption/Modification form must be submitted 
be completed as per 20.6 as soon as is reasonably practicable, and including 
reasoning for the extreme urgency.   

21.9 The completed and signed form, approving the request and stating the reasons for 
that approval, shall be stored on The Chest. 

Page 298

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



21.10 The Procuring Officer shall ensure that the agreement awarded / modified following 
agreement to a request complies with Rules 16.13 to 16.23. 

 

 

 

22 Declarations of Interest, Anti-Bribery & Corruption 

22.1 Members and Officers of the Council must declare any interest which could influence 
their judgement in relation to procurement activity in accordance with the Council’s 
Codes of Conduct. 

22.2 No gifts or hospitality should be accepted from any Bidders involved in procurement 
activity except in accordance with the Council’s Codes of Conduct. 

 

23 Contract Management 

23.1 All Agreements must have a Council Contract Manager (“Contract Manager”) for the 
entirety of the Contract.  If a named Contract Manager is not identified, the Procuring 
Officer will fulfil the role of Contract Manager. 

23.2 The Contract Manager will be responsible for reviewing, monitoring and evaluating the 
Agreement to ensure that its provisions are being followed and performed in 
accordance with the Council’s requirements with respect to: 

23.2.1 Performance (against agreed KPIs, where relevant, including Social Value 
commitments); 

23.2.2 Compliance with specification and contract; 

23.2.3 Cost; 

23.2.4 Any Best Value duties; 

23.2.5 Continuous Improvement; 

23.2.6 User satisfaction; and 

23.2.7 Risk management 

 

24 Document Retention 

24.1 All records in relation to the award of Agreements with a value of £5,000 or over, their 
associated procurement process, and their supporting documentation shall be stored 
centrally in an electronic filing system to be available for inspection by the Council’s 
internal and external auditors, or an Officer of the Council, immediately upon request. 

24.2 Such records will be retained in accordance with relevant regulations applicable to 
electronic record retention and in accordance with a procurement document retention 
schedule. 

 

Page 299

Agenda Item 14
Appendix 3



This page is intentionally left blank



PART ONE 

Barrow Borough Council  

Executive Committee - 9 March 2022 

Full Council – 22 March 2022 

Extension of Public Space Protection Order 

 
 

Report from:   Jan Sharp, Deputy Director of People & Place 

Report Author:  Caroline Wagstaff, Head of People & Communities 

Wards:    (All Wards); 

 

1.0  Summary and Conclusions  

 Public Space Protection Orders (PSPOs) were introduced in the Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. A PSPO is designed to deal with a 
particular nuisance or problem in an area. The behaviour must be having a 
detrimental effect on the quality of life of those in the community; it must be 
persistent or continuing and it must be unreasonable.  

 
 The Council’s current PSPO is due to expire on 1 April 2022. At any point before 

the expiry of the Order, the Council can extend it by up to three years if they 
consider it is necessary to prevent the original behaviour from occurring or 
recurring. They should consult with local police and any other community 
representatives they think appropriate before doing so.  

 
 This report revisits the terms of the Order (attached at Appendix 1), reviews its 

potential impact, considers the results of the consultation carried out with the 
police, and interested community groups and considers the case for extending the 
Order for a further three years.  

  

2.0  Recommendations  

(1) It is recommended that Executive Committee note the consultation 
exercise undertaken on the proposed three- year extension of the Public 
Spaces Protection Order, which supports the extension of the Proposed 
Order; 
 

(2) That Executive Committee recommend to Council to approve the 
extension of the order, as set out in Appendix 1,  with the minor 
additional wording as set out in paragraph 3.9 of the report for a further 
three years to 1 April 2025. 

 

  

Page 301

Agenda Item 15



3.0 Background and Proposals  

3.1 The current PSPO came into force on 1 April, 2019 and expires three years 
following that date. At any point before the expiry of this three-year period the 
Council can extend the Order by up to three years if they are satisfied, on 
reasonable grounds, that it is necessary to prevent the activities identified in the 
Order from occurring or recurring or to prevent an increase in the frequency or 
seriousness of those activities after that time.  

 
3.2 The extension of the order will assist the Enforcement Officers within the Safe and 

Strong Communities Team in partnership with police officers or police community 
support officers. The newly formed Safe and Strong Communities Team will 
develop protocols around the prescribed activities within the PSPO along with 
training to assist delegated officers to understand how the order should be 
enforced in practice.  

 
3.3  The Safe and Strong Communities Team will use a ‘soft launch’ period as the 

extended order becomes live. This will provide the opportunity to test protocols 
with officers before full implementation. It will also give the Team chance to raise 
awareness of the extended order and the prohibitions within the order within our 
communities.  

 
3.4 The protocols will incorporate expert input on the issues related to the ASB 

activities, and, recognising that there may be other options available to address a 
particular ASB incident, provide guidance on what might be the appropriate 
legislative (or other) tool to use in different circumstances.  

 
3.5 Authorised Officers have the power to issue fixed penalty notices (FPNs) to 

anyone they reasonably believe is in breach of the Order under section 67 of the 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014. A Fixed Penalty Notice of 
£100 can be issued in line with the fine levels for a breach.  

 
3.6 The Council’s approach will be to encourage responsible behaviour and only issue 

FPNs where this guidance is not adhered to. Warnings may often be sufficient, 
and, in many areas, this may be the preferred response. Advice sheets will be 
handed out informing recipients that their behaviour breaches the order giving 
them the chance to comply with the order. 

 
3.7 The Council, on extension of the Order, will use an effective communication 

strategy via various channels to raise awareness about the PSPO. Effective 
communication will assist residents to understand what behaviours are expected 
in particular areas and reduces the need to rely on enforcement measures.  

 
3.8 The extension of the PSPO is aimed at dealing with particular instances of ASB, 

nuisance and problems that are having a detrimental effect on the lives of the local 
communities; this includes individuals and businesses. The PSPO supports our 
Council Plan and Growing Forward report and contributes to the Council’s Vision 
and Values: ‘For our Borough to be a great place to live, work and visit. We will 
achieve this by being a compassionate Council, putting residents at the heart of 
all we do.’ 

Page 302

Agenda Item 15



3.9    Following representation through The Kennel Club’s feedback from the 
consultation, it is recommended to adopt the definition of assistance dogs as 
follows into the final extension order: 
 

 The term ‘Assistance Dog’ shall mean a dog which has been trained to assist 
a person with a disability  
 

 The expression ‘disability’ shall have the meaning prescribed in Section 6 of 
the Equality Act 2010 or as may be defined in any subsequent amendment or 
re-enactment of the legislation. 

 
3.10 Members are requested to consider the extension of the Order as proposed. 
 
4.0 Consultation  

4.1 The Council has used a range of consultation methods over a four-week period to 
reach out to local police, community representatives, Ward Councillors and other 
interested parties within the restricted area identified on the map within the PSPO. 
Consultation responses were received from the following:  

 

 Acting Inspector Joanne Smith - Cumbria Constabulary - Barrow 
Neighbourhood Policing Team said: “I can confirm that following consultation 
with my senior management we have no objections to the Council’s proposal 
to extend the PSPO which will support our partnership work with the Safe and 
Strong Communities Team”.   
 

 The Kennel Club - Their detailed response is attached at Appendix 2. 
 

 Ward Councillors - All the Ward Councillors consulted support the extension 
of the Order.  
 

 Local Resident Group Representatives – All local resident group 
representatives consulted support the extension of the Order. 

 

 The Council’s Safe and Strong Communities Manager, Caroline Kendall 
said: “The extension of the PSPO will enable the Safe and Strong Communities 
Team to more effectively combat dog fouling and certain dog control 
requirements along with challenging anti-social behaviour across the borough.”  

 
5.0  Alternative Options  

5.1 The Council can choose not to extend the order - however this will reduce the tools 
available to the Council to tackle nuisance or ASB in areas having a detrimental 
impact on residents’ lives. This option is not recommended.  

 
6.0 Contribution to Council Plan Priorities  

6.1 The extension of the PSPO links to the Council Plan 2020-2024 and contributes 
to the Council’s Vision and Value “For our Borough to be great place to live work 
and visit” and will assist the Council in meeting the Priority of Place to “Create a 
vibrant, safe and welcoming place where people want to live”. 

Page 303

Agenda Item 15



7.0 Implications  

7.1 Financial, Resources and Procurement  
 
7.1.1 No financial implications are associated with the proposals set out in this report. 
 
7.2 Legal  

7.2.1 S. 59 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 provides the 
authority with the power to make a PSPO if satisfied on reasonable grounds that 
the conditions are met. Section 60 of the Act provides that a PSPO shall not have 
effect for longer than 3 years unless extended under this section. Section 61 
provides a power to vary a PSPO by increasing or reducing the restricted area, or 
by altering or removing a prohibition or requirement included in the order, or adding 
a new one. 
 

7.2.2 Section 72 details the requirements for convention rights, consultation, publicity 
and notification.  The authority must have taken into account articles 10 and 11 of 
the Convention, carried out the necessary consultation and publicity and 
notification before making, extending or varying or discharging a PSPO. 
 

7.2.3 Consideration would have to be given to ensure by extending the PSPO the 
Council would be legally compliant in making sure that relevant signage is in place. 

 

7.3 Local Government Reorganisation (LGR) 

7.3.1 Extension of the PSPO will allow appropriate measures to remain in place until it 

is reviewed in line with LGR transitional arrangements. 

 

7.4  Equality and Diversity 

  
7.4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed.  In line with 

recommendations from the consultation with The Kennel Club, adopt suggested 
changes to the definition of assisted dogs in relation to dog control which can be 
found on page 3 of the PSPO.  The assessment concluded the extension of the 
current PSPO is unlikely to have a disproportionate impact on any particular 
individual or group. 

 
Risk 

 

Risk  Consequence  Controls required  

The current PSPO is due for 
renewal. 

To not extend the 
PSPO will limit the 
Council’s tools to tackle 
nuisance and ASB in 
our communities 

Revised protocols and 
training will be in place 
and regularly monitored 
by the Safe & Strong 
Communities Manager  

 

 

 

 

Page 304

Agenda Item 15



Contact Officers  

Report Author:   Caroline Wagstaff, Head of People & Communities  

email: cewagstaff@barrowbc.gov.uk  

 

 

Appendices attached to this Report  

 

Appendix No.  Name of Appendix  

1  Public Space Protection Order 

2  Consultation Response from the Kennel Club 

 
 

Page 305

Agenda Item 15

mailto:cewagstaff@barrowbc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 9 
 

BOROUGH OF BARROW-IN-FURNESS 

ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, CRIME & POLICING ACT 2014 

PART 4, SECTION 59 

PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER NO. 1 2018 

This Order is made by Barrow Borough Council ("the Council") and shall be known as the Public Space 
Protection Order No.1 2018. 

Introduction 

1. The Council, in making this Order is satisfied  on reasonable  grounds that: The activities identified  
below have been carried  out in  public places within the Council's area and have had  a detrimental  
effect on the quality of life of those in  the locality,  and that: the effect, or likely effect, of the 
activities: is, or is likely to be, of a persistent or continuing nature, is, or is likely to be, such as to 
make the activities unreasonable, and justifies the restrictions imposed by the notice. 

 
2. The Council is satisfied that the prohibitions imposed by this Order are reasonable to impose in 

order to prevent the detrimental effect of these activities from continuing, occurring or recurring, or to 
reduce that detrimental effect or to reduce the risk of its continuance, occurrence or recurrence. 

 
3. The Council has had particular regard to the rights and freedoms set out in Article 10 (right of 

freedom of expression) and Article 11 (right of freedom of assembly) of the European Convention on 
Human Rights and has concluded that the restrictions on such rights and freedoms imposed by this 
Order are lawful, necessary and proportionate. 

 

The Activities 

 Activity Restricted Area 
(Schedule 1) 

Controls that have 
automatically 
transferred on 18 
October 2017 

• Dogs Exclusion from Various Play Areas 2007; 

• Dogs on Leads Order 2008; 

• Dogs on Leads by Director Order 2008; 

• Dogs Exclusion Order 2008. 

Borough Wide 
(Public and Open 
Spaces) 

Introduction of new 
measures into the 
PSP) in response to 
current and 
emerging need 

Challenging anti-social behaviour by groups of young people, 
young adults and any other persons in public spaces, including car 
parks across the Borough, including: 

• Behaviour that may be seen as intimidating or threatening to 
others; 

• Behaviour that could cause offence, distress, annoyance or 
harassment to others through shouting, swearing and general 
anti-social behaviour; and 

• Driving or permitting a vehicle to be used in a manner that 
causes or is likely to cause harassment, alarm, risk or distress 
to any person. 

Borough Wide 
(Public and Open 
Spaces) 

 Ingesting, inhaling, injecting, smoking or otherwise using 
substances believed to be psychoactive substances. 

Borough Wide 
(Public and Open 
Spaces) 

 Consuming alcohol in a public place. Borough Wide 
(Public and Open 
Spaces) 

 Dog Fouling Borough Wide 
(Public and Open 
Spaces) 

Page 307

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 2 of 9 
 

Definitions: 

For the purpose of the Order the following definitions will apply: 

'Alcohol'  has the meaning given by section 191  of the Licensing Act 2003. 

'Authorised  Officer'  means a constable, a police community support officer or a person authorised  in 
writing by Barrow-in-Furness  Borough Council. 

'Driving  or permitting a vehicle  to be used in  a manner  that causes  or is  likely to cause  
harassment,  alarm,  risk or distress  to any person' includes but not limited to the following: 

• Running or revving of engines (as to cause a nuisance) 

• Racing or driving around the location at speed 

• Sounding the horn 

• Playing loud music 

• Congregating in a car park for the purposes of socialisation without the express permission of the 
Borough Council 

• Any variation of the above 

'Interested  person' means an individual who lives in the restricted area or who regularly works in or visits 
that area. 

'Groups'  means a person a group of three or more within the Restricted Area. 

'Lead'  is defined as any rope, cord, leash or similar item which is no more than two metres  in length and 
which used to tether, control or restrain a dog, but does not include any such item which is  not actively 
being used as a means of restraint so that the dog remains under a person's control.  An extendable lead 
must not be extended beyond four metres. 

'Public place' means any place to which the public or any section of the public has access,  on  payment  
or otherwise, as  of right or by virtue of express of implied permission. 

'Psychoactive Substances' means a substance capable of producing a psychoactive effect  in a person 
who consumes it, by stimulating or depressing the central nervous system,  affecting the persons mental 
functioning or emotional state. 

'Restricted Area'  has the meaning given by section 59(4) of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act (the 'Act'). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 308

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 3 of 9 
 

1.    THE EXTENT  OF THE ORDER 

The  Order  applies to any public place within  the  local  authority's  area. The public place is detailed at 
schedule 1, to this Order and identified as the Restricted Area. 

The  effect  of  the  Order  is  to  impose  the  prohibitions  and  requirements  detailed below,  at all times,  
save where  specified  exemptions  apply or where  the  express permission of the Council has been given 
on the use of the Restricted Area. 
 

2.   THE PROHIBITIONS AND REQUIREMENTS 

2.1  Requirements relating to persons with dogs 

A person in charge of a dog which defecates at any time on any land to which this Order applies shall 
remove the faeces from the land forthwith unless: 

i)     he has reasonable excuse for failing to do so; or 

ii)     the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land has consented 
(generally or specifically) to his failing to do so. 

iii)    Nothing in this requirement applies to a person who uses an Assistant Dog: 

• The term ‘Assistant Dog’ shall mean a dog which has been trained to assist a person with a 
disability. 

• The expression ‘disability’ shall have the meaning prescribed in Section 6 of the Equality 
Act 2010 or as may be defined in any subsequent amendment or re-enactment of the 
legislation.  
 

iv)    For the purposes of this requirement: 

a)  a person who habitually has a dog in his possession shall be taken to be in charge of the 
dog at any time unless at that time some other person is in charge of the dog; 

b)  placing the faeces in a receptacle on the restricted area which is provided for the purpose, 
or for the disposal of waste, shall be a sufficient removal from the restricted area; 

c)  being unaware of the defecation (whether by reason of not being in the vicinity or 
otherwise), or not having a device for or other suitable means of removing the faeces shall 
not be a reasonable excuse for failing to remove the faeces; 

d) each of the following is a prescribed  charity:   

• Dogs for the disabled (registered charity number 700454)  

• Support Dogs (registered charity number 1088281)   

• Canine Partners for Independence (registered charity number 803680) 
 
A person in charge of a dog on land to which this Order applies must comply with a direction given to him  
by an Authorised Officer to put and keep the dog on a lead unless: 

i) he has reasonable excuse for failing to do so; or 

ii) the owner, occupier or other person or authority having control of the land  has consented  
(generally or specifically)  to his failing to do so. 

iii) For the purpose of this requirement: 
 

An Authorised Officer may only give a direction under this Order if such restraint is reasonably 
necessary to prevent a nuisance or behaviour by the dog that is  likely to cause annoyance or 
disturbance to any other person. 

 

Page 309

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 4 of 9 
 

2.2  Anti-social behaviour by groups of young  people, young adults and any other persons 

A person is prohibited from congregating on a group of three or more people with the Restricted Area after 
an Authorised Person has requested that the group disperse. 

An authorised person may request that a group within the restricted Area disperse where he reasonably 
suspects any person in that group to be causing or likely to cause  nuisance, alarm or distress to any other 
person. 

When deemed appropriate all young people under the age of 18 must attend an assessment with the 
Youth Offending Service. 

All persons are prohibited from behaving  in a manner which may be seen as intimidating, threatening to 
others within the Restricted Area. 

All persons are prohibited from behaving  in a manner that could cause offence, distress, annoyance or 
harassment to others through shouting, swearing and general anti-social behaviour within the Restricted 
Area. 

2.3  Driving  or permitting  a vehicle  to be used in a manner that causes  or is likely to cause  
harassment, alarm, risk or distress to any person. 

A person is prohibited from driving/riding any vehicle in a manner deemed by an Authorised Person to be 
anti-social  and he reasonably suspects  that person to be causing or likely to nuisance, alarm,  
harassment or distress to any other person. 

2.4  Consuming alcohol  in  a public place. 

A person shall stop consuming  alcohol or surrender any containers (sealed  or unsealed) which are 
reasonably believed to contain alcohol, when required to do so by an Authorised Officer. 

Nothing in the preceding requirement applies to alcohol being consumed within premises licensed  under 
the Licensing Act 2003 or s115E of the Highways Act 1980. 

2.5  Psychoactive Substances 

A person shall stop ingesting, inhaling, injecting, smoking or otherwise using substances reasonably 
believed to be psychoactive substances or surrender the substance or any receptacles reasonably 
believed to contain such substances, when required to do so by an Authorised Officer. 

The preceding requirement does not apply where the substance: 

i)    is used for a valid and demonstrable medicinal or therapeutic purpose; 

ii)   is a cigarette  (tobacco) or vaporiser; 

iii)   is a food product regulated by food, health and safety legislation. 

These provisions do not apply where the activities have been authorised by the Council in accordance with 
a scheme operated or expressly approved by it. 
 

 

3.    PERIOD FOR WHICH THIS ORDER HAS EFFECT 

It is proposed that this Order will come into force on 1st  April 2022 and will expire three years following 
that date. 

At any point before the expiry of this three-year period the Council  can extend the Order by up to three 
years if they are satisfied  on reasonable grounds that this is necessary to prevent the activities identified  
in the Order from occurring or recurring or to prevent an increase in the frequency or seriousness of those  
activities after that time. 
 
 

Page 310

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 5 of 9 
 

4.   WHAT HAPPENS IF YOU FAIL TO COMPLY WITH THIS ORDER? 
 
Section 67 of the Anti-Social  Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 says that it is a criminal offence for a 
person without reasonable  excuse: 

a)   to do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by a Public Spaces Protection Order, or 

b)   to fail to comply with a requirement to which the person is subject under a Public Spaces  
Protection Order. 

Consuming alcohol in breach of a Public Space Protection Order is not an offence under this section. 

Section 63 of the Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014 says that it is a criminal offence for a 
person without reasonable excuse: 

a) to fail to comply with a requirement imposed by an authorised officer in relation to the 
consumption and or surrender of alcohol. A person guilty of an offence under section 67 is 
liable on conviction in the Magistrates Court to a fine not exceeding level 3 on the standard 
scale. A person guilty of an offence under section 63 is liable on conviction in the Magistrates 
Court to a fine not exceeding level 2 on the standard scale. The full text of section 67 and 
section 63 is set out at the end of this document. 

 
 

5.   FIXED  PENALTY 
 
An Authorised Officer may issue a fixed penalty notice to anyone he or she believes has committed an 
offence under section 67 of the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014.  

If you pay the fixed penalty within the 14 days you will not be prosecuted. 

 

6.   APPEALS 
 
Any challenge to the Order must be made in  the High Court by an interested person within six weeks of 
the Order being made. 

An interested person is someone who lives in, regularly works in, or visits the restricted area. This means 
that only those who are directly affected by the restrictions have the power to challenge.  The right to 
challenge  also exists where  an Order  is varied  by the Council. 

Interested persons can challenge the validity of this Order on two grounds: 

1.    That the Council did not have power to make the Order, or to include particular prohibitions or 
requirements; or 

2.   That one of the requirements of the legislation, for instance consultation, has not been complied 
with. 

When an application is made, the High Court can decide to suspend  the operation of the Order pending  
the Court's decision, in part or in totality. The High Court has the ability to uphold the Order, quash it, or 
vary it. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 311

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 6 of 9 
 

SCHEDULE 1 - RESTRICTED AREAS (AND MAP) 

1.    Proposed Challenging anti-social  behaviour by groups or individuals in the Town  Centre, public 
spaces  and car parks across the Borough (Full Borough of Barrow-in-Furness Area (Public and Open 
Spaces). 

2.   Ingesting,  inhaling,  injecting, smoking or otherwise using  substances believed to be psychoactive 
substances (Full  Borough  of Barrow-in-Furness Area (Public and Open Spaces)). 

3.   Proposed consumption of alcohol in  public place PSPO Area (Full Borough of Barrow-in-Furness 
Area (Public and Open Spaces)). 

4.   Dog controls automatically transferred from 18th October 2017 PSPO Area (Public and Open Spaces  
under the control of the local authority). 

5.  Proposed Dog Fouling PSPO Area (Full  Borough of Barrow-in-Furness Area (Public and Open 
Spaces)). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 312

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 7 of 9 
 

 

 

Page 313

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 8 of 9 
 

Section 67 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014: 

(1)   It  is an offence for a person without reasonable excuse 

a)   To do anything that the person is prohibited from doing by a public spaces protection order,  or 

b)   To fail to comply with a requirement to which a person is subject under a public spaces 
protection  order 

(2)   A person  guilty of an offence under this section is liable on summary conviction to a fine not 
exceeding level 3 on the standard  scale 

(3)  A person does not commit an offence under this section by failing to comply with a prohibition or 
requirement that the local authority did not have power to include in the public spaces protection  
order 

Section 63 Anti-Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014: 

(1)   This section applies where a constable or an authorised person reasonably believes that a person 
(P): 

a)  is or has been consuming alcohol in breach of a prohibition in a public spaces protection order, 
or 

b)   intends to consume alcohol in circumstances in which doing so would be a breach of such a 
prohibition. 

In this section 'authorised person' means a person authorised for the purposes of this section by the local 
authority that made the public spaces protection order (or authorised by virtue of section  69(1)). 

(2)  The constable or authorised  person may require P: 

a)   not to consume, in breach of the order, alcohol or anything which the constable or authorised  
person reasonably believes to be alcohol; 

b)   to surrender anything in P's possession which is, or which the constable or authorised person 
reasonably believes to be, alcohol or a container for alcohol.  

(3)   A constable or an authorised  person who imposes a requirement under subsection (2) must tell P 
that failing without reasonable excuse to comply with the requirement is an offence. 

(4)  A requirement imposed by an authorised officer under subsection (2) is not valid if the person 

a)  is asked by P to show evidence of his or her authorisation, and b) fails to do so. 

(5)   A constable or an authorised person may dispose of anything surrendered under this subsection  
(2)(b) in whatever way he or she thinks appropriate. 

(6)  A person who fails without reasonable  excuse to comply with a requirement imposed on him or her 
under subsection (2) commits an offence and is liable on summary conviction to a fine not 
exceeding level 2 on the standard scale. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 314

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



Page 9 of 9 
 

GIVEN under the common seal of Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 

On the ………………..………day of ………………………..………..2022 

 

THE COMMON SEAL of Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council was hereunder affixed in the presence of: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Page 315

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 
The Kennel Club’s Response to Barrow Borough Council Public Spaces Protection Order 
Consultation  
 
Submitted on 2nd March 2021 by: The Kennel Club, Clarges Street, Piccadilly, London W1J 
8AB, email: kcdog@thekennelclub.org.uk  
 
The Kennel Club is the largest organisation in the UK devoted to dog health, welfare, and 

training. Our objective is to ensure that dogs live healthy, happy lives with responsible owners. 
We campaign for and advocate on behalf of dogs and their owners and, as part of our external 
affairs activities, engage with local authorities on issues such as Public Spaces Protection 
Orders (PSPOs). We established KC Dog to campaign against unreasonable access restrictions 
for dog owners and to monitor emerging access-related issues.  
 
The Kennel Club is the only national organisation named by the UK Government as a body that 
local authorities should consult prior to introducing restrictions on dog walkers and is considered 
the leading canine authority on dog access. As such, we would like to highlight the importance 
of ensuring that PSPOs are necessary and proportionate responses to problems caused by 
dogs and irresponsible owners. We also believe that it is essential for authorities to balance the 
interests of dog owners with the interests of other access users 

 
Response to proposed measures  
 
Dog fouling  
 
The Kennel Club strongly promotes responsible dog ownership, and believes that dog owners 
should always pick up after their dogs wherever they are, including fields and woods in the 
wider countryside, and especially where farm animals graze to reduce the risk of passing 
Neospora and Sarcocystosis to cattle and sheep respectively.  

 
We would like to take this opportunity to encourage the local authority to employ further 
proactive measures to help promote responsible dog ownership throughout the local area in 
addition to introducing Orders in this respect.  
 
These proactive measures can include: increasing the number of bins available for dog owners 

to use; communicating to local dog owners that bagged dog faeces can be disposed of in 

normal litter bins; running responsible ownership and training events; or using poster campaigns 

to encourage dog owners to pick up after their dog. 

Dog Access 

The Kennel Club does not typically oppose Orders to exclude dogs from playgrounds or 

enclosed recreational grounds, such as skate parks, tennis courts, or beaches and 

promenades, as long as alternative provisions are made for dog walkers in the vicinity. Children 

and dogs should be able to socialise together quite safely under adult supervision, with having a 

child in the home the biggest predictor for a family owning a dog.  

Page 317

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 2



 
We can support reasonable ‘dogs on lead’ Orders which can, when used in a proportionate and 

evidence-based way, include areas such as cemeteries, picnic areas, or on pavements in 

proximity to cars and other road traffic.  

However, we will oppose PSPOs which introduce blanket restrictions on dog walkers accessing 

public open spaces without specific and reasonable justification. Dog owners are required to 

provide their dogs with appropriate daily exercise, including “regular opportunities to walk and 

run”, which in most cases will be off lead while still under control.  

Their ability to meet this requirement is greatly affected by the amount of publicly accessible parks 

and other public places such as beaches and promenades in their area where dogs can exercise 

without restrictions. This section of the Animal Welfare Act was included in the statutory guidance 

produced for local authorities by the Home Office on the use of PSPOs.  

Accordingly, the underlying principle we seek to see applied is that dog controls should be the 

least restrictive to achieve a given defined and measurable outcome; this is the approach used 

by Natural England. In many cases, a seasonal or time of day restriction will be effective and the 

least restrictive approach, rather than a blanket year-round restriction. For instance, a “dogs on 

lead” order for a picnic area is unlikely to be necessary in mid-winter.  

The Government provided clear instructions to local authorities that they must provide restriction 

free sites for dog walkers to exercise their dogs. This message was contained in the guidance 

document for DCOs, and has been retained in both the Defra/Welsh Government and Home 

Office PSPO guidance documents, with the Defra guidance for PSPOs stating ‘local authorities 

should ensure there are suitable alternatives for dogs to be exercised without restrictions’. 

On lead by direction   
 

The Kennel Club strongly welcomes ‘On lead by direction’ Orders. These allow responsible dog 

owners to exercise their dogs off lead without restriction providing their dogs are under control, 
whilst simultaneously giving the local authority powers to restrict dogs not under control.  
We recommend that the authorised officer enforcing the Order is familiar with dog behaviour in 
order to determine whether restraint is necessary. There exists the possibility that a dog, through 
no fault of its own, could be considered a ‘nuisance’ or ‘annoyance’ to someone who simply does 
not like dogs.   
 

We encourage local authorities to make use of more flexible and targeted measures at their 
disposal, including Acceptable Behavioural Contracts and Community Protection Notices. Kennel 
Club Good Citizen Training Clubs and our accredited trainers can assist owners whose dogs run 
out of control due to them not having the ability to train a reliable recall.   
 
Appropriate signage  
 

It is important to note that in relation to PSPOs, The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014 (Publication of Public Spaces Protection Orders) Regulations 2014 makes it a legal 
requirement for local authorities to –  

Page 318

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 2



 
 
“cause to be erected on or adjacent to the public place to which the order relates such notice (or 
notices) as it considers sufficient to draw the attention of any member of the public using that 
place to -  
(i) the fact that the order has been made, extended or varied (as the case may be); and  
(ii) the effect of that order being made, extended or varied (as the case may be).”  
 

Assistance dogs  
The Kennel Club welcomes the exemptions proposed in this Order for assistance dogs. We 
urge the Council to review the Equality and Human Rights Commission’s guidance for 
businesses and service providers when providing any exemptions for those who rely on 
assistance dogs. The guidance can be viewed here: 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/sites/default/files/assistance-dogs-a-guide-for-all-
businesses.pdf  
 
However, we would suggest further consideration of the wording contained within the Order, 
specifically with reference to ‘prescribed charity’. While a proportion of assistance dogs relied 
upon by disabled people are trained by charities, many are not. A number of reputable 
assistance dog providers are members of Assistance Dogs UK. This umbrella group currently 

has eight member organisations, which can be viewed here: http://www.assistancedogs.org.uk/. 
It is important to note that the membership of Assistance Dogs UK is not a definitive list of all UK 
assistance dog organisations and may change during the currency of the PSPO. It also does 
not provide for owner trained assistance dogs.  
 
We would therefore encourage the Council to allow for some flexibility when considering 
whether a disabled person’s dog is acting as an assistance dog. The Council could consider 
adopting the definitions of assistance dogs used by Mole Valley District Council, which can be 
found below from their 2020 PSPO which included the following exemption provisions on dog 
control:  
 
Nothing in this Order shall apply to a person who –  

a) is registered as a blind person on a register complied under section 29 of the National 
Assistance Act 1948; or  
b) is deaf, in respect of a dog trained by Hearing Dogs for Deaf People (registered charity 
number 293358) and upon which he relies for assistance; or  
c) has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long term adverse effect on 
the ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities, in respect of a dog trained by any current or 
future members of Assistance Dogs UK or any other charity registered in the UK with a purpose 
of training assistance dogs and upon which he relies for assistance  
d) has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long term adverse effect on 
the ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities and in the reasonable opinion of the Council 
that person relies upon the assistance of the dog in connection with their disability.  
or that of Northumberland County Council:  

“(4) The term “Assistance Dog” shall mean a dog which has been trained to assist a person with 
a disability.  

Page 319

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 2



 
(5) The expression “disability” shall have the meaning prescribed in section 6 of the Equality Act 

2010 or as may be defined in any subsequent amendment or re-enactment of that legislation”. 

      

 

Page 320

Agenda Item 15
Appendix 2


	Agenda
	6 Confirmation of Minutes
	HMF27JAN22
	HMF27JAN
	REFERRED ITEMS

	HMF27JANAPP


	8 Equality & Diversity Strategy
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	9 Food Safety Service Plan 2022-23 (incorporating the Food Standards Agencies Recovery Plan)
	Appendix 1 - Food Safety Service Plan 2022-23
	1. INTRODUCTION
	2. SERVICE AIMS AND OBJECTIVES
	3. BACKGROUND PROFILE OF BARROW
	4. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
	1.
	2.
	3.
	4.
	4.1.  Organisational Structure
	Barrow Borough follows an Alternative Arrangements structure with a committee structure for decision making.
	4.2. Local Government Reorganisation
	4.3. Food Safety Service

	5. SCOPE OF THE FOOD SERVICE
	6. DEMANDS ON THE FOOD SERVICE
	5.
	6.
	6.1. Approvals
	6.2. The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme
	6.3. Enforcement Policy

	7. SERVICE DELIVERY
	7.
	7.1. Food Safety Interventions
	7.2. Performance Management Monitoring

	8. FOOD SAFETY INTERVENTIONS PLAN
	8.
	8.1. Inspections
	8.2. FSA Recovery Plan July 2021 to 31st March 2023.
	8.3. Outline of the FSA’s Recovery Plan for Local Authorities.
	8.4. Inspection Plan to 31st March 2023.
	8.5. Food Registration
	8.6. Information and Training
	8.7. New Businesses
	8.8. Food Complaints
	8.9. Food Fraud
	8.10. Primary Authority Principle
	8.11. Advice to Business
	8.12. Food Sampling
	8.13. Infectious Disease Control
	8.14. Liaison with Other Organisations
	8.15. Food Safety and Standards Promotion
	8.16. Food Alerts
	8.17. Equality and Diversity

	9. RESOURCES/DEMANDS ON SERVICE DELIVERY
	9.
	9.1. Financial / Staffing Allocation
	9.2. Staff Development Plan

	10. QUALITY ASSESSMENT
	11. REVIEW
	10.
	11.
	11.1. Performance against Plan
	11.2. Areas for improvement



	10 Update on Town Centre Regeneration & Levelling Up Fund
	11 Review of Corporate Health and Safety Policy, Framework and Risk Assessment Procedure
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	12 Council Finances Quarter 3 2021-2022
	Enc. 1 for Council Finances Quarter 3 2021-2022
	Enc. 2 for Council Finances Quarter 3 2021-2022
	Enc. 3 for Council Finances Quarter 3 2021-2022
	Enc. 4 for Council Finances Quarter 3 2021-2022

	13 Financial Policy and Strategy Updates
	Enc. 6 for Financial Policy and Strategy Updates
	Enc. 1 for Financial Policy and Strategy Updates
	Enc. 2 for Financial Policy and Strategy Updates
	Enc. 3 for Financial Policy and Strategy Updates
	Enc. 4 for Financial Policy and Strategy Updates
	Enc. 5 for Financial Policy and Strategy Updates

	14 Annual Review of Constitution
	Appendix 2 for Annual Review of Constitution.doc200222v2
	Finance Regs
	Appendix 1 contract standing orders

	15 Extension of Public Spaces Protection Order
	Appendix1PublicSpaceProtectionOrder
	Appendix2ResponsefromKennelClubtoExensionofPSPO1


